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BEFORE:

MR A J CHILCOTT
ACTING WARDEN

MATTER:

FATALITY - DALE GADSBY

WARDEN:
YES THANK YOU IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE RECORDING OF EVIDENCE ACT I DIRECT THAT THE EVIDENCE AND PROCEEDINGS IN THIS MATTER BE RECORDED BY A MECHANICAL DEVICE AND THAT MR KEITH MAXWELL DAHLKE BE THE RECORDER FOR THE RECORD..THIS IS AN INQUIRY INTO A FATAL ACCIDENT TO MR DALE GADSBY WHICH APPARENTLY OCCURRED AT BLACKWATER MINE ON THE 4TH OF MAY 1997..WITH ME TO ASSIST IN THIS INQUIRY ARE FOUR REVIEWERS THAT HAVE BEEN SELECTED BY MYSELF HAVING PRACTICAL KNOWLEDGE AND SKILL IN THE MINING INDUSTRY FOR THE RECORD I'LL ANNOUNCE THOSE APPEARANCES..TO MY FAR RIGHT IS MR JOHN BRADY..TO MY IMMEDIATE RIGHT IS MR RAY BIRD..TO MY IMMEDIATE LEFT IS MR RUSSELL MULLER..AND TO MY FAR LEFT IS MR DEREK HAMMET..FOR THE RECORD WOULD YOU ANNOUNCE YOUR APPEARANCES PLEASE?

MS MALONEY:



GOOD MORNING YOUR WORSHIP MY NAME IS MISS MALONEY BARRISTER FROM THE CROWN LAW OFFICE APPEARING ON BEHALF OF THE INSPECTORATE.



THANK YOU..YES MR BEST?

MR M BEST:



GOOD MORNING YOUR WORSHIP MY NAME IS MATT BEST.. DISTRICT UNION INSPECTOR FOR THE UNITED MINE WORKERS.



THANK YOU

MR A MELLICK:



MY NAME IS MELLICK M.E.L.L.I.C.K. INITIALS A.S. I'M INSTRUCTED BY MR BYRNE OF REES R & SYDNEY JONES..AND I APPEAR FOR THE NEXT OF KIN.



YES THANKS MR MELLICK.

MR P LEES:



GOOD MORNING YOUR WORSHIP..MR PETER LEES..I'M THE STATE OFFICIAL FOR THE AUSTRALIAN MANUFACTURING WORKERS UNION.



YES THANK YOU.

MS GIBNEY:



YOUR WORSHIP MARRIANE GIBNEY I'M A SOLICITOR WITH ALLEN ALLEN & HEMSLEY I APPEAR FOR BHP COAL THE OPERATOR OF THE MINE AND THE MANAGER FOR CQCA JOINT VENTURERS WERE THE AGENT..AND ALSO MR GRAHAM SMITH THE REGISTERED MANAGER.



THANK YOU..THANK YOU..YES MS MALONEY?

MS MALONEY:



YES YOUR WORSHIP I MIGHT JUST INDICATE THAT..THE PREFERRED ORDER OF WITNESSES HAS BEEN CIRCULATED TO EVERYONE AT THE BAR TABLE..WHETHER THERE ARE ANY PRELIMINARY ISSUES IN RELATION TO THAT PREFERRED ORDER YOUR WORSHIP.



THANK YOU.

MS GIBNEY:



YOUR WORSHIP I HAVE ONE ISSUE TO RAISE AND THAT IS THE..ORDER OF APPEARANCE OF MR SMITH..THE MINE MANAGER..WHILE IT CANT' BE SAID TO BE A RULE I THINK IT'S GENERALLY BEEN A PRACTICE IN RECENT TIMES THAT THE MINE MANAGER GIVE EVIDENCE TOWARDS THE CONCLUSION IF NOT AS THE LAST WITNESS..GENERALLY IN FACT AS THE LAST WITNESS..AND I HAD PLANNED FOR THIS MORNING AND BEEN PROCEEDING ON THAT BASIS..IN ADDITION TO THAT..MR SMITH HAS NOT..SOMEWHAT UNUSUALLY IN THIS PROCEEDING AS OPPOSED TO OTHER PROCEEDINGS..HE WAS NOT ASKED TO GIVE A STATEMENT.. TO THE INSPECTORATE IN ADDITION TO HIS STATUTORY REPORT..SO HIS EVIDENCE MAY BE MORE OR LESS BROAD ON DEPENDING UPON WHAT ISSUES ARISE OUT OF THE EVIDENCE OF OTHER WITNESSES..NOW IF I TAKE HIM EARLY..I'M GOING TO TAKE A PUNT ON WHETHER IT SHOULD BE MORE OR LESS BROAD..SO I ASK THAT MR SMITH'S EVIDENCE BE GIVEN LATER IN THE PROCEEDINGS.



WELL THE PROBLEM IS IN A LOT OF THE INQUIRIES I'VE HAD..IT DEPENDS ON THE ACTUAL CIRCUMSTANCES BUT.. LATELY WE'VE BEEN ADOPTING THE PRACTICE OF HAVING THE MINE MANAGER IN..AFTER THE INSPECTORS..AND THERE'S NOT A PROBLEM WITH THAT BECAUSE..ONCE THE MINE MANAGER GIVES EVIDENCE IF THERE'S MATTERS THAT ARISE LATER ON..THEN HE CAN ALWAYS BE CALLED BACK TO GIVE EVIDENCE AT THE CONCLUSION..SO..I'VE ACTUALLY RAISED THIS WITH MY REVIEWERS..PRIOR TO COMING INTO COURT..AND..WE WOULD PREFER THAT THE MINE MANAGER GIVE HIS EVIDENCE AS SOON AS POSSIBLE AFTER THE INSPECTOR HAS FINISHED WITH HIS EVIDENCE ALSO MR SULLIVAN..SO.



VERY WELL YOUR WORSHIP.



THANK YOU.

MS MALONEY:



YOUR WORSHIP ANOTHER PRELIMINARY POINT IS I'D SEEK AT THIS STAGE BY CONSENT TO TENDER THE ORIGINAL ORIGINAL ..CERTIFICATES AND POLICE REPORT IN RELATION TO THE MATTER..FIRSTLY THERE IS THE FORM 10 THE POST MORTEM EXAMINATION REPORT.



YES.



THEN THERE'S THE FORM E THE POST MORTEM EXAMINATION CERTIFICATE..THERE ARE THEN TWO ANALYSTS CERTIFICATES ..THE FIRST DATED THE 24TH OF JUNE OF 1997..IN RELATION TO RESULTS OF A A URINE TEST AND THEN A ..FURTHER..SECOND ONE DATED THE 21ST OF OCTOBER 1997..WHICH ACTUALLY..HAS..ADDS THE DETAIL AND GIVES THE ACTUAL..RESULT..THE AMOUNT OF THE PARTICULAR SUBSTANCE THAT WAS FOUND IN THE THE URINE ANALYSIS..THERE IS ALSO A LETTER FROM BLACKWATER HOSPITAL THE LIFE EXTINCT CERTIFICATE..IF I COULD TENDER THOSE DOCUMENTS AS WELL AS THE POLICE STATEMENT AND PHOTOGRAPHS IN RELATION TO THIS MATTER YOUR WORSHIP.

EX.#1-6

WARDEN:
THANK YOU....YES JUST FOR THE RECORD..THE PM REPORT WILL BE EXHIBIT NUMBER ONE..THE PM EXAMINATION CERTIFICATE THE FORM E IS EXHIBIT NUMBER TWO..THE ANALYST CERTIFICATE DATED THE 24TH OF JUNE 1997 WILL BE EXHIBIT NUMBER THREE..THE ANALYST CERTIFICATE DATED THE 21ST OF OCTOBER 1997..IS EXHIBIT NUMBER FOUR..THE LIFE EXTINCT CERTIFICATE IS EXHIBIT NUMBER FIVE AND THE REPORT OF THE POLICE OFFICER ANTHONY GRAHAM TURNER..WILL BE COLLECTIVELY AS EXHIBIT NUMBER SIX..THANK YOU.



THANK YOU YOUR WORSHIP..THE FIRST WITNESS TO BE CALLED IS INSPECTOR MIKE WALKER.



THANK YOU.

MS GIBNEY:



YOUR WORSHIP COULD I JUST..RAISE ONE OTHER MATTER I WAS WONDERING IF THE PANEL ..OR YOURSELF OR ANY OTHER PARTY HAS ANY OBJECTION TO MR SMITH BEING PRESENT..IN COURT DURING THE EVIDENCE OF INSPECTOR WALKER AND MR SULLIVAN?



NO..WELL IT'S THE NORMAL PRACTICE THAT OCCURS SO UNLESS ANYONE HAS GOT ANYTHING TO RAISE BUT..NORMAL PRACTICE IS THAT HE BE PRESENT ANYWAY..SO..THANK YOU.



THANK YOU.

WITNESS DULY SWORN.

MS MALONEY:



CAN YOU STATE YOUR FULL NAME FOR THE COURT PLEASE?

Mr M Walker

XD BY

MS MALONEY:



Michael Paul Walker.



O.K. AND WHAT'S YOUR OCCUPATION MR WALKER?



Inspector of Coal Mines.



O.K. AND HOW LONG HAVE YOU BEEN IN THAT POSITION?



A few months.



O.K. HOW LONG HAVE YOU BEEN WITH THE DEPARTMENT?



About 12..13 years.



NOW...YOU'RE AWARE OF AN INCIDENT THAT OCCURRED AT THE BLACKWATER MINE ON THE 4TH OF MAY OF THIS YEAR?



Yes.



O.K. AND YOU CARRIED OUT AN INVESTIGATION IN RELATION TO THAT THAT INCIDENT?



Yes I did.



AND AS A RESULT OF THAT INVESTIGATION YOU PREPARED A REPORT..ORDERED..DATED THE 15TH OF SEPTEMBER?



Yes.



O.K. CAN YOU HAVE A LOOK AT THIS DOCUMENT PLEASE.. CAN YOU JUST HAVE A QUICK LOOK THROUGH THAT IS THAT THE ORIGINAL REPORT YOU PREPARED IN RELATION TO THIS INCIDENT?



Yes it is.



O.K. YOUR WORSHIP I'D TENDER THE ORIGINAL INSPECTOR'S REPORT?

EX.#7.

WARDEN:
YES..THAT'LL BE EXHIBIT NUMBER SEVEN.



JUST IN RELATION TO THAT IS THERE ANYTHING THAT YOU'RE AWARE OF THAT YOU WISH TO AMEND OR ALTER IN RELATION TO THAT PARTICULAR REPORT?



No there isn't..probably with respect to one of the Appendices there is a..an updated..version of one of those appendices but.



WHICH APPENDIX..APPENDIX IS THAT?



I'm not sure but I think it's thirteen.



THAT'S THE THE STATUS OF ACTIONS TO IMPLEMENT CONTROLS?



Yes that's the one.



O.K. SO THAT'S THE LAST OF THE APPENDICES.



The the mine have actually updated that since this report was put together so.



O.K.



I have an updated version of it in my report..a copy of the report.



O.K. NOW..JUST AS A..BEFORE WE GET INTO YOUR CONCLUSIONS..THAT HAVE BEEN REACHED IN YOUR REPORT.. AS PART OF THIS INVESTIGATION..A RE-ENACTMENT VIDEO WAS PREPARED WASN'T IT?



Yes.



O.K. NOW HOW WAS THAT DONE LIKE WHO WHO PREPARED IT AND WHEN WAS IT DONE?



It was prepared..it was organised at the mine by a during the course of a couple of meetings between the Inspectorate the Unions and the Management of the mine..the nature of that video was sort of plotted out together with the..methodology for going about it in a safe way..and a professional film company were..commissioned by BHP..to actually..do the filming..people from the mine being..taking part in actually driving the equipment..and..making the re-enactment.



O.K. AND IN RELATION TO THE 4TH OF MAY THE DATE OF THE INCIDENT..WHEN WAS THIS VIDEO DONE?



Well from memory the following week..my memory fails me...about the 12th or thereabouts.



O.K. NOW THE..A COPY OF THAT VIDEO OR THE VIDEO IS ATTACHED AS PART OF YOUR REPORT IN THAT IT'S CONTAINED WITHIN YOUR REPORT?



As appendix 14 yes.



APPENDIX 14..PERHAPS YOUR WORSHIP AT THIS STAGE THAT VIDEO SHOULD BE PLAYED..IN RELATION TO THE INVESTIGATION AND THE..AND THE RE-ENACTMENT?



YES..WE'LL JUST HAVE TO TURN THE TAPES OFF WHILE THAT VIDEO IS BEING PLAYED..O.K.(TAPE STOPS) (TAPE STARTS) THE TAPES CAN BE TURNED BACK ON NOW..THANK YOU.



MR WALKER THAT VIDEO REFLECTS THE EVIDENCE THAT YOU'VE GATHERED IN RELATION TO THIS PARTICULAR INVESTIGATION?



Yes it does..and since looking at the report I'll correct..that was made on the 14th of May.



THE 14TH OF MAY..O.K. NOW IF I CAN JUST TAKE YOU THROUGH..TO YOUR CONCLUSIONS IN YOUR REPORT..WHICH ARE AT PAGE 22 OF YOUR REPORT...I JUST WANT TO GO THROUGH A COUPLE OF THOSE CONCLUSIONS YOU REACH JUST TO POINT OUT WHAT YOU SEE AS SOME OF THE CONTRIBUTING FACTORS TO..THIS PARTICULAR ACCIDENT.. STARTING AT ITEM 6 THERE IN YOUR CONCLUSIONS..YOU'VE GOT A NUMBER OF ISSUES THERE FIRSTLY..THE FIRST DOT POINT THERE IS THAT `THE STOCKPILE WAS RARELY USED AND SO THE EXISTENCE OF THE INTERSECTION ENTRANCE WAS NOT NORMALLY APPRECIATED AND A POTENTIAL HAZARD DID NOT NORMALLY EXIST'..CAN YOU JUST CLARIFY THAT FOR US..WHAT ARE YOU..WHAT ARE YOU POINTING OUT IN THAT PARTICULAR POINT?



I think in interviewing a number of the..the witnesses and their statements..it became apparent that..the..stockpile being used was a temporary one it was only used very infrequently..and..therefore the intersection that the trucks were turning into that stockpile was not one that would be normally recognised as an intersection..so there was an element of surprise if you like..when that particular truck route was established..people were not aware..and certainly weren't aware that.. wouldn't be aware that trucks would be normally turning in that area so..there was an element of surprise..which could catch people out in a..in a stretch of road where they would normally..have a good chance..a long straight stretch of road where they'd have a good chance of overtaking and again from statements where they often did overtake.



THAT ALSO THEN TIES IN WITH YOUR THIRD DOT POINT THERE..YOU SAY THAT ..`USE OF THAT STOCKPILE WAS NOT ADEQUATELY COMMUNICATED TO THE WORKFORCE'..THAT TIES IN WITH WHAT YOU'RE SAYING THERE?



Yes that that became evident also when talking to people that..there didn't appear to be a system in place which would communicate the the operation of the mine on any given day..to all parties concerned ..it would..generally be a case of..telling the mining crews..where they might be mining but.. particularly people like maintenance crews..backup people..who also travelled around the minesite..may not receive that information.



O.K. AND..MR GADSBY AND MR BILES WOULD COME UNDER THAT HEADING YOU JUST REFERRED TO AS OTHER MAINTENANCE OR OTHER BACKUP?



Yes yes.



NOW..JUST..JUST SOMETHING FROM THAT..YOU'RE SAYING THAT..ON THIS PARTICULAR THE HAUL ROAD..IT WAS COMMON FOR BOTH HEAVY AND LIGHT VEHICLES TO USE THAT ROAD WASN'T IT?



Yes.



O.K. THERE IS IN FACT WHAT'S REFERRED TO A BACK ACCESS ROAD AT THE SITE?



Yes there is.



WOULD YOU TELL US WHERE THAT ACCESS ROAD IS IN RELATION TO THIS HAUL ROAD..RIGHT THERE'S A..THAT'S THE ENLARGEMENT OF THE THE MAP THAT WAS SHOWN ON THE VIDEO AND I'M NOT SURE WHETHER THAT SHOWS THE..?



No it doesn't actually show the back access road.



CAN YOU JUST GIVE US LIKE A..IN RELATION TO THAT RELATIVE TO WHERE THAT ..THE BACK ACCESS ROAD WOULD BE?



Well it's around..it's further round behind behind the actual mining excavations..what is shown here is a..dedicated light access..road..which was designed to..minimise light/heavy vehicle traffic in the area if you like the..the normal..normally used stockpiles ..so there was certainly an attempt to to recognise that hazard in the past..those..light vehicle access roads were..were put in for that purpose..in and around the main industrial areas and stockpile areas.



O.K. AND..THIS BACK ACCESS ROAD DOES IT TAKE THEM DOWN PAST THIS..THE STOCKPILE THAT WAS BEING USED AT THE TIME?



yes the back back access road as is common at most open-cut mines is an access road around the back of the excavation which does give access to a number of mining areas..and and avoids the use of the haul road.



FROM YOUR INVESTIGATION FROM THE STATEMENTS..WHERE MR GADSBY AND MR BILES WERE HEADED..WOULD THAT BACK ACCESS ROAD HAVE GOT THEM TO THAT AREA?



I believe the answer to that is no..not absolutely sure..it may have gotten them to..a closer point but whether it would have avoided them actually accessing the haul road altogether I doubt it.



THEY WOULD HAVE AT SOME POINT HAVE HAD TO GOT ONTO THE HAUL ROAD TO GET TO WHERE THEY WERE HEADED?



From memory I think so.



O.K. NOW FROM WHAT YOU SAY THE BACK ACCESS ROAD WILL BE A LONGER ROUTE NOT AS DIRECT AS GOING DOWN THAT HAUL ROAD?



That would be correct yes.



DID YOU MAKE ANY..OBSERVATIONS OF THE BACK ACCESS ROADS WHEN YOU WERE CONDUCTING THIS INVESTIGATION?



To some part of the back access roads yes..and certainly from evidence in statements..there was there was quite a lot of evidence in statements which suggested that the back access roads had been allowed to deteriorate..to a point where people were dissuaded from if you like..it was counterproductive from the point of view of light vehicles using that the back access roads.



O.K. NOW..JUST COMING BACK TO YOUR SECOND DOT POINT IN NUMBER SIX OF YOUR CONCLUSIONS..YOU TALK ABOUT THE CAUTION TRUCKS TURNING SIGN..NOW YOU MAKE THE COMMENT IN THERE THAT `THEY ARE INSUFFICIENTLY DISTINCTIVE..AND THEY'RE GENERALLY NOT NOTICED BY ROAD USERS.'



I make that comment on the basis that the signs are actually..if you like standard highway type signs.. in the actual physical dimensions..that's one aspect and there is evidence to suggest with heavy equipment on minesites..there's a need to make things bigger and bolder..in order to be effective and the and from the other point of view from..again from witness statements..that..most most of the people that had travelled in that area were asked whether they'd actually seen them..and predominantly the answer was no..most people hadn't seen them.



AND FROM THE STATEMENTS..THAT..THEY HAD ONLY BEEN UP ..THAT PARTICULAR..THE SIGNS HAD ONLY BEEN UP FOR A COUPLE OF DAYS HADN'T THEY..BECAUSE THAT'S WHEN THAT STOCKPILE WAS BEING USED?



I think that would be right yes..just while the in setting up to use that particular stockpile yes.



YES RIGHT..THE NEXT POINT YOU MAKE THERE IS ABOUT `NO POSITIVE COMMUNICATION WAS MADE WITH THE WATER TRUCK' CAN YOU TELL US WHAT YOU MEAN BY THAT AND HOW HOW COULD SUCH COMMUNICATION OCCUR?



By no positive communication I mean..the the actual driver of the overtaking vehicle..not..if you like achieving the attention of the the vehicle he's wanting to overtake..in a positive way..for example by two-way radio..to say positive look I'm behind you I want to come through..is it o.k. that sort of thing.



WITH THAT TWO-WAY RADIO COMMUNICATION YOU'RE TALKING ABOUT..ARE YOU AWARE OF THE SYSTEMS THAT ARE IN PLACE AT THE SITE THE MINESITE AT THAT TIME WITH THE USE OF TWO-WAY RADIOS?



In the report I make the point that..the communication system that was in place is certainly in compliance with the requirements of regulations in so far as it's a very effective system for some emergency..or initiating an emergency response..and that was done quite effectively..however..from a procedural point of view..there wasn't a requirement for people to..in overtaking procedures..there was no requirement for two way communication to be made.



AND FROM YOUR INVESTIGATION WHAT..WHAT SEEMS TO HAVE COME OUT..WHAT HAS BEEN EXPRESSED BY THE STATEMENTS IN RELATION TO WHAT WAS THE MEANS OF COMMUNICATION BETWEEN A LIGHT VEHICLE WANTING TO OVERTAKE A HEAVY VEHICLE?



The..the procedure for overtaking that was understood by a number of people I asked was that..was a requirement to move to the left hand side of the vehicle at the rear..in order..the large vehicle is a left-hand drive..so an overtaking vehicle was requirement to move as far over to the left as possible to give the the large vehicle driver the opportunity to see him in the left hand rearview mirror..and if necessary flash his lights..to to gain attention..in the case of a water truck..the water truck operator then providing the road ahead is clear..and safe for overtaking..would..would be required to drop the right hand sprays..to give the overtaking vehicle a view of the road ahead..and again when the overtaking vehicle..had got visual confirmation that the road ahead was clear..he would then proceed to overtake..a number of people were aware of that procedure.



JUST WHILE WE'RE TALKING ABOUT VISIBILITY..BEFORE THE OPERATOR OR THE DRIVER OF THE WATER TRUCK..IN APPENDIX 4..WHICH CONTAINS A NUMBER OF THE CHARTS.. THERE IS A DIAGRAM THERE ISN'T THERE WHICH SHOWS.. THE AREAS OF VISIBILITY FOR THE OPERATOR OF..OF THE WATER TRUCK?



yes.



AND IT SHOWS QUITE..QUITE LIMITED REAR REAR VISION DOESN'T IT?



It's not a..it's not a surprise to have the equipment operators the very limited visibility that they have..surrounding their vehicles..I think the Moura film..I forget the name of the title of it but again does does pursue this issue and..shows the extent of ..a lack of..the lack of visibility around things..I guess..where this sort of diagram comes in is to..demonstrate to people who are not..heavy vehicle drivers..just how vulnerable they might be.. in other words light vehicles and pedestrians and people like that generally around the minesite..need to understand that lack of visibility in order to maintain a healthy respect..for the for the heavy vehicles.



AND WITH THIS PARTICULAR WATER TRUCK BEING A LEFT HAND DRIVE..THAT..IN A SENSE INCREASES I MEAN FOR THE DRIVER TO SEE..A VEHICLE BEHIND FITS IN WITH THE POSSIBLE PROCEDURE OF GETTING RIGHT ACROSS TO THE LEFT FOR HIM TO OBSERVE SOMEBODY COMING UP BEHIND HIM?



I don't quite follow that.



WELL IF HE'S ON THE LEFT SIDE OF THE CABIN RIGHT?



Yes.



HE'S ON THE LEFTHAND SIDE..HE'S GOT THE TANK AND THE REST OF THE TRUCK BEHIND HIM ON HIS RIGHTHAND SIDE?



Yes.



SO FOR HIM TO OBSERVE HE'S GOT TO RELY ON WHAT REARVIEW REARVIEW MIRRORS ON THE ?



Yeah he relies quite heavily on the off-side mirror yes.



O.K. AND IF HE'S CARRYING OUT THE ROAD WATERING WORK HE'S ACTUALLY GOT THE SPRAYS OPERATING?



Yes.



AND SO HE'LL HAVE THE SPRAY MIST BEHIND HIM AS WELL?



Yeah the sprays..the sprays are certainly another handicap..towards visibility..well to the driver and to anyone..wishing to pass.



O.K. JUST WITH..JUST WHILE WE'RE STILL TALKING ABOUT THE SYSTEM FOR OVERTAKING THE PROCEDURES FOR OVERTAKING A WATERTRUCK..IN..POINT 10 OF YOUR CONCLUSION YOU MAKE SOME COMMENT THAT..YOU MAKE COMMENT THAT `IT WAS NOT DELIVERED SYSTEMATICALLY AND COMPREHENSIVELY..AND IT WAS NOT INCLUDED IN TRAINING DOCUMENTATION'..FROM YOUR INVESTIGATION HOW HOW WAS THIS SYSTEM FOR OVERTAKE..OR THE PROCEDURE FOR OVERTAKING KNOWN BY THE OTHER WORKERS?



I guess through a variety of things..there was evidence to suggest that people when being taught during their training on the vehicles were told by by the trainers..and..also by well in this particular instance by the distribution of a safety brief..which detailed a an overtaking procedure..in around about October/November of the previous year.



BUT NOT ALL OF THE WITNESSES YOU SPOKE TO WERE AWARE OF THAT PARTICULAR SAFETY BRIEF?



From talking to a number of the witnesses no they were..again I make that statement on the basis that there did appear to be a number of people that had not seen the safety brief..and that was the reason for the comment that..it appeared not to have been communicated comprehensively.



O.K. NOW..POINT 7 THERE YOU TALK ABOUT THE TRUCK'S INDICATORS THAT THEY WERE COVERED IN A FILM OF DIRT ..WHAT'S THE RISK OR HAZARD THAT..PRESENTS ITSELF FROM THAT SITUATION?



Oh it's simply the ..you know the illumination capability of the light..whether or not it can be effective..the dirtier it gets the less effective it will be.



NOW JUST WITH..YOUR FINAL CONCLUSION THERE AT POINT 14..YOU TALKED ABOUT THAT NEITHER ALCOHOL NOR DRUGS CONTRIBUTED TO THE ACCIDENT..YOU HAD REFERRED EARLIER IN YOUR REPORT AND IT'S ALSO..ALREADY AN EXHIBIT BEFORE THE COURT..THAT THE ANALYST'S CERTIFICATE IN RELATION TO THE URINE SAMPLE?



Yes.



SO THERE WAS..AND I WON'T ATTEMPT TO..PRONOUNCE THAT



TCH.



YEAH TCH..INDICATING SOME SORT OF..WELL A RESIDUAL PRESENCE OF CANNABIS DOESN'T IT?



Yes.



TCH?



Yes as I understand it there was no..there were no alcohol but there were indications of TCH which were not..can we say quantifiable..I spoke with Senior Constable Tony Turner on this issue and..I guess again on the basis that..evidence from a couple of people at least during the course of that day.. certainly attested to the fact that that Evan..that Dale..was behaving normally..and there was no evidence to suggest that he was behaving anything other than normally..and it was certainly Tony Turner's view that..it didn't contribute to the accident.



NOW..JUST ..JUST TO FINALISE THAT PARTICULAR POINT ..ARE YOU AWARE OF WHETHER THERE WAS ANY POLICY.. IN PLACE AT THAT MINE..AT BLACKWATER MINE IN RELATION TO EITHER DRUGS OR ALCOHOL?



As I recall at the time of the accident there was a an alcohol procedure or or policy in the process of being developed and agreed upon by the ..by the minesite as a whole..and that's subsequently been agreed upon and been put into place..as far as drugs are concerned..that would not be the case as far as I know..it it's an issue and I don't think..much or any mine has come to terms with as yet..as far as a positive means of of testing them..I might be wrong but I'm not aware of any.



NOW..SINCE THIS PARTICULAR INCIDENT YOU'VE REFERRED TO ALREADY..APPENDIX 13 THE..WHICH HAS SINCE BEEN UPDATED BY THE..THE COMPANY..ARE YOU AWARE OF ANY CHANGES THAT HAVE TAKEN PLACE BY THE COMPANY IN RELATION TO THE FACTORS INVOLVED IN THIS INCIDENT?



Yes I am yes.



O.K. NOW DO THE STEPS TAKEN ADDRESS YOUR CONCERNS OR WHAT YOU DETERMINED AS BEING CONTRIBUTING FACTORS.. DO THEY ADDRESS THOSE FACTORS?



Yes on the whole they do.



I'VE NO FURTHER QUESTIONS YOUR WORSHIP.

WARDEN:
THANK YOU..YES MR BEST HAVE YOU GOT ANY QUESTIONS?

MR BEST:
YES I HAVE YOUR WORSHIP.



THANK YOU.



MR WALKER..DURING THE INVESTIGATION YOU..YOU MENTIONED JUST IN YOUR STATEMENT EARLIER THAT COMMUNICATION COULD BE SEEN AS A MAJOR PROBLEM NOT JUST NOT JUST WITH..BETWEEN THE WATER TRUCK DRIVER AND THE LIGHT VEHICLE DRIVER..WOULD YOU SAY THERE WAS A PROBLEM WITH..INTER DEPARTMENTS?



With sorry?



INTER DEPARTMENTS..BETWEEN MAINTENANCE AND OR  ENGINEERING AND PRODUCTION?



I think invariably that when there's a serious accident communication is one of the major components..I think there was a problem with communication..certainly between the different mining ..or between the mining and the maintenance and that sort of thing in conveying to each other what was going on on any given day..yes.



AND AND THE ISSUE ..WAS THERE ANY ISSUES..RAISED AS TO WHAT SOME OF THE PROBLEMS MIGHT BE..DURING THE DURING YOUR INVESTIGATIONS..WITH REGARDS TO THE USE OF TWO-WAY COMMUNICATION OR IDENTIFYING HOW THE HOW THE..DEPARTMENTS COULD COMMUNICATE BETTER?



Yes I suppose specifically with respect to two-way communication it was identified that..at least two channels were being used separate channels for the different departments..I think the the maintenance department use channel 11 and the mining channel 4 ..and..there was a..how would you say..a practice anyway or a culture that those particular people stuck to their channel so they didn't actually.. they didn't have a habit of changing over to cross-communicate if you like..there's also some some issue of..through through natural attrition of the radio sets themselves different models coming into play so..there may may or may not have been the capability of switching to those different channels so..one certainly one of the actions that the mine has taken is to rationalise the whole two-way system ..as well as the actual..receiving capabilities there's a few blind spots on the minesite which have been progressively..addressed and eliminated.



THANK YOU VERY MUCH..THE OTHER THING IS..YOU SAID IN YOUR LAST STATEMENT THAT..YOUR POINTS THAT YOU RAISED AS THE..MAJOR CONTRIBUTING FACTORS..YOU BELIEVE HAVE BEEN ADDRESSED..HAVE YOU EVER VISITED THE MINESITE SINCE THE..SINCE THE ACCIDENT?



Yes I visited a few weeks ago.



AND YOU CHECKED ON THIS?



I wouldn't say..I didn't audit that entire status document..I did..I did observe..Mr Smith pointed out quite a number of things around the minesite that had been..where positive action was was evident..for example..you know the position..the methodology of watering the road for example..has been changed..to to use only only the central sprays if you like of a vehicle so that the vehicle now assumes a normal driving position in the centre of the lane..and waters one side at a time..which which of course eliminates..quite a lot of the issues.



WERE THE CHANGES TO THE TRAFFIC RULES..HAS THERE BEEN ANY CHANGE TO THE TRAFFIC RULES..FOR OVERTAKING?



Oh as far as overtaking was concerned the traffic rules were changed immediately..to..to eliminate this this particular problem and in fact a..a.. what would you call it a committee was was formed very very quickly to investigate..what might be the ideal procedure to put in place.



AND THAT'S..AS FAR AS YOU KNOW THE NEW..THE NEW TRAFFIC RULES ARE THE ONES THAT ARE..THE WORKFORCE ARE WORKING ON ..WORKING TO NOW?



As far as overtaking is concerned yes..yes I haven't actually seen if you like a reprint of the traffic rules per se.



ALRIGHT..THE OTHER ISSUE IS..IN REGARDS TO THE AREA WHERE THE ACCIDENT OCCURRED..WE KNOW THAT THE ACCIDENT OCCURRED DOWN..AT THE BOTTOM ENTRANCE MOST SOUTHERN ENTRANCE TO THAT STOCKPILE..BUT WE ALSO MADE REFERENCE IN THE VIDEO AND YOU MADE REFERENCE IN YOUR STATEMENT TO THE LIGHT VEHICLE ACCESS AT MICK'S JUNCTION..NOW BY THE USE OF THE STOCKPILE AND DURING YOUR INVESTIGATION DID YOU..DID YOU IDENTIFY ANY MAJOR HAZARD IN REGARDS TO THE INTERACTION THE NUMBER OF HAZARDOUS AREAS AND THE INTERACTION OF LIGHT VEHICLES AND HEAVY VEHICLES..WHERE WHERE OTHER OR MAJOR..ACCIDENTS OR COULD EASILY OCCUR..IN ANY PART OF THAT..IN ANY OF THAT AREA..WHERE..ON THAT HAULROAD?



Yes yes..one of the lessons that were learnt..and again which is central to this whole situation..one of the lessons learnt was that in changing..a method of work or a ..location of work..there is a need to assess..the full range of implications..of what those changes may have..those changes may in fact have introduced..other hazards and in fact..that did occur in this case..in so far as that ..the Mick's junction intersection where the light vehicle.. access road joins the haulroad..there would normally be..no heavy traffic..coming from the right..that heavy traffic would normally be on to the I think it's called the bypass stockpile..so suddenly we make a change to haul out of this temporary stockpile and and perhaps again the surprise element for people who were not aware..that..the change would be that heavy vehicles would be suddenly coming from the right..and proceeding down to that stockpile area so..it was a very real danger that someone could be caught out..in pulling out onto the haul road..there was also an issue of of light vehicles heading north to turn into the light vehicle access road.



MICK'S JUNCTION?



Mick's Junction where..the light vehicle found himself in a central sort of position waiting to to make the righthand turn..and for example if then..a heavy vehicle was approaching..from the north he'd have to wait in the centre of the road while that heavy vehicle came through..and at the same a heavy vehicle may be coming in the same direction as him from the rear..so he would suddenly find..he could suddenly find himself if you like ..straddled by heavy vehicles passing him on both sides in different directions..which was a very undesirable situation..but again these..these..I guess the point we're making is these things weren't recognised until after the event..they had nothing to do with the accident..but they were certainly a an introduced hazard that could well have been the cause of an accident.



EXCEPT THAT..AS A DISTRICT UNION INSPECTOR I MADE AN INSPECTION OF THE MINE..SOMETIME BEFORE THAT AND HAD AN ENTRY IN THE MINE RECORD BOOK THAT..THAT STIPULATED A NEED FOR THE RISK ASSESSMENT TO BE DONE ..WERE YOU AWARE OF THAT IN THAT..FOR THAT LIGHT VEHICLE ACCESS ROAD..JOINING THE HAUL ROAD..IN THAT AREA THAT YOU JUST SPOKE ABOUT..AT MICK'S JUNCTION?



I'm not sure Matt..I think we may have spoke about it but..



YES.



..can't just recall.



RIGHT..SO COULD YOU JUST..WHAT YOU'VE JUST DESCRIBED TO..TO THE INQUIRY..COULD YOU JUST USE THAT RULER AND JUST SORT OF POINT IT OUT..WHERE WE'RE TALKING ABOUT..HOW THAT..HOW THAT ALL COMES ABOUT?



This is the light access onto this junction here.. and what I was talking about was was heavy heavy vehicles coming down this road ..the dotted red road ..and instead of going..or proceeding to come down way..so that..in entering here you'd be..you could have heavy traffic coming..from the right.. alternatively heading..north..stopping there to turn right..you could have heavy vehicles coming..heading south and..north..passing on both sides.



YES..WITH THE LIGHT VEHICLE WANTING TO CUT ACROSS ONTO THE..ONTO MICK'S JUNCTION?



Yes.



O.K. THAT'S ALL YOUR HONOUR..THANK YOU VERY MUCH.

WARDEN:
THANK YOU..MR MELLICK?

MR MELLICK:



I HAVE NO QUESTIONS THANK YOU YOUR WORSHIP.



THANK YOU..YES MR LEES?

MR LEES:
JUST A COUPLE ..MR WALKER YOU INDICATED THAT THERE WAS ANOTHER ACCESS ROAD..THAT WAS INOPERABLE AT THE TIME..OR THE DATE OF THE ACCIDENT..THAT LIGHT VEHICLES USED TO USE..OR COULD USE TO ACCESS THE SAME AREA OF THE OPERATION OF THE MINE..IS THAT CORRECT?

Mr Walker
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MR LEES:
Yes.



ARE YOU AWARE IF THAT ROAD IS NOW ACCESSIBLE TO LIGHT VEHICLES?



I understand..again is part of if you like this improvement strategy..that was put together following the accident that that back access road has been refurbished..and other..some other amendments made to the system for example..this actual mine access road here..to Mick's Junction has been..taken out of..taken out of play..so in fact in that whole area..there is not light/heavy access.. interaction in that whole area..they've eliminated that ..there's another back access road..somewhere around to the rejects area or the..spare parts area too..so basically eliminated..heavy/light interaction in that area..but not not the haul road as a whole.



O.K..ONE OTHER QUESTION..ARE YOU AWARE OF THE COMMUNICATION..AT THE MINESITE FROM THE MINE OPERATION TO THE WORKSHOP PEOPLE..AN EXAMPLE BEING IF THERE IS A CHANGE OF OPERATIONS IN THE MINING AREA..HOW DO THEY COMMUNICATE THAT TO THE WORKSHOP PEOPLE..DO YOU UNDERSTAND HOW THEY DO IT?



I'm not sure I fully understand it..I mean one there's been a large..display board put up near the miners crib hut..to demonstrate where mining activities are on any day..and I understand that the procedures for inter-departmental communication put in place..but I'm not familiar with them in detail.



WERE THOSE PROCEDURES IN PLACE ON THAT DAY DO YOU KNOW?



They weren't no.



O.K. THAT'S ALL THANK YOU.

WARDEN:
YES MS GIBNEY?

MS GIBNEY:



THANK YOU YOUR WORSHIP..MR WALKER JUST IN RELATION TO THE..THE BACK ACCESS ROAD..WERE YOU..OR DO YOU RECALL WHETHER THERE WAS ANY EXTENSION OF OR WORK BEING DONE ON THE ROADS IN THE MONTHS PRIOR TO THE 4TH OF MAY?

Mr Walker
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MS GIBNEY:



No I don't recall whether there was or not..I understood at the time there was a..a particular section of the back access road which was in disrepair not necessarily the whole of the back access road.



THANK YOU..YOU SAY IN YOUR REPORT THAT ONE OF THE REASONS THAT THE VIDEO WAS PREPARED WAS THAT..THIS WAS AN ACCIDENT THAT WAS TEXTBOOK AND SIMPLE IN NATURE..WHAT DO YOU MEAN BY TEXTBOOK?



Well..I'm sure whether I've found the right words there..but..I've used an example..as is often the case when I go round to mines following a fatality of this nature..people would say..take interest..I mean..people know that a fatality has occurred.. industry generally has a concern..about those things and they say well Mike what happened..and..I would describe..the accident..the nature of the accident as being a large articulated water truck or vehicle turning right..when a light vehicle attempted to overtake..at the same time..and it became apparent people people would say oh yeah I can understand that ..it seems so simple..and..I guess people.. dismiss it..just a plain simple accident and the tendency is for people just say I can understand that just forget it..when in fact..if you look at in detail at the issues that are..surrounding the thing there are lessons to learn..which hopefully might combat the complacency factor..but that was really the thing that I was trying to convey.



SO WHEN YOU SAY..IS A BIT OF A PARAPHRASE OF THAT.. IT'S THE SORT OF THING THAT COULD HAPPEN ON THE HIGHWAY?



Absolutely.



RIGHT..YOU DON'T IDENTIFY..HUMAN ERROR ON THE PART OF THE DRIVER AS A POSSIBLE CAUSE..IN YOUR CONCLUSIONS..AND YET YOU DO IDENTIFY A NUMBER OF INDICATORS..INCLUDING THE WATER TRUCK LIGHT INDICATORS ITSELF..BUT THE EXISTENCE OF WARNING SIGNS.



Yes.



AS TO TRUCKS TURNING AND THE EXISTENCE OF COAL SPILLAGE..IN AN ARC LEADING INTO..THE..AREA..DO YOU CONSIDER THAT THERE WAS..SOME INADVERTENCE OR..HUMAN ERROR..AS A POSSIBLE CAUSE HERE?



I found I was unable to say that..else I would have said it..I found it very difficult to..I ventured to put in my conclusions some speculative comments at what what Dale may have said or may not said..may have thought or may not have thought..some witnesses for example didn't see that coal spillage didn't see trucks turning..didn't see the truck turning signs.. just exactly what knowledge Dale had..or what he based his decisions ..it was just so difficult to to understand there might have been just some speculation in see a blinker..righthand blinker going he may have thought oh the truck is blinking me to come through..but..you know it's..I don't know I can't say more than that.



NO AND I REALISE I MEAN WE WE CANNOT KNOW WHAT WHAT MR GADSBY KNEW AT THE TIME IMMEDIATELY PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT..BUT..AS SOME WITNESSES DIDN'T NOTICE THE TRUCK TURNING SIGNS..SOME DID DIDN'T THEY?



Yes yes.



AND AS SOME WITNESSES DIDN'T NOTICE THE COAL SPILLAGE SOME DID?



Yes yes.



SO WE DON'T KNOW WHETHER HE DID OR HE DIDN'T?



That's correct yes.



O.K.



I mean I can only assume that..if he'd have known the vehicle was going to turn he wouldn't have been trying to overtake.



YES NO..I THINK THAT IS A REASONABLE ASSUMPTION.. BUT THERE MAY BE..



For something..for some reason he was surprised obviously at that that event taking place..whether whether a simple lack of attention or..I don't know.



O.K. IT COULD HAVE BEEN SIMPLE LACK OF ATTENTION?



It's a possibility.



O.K. RIGHT..NOW THE RAMP TWO WEST STOCKPILE..AND I'M ..COULD I JUST CLARIFY SOMETHING IN RELATION TO THAT BECAUSE IT MIGHT HELP WHEN WE GET TO SOME OTHER WITNESSES..SOME WITNESSES REFER TO IT AS THE RAMP ONE WEST STOCKPILE AND SOME REFER TO IT AS THE RAMP TWO WEST STOCKPILE?



yes.



DO YOU UNDERSTAND THE EXPLANATION FOR THAT?



It's been..during the course of the investigation it did get quite confusing..I'm not sure that I really understand..I mean I I know where it is and what it is..and..I think it's the relationship to the old the old ramp..number 1 ramp which is almost sort of in this area..almost..close..



O.K. WELL SOMEONE ELSE WILL BE ABLE TO TELL US LATER BUT..YOU'RE RIGHT IT IS BASICALLY THE RENUMBERING OF RAMPS AND..IT USED TO BE RAMP 1 AND NOW IT'S RAMP 2.



Yes.



THAT'S ..THERE'S NO CONFUSION ABOUT..WHERE IT OCCURRED IT'S JUST THAT SOME WITNESSES DO REFER TO IT BY ITS OLD NAME AND SOME BY ITS NEW?



Yes.



IT WAS TEMPORARY YOU SAY..YOU REFER TO IT AS A TEMPORARY STOCKPILE..BUT..THERE'S NO SUGGESTION WAS THERE THAT THIS STOCKPILE HADN'T BEEN THERE FOR A GOOD MANY YEARS?



On the contrary as I understood it had been there for a long time..one or two people were aware that it had been there for a long time..I guess it's temporary only in that it's infrequently used..it was temporary in that the coal that was put there was put there for a temporary period.



TEMPORARILY?



Yes..temporarily yes.



AND..AS SUCH..USING THIS STOCKPILE WASN'T ACTUALLY A ..NEW OPERATION I'D SUGGEST?



In that it hadn't been used..I don't know to what extent it had been used before but I understand that it had been used there..I mean..before..you don't sort of construct a stockpile for nothing I guess.



IT WAS AN INFREQUENT OR IRREGULAR PATTERN OF AN EXISTING OPERATION THOUGH RATHER THAN A COMPLETELY NEW OPERATION?



That's correct.



IN RELATION TO THE SIGNAGE..YOU SAY THAT THEY ARE A STANDARD HIGHWAY TYPE SIGNS..AND I DON'T DISAGREE WITH THAT..BUT YOU NEED BIGGER SIGNS FOR HEAVY EQUIPMENT ON A MINESITE..NOW THE TOYOTA..VEHICLE THAT WAS BEING DRIVEN BY MR GADSBY ON THE DAY OF THE ACCIDENT..WAS OF COURSE THE SORT OF VEHICLE THAT YOU CAN FIND ON THE HIGHWAY EVERYDAY?



That's true.



AND DO YOU SUGGEST THAT YOU NEED BIGGER AND BETTER SIGNS THAN WE FIND ON THE HIGHWAY..FOR A LIGHT VEHICLE OF THAT NATURE?



Well I guess there's room for debate on that issue but..I guess what in..certainly as far as mining is concerned I would suggest that if..you know if we recognise a significant hazard then we try to highlight that hazard as best we can..I certainly don't know how big or grand the sign has to be to be effective like..it was purely an opinion.



YEAH..AND I THINK WE CAN ALL AGREE THAT BIGGER AND NOT NECESSARILY GRANDER BUT..BIGGER THE SIGN THEN PROBABLY THE BETTER THE CHANCE THAT SOMEONE WILL NOTICE IT..BUT..LOOK AT IT ANOTHER WAY..WOULD YOU DESCRIBE THESE SIGNS..COMPARED WITH AS THEY SAY AS THEY ARE..STANDARD HIGHWAY SIGNS AS BEING VERY SMALL ..OR ARE THEY JUST A STANDARD?



They're just a standard I mean I'd even stand corrected if they're not standard highway signs but they appear to me to be ..the sort of signs you would see on any roadway.



HOW DO THEY COMPARE WITH..SIMILAR SIGNAGE AT OTHER MINES..THAT YOU VISIT?



I'm not sure that I can draw that comparison.. there's quite a variety of signage and I I don't I don't have a clear view on that.



IN RELATION TO THE OVERTAKING PROCEDURE..WHICH YOU DESCRIBED IN THE TERMS THAT..WITNESSES HAVE DESCRIBED IT..MOVE OVER TO THE LEFT..TRY AND ATTRACT ATTENTION..WAIT FOR THE WATER TRUCK DRIVER TO DROP HIS RIGHTHAND SPRAY..IS THAT A FAIR SUMMARY OF WHAT YOU WERE TOLD BY WITNESSES.    



Yes.



HOW MANY WITNESSES THAT YOU SPOKE TO AND ASKED ABOUT WHETHER THEY KNEW THE OVERTAKING PROCEDURE..KNEW OF THE PROCEDURE IN THOSE TERMS?



I don't think I could give you a factual answer..I'd have to go back and..



WELL PERHAPS..WELL CAN I HELP..CAN I HELP..?

MS MALONEY:



IT MIGHT HELP YOUR WORSHIP JUST IN RELATION TO THAT IF THE INSPECTOR WANTS TO..IF WE NEED AN ACTUAL NUMBER THE REPORT SPEAKS FOR ITSELF..THE WITNESSES THAT WERE SPOKEN..THE STATEMENTS ARE IN THE REPORT AND..IF SOMEBODY WANTS TO SIT DOWN AND COUNT IT THEN THEY CAN DO..MISS GIBNEY CAN SIT DOWN AND COUNT IT IF SHE WANTS TO.



I would guess at the majority..but..but I won't..

MS GIBNEY:



YES..I WOULD SUGGEST IT WAS 10 OUT OF 12 THAT YOU ASKED THE QUESTION OF..GAVE EXACTLY THAT.



It wouldn't surprise me.



AND TWO THAT YOU ASKED..TWO OF THE REMAINING 12 THAT YOU ASKED THE QUESTION OF THERE WAS ONE THAT YOU DID NOT..HAD A SLIGHT VARIATION ON THAT?



Yeah I wouldn't disagree with that.



SO IT WAS A GOOD TAKE-UP RATE?



Yes.



DID YOU COME ACROSS ANYTHING IN YOUR INVESTIGATION TO SUGGEST THAT MR GADSBY KNEW THAT PROCEDURE?



I'm not sure I understand..I can't recall any.



IN MR BILES EVIDENCE?



Right.



WAS THERE ANYTHING THAT MR BILES TOLD YOU THAT INDICATED TO YOU ONE WAY OR THE OTHER WHETHER MR GADSBY WAS AWARE OF THE PROCEDURE?



Oh yeah I'm sorry..in so far as..Mr Biles describing what Mr Gadsby did..in attempting to overtake..is that what you're referring to?



YES..WAS THAT CONSISTENT WITH THE PROCEDURE?



yes it is yes.



IN WHAT REGARD?



In that he..Mr Biles described Mr Gadsby as having attempted to go to the left side of the vehicle to attract attention..but because the the water truck was already over on the extreme left of the road.. that sort of made the procedure rather..impotent and and he had to then move across..to..overtake..in the way that he did.



SO AGAIN WE CAN'T KNOW..BUT IT'S AT LEAST SOME INDICATION THAT MR GADSBY WAS AWARE OF THE PROCEDURE AS WELL?

MS MALONEY:



WELL YOUR WORSHIP I DON'T THINK A WITNESS CAN ANSWER THAT..HE HAS ALREADY ANSWERED THE QUESTION CONCERNING WHETHER OR NOT WHAT MR BILES HAS SAID AND WHAT HE HAS PERCEIVED MR GADSBY TO HAVE BEEN DOING.. THE WITNESS CAN'T TAKE IT ANY FURTHER TO SAY IF MR GADSBY KNEW OR NOT.

MS GIBNEY:



I'LL LEAVE THAT ONE GO YOUR WORSHIP.

WARDEN:
O.K...HAVE YOU GOT MUCH FURTHER TO GO AT ALL?



NO NOT VERY MUCH FURTHER..WAS YOUR WORSHIP WISHING TO TAKE A BREAK?



I'LL JUST TAKE A SHORT BREAK AFTER YOU FINISH.



O.K. I'M..DEFINITELY BY 11.30 IS THAT ALRIGHT?



OH WE MIGHT JUST BREAK NOW..WE'LL TAKE A BREAK NOW.

INQUIRY ADJOURNED.

INQUIRY RESUMED.

MS GIBNEY:




INSPECTOR WALKER..HAVE YOU SEEN A COPY OF THIS STATEMENT BY ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR MacDONALD JAMES CHRISTIE?



No.



YOU HAVE NOT?



No.



O.K.



That's not to say I haven't been given it but I haven't..looked at it.



CAN YOU HAVE A LOOK AT THIS DOCUMENT..AND SEE.. HAVE YOU READ THAT DOCUMENT?



No I haven't.



RIGHT..DID YOU RECEIVE A..COULD YOU JUST HAND THAT BACK TO ME PLEASE..DID YOU RECEIVE A COPY..OF..THIS FOLDER OF MATERIALS?



Yes.



YOU DID..HAVE YOU LOOKED THROUGH THAT FOLDER?



Very very scantily yes.



VERY SCANTILY...ARE YOU FAMILIAR WITH..THE GORDONSTONE MINE?



Yes.



ARE YOU AWARE OF WHETHER THERE IS ANY DRUG OR ALCOHOL TESTING PROGRAM IN PLACE THERE?



I understand there is yes.



WHEN IT WAS OPERATIONAL?



No I don't know the details.



RIGHT.



I've certainly been aware of it at sometime but I couldn't recall what it is at this time.



GOONYELLA RIVERSIDE MINE..ARE YOU FAMILIAR WITH IT?



No.



YOU'RE NOT..O.K. ..YOU NOTE AT PAGE 21 OF YOUR REPORT THAT THE STOCKPILE AREA WAS ASSESSED PRIOR TO DUMPING AND ACTION TAKEN..THIS IS IN A THINGS WHICH SHOULD BE DONE AND WERE DONE?



Yes.



WOULD YOU DESCRIBE WHAT THAT..ACTION TAKEN WAS AND THE ASSESSMENT PROCESS AS YOU UNDERSTAND IT FROM YOUR INVESTIGATIONS?



I'm struggling to recall who..but as I recall because it was intended to use the stockpile..a supervisor..at least a supervisor inspected the area for suitability for for the traffic involved and identified repair works that needed to be done and initiated those repair works to be done..that's the basis of that comment.



RIGHT.



I guess what I was saying in..in so far as when you change a place of work or a method of work..if you like risk assessing..the..situation it was done in it was done at least as far as that was concerned.



RIGHT..AND AS YOU NOTE AT THE NEXT DOT POINT ON THAT PAGE AND WE'VE DISCUSSED THE TRUCK TURNING SIGNS.. THE TRUCKS TURNING WERE RECOGNISED AS POTENTIAL HAZARD AND THE WARNING SIGNS..ADEQUATE OR OTHERWISE AS THERE WERE WERE INSTALLED?



yes the basis for that comment was the fact that the truck turning signs had been put there as cautionary signs..someone obviously recognised the that there was a hazard and that the..obviously the signs needed to be there.



ARE YOU FAMILIAR WITH THE..HAZARD AWARENESS OR RISK ASSESSMENT TRAINING WHICH..PEOPLE WORKING AT BLACKWATER MINE HAVE DONE?



I'm aware of it I'm not familiar with it in detail.



HAVE YOU HAD OCCASION TO LOOK AT ANY OF THE TRAINING MATERIAL..ARE YOU AWARE OF THE CONTENT OF THE..THE HAZARD ASSESSMENT COURSES?



I think I've got a copy of it actually..but yes some time ago..I can't recall it in detail.



HAZARD..WELL..IS HAZARD ASSESSMENT OR RISK ASSESSMENT PRACTICED AT BLACKWATER MINE TO YOUR KNOWLEDGE?



I believe it is.



AND WAS IT BEFORE THE 4TH OF MAY?



I believe it was yes.



THANK YOU..IN RELATION TO THE INDICATORS ON THE WATER TRUCK FINALLY....WOULD YOU JUST HAVE A LOOK AT THESE TWO PHOTOGRAPHS FOR ME PLEASE..OR THREE PHOTOGRAPHS ACTUALLY...YOUR WORSHIP THESE PHOTOGRAPHS ARE IN THE BUNDLE OF MATERIALS WHICH IS PROVIDED TO THE COURT AS MATERIAL TO BE TENDERED BY BHP..I BELIEVE THAT EVERYONE HAS..A COPY OF THAT MATERIAL..AND THEY ARE...THEY ARE..WOULD YOU DESCRIBE THOSE PHOTOGRAPHS INSPECTOR WALKER?



The one I'm looking at at the moment is the bottom of Ramp 11..and it's got ..it indicates travelling behind..about a hundred metres behind..TKV1300 with a righthand indicator on..the righthand indicator is visible..and circled with an arrow.



YES.



Showing where it is..the second is..as it's travelling north..between Ramp 11 and Ramp 10.. with the indicator..I think it's off.



OFF?



It's smudged a little bit but..there's no no indication of an indicator showing..and the third one turning into Ramp 10 righthand indicator on.. and again the righthand indicator is visible.



NOW HAVE YOU TRAVELLED IN A VEHICLE BEHIND THIS WATER TRUCK WITH THE SPRAYS GOING AND ..AND OBSERVED THE INDICATOR?



No.



YOU HAVEN'T?



No.



SO YOU CAN'T COMMENT ON WHETHER THOSE PHOTOGRAPHS ARE AN ACCURATE?



No.



REFLECTION OF THE VISIBILITY OF THE INDICATORS?



No.



O.K. THANK YOU IF YOU COULD HAND THOSE BACK PLEASE.. 

MS MALONEY:



YOUR WORSHIP JUST IN RELATION TO THOSE PHOTOGRAPHS.. PERHAPS IF IT CAN BE INDICATED THAT THEY ARE IN FACT GOING TO BE..TENDERED AS EVIDENCE?



YES THEY WILL BE..THROUGH MR SMITH.



AND PERHAPS THEY CAN BE PUT IN FOR IDENTIFICATION AT THIS POINT..THEY HAVE SPECIFICALLY BEEN REFERRED TO AT THIS POINT THROUGH THE WITNESS?



I WILL..I'M HAPPY TO TENDER THOSE FOR IDENTIFICATION NOW..THEY WILL BE..TENDERED THROUGH MR SMITH LATER.

WARDEN:
O.K. 



FINALLY INSPECTOR WALKER..MR GADSBY HAD SOME A MAINTENANCE AUTHORISATION IN RESPECT OF THIS PARTICULAR WATER TRUCK..WERE YOU AWARE OF THAT..THE OPERATION OF THIS PARTICULAR WATER TRUCK?



I'm not quite sure I understand the question?



I'LL FRAME IT ANOTHER WAY..WERE YOU AWARE OF WHETHER MR GADSBY HAD ANY AUTHORISATION TO..OPERATE..THIS WATER TRUCK?



I I..I believe he did have authorisation to operate heavy equipment.



RIGHT..IF YOU TURN TO YOUR REPORT?



Yes.



ON..IT IS ANNEXURE..APPENDIX 9..OF YOUR REPORT..IF YOU LOOK ABOUT..THERE ARE TRAINING RECORDS FOR MR GADSBY?



Yes.



A FEW PAGES IN..IF YOU LOOK ABOUT..12 LINES DOWN EUCLID 120 WATER TRUCK?



yes.



MOVE ONLY MAINTENANCE?



Yes.



JULY 1995?



Yes.



ARE YOU AWARE OF WHAT THAT REFERENCE TO MOVE ONLY MAINTENANCE MEANS?



yes it means that he was ..he was authorised to operate the equipment for the purposes of maintenance only and not for production purposes.. in other words to move it around to suit..the sort of things that mechanics do.



YOU SAY AT PAGE 17 OF YOUR REPORT THAT IT IS DIFFICULT TO UNDERSTAND WHY THE TOYOTA COULD NOT HAVE EFFECTED FURTHER EVASIVE ACTION?



Yes.



BUT YOU DO NOT MENTION THAT..FURTHER IN YOUR REPORT?



Right.



IF IT IS DIFFICULT TO UNDERSTAND WHY THE TOYOTA DID NOT EFFECT FURTHER EVASIVE ACTION..IS THE ..IS THE FAILURE TO DO THAT A POSSIBLE CAUSE?



I guess the basis of that comment was that..the evidence suggested that the vehicle did veer to the right..from its original line of travel parallel with the edge of the road..over that 24 metres or so ..by nature of what we describe as the skid marks.. to the right of that location..if you like there was a spoon drain or the edge of the road..there was no obstacle to prevent for example the wheel being thrown hard over to the right..to throw the vehicle completely off the road..that's why I say it was hard to understand  why further evasive action wasn't taken..there didn't appear to be anything to stop that happening..I think I made some comments.. purely speculatively that..perhaps..and because the vehicle only contact..appeared to have contacted the the water truck lightly..that perhaps Mr Gadsby thought that he'd achieve without doing that..he'd already achieved pulling up safely..and not..and not perhaps recognised the turning arc of the vehicle and the danger from the..from the trailer coming on ..that's purely the reason for that remark.



THANK YOU..I HAVE NO FURTHER QUESTIONS YOUR WORSHIP.

WARDEN:
THANK YOU..MR BRADY?

REVIEWER 

MR BRADY:
YEAH MR WALKER..I'D JUST LIKE TO GO THROUGH SOME.. SOME THINGS WITH YOU ON THE ROOT CAUSE CHART..IN THE THINGS WHICH SHOULD..SHOULD BE DONE AND WERE DONE... THE STOCKPILE AREA ASSESSED PRIOR TO DUMPING AND ACTION TAKEN..THAT IN FACT IS DEALT WITH THE..THE DUMPING AREA DIDN'T IT?

Mr Walker
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MR BRADY:
That was purely the dumping..the stockpile itself.



YEAH SO IT DIDN'T REALLY CONSIDER THE THE TURNING OF THE TRUCKS INTO THE..INTO THE DUMP AREA?



No..that was the point I made earlier that that part of it had been assessed as needing some repair works to make it suitable but..the full implications of new arrangement weren't weren't appreciated or checked.



NOW THE NEXT POINT ..TRUCKS TURNING RECOGNISED BY THE OPEN-CUT EXAMINER..AS A POTENTIAL HAZARD AND WARNING SIGNS INSTALLED..BUT DID YOUR INVESTIGATIONS REVEAL THAT THAT WAS IT..IN ANY WAY WAS COMMUNICATED TO OTHER PEOPLE ON THE MINESITE?



To my knowledge no it wasn't.



SO IF WE RECOGNISE A HAZARD AND JUST PUT UP A SIGN THAT'S AS FAR AS IT GOES?



Perhaps there's a bit of qualification there..I say well the hazard had been recognised..perhaps that's a grand way of saying ..that..people like open-cut examiners..in the normal course of their work..if they know that that's going to be a turning in point they'd put signs up..perhaps it's..I'm trying to say to what degree that is is just a routine occurrence that someone does as opposed to..really appreciating the hazard..I'm not sure if you follow what I'm trying to say.



WELL I'LL GET ONTO THAT LATER ABOUT THE RISK ASSESSMENT..CAN WE GO OVER TO THE THINGS WHICH COULD OR SHOULD HAVE BEEN DONE BUT WERE NOT..AND THERE'S BEEN A BIT SAID ABOUT THE BACK ACCESS ROAD..AND THE CONDITION OF IT..IS THERE ANY INDICATION AT ALL THAT MR GADSBY DIDN'T TRAVEL THE BACK ACCESS ROAD BECAUSE IT WAS IN BAD CONDITION?



Well of course we haven't got evidence from Mr Gadsby but only..the answer to anecdotal evidence from a number of witnesses which..indicated that they were dissuaded from using the back access road because of its condition..whether or not that prevailed across the work..the work site I don't know.



BUT THERE'S NO GENERAL RULE WHICH SAYS..THAT LIGHT VEHICLES SHOULDN'T USE THE HAULROAD IS THERE?



No.



SO..YOU KNOW I'M..I'M AT A BIT OF A LOSS TO UNDERSTAND WHAT THE BACK ACCESS ROAD HAS TO DO WITH THIS PARTICULAR EVENT..I MEAN THERE ARE TIMES WHEN LIGHT VEHICLES..ARE GOING TO AND HAVE TO USE THE.. THE HAUL ROADS?



That's correct..I think it's fair to say that at the mine there was a...there was a..I don't know whether I can call it a procedure but..it was recognised that the back access road should be used..rather than general use of the haulroad for light vehicles .. whether or not..people..got into the habit of not doing that because of the condition of the back access road..or whether it was just simply because the haul road was far more..was more convenient and quicker..or a combination of the two..I don't know.. but in the overall sense of this accident..the fact ..an important issue is to..at least design a mine so as to minimise the interaction..of heavy and light traffic to the maximum extent.



DEVELOP AND IMPLEMENT PROCEDURES TO ENSURE THAT ALL PROPOSED OPERATION ARE COMPREHENSIVELY ASSESSED AND APPROPRIATE CONTROLS INSTALLED..NOW I THINK YOU.. ANSWERED TO MISS GIBNEY THAT YOU BELIEVED THAT.. HAZARD IDENTIFICATION AND RISK MANAGEMENT WAS PRACTICED BEFORE THE ACCIDENT?



yes.



HOW LONG BEFORE THE ACCIDENT DO YOU KNOW?



I can't answer that..I mean I guess I answered that in a general sense that people were aware of those ..those tools..and..that..you know those skills were used on occasions for various things but..



WELL IN YOUR OPINION..WOULD THE KNOWLEDGE OF RISK MANAGEMENT..PRACTICES BE..THE LEVEL OF KNOWLEDGE OF RISK MANAGEMENT PRACTICES BE AT ALL LEVELS OF THE WORKFORCE?



I don't know.



BUT YOU WOULD AGREE THAT IT IT WOULD TAKE SOMETIME TO TO LEARN HOW TO USE THOSE THOSE TOOLS EFFECTIVELY?



Yes it would.



AND YOU'D ALSO AGREE THAT IF THOSE TOOLS HAD HAVE BEEN USED EFFECTIVELY..OR HAD HAVE BEEN IN A..IN A IF PEOPLE'S EDUCATION WITH THE MATTER BEEN TO A STAGE WHERE THEY COULD USE IT EFFECTIVELY..THIS HAZARD WOULD HAVE BEEN IDENTIFIED PROPERLY AND APPROPRIATE ACTION WOULD HAVE BEEN TAKEN TO PREVENT IT?



Yes..I guess the further than that..I mean it's one thing to have..if you like the skills to do risk assessment..or hazard identification risk assessment but it's perhaps something else to..apply the commitment to ensure that..or recognise when it should be used and have the commitment to use it..on all occasions if you like..sometimes things..that could have been looked upon in that way don't they don't..it doesn't happen.



SEE..YOU'D AGREE THAT RISK..RISK MANAGEMENT TOOLS ARE RELATIVELY NEW TO THIS INDUSTRY AREN'T THEY?



In my knowledge..risk assessment would probably be about '92 vintage..well when I say '92 vintage that's my experience of when it started to come in as a and certainly about that time when I.. personally involved and advocated the use of it.



SO THAT MEANS WE'VE HAD 5 YEARS TO IMPLEMENT IT EFFECTIVELY?



Five years for the industry as a whole to pick it up and and use it to its best best advantage yes.



AS A GENERAL RULE HAVE YOU SEEN THAT HAPPEN?



As a general rule yes..I would say I have seen it.



USED EFFECTIVELY?



Oh I think there are plenty of gaps..when I say as a general rule I've seen it..as a general rule it's true to say that it has been become known at mines and used to greater or lesser extent..some mines use it very very effectively..and with a great deal of commitment..typically other mines might be a little bit bit more behind in the way they do things.



BUT YOU'D AGREE IN THIS PARTICULAR CASE IT WASN'T USED EFFECTIVELY?



It wasn't used effectively for this particular exercise no.



NOW IN THE OTHER THINGS..`REVIEW THE MINESITE TWO-WAY COMMUNICATION SYSTEMS AND OPTIMISE ITS USE'..IS YOU KNOW ..THAT HAS BEEN CHANGED NOW HAS IT?



Yes it has.



AND I..NOTED HERE THAT THERE WAS TWO CHANNELS CHANNEL 11 AND CHANNEL 4..AND ONE GROUP BASICALLY DIDN'T TALK TO ANOTHER IS THAT..THAT CORRECT?



Well you could say it's basically the situation yes.



O.K. I'VE GOT NO FURTHER QUESTIONS THANKS.

REVIEWER

MR BIRD:
JUST ONE..WHEN THE DISTRICT UNION INSPECTOR..MAKES AN ENTRY INTO THE RECORD BOOK..HOW LONG WOULD IT BE OR WOULD YOU ENVISAGE IT WOULD TAKE FOR PEOPLE TO EITHER EITHER ACKNOWLEDGE THAT..THAT REPORT OR TO RECTIFY THE PROBLEM?

Mr Walker

XD BY

MR BIRD:
Could I ask which people you're referring to?



I'M REFERRING TO THE SAFE MINE MANAGEMENT.



I don't know whether I can answer that..it should be done in a fairly short time..I don't see any reason why it wouldn't be done in a fairly short time.



O.K.

WARDEN:
I'VE JUST GOT A..I MIGHT HAVE MISSED SOMETHING IN THESE STATEMENTS BUT..HAVE YOU GOT ANY IDEA HOW.. WHAT ..FROM THE STATEMENTS WHAT THE SPEED OF THE.. MR GADSBY'S VEHICLE WAS DOING..AT THE RELEVANT TIME?

Mr Walker

XD BY

WARDEN:
The work that we did was was as far as you know the skid tests and things..we did skid tests which indicated that 80 kilometres an hour..equated to around about 25..24, 25 metres that..that appeared to be the skid prior to the impact..but..certainly with a word of caution that it was on a different piece of road on a different day..and..the results could have been significantly different so..it was purely an indicator only..I guess with the other perception..and the evidence of Mr Biles..it appeared to tie in put it that way..but I wouldn't make it any stronger than that..so if if at 80 kilometres ..I think it took twenty five and a half metres..to stop..you know speculation so..something a bit less than 80 kilometres for the 24 metres that that was involved in the accident..but.

REVIEWER

MR HAMMET:



YES I'VE JUST GOT ONE..JUST IN RELATION TO THE WATER CART..YOU AWARE OF ANY PROCEDURES..IN PLACED THAT REQUIRES LIGHTS OR INDICATORS THAT SORT OF THING TO BE MAINTAINED IN GOOD WORKING ORDER AND?

Mr Walker

XD BY

MR HAMMET:



Yes I'd need to refer to..to be precise but in the report I do make..I do make reference to the fact that the mine does have..within their traffic rules there is a requirement that..with the walk around checks for the driver to ..to see that they are in order..but I think I made the point that there wasn't a specific reference to cleanliness.



HAVE YOU ANY IDEA ON SORT OF FREQUENCIES OF INSPECTIONS?



I don't know.



JUST IN RELATION TO THE SPRAYS ON THE WATER CART AND THE LOCATION OF SPRAYS..IN RELATION TO LIGHTS..DID YOU OBSERVE ANY..ANY PROBLEMS IN THAT AREA AT ALL?



The height of the spray heads?



YES..AND RELATIONSHIP TO THE LIGHTS ON THE REAR OF THE WATER CART?



I think..and certainly from the work that Blackwater have done since..the there's certainly a a strong tie-up between..the relation..firstly the height of the of the spray head above the road..the actual height..and there..and therefore the distance between the spray head and the light..what they what they've done since is is to lower that..spray location and by..differing or making adjustments to the to the water pressure..they're now able to spray out on a lower..a lower trajectory..and in changing that spray pattern..they also..have found that the cleanliness of the lights is addressed to a fairly significant degree as well..i.e. changing that spray pattern the lights don't require ..they don't get dirty as quick as what they were before.



THAT'S ALL I HAVE..THANK YOU.

WARDEN:
IS THERE ANY FURTHER QUESTIONS?

MS MALONEY:



JUST A COUPLE OF QUESTIONS YOUR WORSHIP.



YES.



JUST TO CLARIFY YOU WERE TALKING ABOUT..YOU'VE BEEN TALKING ABOUT THE RISK ASSESSMENT NOW..THE HAZARD THAT WAS OCCURRING IN THIS PARTICULAR LOCATION WERE THE TURNING TRUCKS..THAT WOULD BE THE HAZARD ..THE FACT OF..TURNING VEHICLES?



Turning right..right off the haulroad yes.



O.K. AND..TO AT LEAST SOME EXTENT THAT HAZARD HAD BEEN IDENTIFIED..BY ONE OF THE OPEN-CUT EXAMINERS BY PUTTING UP THE SIGN..AND PUTTING A WITCHES HAT BESIDE THE SIGN?



yes.



AND PUTTING I SHOULD SAY SIGNS AT EITHER END OF THAT OF THAT TURN OFF POINT..NOW..LOOKING AT THE HAZARD YOU'RE TALKING ABOUT..AND SO FOR TRAINING FOR DRIVING IN RELATION TO THIS SORT OF HAZARD..DOES THAT TRAINING NEED TO ACQUIT ANYTHING DIFFERENT FROM WHAT WOULD BE CONSIDERED NORMAL ROAD RULES?



Sorry I don't think I understand what you?



IN PROVIDING TRAINING FOR YOU..ANYONE THAT'S GOING TO BE USING THAT..AND USING THE AREA AROUND THAT PARTICULAR HAZARD OF THE TRUCKS TURNING..WILL BE APPLICABLE ELSEWHERE AS WELL..DOES THAT TRAINING FOR DRIVERS OR OPERATORS OF OTHER VEHICLES NEED TO BE ANY DIFFERENT FROM ROAD RULES..THE NORMAL ROAD RULES?



It would need to be..to whatever extent site specific issues would need to be addressed..but by and large the same principles apply.



O.K.



I'm not sure if i've answered..what you're after but.



O.K. NOW JUST FINALLY..WITH WITH ..YOU WERE SHOWN THREE PHOTOGRAPHS..INDICATE..SHOWING THE REAR INDICATOR ON THE WATER TRUCK?



Yes.



IN RELATION TO THOSE PHOTOGRAPHS..DO YOU NEED TO HAVE ANOTHER LOOK AT THOSE PHOTOGRAPHS?



Not really.



THEY WEREN'T TAKEN AT THE PARTICULAR SITE OF THIS PARTICULAR ACCIDENT WERE THEY?



No they weren't no.



O.K. COULD YOU HAVE ANY COMMENT ABOUT THE CONDITIONS THAT WERE INDICATED IN THOSE PHOTOGRAPHS..LIGHTING OR SURROUNDS?



The photographs were fairly dusty in nature..but other than that..no I've got no other..no other comments.



O.K. I'VE NOTHING FURTHER YOUR WORSHIP.

EX.#8 (ID ONLY)

WARDEN:
THANK YOU..JUST ON THAT POINT ON THOSE PHOTOS I FORMALLY SHOULD ADMIT THEM FOR THE RECORD..THOSE 3 PHOTOS AS EXHIBIT NUMBER EIGHT FOR IDENTIFICATION PURPOSES ONLY AT THIS STAGE..IS THERE ANY FURTHER QUESTIONS AT ALL FROM THE BAR TABLE..OTHERWISE I'LL EXCUSE THE WITNESS..NO?



THANK YOU YOUR WORSHIP MAY THIS WITNESS BE EXCUSED?



YES..THANK YOU YES YOU'RE EXCUSED THANKS MR WALKER.. YES THANK YOU?



THE NEXT WITNESS TO BE CALLED IS MR SULLIVAN YOUR WORSHIP.

WITNESS DULY SWORN.

MS MALONEY:



MR SULLIVAN COULD YOU PLEASE STATE YOUR FULL NAME AND ADDRESS FOR THE COURT PLEASE?

Mr Sullivan

XD BY

MS MALONEY:



Thomas Graeme Sullivan..my address is Racecourse Road, Tullawarra, Bluff.



O.K. AND WHAT'S YOUR OCCUPATION?



Level four mine worker at BHP.



O.K. DID YOU HAVE THE SAME POSITION AS AT 4TH OF MAY OF THIS YEAR?



Yes I did.



YOUR WORSHIP AT THIS POINT PERHAPS THE WITNESS SHOULD BE WARNED?

WARDEN:
YES..MR SULLIVAN THIS..IT'S MY DUTY TO WARN YOU AT THIS STAGE..THAT..IN RELATION TO THIS INCIDENT YOU'VE MADE A STATEMENT..AND UNDER SECTION 10 OF THE EVIDENCE ACT..SECTION 10 OF THE EVIDENCE ACT PROVIDES THAT..NOTHING IN THE ACT SHALL RENDER ANY PERSON COMPELLABLE TO ANSWER ANY QUESTION TENDING TO INCRIMINATE THAT PERSON..YOU HAVE A RIGHT TO CLAIM PRIVILEGE IF YOU WISH TO DO SO..YOU DON'T HAVE TO ANSWER ANY QUESTION THAT YOU CONSIDER MIGHT INCRIMINATE YOURSELF..NOW YOU HAVE THE RIGHT TO CLAIM PRIVILEGE NOW IF YOU SO DESIRE..IT'S ENTIRELY A MATTER FOR YOURSELF WHETHER YOU WANT TO DO..HAVE YOU SOUGHT ANY INDEPENDENT ADVICE AT ALL IN RELATION TO THESE PROCEEDINGS?

Mr Sullivan

XD BY WARDEN:



Yes.



YOU HAVE..IF YOU CAN INDICATE TO ME NOW WHETHER YOU WISH TO CLAIM PRIVILEGE OR NOT..DO YOU UNDERSTAND WHAT I'M SAYING?



Yes I'd like..



YOU DO..WHAT DO YOU WISH TO DO?



..to carry on I think..I'll be right.



YOU'VE THOUGHT ABOUT IT LONG AND HARD?



Yes.



GOOD NOW..YOU MUST UNDERSTAND..THAT AT ANY STAGE DURING THE QUESTIONING IF IT'S A QUESTION THAT YOU CONSIDER MAY INCRIMINATE YOURSELF..YOU CAN INDICATE TO ME THAT YOU WISH TO CLAIM PRIVILEGE AND I'LL MAKE A RULING ACCORDINGLY..DO YOU UNDERSTAND WHAT I'M SAYING?



Yes.



ALRIGHT..OR AT ANY STAGE IF THERE IS A QUESTION ASKED ..I WILL GIVE YOU THE APPROPRIATE WARNING.. DO YOU UNDERSTAND WHAT I'M SAYING?



Yes.



O.K. YES THANK YOU.

MS MALONEY:



O.K. NOW..MR SULLIVAN DO YOU RECALL GIVING A STATEMENT..TO A MR MIKE WALKER INSPECTOR OF MINES?



Yes I do.



IF THE WITNESS COULD BE SHOWN HIS STATEMENT PLEASE YOUR WORSHIP..?? LOOK AT YOUR..I THINK YOUR SIGNATURE APPEARS ON THE BOTTOM OF EACH PAGE..IF YOU JUST HAVE A LOOK THROUGH EACH PAGE..THAT'S YOUR SIGNATURE THAT APPEARS ON THE BOTTOM OF EACH PAGE?



Yes it is.



NOW..HAVE YOU HAD A CHANCE TO GO THROUGH THAT STATEMENT AGAIN PRIOR TO COMING ALONG TODAY?



Oh not not right through it.



DO YOU RECALL WHAT'S CONTAINED WITHIN THAT STATEMENT?



Yes I do.



NOW THAT STATEMENT..THE CONTENT OF THAT STATEMENT ARE THEY TRUE AND CORRECT TO THE BEST OF YOUR KNOWLEDGE?



Yes they are.



IS THERE ANYTHING YOU'D WANT TO CHANGE IN THAT STATEMENT..OR ADD TO IT?



No.



O.K. I BELIEVE THE IT SHOULD BE THE ORIGINAL..IF THAT'S NOT THE ORIGINAL THE ORIGINAL IS IN THE EXHIBIT..THE INSPECTOR'S REPORT BEFORE YOU YOUR WORSHIP.

WARDEN:
YES..IT'S PART OF THE EXHIBIT 7.



NOW MR SULLIVAN..ON THE 4TH OF MAY YOU WERE WERE DRIVING THE WATER TRUCK ON THAT OCCASION WEREN'T YOU?



Yes I was.



CAN YOU JUST OUTLINE FOR US WHAT WERE THE PROCEDURES THAT YOU WERE TO FOLLOW..WHEN OPERATING THE WATER TRUCK..AND AT THIS POINT IF YOU COULD CONFINE YOU'RE DRIVING ALONG THE HAUL ROAD AT THAT TIME AND WATERING ..JUST TELL US WHAT THE PROCEDURES WERE.. THAT WERE IN PLACE?



Procedure of driving the water truck?



YEAH WHAT YOU WERE TO DO AND HOW YOU WERE TO DO GO ABOUT DRIVING THAT WATER TRUCK AND WATERING THAT ROAD?



Procedure of the water to..water the road when the for the lay the dust for the trucks and that..and.. to ..

WARDEN:
MR SULLIVAN..AT ANY TIME IF YOU WISH TO HAVE A BREAK AT ALL..JUST ASK FOR AN ADJOURNMENT O.K.?



Thank you.

MS MALONEY:



NOW..WE'LL START FROM..IF YOU'RE WATERING THAT HAUL ROAD..O.K. ..WERE THERE A PARTICULAR PLACE ON THE ROAD YOU WERE TO BE WHILST..YOU WATERED..WERE YOU TO BE ON THE CENTRE OF THE ROAD TO ONE SIDE OF THE ROAD?



To be..to water the road properly..just..it wasn't right over to the lefthand side it was more or less in the..near the centre..to water properly.



AND..THE WATER FROM THE SPRAYS WOULD WHAT WATER THE THE WHOLE ROAD SURFACE?



The waters of the..from the sprays..on the lefthand side because you drive from there and you look out the..rear vision mirror..the sprays would touch the edge of the..the road on one side..on the other side it wouldn't reach right across.



SO IT WOULD..IT WOULD REACH RIGHT ACROSS THE ROAD ON THE OTHER SIDE?



No it wouldn't reach right across no.



WOULDN'T..AND..SO TO FULLY WATER THAT ROAD YOU'D HAVE TO GO UP AND THEN COME BACK?



Yes you'd have to go up and come back.



O.K. NOW..NEAR THE..THE TURN-OFF..LIKE IF YOU'RE WATERING..ON THIS OCCASION PAST THE STOCKPILE..AT THE RAMP 1 OR RAMP 2 ..STOCKPILE THAT WAS BEING USED ..HOW FAR ALONG THE HAULROAD WOULD YOU BE WATERING?



Probably one..from where I was supposed..where I was to water to..I watered where the trucks and that were running..and it was from the roundabout or whatever the..to come back in and down onto the.. wherever the trucks were running that's where I was watering and then..when you caught up on that part of the road..it was laying the dust around the..the assembly area and that..so the..the other people and that could..work around there.



HOW DID YOU KNOW WHERE YOU WERE WORKING ON THAT PARTICULAR DAY?



Well you come in of a morning..then your foreman would just tell you..what you were doing and.



O.K. WHO WAS YOUR FOREMAN ON THAT DAY?



Craig.



CRAIG?



Yes.



IS THAT CRAIG CATON?



Yes.



NOW..WHILST YOU WOULD BE WATERING THE HAULROAD THERE WOULD BE OTHER VEHICLES USING THE ROAD WHILE YOU WERE DOING THAT?



Yeah other trucks yes.



TRUCKS..LIGHT VEHICLES AS WELL?



Light vehicles..some light vehicles all depends if they broke down or not yes.



O.K. NOW..CAN YOU TELL US WHAT THE PROCEDURE WAS FOR OTHER VEHICLES..PARTICULARLY THE LIGHT VEHICLES IF THEY WERE..TO..WANTED TO OVERTAKE YOU ON THAT ROAD WHILST YOU WERE WATERING THE ROAD..WHAT WHAT WAS THEIR PROCEDURE..OR WHAT WAS THE PROCEDURE TO BE FOLLOWED?



The procedure to follow as I understood the trainer ..was a few..a few weeks prior to that..he told me if you're watering down the haul road..and you seen a ..if you could see the light vehicles behind you turn your right spray off..that'll indicate for them to say that they..that you could see them..and then they could overtake..there was nothing else.



SO YOU'D HAD SOME TRAINING ON HOW TO USE THE WATER TRUCK..A SHORT TIME BEFORE THIS INCIDENT?



Yes I was.



HAD YOU USED THE WATER TRUCK MUCH BEFORE THIS?



I..not that much no..I was training on it about.. or 3 or 4 months I suppose..on different trucks.



WERE YOU AWARE OF ANY WARNING SIGNS..BEING IN PLACE ON THAT DAY?



No I wasn't..no.



O.K. SO YOU HADN'T SEEN ANY OF THE SIGNS..THE TWO SIGNS THAT WERE UP?



When I was..when I coming back..with the day before I seen the..a little sign up above where we were turning and that..it was a truck sign but I didn't see the one..on ?? at that..on that day.



O.K. NOW..IF YOU'RE OPERATING THE WATER TRUCK..WHAT FORM OF..EITHER RADIO COMMUNICATION OR ANY OTHER SORT OF COMMUNICATION IS AVAILABLE TO YOU FROM THE TRUCK?



Yes there's a two-way radio in there.



AND WHO DOES THAT CONNECT YOU WITH?



All  all over the minesite.



O.K. DOES IT CONNECT YOU TO..DOES IT GIVE YOU THE OPTION TO..COMMUNICATE WITH THE LIGHT VEHICLES?



Yes the light vehicles..can communicate with you yes.



DOES IT..DOES IT ALLOW YOU TO COMMUNICATE WITH ALL THE MAINTENANCE VEHICLES?



yes it does.



ARE YOU AWARE OF THE TWO DIFFERENT RADIO FREQUENCIES 11 AND 4 THAT WERE AVAILABLE FOR USE?



Yes I was.



O.K. WHAT WOULD YOU HAVE USED IN THE TRUCK..WHAT FREQUENCY WOULD YOU BE USING OR WHAT CHANNEL WOULD YOU BE USING?



Be using 4.



O.K.



That was the truckies channel.



O.K. AND WHAT WAS CHANNEL 11?



Channel 11 was..other..other ones on the minesite.



AND..WAS IT AVAILABLE TO YOU TO JUST CHANGE CHANNELS IF YOU WANTED TO COMMUNICATE WITH DIFFERENT DIFFERENT PEOPLE?



Yes you just..you could change it yes.



ALRIGHT..O.K. ...NOW BEFORE THIS..THE DAY OF THIS PARTICULAR ACCIDENT..HAD YOU HAD..BEEN IN A SITUATION WHERE YOU WERE WATERING A ROAD AND YOU HAD A LIGHT VEHICLE OVERTAKE YOU?



No I wasn't.



SO YOU HADN'T COME ACROSS THAT SITUATION BEFORE?



No I hadn't..never come across that situation before.



RIGHT...I'VE NO FURTHER QUESTIONS YOUR WORSHIP.

WARDEN:
THANK YOU..MR BEST?

MR BEST:
THANK YOU YOUR WORSHIP..MR SULLIVAN..AT THE START OF THE SHIFT..YOU'VE ALREADY SAID IN YOUR EVIDENCE THAT ..FOREMAN CRAIG CATON GAVE YOU THE INSTRUCTIONS..OF WHERE TO WORK..FOR THAT DAY..THAT'S CORRECT?

Mr Sullivan

XXD BY

MR BEST:
Yes he give me the..the words he told me that I had to water for the trucks..and..he didn't say whereabouts..in particular..there was the..other truckies were standing beside us..and he told them so I..just asked one of the blokes that was at the.. was at the..that was driving one of the trucks..and he just pointed up there..he said we're dumping up there..and I just looked and you could see..where you were dumping so.



WHERE DID THIS OCCUR..WHERE DID THIS CONVERSATION OCCUR?



Right in front of the..the assembly area.



IN FRONT OF THE ASSEMBLY AREA?



Out..



IT'S ON THAT PLAN THERE..DO YOU SEE THAT PLAN ON THE WALL...SEE THAT..ALL THOSE RED ROADS UP THE TOP THERE ARE YOU ANY MORE FAMILIAR..WITH THE..THE STOCKPILE AREA THE..GREEN ROAD THE ACCESS ROAD THE LITTLE LIGHT ACCESS ROAD..THE GREEN ROAD COMING ROUND JOIN THE HAUL ROAD..YES..NOW YOU SEE WHERE THE ASSEMBLY AREA?



That's where you go around ?? is it?



YEAH ..IS THAT..SO THE ASSEMBLY AREA IS IN THAT AREA..YEAH THAT'S IT..ROUND THAT AREA..NOW..



And I was..they was facing towards the..the roadside where we were all standing.



WHERE WAS THE WATER TRUCK PARKED?



The water truck was facing ..was over in the truck park.



AND WHERE WERE THE OTHER TRUCKS PARKED?



All the other trucks were parked in the same same area.



SO THE WHOLE FLEET WAS ALL THERE?



Yes.



READY TO READY TO GO?



Yes.



NOW..



Some of them were turned on and some of them were .. some of them were left running..and some of them were turned off.



YEAH..BUT WHEN YOU SAID THEY POINTED TO THE STOCKPILE AREA..YOU'RE SAYING THAT YOU COULD SEE THE STOCKPILE AREA FROM WHERE YOU WERE..OR YOU HAD A GENERAL IDEA THAT THAT WAS THE STOCKPILE THAT THEY WERE REFERRING TO?



Yeah well when we were..when they..said that they.. where they were carting and I asked the blokes.. where are you dumping or carting..and he just pointed up that way..and when he pointed it was straight up past..along the haul road..and I..and he just said that's the Ramp 1..the..



AND YOU JUST..



..the only reason why I knew it was Ramp 1 because I used to work on the..at the ..SEC and there was two stockpiles there and they were called Rom 1 and Bypass..and when he said the Ramp 1..well..there was the Ramp 1 further up..but I've already cleared.. when I was working..that area.



O.K. SO YOU KNOW THE RAMP 1..YOU KNEW WHAT STOCKPILE IT REFERRED TO?



yes.



BUT WHERE WERE THEY ACTUALLY HAULING FROM..WHERE DID YOU..WHERE WAS THE OTHER END OF YOUR ROTE..OR YOUR ROUTE FOR WATERING THE ROAD?



Oh it was back..from Ramp 12.



RAMP 12 OR..WHICH AREA..WHICH..IT'S NOT ON THAT PLAN BUT IT'S UP IN..WHAT AREA?



That's the assembly area.



YES.



Is that the haul road is it?



YEAH..SO IT'S NORTH?



Well what's this then?



YOUR STOCKPILE IS DOWN THE SOUTHERN END..SEE DOWN HERE..NO STOCKPILE IS DOWN HERE.



Oh here is it?



NO BIT FURTHER..THAT'S YOUR STOCK..NO DOWN FURTHER ..THAT'S THE STOCKPILE..THAT'S WHERE YOU WERE DUMPING INTO SEE..THAT'S THE STOCKPILE AREA..O.K.?



Yeah well that was the haul road.



RIGHT.



That the roundabout?



YES..THAT'S MICK'S JUNCTION.



Here..Mick's Junction.



RIGHT.



Wasn't around there..that's the road going to 12 and that is that?



NO NO IT'S UP THE OTHER WAY.



Up here?



YES..IT'S A BIT HARD FOR YOU TO FOLLOW.



yes.



BUT IT'S NORTH O.K. SO YOU WENT THROUGH THAT INTERACTION..YOU WENT..WHAT I'M TRYING TO GET THROUGH YOU WENT THROUGH THAT..THAT AREA WATERING YOUR ROAD WHERE THE LIGHT VEHICLES HAVE TO CROSS UP NEAR THE CRIB CAMP IS THAT CORRECT?



Yeah where the light vehicles cross the road.



YES.



I went past there to..



TO DUMP?



To water the road.



BECAUSE THEY WERE HAULING THE COAL FROM UP THERE?



Yes.



O.K. SO THEREFORE..FROM THE STOCKPILE AREA..UP TO RAMP 12..AND IN THAT HARDSTAND AREA WAS YOUR .. ALLOCATION OF WATERING THAT DAY?



Yes..that's correct.



YOU DIDN'T HAVE TO WATER..DOWN..FURTHER IN THE SOUTHERN AREA WHERE..WHERE ANY WORK..WAS THERE ANY WORK BEING DONE DOWN IN THE SOUTHERN AREA DID YOU KNOW?



No there's not not to my knowledge no.



O.K. SO AS FAR AS YOU KNEW ALL THE EQUIPMENT WAS ON THE HARDSTAND AND YOU'S ALL LEFT FROM THE HARDSTAND ..WAS THERE ANY EQUIPMENT..DOWN AT THE STOCKPILE?



Down..right down where they were stockpiling..oh look there was no..oh there was a grader going.. sorry there was a..rubber tyred dozer..just moving off the stockpile.



HE WAS?



yes.



WHAT WAS THE RUBBER TYRED DOZER DOING DOWN THERE?



Well as far as I know he was levelling out or moving the machine away from there.



O.K. NOW YOU STARTED WATERING..AFTER YOU GOT THOSE INSTRUCTIONS YOU STARTED WATERING..DID YOU START WATERING THE STOCKPILE END OR DID YOU START WATERING UP AT THE..THE..LOADING END?



I I followed the trucks out down to..to Ramp 12 where they went to..off the haul road down into the pit..I turned around..I went down a bit and then turned back around and started watering at 12 ..the top of 12 and..while they were down in the pit to water the road before they come up.



O.K. NOW YOU HAD YOUR TWO-WAY ON?



Yes I had my two-way on.



AND..DID YOU COMMUNICATE ON YOUR TWO-WAY WITH ANYONE OTHER THAN..WHAT YOU VERBALLY JUST COMMUNICATED WITH AT THE HARDSTAND..DID YOU TALK ON THE TWO-WAY TO ANYONE?



No.



DID YOU..DID THE OPEN-CUT EXAMINER..DID YOU MAKE CONTACT WITH THE OPEN-CUT EXAMINER?



No.



DID THE OPEN-CUT EXAMINER MAKE CONTACT WITH YOU?



No.



DID ANY OTHER EQUIPMENT OPERATOR MAKE..LIKE GRADER DRIVER OR ..DOZER DRIVER OR ANYONE ELSE..MAKE CONTACT WITH YOU?



No.



O.K. WHEN YOU GOT DOWN TO THE STOCKPILE AREA..WHAT CONDITION WAS THE STOCKPILE ARE IN WHEN YOU WHEN YOU HAD TO DUMP YOUR FIRST LOAD INTO THERE?



It was..well as I call it it was a pig sty.



IT WAS A PIG STY..SO WHAT DID..HOW DID YOU FEEL ABOUT ..WITHIN YOUR CAPACITY AS A WATER TRUCK DRIVER TO..TO CLEAN THIS PIG STY UP..WHAT DID ..WHAT DID YOU DO?



Well I just..where the rubber tyred dozer had been over it..that was the only part I could get up..and over while the..there was trucks coming..and I just went over the stockpile..areas..as best as I could get up..and it was pretty hard to doing it..and then I just watered on.



WHAT ABOUT THE ENTRANCE WHERE THE ACCIDENT OCCURRED ARE YOU..WERE YOU..YOU KNOW THE ENTRANCE WHERE THE ACCIDENT OCCURRED..THAT'S THE SOUTHERN END THE.. BOTTOM ENTRANCE?



yes.



WHAT WAS THE..WHAT WAS THAT ENTRANCE LIKE FOR YOU AS A WATER TRUCK DRIVER TO..TO DRIVE INTO?



Like a goat pad.



LIKE A GOAT PAD?



Yes.



IN OTHER WORDS WHAT ..NARROW..ROUGH?



You were..you were..I would have been flat out getting the truck in there..let alone..



WHY WAS THAT?



Well I think that's the way they work.



WELL WAS IT THE DESIGN OF THE ENTRANCE?



It was..wasn't square on..there was a rill before the ..just coming off the main road off the haul road..and it was just a couple of tracks.



O.K



It was not real wide..there was..if there was..if there was another vehicle coming or something on that little bit of a road that was going onto that entrance you'd have to stop and let him pass or he stop and got right off the road for you.



WELL THEN THEN HOW DID YOU..OPERATE YOUR TRUCK GOING INTO THAT ..GOING INTO THAT ENTRANCE..DID YOU DID YOU OPERATE IT THROUGH A PROCESS OF..OF MANOEUVRING DIFFERENT TO WHAT YOU NORMALLY WOULD OR DID YOU GO IN THERE WITH..WITH..WITH RECOGNITION OF SPEED TO KEEP YOUR SPRAYS OPERATING OR..OR WHAT WHAT WAS.. HOW DID YOU HAVE TO OPERATE TO OVERCOME THAT THAT ENTRANCE..PROBLEMS WITH THE ENTRANCE?



To operate to go into that entrance..you'd have to go back into the lower gear..and keep the revs up and..the truck as low as you..as slow as you can and the revs going up at the same time.



AT THE ENTRANCE TO THE..TO THE RAMP..WAS WAS THERE A CLIMB OR WAS THERE A ..OR WAS IT FLAT OR WAS IT..



There was a little climb going up into it yes.



A CLIMB..SO IT WAS JUST A ..STRAIGHT OFF THE HAULROAD STRAIGHT FORWARD CLIMB OR WAS THERE A A RILL IN THERE OR?



When you're coming off the haulroad there was a bit of a rill left where the grader would leave it and then..it wasn't straight..it was more of a..angle one way and then haulroad the other..it wasn't a real good track to go into.



RIGHT.



And I I was..I was going to tell the..grader driver but one of the..I heard on the two-way..by one of the other trucks..that the grader driver was heading up that way.



YOU HEARD BY ONE OF THE TRUCK DRIVERS ON THE TWO-WAY THAT THE GRADER DRIVER WAS HEADING UP THERE TO FIX THAT ENTRANCE UP?



Yes.



SO YOU WERE SATISFIED THAT THAT WOULD BE ADDRESSED?



I I was satisfied it would save me getting onto him I I thought he'd be going to do his job.



O.K. THE OTHER THING WITH THAT ENTRANCE..WITH YOU SAYING THAT YOU HAD..SLOW THE TRUCK DOWN OR GO INTO A LOWER GEAR..AND MAINTAIN YOUR REVS..HOW ABOUT THE MANOEUVRING OF THAT WATER TRUCK..YOU SAID EARLIER THAT YOU..STAYED ON THE CENTRE LINE..AND..YOU YOU THEN..OBVIOUSLY WOULD STAY ON THE CENTRE LINE TO DO YOUR TURN INTO THAT ENTRANCE?



If it was a good entrance..at that entrance you couldn't ..you had to go..before you turned you had to come..go right out..well the reasons what I done was go right out and try and square up with that.. with the road that was going in..or the goat track that was going in.



SO SO YOU ACTUALLY..WENT OUT TO THE LEFT?



Left of the road.



DID YOU DID YOU GO PAST THE INTERSECTION TO TURN IN OR DID YOU..DID YOU DO THE TURN DIRECTLY OPPOSITE AND AND A SHARP TURN IN..YOU KNOW..A JACKKNIFE AFFAIR OR DID YOU TRY TO..TO SWEEP IT?



No I..done a sweeping turn.



A SWEEPING TURN?



You couldn't..I suppose you could do a jackknifing turn but I wasn't real..familiar with the truck and I was looking after the..it was a bit rough so I couldn't go in there as..as fast as..well I don't think anyone would have.



RIGHT.



That had to go into a lower gear to go in there.



SO WHEN YOU WHEN YOU'RE OUT ON THE LEFTHAND SIDE?



Yes.



WHAT WERE YOU CONCENTRATING ON..IN REGARDS TO.. YOUR TURN..HOW HOW WHAT WERE YOU CONCENTRATING ON.. BECAUSE..YOU'VE NOW MOVED OUT TO THE LEFT..YOU'VE STILL GOT YOUR SPRAYS ON?



Yes I still had me sprays on.



SO DID YOU..DID YOU..

WARDEN:
JUST..MR SULLIVAN..I'M GOING TO..I FEEL OBLIGED TO INDICATE TO YOU AGAIN OF YOUR RIGHT TO CLAIM PRIVILEGE.



No I'm right.



SO IF YOU WANT TO KEEP ANSWERING QUESTIONS YOU CAN I SHOULD WARN YOU AGAIN OF YOUR RIGHT TO CLAIM PRIVILEGE IF YOU SO DESIRE..SO AT ANY STAGE.



yes.



YOU CAN INDICATE THAT TO ME..BECAUSE YOU'RE BEING ASKED SOME FAIRLY RELEVANT QUESTIONS..DO YOU UNDERSTAND?



Yes.



DO YOU WISH TO KEEP ANSWERING QUESTIONS OR NOT?



Yes I will.



O.K...YES MR BEST?

MR BEST:
THANK YOU YOUR HONOUR..YOU YOU'RE MAKING THAT TURN FROM YOUR LEFTHAND SIDE..ARE YOU YOU WATCHING THE SPRAYS..OR ARE YOU CONCENTRATING ON YOUR TURN?



Well I..before I was going into the turn..I checked both sides..concentrating on if anyone was behind me or if I could see anyone..or..and then I..was..was looking more or less on the sprays..and concentrating how much water I had left in the tank but there was no indication of how much water..or then concentrating on..how slow I can go in..and keep it..keep everything damp with the..for laying the dust.



NOW..YOU YOU OPERATE THE WATER TRUCK..YOU'RE GOING TO MAKE THAT TURN..YOUR VISIBILITY..THAT'S WHAT WE'RE LOOKING AT NOW..IN REGARDS TO..WHAT COULD YOU ACTUALLY SEE?



All I could see on..when I was making the turn..or into the turn all I could see is the..the big shed and..and..scrub and that on one side.



WHICH IS THE LEFTHAND SIDE?



On the lefthand side..and on the other side all I could see is..is..side of the water truck..and the sprays.



YES..WHEN YOU MADE YOUR LEFTHAND TURN OFF THE ROAD ..YOU MADE..YOU SAID YOU DIDN'T GO OFF THE ROAD YOU JUST VEERED OUT TO THE LEFT OF THE HAULROAD?



Yes.



BUT YOU VEERED OUT..WITH THE PURPOSE OF MAKING THE TURN BUT DID YOU ALSO VEER OUT..FOR ANOTHER PURPOSE IN REGARDS TO WHERE YOU POSITIONED YOUR WATER TRUCK?



yes I..when I was going into the turn on..I couldn't you couldn't see right past..or anyone really following you if they were or..anything behind you.. you could only see as far as the sprays I put me blinker on and then made a turn.



WHICH BLINKER DID YOU PUT ON?



I put the righthand blinker on..because I was going in the righthand..and then to get the truck and that straightened up to go into that turn.



RIGHT..AND AND THE EDGE..YOU TYRES..YOUR WHEELS.. WERE IN ADJACENT WHAT TO THE EDGE OF THE HAULROAD?



On the lefthand side they were right over near the haulroad.



RIGHT OVER NEAR THE EDGE OF THE HAULROAD?



Haulroad to go in yes..veering over..to to make a good sweeping turn instead of a jackknifing turn.



SO THEREFORE..THE RIGHTHAND SPRAY?



The righthand spray..and the lefthand spray was left on because of the dust and everything.



YES.



So I just..thought I'd just water the rill..that was over the..that was on the edge of the road on the lefthand side..if the grader driver wanted to bring it over.



YES..AND WITH THE RIGHTHAND SPRAY IT WOULD HAVE BEEN ..



It was..



IN YOUR OPINION COULD ..DID YOU HAVE AN IDEA WHETHER THE RIGHTHAND SPRAY WAS IN THE CENTRE OF THE HAULROAD OR..A LITTLE BIT OFF..OVER THE OVER FROM CENTRE OR?



Well to be exact I wouldn't be able to tell you how far it was over.



O.K



But it was more or less in the centre and that to keep it.



RIGHT..THANKS FOR THAT MR SULLIVAN..YOU KNOW YOU SAID ABOUT THE TWO-WAY..AND YOU KNOW THAT THERE'S TWO CHANNELS?



Yes.



THERE'S TWO CHANNELS ON THE TWO-WAY?



Yes that's right.



SINCE THE ACCIDENT..HAS ANY CHANGES BEEN MADE?



Changes concern the two-way and that..if there's people if they're following you..they got to call you up..that's..everyone on the minesite.. light vehicles..grader drivers..loader drivers and that yes..they call you up and ask you to..could they go around.



O.K. SO THEY ASK THEY ASK YOU..OR THEY LET YOU KNOW THAT THEY WANT TO PASS YOU?



Yes..to pass me yes.



AND WHAT CHANNEL ARE YOU ON NOW THEN..WHAT CHANNEL DO YOU OPERATE ON FOR THAT TO OCCUR?



Well..it's..out there now..it's only on one channel because..they're having trouble with all the others so it's only on one channel out there at this this moment.



SO EVERYONE KNOWS THAT THEY'VE ONLY GOT ONE CHANNEL TO OPERATE ON?



yes.



ARE YOU FAMILIAR WITH THE..WITH THE NEW PROCEDURE FOR WATERING IS THERE A NEW PROCEDURE FOR WATERING WITH THE WATER CART SINCE THE ACCIDENT?



The only procedure..that I know of is..that they call you up to tell you they're going past..and you turn your righthand spray off.



DO YOU..WHAT WAS THAT YOU TURN THE RIGHTHAND SPRAY OFF?



When you're..get called up and you answer them.. they're ready to pass you turn the righthand spray off.



DO YOU USE THE INDICATORS?



You..not not if you're driving the trucks and that ..I've been in with them with the trucks and that and they just..keep going over..move over a little bit and they..go past ..no indicators used..now to say..only for turning..to my knowledge.



SO THEREFORE..WHAT YOU DO AS A WATER TRUCK DRIVER IS WHEN YOU GET THE TWO-WAY CALL..FROM A LIGHT VEHICLE COMING UP BEHIND YOU..YOU WOULD..WHEN YOU'RE PREPARED TO..ALLOW THEM TO PASS YOU WOULD POSITIVELY COMMUNICATE..WOULD YOU TALK BACK TO THE LIGHT VEHICLE OPERATOR?



yes I..when they call you up I call back to them and say that I heard them and then give an indication if it was on a corner and that I'd just tell them to wait..if it was on a straight stretch and I could see I'd tell them they're right to pass.



O.K. AND THEN OF COURSE YOU'D DROP THE RIGHT SPRAY OFF?



And then I'd put the right spray off yes.



AND YOU DON'T MOVE YOUR TRUCK OFF?



Move the truck..you'd be moving the truck off over to the left as you're talking.



O.K. SO YOU JUST MOVE IT OVER A LITTLE BIT WITHOUT INDICATORS?



Without indicators..they know you're going to go over to the left..pass on the righthand truck..I think they..that was on the..on the rules outside to..by all machines..were the same.



O.K. HAVE YOU HAD TO WATER THE BACK ACCESS ROAD?



Have I had to..I ..have..been in the truck when people was watering the back access road but I've never..watered the back access road..by myself no.



AND YOU SAID YOU WERE A LEVEL 4 MINE WORKER SO THAT MEANS YOU OPERATE OTHER EQUIPMENT OTHER THAN A WATER TRUCK?



That that's correct.



AND DO YOU GO OUT ON THE BACK ACCESS ROAD?



I used to go out on the back access road..I haven't been since the accident..oh sorry I've been twice since the accident.



AND..HAS THERE BEEN WORK DONE ON THAT BACK ACCESS ROAD OUT THERE..WHERE YOU'VE TRAVELLED?



Yes it has been graded and that yes.



THE INTERACTION OF LIGHT VEHICLES..AND HAUL TRUCKS WATER TRUCKS..IS THERE A PROCEDURE THAT YOU..THAT YOU'RE AWARE OF..SINCE YOU'VE BEEN AT THE MINE..TO TRY AND AVOID..INTERACTION AS MUCH AS POSSIBLE?



Well they have..now they..they've told them all the light vehicles and that to use the back access road as..often as possible now..and keep off the haulroad.



YOU'RE SAYING NOWADAYS SO..NOWADAYS IS SINCE THE ACCIDENT?



Since the accident..it's..they've asked them to go over to the back access road.



AND HAVE YOU..BEFORE THE ACCIDENT WAS THERE A PROCEDURE..THAT YOU'RE AWARE OF?



Not that I was aware of no.



O.K. SO LIGHT VEHICLES..LIGHT VEHICLES INTERACTED WITH THE..HAUL TRUCKS AND WATER TRUCKS COMMONLY.. ALONG THE HAULROAD?



Yes.



ARE YOU FAMILIAR WITH THE MINE TRAFFIC RULES?



Yes I have seen them yes..and I've read of them yes.



SINCE THE ACCIDENT DO YOU KNOW IF THERE'S BEEN ANY CHANGES MADE TO THE MINE TRAFFIC RULES?



Since the accident I've been out there a few times ..on the..whatsaname but I haven't..they haven't given me a new rule book..I've got the old rule book and..they've told me..of changes of the road and that ..and..that's about all.



WELL..IS THAT..HAVE YOU SEEN THAT?



If it's the old one yes.



YES THIS IS ..THE OLD ONE?



Yes.



SO THAT'S THE ONE THAT..THAT'S THE ONE THAT YOU'D BE FAMILIAR WITH?



That's the one I'm familiar with yes.



IT'S THE BHP MINE TRAFFIC RULES..WHAT OTHER IDENTIFICATION HAS IT..IT'S GOT A NUMBER ON IT.. RBTS-718..MARCH 1993..SO YOU WOULD HAVE..YOU WERE AT THE MINE IN MARCH 1993?



Yes.



DID YOU GET GIVEN THIS OR DID YOU GET TAKEN THROUGH THE TRAFFIC RULES?



They..when I first started they took me through a bit of the traffic rules..and then they give us a.. handed the little book out..then you get handed those little books..at toolbox meetings..to say.. I think it's just to say that you've been to the toolbox meeting.



YOU GET LITTLE BOOKS HANDED OUT AT YOUR TOOLBOX MEETINGS?



Some toolbox meetings yes..but that traffic rule that you've got there.



AND THERE'S A LITTLE BOOK HERE TO TELL YOU TO SAY THAT YOU'VE JUST ..YOU'VE JUST BEEN TO THE TOOLBOX TALK?



Well they don't..they don't..they hand you the book out..they don't tell you what's in it or anything.. so you just..when they hand it out..you have a look and it's the same book that you got issued when you first went on the minesite.



SO..YOU HAVE NOT HAD..ANOTHER ISSUE OF THIS TRAFFIC RULE SINCE THEN..SINCE YOU STARTED..OR SINCE MARCH 1993?



I got..I've got two..two of those books..one when I first started and one at a toolbox meeting.



WAS THAT TOOLBOX MEETING AFTER THE ACCIDENT?



That toolbox meeting was before the accident.



BEFORE THE ACCIDENT?



When I left the SEC..prep plant..to go out into the mining..they had a toolbox meeting..and one of those books was issued..it was there for us to take so I grabbed one of them..I've took one out with me.



O.K. ..I'M GOING TO READ RULE 8.

MS MALONEY:



JUST TO ASSIST THE COURT OR THE BENCH PERHAPS THERE'S A COPY OF THAT IN APPENDIX 8 TO INSPECTOR WALKER'S REPORT.

WARDEN:
THANKS.

MR BEST:
OH YES MR WALKER'S REPORT YES..WELL THE DUTY TO GIVE WAY..`ALL DRIVERS OF VEHICLES..HAVE A GENERAL DUTY TO GIVE WAY..WHERE THERE IS A REASONABLE POSSIBILITY OF A COLLISION OR A DANGEROUS SITUATION BEING CREATED IN ADDITION THE FOLLOWING SPECIFIC OBLIGATIONS MAY APPLY..ALL DRIVERS SHALL GIVE WAY TO EMERGENCY VEHICLES SHOWING A FLASHING RED LIGHT..ALL VEHICLES EXCEPT THOSE SHOWING A FLASHING RED LIGHT SHALL GIVE WAY TO COAL OVERBURDEN AND REJECT MATERIAL HAULERS AT ALL TIMES UNLESS OTHERWISE DIRECTED..AND ALL DRIVERS SHALL APPROACH WITH CAUTION ANY VEHICLE SHOWING A FLASHING RED BLUE OR AMBER LIGHT..'..THAT WAS CLAUSES A, B AND C OF THAT RULE..NOW..DOES THAT SOUND FAMILIAR?



That sounds familiar yes.



WELL THERE IS ANOTHER RULE..THAT IS..BEEN INTRODUCED ..CALLED "RULE 8 - DUTY TO GIVE WAY"..IT SAYS..`THE CONCEPT OF RIGHT OF WAY..DOES NOT EXIST..ALL DRIVERS OF LIGHT AND HEAVY VEHICLES..HAVE A GENERAL DUTY TO GIVE WAY WHERE THERE IS A REASONABLE POSSIBILITY OF A COLLISION OR A DANGEROUS SITUATION..BEING CREATED ..DRIVERS OF WIDE VEHICLES..SHOULD CONSIDER THE RESTRICTED VISIBILITY FROM AND LIMITED REACTION ABILITIES OF HEAVY VEHICLES AND APPROACH THEM..WITH EXTREME CAUTION..IN ADDITION THE FOLLOWING..SPECIFIC OBLIGATIONS APPLY'..AND THERE'S..`ALL DRIVERS (A) SHALL GIVE WAY TO EMERGENCY VEHICLES..SHOWING A FLASHING RED LIGHT WHICH IS THE SAME..ALL DRIVERS OF WIDE VEHICLES..EXCEPT THOSE SHOWING A FLASHING RED LIGHT THAT GIVE WAY TO HEAVY VEHICLES UNLESS OTHERWISE DIRECTED BY A TRAFFIC SIGN..THAT'S (B) (C) IS ALL DRIVERS SHALL APPROACH WITH CAUTION..ANY VEHICLE GIVING A FLASHING RED, BLUE OR AMBER LIGHT THAT'S (C) (D)..ALL DRIVERS OF LIGHT OR HEAVY VEHICLES ..THAT HAVE BEEN STATIONARY SHALL ENSURE THAT THE ROAD IS CLEAR OF TRAFFIC PRIOR TO RE-ENTERING THE TRAFFIC..RE-ENTERING THE TRAFFIC FLOW THEY SHALL USE..THEIR TURN SIGNALS TO INDICATE THEIR INTENTIONS'..I'VE GOT TO ASK YOU..HAVE YOU BEEN MADE FAMILIAR WITH THAT CHANGE?



No I haven't.



HAVE YOU BEEN MADE FAMILIAR..WITH RULE 8 ON THE OVERTAKING RULE?



I was..after the..after the accident..all I was told ..I was put through a..went down and was told about the traffic rules..but..it was only to..one change that we got..back access roads for the vehicles.. two changes is we communicate with the vehicles or anyone that past..and..three..to give way to any haul packs or water trucks..that's loaded..that's all they told me in that..when they were..when I went back to work.



WHEN YOU COME BACK FROM THE ACCIDENT?



From the accident..it was up in the one of the rooms up on top of the assembly area.



O.K. THE..OVERTAKING RULE AS FAR AS YOU KNOW..FOR WIDE VEHICLES TO OVERTAKE..HEAVY VEHICLES..IS IN YOUR WORDS WHAT?



Now or before the accident?



WELL IF THERE'S A DIFFERENCE TELL US WHAT THE DIFFERENCE IS?



Well the difference..that I've seen is nothing nothing change on the truck it's just that they communicate to..to go around the vehicles now.



O.K. YOU HAVE GOT POSITIVE COMMUNICATION IN IN THERE NOW..SO THAT'S A CHANGE ISN'T IT..FOR OVERTAKING?



yes.



BUT THE OLD RULE..SEE..`UNLESS OTHERWISE DIRECTED BY A TRAFFIC SIGN..A DRIVER OF A VEHICLE MAY OVERTAKE ANY OTHER VEHICLE PROVIDING HIS VISIBILITY IS UNRESTRICTED..BOTH VEHICLES..ARE CLEAR OF INTERSECTIONS..AND THE ACTION DOES NOT ENDANGER OTHER ROAD USERS'..THAT WAS THE OLD RULE..THE NEW RULE SAYS..`UNLESS OTHERWISE DIRECTED BY A TRAFFIC SIGN..OR MINESITE SPECIFIC RULES OF PROCEDURES A DRIVER OF A VEHICLE MAY OVERTAKE ANY OTHER VEHICLE PROVIDED THAT VISIBILITY..IS UNRESTRICTED..BOTH VEHICLES ARE CLEAR OF INTERSECTIONS AND THE ACTION DOES NOT ENDANGER OTHER ROAD USERS'..SO YOU HAVEN'T BEEN MADE AWARE OF THE PROCEDURES?



No I haven't.



BUT YOU WERE QUITE AWARE THAT THERE WAS SOME CHANGES ALREADY MADE TO TO THE WAY YOU AS A WATER TRUCK DRIVER ACCEPTED THE OVERPASS..THE OVERTAKING?



Yes that's correct.



HOW ABOUT FOR PASSING..IF SOMETHING IS..IF A WATER IF A LIGHT VEHICLE IS COMING TOWARDS YOU..YOU'RE OPERATING..WATER THE ROAD..AS YOU SAID YOU DRIVE CLOSE TO THE CENTRE..YOU'VE GOT BOTH SPRAYS ON..IF SOMEONE IS COMING TO APPROACH YOU ..A LIGHT VEHICLE ..IS THERE DIRECT COMMUNICATION OR IS THAT THEN..A DIFFERENT PROCEDURE?



No communication.



NO.



All they do is..to move over on your lefthand side and turn your spray off so it won't..wet in their windows or tools on the back.



SO YOU STILL HAVE AN OBLIGATION TO SWITCH THE SPRAY OFF?



The right spray yes.



THE RIGHT SPRAY?



yes.



AND MOVE YOUR TRUCK A LITTLE BIT OVER OFF OVER TOWARDS THE LEFT?



That's correct.



O.K. ..I HAVE NO QUESTIONS..NO FURTHER QUESTIONS YOUR HONOUR.

WARDEN:
THANK YOU..YES MR MELLICK..THANK YOU.

MR MELLICK:



YES THANK YOU..MR SULLIVAN YOU WENT THROUGH A FAMILIARISATION TOUR WITH RESPECT TO WATER TRUCKS A MONTH OR SO BEFORE THE ACCIDENT ..IS THAT CORRECT?

Mr Sullivan
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MR MELLICK:



I went to..with a trainer yes.



YES..FOR HOW LONG HAD YOU BEEN DRIVING THE WATER TRUCKS?



I've been driving water trucks for about 2 or 3 months..2 months I suppose.



AND IS THAT THE TIME OF THE ACCIDENT?



Up to the accident yes.



YES.



On and off not every day you drive that water truck.



YES.



But any truck..if there was a bloke off you had to drive that not not every day I was driving the water truck.



NO.



But in that period of time of 2 months.



IS THAT THE ONLY PERIOD OF TIME IN WHICH YOU'VE BEEN THE OPERATOR OF A WATER TRUCK?



That's..that's correct.



AND DO YOU HAVE..DO YOU HAVE ANY RECALL OF THE TRAINING THAT YOU WENT THROUGH..IN ORDER TO BE ABLE TO OPERATE A WATER TRUCK?



Do I have now?



YES DO YOU RECALL YOUR TRAINING NOW?



When I..I recall the training..I can just about memorise the training that they give you.



ALRIGHT..AND HOW LONG WAS THE TRAINING PHASE..WAS IT A DAY A WEEK A MONTH?



All depends..all depends on the..the bloke himself.. some of them pick it up quick..some of it pick it up not so quick.



SO HOW LONG WAS..



And it was all depends on the trainer..he'd write a write in your book and then if you were competent enough he would he'd tell them..on that green slip that you..that we'd get issued with.



WELL HOW MUCH TRAINING DID YOU GET?



Well I was on the truck..training for about..on water trucks it would be..like I said 2 months.. but other trucks..be 3 to 4 months.



BUT WHAT WHAT..TRAINING WERE YOU GIVEN WITH RESPECT TO MAKING RIGHTHAND TURNS DO YOU RECALL?



The trainer of..my trainer..was..to give righthand turns and that was to..use your blinkers..like you were using them out on the open roads..not for indication for anyone to pass or anything like that ..was for you to say that you were turning or.. anything..it's not to say anyone that was going to pass you or could pass ..there was no..that wasn't the case.



AND WHAT TRAINING WERE YOU GIVEN WITH RESPECT TO THE WATER SPRAY..WHAT WERE YOU TO DO WHEN EXECUTING A RIGHTHAND TURN?



Well when..when you're..to turn..if you were watering a road..then there was..if you looked in the rear vision mirrors and..around and there was no one around..you just keep the water going because.. and it was a good road..just keep the water going it all depends on the..if it was wet or dry..if it was wet you'd turn the things off..the sprays off.



WELL IF I UNDERSTOOD YOUR EVIDENCE EARLIER..THE DIFFICULTY ABOUT THAT IS THAT..IF YOU'RE EXECUTING A RIGHTHAND TURN..YOU'VE GOT LIMITED VISION BEHIND YOU TO YOUR RIGHT..AND ALSO..THAT VISION IS FURTHER LIMITED BY THE SPRAYS ISN'T IT?



That's correct.



BUT IT WASN'T PART OF YOUR TRAINING THAT YOU SHOULD ..IF EXECUTING A RIGHT TURN ..TURN OFF THE AT LEAST THE RIGHTHAND SPRAYS TO INCREASE YOUR VISION BEHIND YOU TO THE RIGHT?



With my training they didn't..they didn't tell you anything about the sprays..mention sprays when you're turning at all.



RIGHT SO IT WAS LEFT UP TO YOU AS THE OPERATOR TO TO WORK IT OUT AS BEST YOU COULD?



It was left up to the operator yes.



O.K. AND WAS IT YOUR PRACTICE AS AN OPERATOR WHEN EXECUTING A RIGHT TURN TO TO LEAVE THE SPRAYS ON?



If the road was..if I went up and..the road was dry you'd leave the..I'd leave the righthand sprays and water the whole road yes..or..to limit the dust and that for other trucks that were following.



LIGHT VEHICLES WERE FAIRLY COMMONPLACE ON THAT SOUTHERN HAUL ROAD WHERE THE ACCIDENT OCCURRED.. THAT IS AS AT..AND UP TO..MAY OF THIS YEAR?



Light light vehicles were on the haulroad all the time and all parts of the haulroad..not just that part.



YOU'D EXECUTED THE TURN AND..THAT PARTICULAR TURN IN THAT WATER TRUCK ON A NUMBER OF OCCASIONS THAT DAY PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT?



I went around there..I done the turn that was the fifth turn I'd done..on that day.



ON EACH OCCASION THAT YOU EXECUTED THE..THAT THAT TURN DID YOU MAINTAIN THE RIGHT SPRAYS ON?



Everytime I turned at that particular date..I left the sprays on because it was hot and dry.



AND ON ANY OF THOSE TURNS DID YOU HAVE ANY VISION BEHIND YOU TO YOUR RIGHT..AS YOU WERE EXECUTING THE TURN?



I had vision to the..on me right as far as the sprays ..but other..you couldn't see past the sprays.



AS YOU WERE EXECUTING THAT TURN..WHAT WAS YOUR FOCUS ..WAS THERE ANY PARTICULAR..INSTRUMENT..DIAL..GEAR STICK OR ANYTHING THAT YOU WOULD BE FOCUSSING ON ABOVE ANYTHING ELSE..DO YOU RECALL?



Could you repeat the question?



AS YOU WERE EXECUTING THAT THAT RIGHT TURN..WAS THERE ANYTHING THAT YOU WOULD BE PARTICULARLY FOCUSSING ON..CONCENTRATING ON..WAS THERE SOME DIAL OR GAUGE..MONITOR OR..ANYTHING THAT YOU HAD TO CONCENTRATE ON DO YOU REMEMBER?



No.



WHERE WOULD YOU MAINTAIN YOUR VISION..TO WHERE WOULD YOU LOOK?



Maintain me vision..I'd look in front of me..look both rear vision mirrors..and then I'd..if I couldn't..didn't see anything..I'd just turn the .. do the turn.



THE..THIS PARTICULAR WATER TRUCK DO YOU KNOW IF IT WAS BEING USED AT ALL IN THE SHIFT PRIOR TO THIS SHIFT THAT YOU WERE WORKING ON?



The water truck that I was..that I was driving it that day..when I went over to it it was running and there was a full tank of water on it..and..I didn't see no operator..or no..if you them operators or drivers of it..hop out of that truck..so I'd reckon and it was still running..I'd reckon they'd be using the shift before me.



WHAT CHECKS DID YOU UNDERTAKE BEFORE YOU COMMENCED TO OPERATE IT?



The check I've done to operate that machine was to check all the wheels..the wheel studs..any loose oil ..tyres..anything that was loose .. the lights..if they were hanging down or..the lights were working or anything or they were clean..I made sure they were clean and that and then I'd get up on the machine.



WELL WHAT DID YOU FIND..IN RELATION TO THE THE REAR LIGHTS ON THIS VEHICLE?



The rear lights they were all there..none of them hanging down.



DID YOU HAVE TO DO ANY CLEANING?



They didn't have to be cleaned no.



YOUR WORSHIP COULD THE WITNESS BE SHOWN PHOTOGRAPHS E12 AND E 13 FROM THE..

WARDEN:
I'LL JUST..WE MIGHT ADJOURN AT THIS STAGE IT LOOKS LIKE WE'RE GOING TO BE A WHILE ON THIS WITNESS SO I THINK WE'LL ADJOURN TILL 2 ..THANK YOU.

INQUIRY ADJOURNED.

INQUIRY RESUMED.

WARDEN:
JUST BEFORE WE START I'VE HAD AN INQUIRY AS TO HOW LATE WE'RE GOING TO BE WORKING UNTIL THIS EVENING I'D INDICATE THAT THE WAY THE EVIDENCE IS GOING.. AT THIS STAGE I'D ENVISAGE THAT WE'LL HAVE TO WORK TILL AT LEAST 7 OR 7.30..SO BE PREPARED FOR A LONG DAY.. AND AN EARLY MORNING START AS WELL..THANK YOU...YES CONTINUE ON.

MR MELLICK:  



YES THANK YOU..MR SULLIVAN I WAS I WAS ASKING YOU SOME QUESTIONS BEFORE LUNCH ABOUT YOUR INSPECTION OF THE TRUCK AT THE START OF YOUR SHIFT..DO YOU RECALL THAT?



Yes I do.



AND I THINK YOU SAID YOU UNDERTOOK A A VISUAL INSPECTION OF THE LIGHTS?



That's right.



YES..DID YOU CLEAN ANY OF THE LIGHTS?



No not a..I didn't clean the lights..I thought they were..



SORRY?



Looking at them at that stage when I first started they were clear enough or they didn't need to be cleaned.



WAS THERE ANY POLICY OR RULE OR INSTRUCTION IN PLACE AT THE MINE ABOUT CLEANING THE LIGHTS..THAT YOU YOU KNEW OF?



No not that I know of but..I..take safety first..and I just do me..do me lights and that first.. everything.



NOW YOU STARTED THE SHIFT THAT DAY AT..A QUARTER TO SEVEN IN THE MORNING?



That's right.



AND THE ACCIDENT HAPPENED ABOUT TWENTY TO ONE IN THE AFTERNOON..DO YOU RECALL THAT?



That's right.



YES..DID YOU HAVE OCCASION TO INSPECT YOUR LIGHTS AT ANY STAGE FROM WHEN YOU STARTED THE SHIFT UP UNTIL WHEN THE ACCIDENT HAPPENED?



When I inspected the lights the first up..I didn't inspect them again.



YOU DIDN'T INSPECT THEM AGAIN?



No.



RIGHT..WAS THERE ANY..POLICY OR INSTRUCTION IN PLACE AT THE TIME..THAT YOU SHOULD MAKE INSPECTIONS AT DIFFERENT STAGES OF YOUR SHIFT?



No since I been..you get on the machine of a of a morning everything's right..and then of an afternoon you clean the lights and your windows and your cab and that out..all your mirrors in your cab out when you leave it.



YOUR WORSHIP COULD THE WITNESS NOW BE SHOWN PHOTOS E12 AND E13 THAT FORM PART OF MR WALKER'S REPORT.. YOU APPEAR TO HAVE IN FRONT OF YOU AT THE MOMENT.. PHOTO E12..AND YOU'LL SEE PART OF THE WRECK FROM THE TOYOTA..ON THE RIGHTHAND SIDE OF THE PHOTOGRAPH..SO YOU CAN..SEE THAT ..THIS PHOTO HAS ACTUALLY BEEN TAKEN OF THE..OF THE WATER TRUCK AT THE PLACE OF THE ACCIDENT?



Yes.



AND DO YOU SEE THE..THERE..THE..THE LIGHTS ON BOTH SIDES ARE VISIBLE IN THE PHOTOGRAPH?



Yes I can see.



WERE THE LIGHTS LIKE THAT AT THE START OF THE SHIFT?



No they weren't.



AND IF YOU'D..JUST TURN..ONE PAGE YOU'LL SEE A CLOSE -UP SHOT OF THE PHOTOS ON THE RIGHTHAND SIDE..YOU MAY HAVE TO GO THE OTHER WAY..AND..AGAIN JUST LOOKING AT THAT ARE YOU ABLE TO SAY WERE THE PHOTOS LIKE THAT..SORRY WERE THE LIGHTS LIKE THAT..AT THE START OF THE SHIFT?



No they weren't.



WHAT WERE THEY LIKE AT THE START OF THE SHIFT?



They were a lot clearer.



SINCE THE ACCIDENT HAS ANY..ANY..INSTRUCTION BEEN PUT IN PLACE THAT YOU'VE BEEN MADE AWARE OF WHEREBY LIGHTS ARE TO BE CHECKED AND AND CLEANED IF NECESSARY DURING THE COURSE OF THE SHIFT?



I in my knowledge they..they haven't..they haven't told me.



EXCUSE ME YOUR WORSHIP..YES THANK YOU.

WARDEN:
THANK YOU..MR LEES?

MR LEES:
THANK YOU YOUR HONOUR..MR SULLIVAN..EARLIER IN A REPLY TO A QUESTION TO YOURSELF YOU INDICATED THAT THE FOREMAN..INFORMED YOU OF THE OPERATION..OR WHERE THE OPERATIONS WAS TAKING PLACE ON THAT DAY AND WHERE TO GO..IF THAT'S THE CASE ARE YOU AWARE WHETHER THE WORKSHOP PERSONNEL ARE INFORMED OF THE SAME TO THE SAME DEGREE?

Mr Sullivan
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MR LEES:
No I'm not aware of that at all.



IN ANSWERING ONE OF YOUR OTHER QUESTIONS YOU INDICATED THAT THE SIGNS WERE HARD TO SEE?



They were very small signs ??



O.K. ..PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT AND ON THE DAY OF THE ACCIDENT..WAS IT..THE DUTY OF A LIGHT VEHICLE OPERATOR TO CALL UP..SAY..THAT HE OR SHE WAS PASSING HEAVY VEHICLES?



No not to my knowledge.



O.K. YOU INDICATED DURING YOUR QUESTIONING THAT YOU WERE NOT FAMILIAR WITH THE TRUCK THAT YOU WERE OPERATING ON THAT PARTICULAR DAY AND THAT'S ONE OF THE REASONS..THAT YOU WERE..TAKING THE ANGLE THAT YOU WERE GOING OUT WIDE TO THE LEFT THEN GOING IN STRAIGHT ON..HOW OFTEN HAD YOU DRIVEN THAT TRUCK?



That was the first day I drove..driven that truck but..the reason we were going on the angle and that if you notice the road and that I was going up on you had to be very careful.



SO YOU HADN'T DRIVEN THE TRUCK PRIOR TO THAT DAY?



No not that truck.



HAD YOU DRIVEN A TRUCK VERY SIMILAR?



yes I have.



EARLIER ON YOU INDICATED THAT..AS PART OF YOUR.. TOOLBOX TALKS AND THAT..YOU BELIEVE THAT'S WHERE YOU WERE MADE AWARE OF TRAFFIC RULES..THEY'D HAND YOU A BOOK AND SAY THEY'RE THE TRAFFIC RULES AND DO YOU UNDERSTAND THEM..AND IT'S LEFT TO YOURSELF TO READ THEM AND UNDERSTAND THEM IS THAT CORRECT?



They just give you a..when you go in for a toolbox meeting..it's not traffic rules..it's just on different things that happened on the mine it could be anything..and then they hand you a..sometimes they hand you those little yellow books..or just leave them at the desk to..get them as you walk out.



DO THEY EXPLAIN IT FIRST?



No they don't.



SO..IF YOU HAD A PROBLEM IN READING LITERATURE OR OR UNDERSTANDING THE LANGUAGE OR ANYTHING LIKE THAT IT'D BE A PROBLEM FOR..AN EMPLOYEE WOULD IT?



Well if I have problems with reading anything..I always go back to my brother he's a pretty well good at reading I..I can read and write..but it takes me a long time to do it.



SO YOU'D NEED SOME ASSISTANCE SORT OF THING?



Not all times.



RIGHT..THAT'LL DO ME.

WARDEN:
THANK YOU..YES MS GIBNEY?

MS GIBNEY:



MR SULLIVAN I THINK YOU ALSO SAID THAT..YOU RECEIVED THE MINE TRAFFIC RULES..WHEN YOU FIRST WENT TO THE MINE AND HAD INDUCTION TRAINING..IS THAT RIGHT?

Mr Sullivan

XXD BY

MS GIBNEY:



That's correct.



AND SINCE YOU'VE..SINCE THE ACCIDENT..HAVE YOU RETURNED TO NORMAL DUTIES AT THE MINE?



since the accident?



YES.



No not normal duties no.



HAVE YOU BEEN ATTENDING TOOLBOX TALKS WITH YOUR USUAL CREW OR ANY CREW?



I've..when I started..went back to..the mine for a couple of hours..one of the safety persons..took me in the room and just showed me a few things what was just a couple of things..wasn't that much at all.. what they showed me and that was it.



SORRY THAT WAS..AFTER YOU RETURNED TO THE MINE AFTER THE ACCIDENT?



After the accident yes.



THAT YOU WERE..TAKEN..WITH A TRAINER WAS IT?



No with a safety person.



A BE SAFE REP..SAFETY PERSON?



Yeah.



O.K. AND DID THAT..TRAINING SESSION OR DISCUSSION WHATEVER YOU WANT TO CALL IT..COVER THE NEW OVERTAKING PROCEDURE?



No it didn't.



SO WHEN DID YOU..LEARN ABOUT THE NEW OVERTAKING PROCEDURE?



I was..I didn't learn I was told..one Saturday I had to come back in on the minesite to go..instead of being around..the assembly area I was going out into the field ..and there was meself..Arthur George..me wife..and my counsel lady..on the Saturday..and they and Arthur just..took me around the thing..this is this might be a..this changed a bit and that's all that was pointed out to me.



AND WHAT ABOUT THE BACK ACCESS ROADS YOU SAID YOU WERE TOLD ABOUT THOSE?



Yeah Arthur George told me about that.



SO WHAT THINGS WERE YOU TOLD IN THIS ONE ON ONE DISCUSSION THAT YOU HAD WITH THE SAFETY REP?



All they just told me that ..like Arthur told me and Sue Rester was the one that showed me the back access road was used for light vehicles now.



SO SHE TOLD YOU WHAT ARTHUR HAD TOLD YOU?



yeah Arthur George told me and Sue Rester told me this the back access roads is used for light vehicles.



YES..AND WHAT DUTIES HAVE YOU BEEN PERFORMING AT THE MINE SINCE YOUR RETURN TO WORK?



I..first started back at the..mines just..checking buildings and that ?? on buildings machines and that ..then I went out on..out into the field with the truck shovel operation..was just sitting in the shovel trying to get used to things and back into the workforce..that didn't work..I ended up going back out..off work..then after a few weeks I come back to work..and then I was back around the assembly area and that again..and then I done..went into the service bay..and then I went onto dozers.. out on the back..on pre-stripping.



HAVE YOU SEEN ANY TRAINING VIDEOS OR ANY INDUCTION TYPE VIDEOS SINCE YOUR RETURN TO THE MINE?



They give us..when the inquiry was on ..and we had to go back for 3 hours to ..before you went onto the minesite..I was..never seen any videos or anything I was out there with a heap of people..or blokes and people that work out there..and..was just more or less..it was only over the accident and that they were showing a lot of people I never seen any videos and that no.



SORRY I'M NOT QUITE CLEAR ON THAT..YOU SAID THERE WAS SOME 3 HOURS..WHAT?



Three hours induction it was..before you can go back on the mines..after the accident..that was everyone on the minesite.



AND DID YOU GO THROUGH THAT?



I went through..I didn't go into the..the room where they had videos and that and photos..I..I probably.. I don't know what was in there..I think it was the.. photos of the truck and the car and that..and..



BUT DID YOU GO THROUGH THE REST OF THE INDUCTION?



I went through the rest of the induction that..was out on the outside..by watching them go up onto the truck..and then I went over into a room where they sat us all in a room and they asked..what they were what was there job on that particular day of the accident..and that's all I went through.



O.K. THANK YOU NO FURTHER QUESTIONS YOUR WORSHIP.

WARDEN:
THANK YOU.

REVIEWER

MR BRADY:
YEAH MR SULLIVAN..I SEE YOU'VE BEEN IN THE INDUSTRY SINCE 1988 SO THAT'S ALMOST 10 YEARS..IN THAT PERIOD YOU KNOW YOU SEEM BY YOUR AUTHORISATION LIST YOU CAN OPERATE A LOT OF MACHINERY?

Mr Sullivan

XD BY

MR BRADY:
That's correct.



YOU'VE DRIVEN TRUCKS ..JUST LOOKING AT THE SHEET THERE'S THERE'S NOT MUCH ON THE SITE THAT YOU YOU'RE NOT AUTHORISED TO OPERATE?



That's right.



IN THAT LAST 10 YEAR PERIOD..HAVE YOU EVER HAD ANY ACCIDENTS ON THE SITE OTHER THAN THIS LAST ONE?



Not not car accidents or not vehicle accidents..it's only..I had an accident because of meself that's about all.



JUST WHAT A LOST TIME ACCIDENT YOURSELF?



It was a lost time accident I slipped off a Titan and hurt me back.



IN A 10 YEAR PERIOD?



In a 10 year period yes.



O.K. NOW..GIVEN THE EXPERIENCE YOU'VE GOT..I THINK YOU REFERRED TO THE STOCKPILE AREA AROUND RAMP 1 THE TEMPORARY STOCKPILE THERE THAT YOU WERE TURNING INTO ..I THINK YOU REFERRED TO IT EARLIER WAS A PIG PEN.. DID I GET THAT CORRECT..IS THAT WHAT YOU SAID?



That's right.



NOW..WHY DID YOU FORM THAT OPINION?



Because if you'd have seen the track..there was only two wheel tracks..you couldn't move over for..any other trucks to come past you..unless you went right off the side of the road.



THAT'S RIGHT..RIGHT AT THE TURN IS IT?



That's at the turning going up over to the stockpile.



SO AND IS THIS WHY YOU SAY YOU HAD TO SWING OVER AND DO A SWEEPING TURN RATHER THAN A JACKKNIFE TURN..YOU HAD TO APPROACH IT STRAIGHT ON YOU SAY?



Yes you had to..get your prime mover and that.. pretty well straight on with the road..well the road wasn't straight it was more of an angle..angle V sort of turn..and you couldn't just go up and drive straight around because of the road.



O.K. DID DID YOU ALSO SAY SOMETHING..WELL YOU SAID IT WAS TOO NARROW..DID YOU ALSO MENTION IT WAS TOO ROUGH?



That's right.



WELL..HOW MANY TIMES DID YOU TRAVEL IN THE DURING THE DAY?



That was the fifth time I was going in.



WELL NOW..GIVEN THAT YOU WERE OF THE OPINION THAT THAT'S YOU KNOW REALLY NOT SUITABLE..DO YOU HAVE THE AUTHORITY TO CALL UP A GRADER DRIVER OR CALL A FOREMAN AND ASK HIM TO FIX IT?



Yes I could have got onto a grader..but when..when I went down into the pit itself he was occupied grading the other end of it..it was just as rough.



JUST..THAT'S THE EXIT OUT OF THE..



No that was the end where they were getting loaded.. down in the pit..he was trying to straighten it out before he could come up to the other one..there was only one grader at the time.



THANKS MR SULLIVAN I'VE GOT NO FURTHER QUESTIONS THANKS.

REVIEWER

MR MULLER:



JUST..WHAT SIZE..THE HAUL TRUCKS CARTING INTO THAT RAMP 1 STOCKPILE..WHAT WHAT SIZE ARE THOSE TRUCKS.. ARE THEY OF A SIMILAR SIZE TO THE WATER TRUCK?

Mr Sullivan

XD BY

MR MULLER:



Yes about 120 to 200 tonne.



AND AT THE TURNOFF INTO THE STOCKPILE..WOULD IT BE POSSIBLE FOR TWO TRUCKS TO..TO MEET IN THAT NARROW ENTRY?



They wouldn't have both fitted.



THAT'S ALL THANKS.

WARDEN:
ARE YOU ASKING THAT THE WITNESS BE EXCUSED?

MS MALONEY:



I HAVE NO FURTHER QUESTIONS YOUR WORSHIP.

MS GIBNEY:



YOUR WORSHIP I'VE GOT ONE.

WARDEN:
O.K.



MR SULLIVAN..THERE'S NOT..HOW MANY ROADS IN AND OUT OF THIS STOCKPILE ARE THERE?



One going in..one coming out.



AND THAT'S THE WAY THE..DID YOU OBSERVE THE TRAFFIC FLOWING THAT WAY..ON THAT SUNDAY?



I was going the way the traffic was going..it couldn't go the other way..in case a truck came and met you on the top.



RIGHT..THANK YOU.

WARDEN:
O.K. YOU'RE ASKING FOR THE WITNESS BE EXCUSED?



NO YOUR WORSHIP MAY THE WITNESS BE EXCUSED?



O.K. IF THERE'S NO FURTHER QUESTIONS YOU CAN BE EXCUSED..BEFORE YOU GO..I COMMEND YOU FOR GIVING EVIDENCE HERE TODAY MR SULLIVAN..A LOT OF PEOPLE COULD HAVE TAKEN THE EASY WAY OUT..BY CLAIMING PRIVILEGE..BUT I COMMEND YOU AND I'M SURE THE REVIEWERS JOIN ME IN SAYING THAT AS WELL..THANK YOU.



Thank you.

MS MALONEY:



YOUR WORSHIP THE NEXT WITNESS ON THE LIST IS MR GRAEME SMITH.



THANK YOU.

WITNESS DULY SWORN.

WARDEN:
YES THANK YOU.

MS GIBNEY:



MR SMITH WOULD YOU STATE YOUR FULL NAME AND ADDRESS PLEASE?



Graeme Hedley Smith 8 Taurus Street, Blackwater.



AND WHAT IS YOUR OCCUPATION?



My current position at Blackwater Mine is Safety Superintendent and I hold the role of Registered Manager.



AND HOW LONG HAVE YOU OCCUPIED THAT POSITION..OR THOSE POSITIONS?



Safety Superintendent I've been in the role for three and a half years..Registered Manager in the past 10 years I've been in the role for 8 years.



AND WHAT DOES THAT..IN SO FAR AS THAT ROLE INVOLVES BEING THE REGISTERED MANAGER..AS WELL AS SAFETY SUPERINTENDENT WHAT DOES IT ENTAIL?



My prime role as Safety Superintendent ..in that role I basically am responsible for the administration of the safety requirements of the mine and uphold the safety rules..and with Registered Manager a requirement to ensure that the statutory requirements are met..well that's very simply what the role entails.



NOW YOU PROVIDED ON A REPORT..TO THE MINES INSPECTORATE IN RESPECT OF..THE ACCIDENT WHICH OCCURRED ON THE 4TH OF MAY THIS YEAR..I'LL JUST GIVE YOU A COPY OF THAT..COULD THE WITNESS SEE FROM.. EXHIBIT 7 IT'S APPENDIX 10 I THINK..YES..IT'S NOT APPENDIX 10..CAN YOU IDENTIFY THAT REPORT MR SMITH?



It's a statutory report I made..to the Inspector of Coal Mines..and it was submitted on the 10th of May 1997..that's in 7 days of the period of the accident.



AND IS THE INFORMATION IN THAT REPORT TRUE AND CORRECT IN ALL RESPECTS?



I think so yes it's as I wrote it.



MR SMITH PRIOR TO THE 4TH OF MAY WERE YOU AWARE THAT COAL WAS BEING HAULED ON..TO THE RAMP 2 WEST STOCKPILE?



Yes I was.



AND HOW DID YOU BECOME AWARE OF THAT?



On Friday prior to that which would have been May 2nd on my statutory inspection..of the mine I was driving past..that area..I observed indications of wet road..activity on the stockpile..I did not see any trucks and I saw coal spillage at the southern entrance where the trucks had been going in..and I saw the saw the sign..saw the "Trucks Turning" signs ..so obviously when I see evidence of something like that I look for things like signs as well.



AND..TO YOUR KNOWLEDGE..HOW OFTEN WAS THAT STOCKPILE USED?



I believe the stockpile is..is not used fulltime it's I believe 10 or a dozen times in the last 12 months..from time to time mainly from coal..they put coal which is more or less out of specification.. for the current runs of the prep plant..when there's coal in there they come and pick it up and..then put it back through the prep plant.



DO THEY PUT ANYTHING ELSE APART FROM THAT OUT OF SPECIFICATION COAL THERE FROM TIME TO TIME?



I believe quite often at times they..dump reject temporarily there particularly in wet weather when the reject dump itself is soft..and..tends to pose some hazards to trucks using it so they dump it there temporarily.



YOU SAY I BELIEVE..ARE YOU ACTUALLY AWARE OF OCCASIONS FROM YOUR OWN KNOWLEDGE..PRIOR TO THIS PERIOD IN MAY..WHEN THAT STOCKPILE WAS USED?



Yes I..several months before that they put reject on it and..I believe in order to prepare it..for this coal run they had to take the reject off..I had observed off and on over the previous months that this..stockpile use..I believe it was February it was last used prior to that.



O.K. THANK YOU.

MR MELLICK:



WHAT WAS THAT LAST ANSWER?



I BELIEVE IT WAS FEBRUARY WHEN IT WAS FIRST USED PRIOR..LAST USED PRIOR TO THAT.



I do have a record of the usages here.

MS GIBNEY:



I DON'T NEED TO GO INTO ANYMORE DETAIL ON THAT YOUR WORSHIP..IF ANYONE ELSE WANTS TO THEY'RE WELCOME TO DO SO..BUT I DON'T..NEED TO COVER IT..DID YOU PERCEIVE WHEN YOU SAW ON THAT FRIDAY BEFORE MAY.. THAT THE STOCKPILE APPEARED TO BE IN USE AGAIN..DID YOU PERCEIVE ANY CAUSE FOR CONCERN?



I didn't..it was really an operation which was really wasn't out of ordinary for the operation of the mine..probably fairly similar to our operating out of any ramp..with the trucks they turn on and off the road and..at times you use ramps and a lot of times you don't use particular ramps..and I did not consider the..use of that stockpile posed anything above and beyond the normal..hazards of.. general hazards of a mine.



AND WHAT DO YOU MEAN BY THE GENERAL HAZARDS OF THE MINE?



Well..I guess when you consider a minesite..the hazards you encounter particularly when you're mixing..the large equipment and light equipment is probably a little bit above the normal community standard..and obviously that's why you have a higher level of..awareness of those situations and you put put in controls to try to minimise those hazards.



AND WHAT IF ANY CONTROLS..

WARDEN:
EXCUSE MR MS GIBNEY?



YES?



I PROBABLY SHOULD..I DON'T KNOW WHAT INDICATION YOU'VE GIVEN HIM BUT I PERHAPS SHOULD JUST FOR THE RECORD CLARIFY THIS AS WELL AT THE MOMENT..I SHOULD INDICATE TO THIS WITNESS AS WELL..HIS RIGHT TO CLAIM PRIVILEGE..SEEING HE IS THE MINE MANAGER..SO I FORMALLY SHOULD PLACE THAT ON THE RECORD..HE HAS THE RIGHT TO CLAIM PRIVILEGE IF YOU WISH TO DO SO..MR SMITH..YOU'VE HEARD WHAT I SAID TO A PREVIOUS WITNESS?



Yes.



YES..ANY QUESTIONS THAT MAY INCRIMINATE YOU.. PURSUANT TO THE EVIDENCE ACT I AM OBLIGED TO WARN YOU THAT YOU DON'T HAVE TO ANSWER ANY QUESTION THAT YOU CONSIDER MAY INCRIMINATE YOU..SO YOU CAN CLAIM PRIVILEGE IF YOU WISH TO DO SO.



I understand that.



O.K. THANK YOU.

MS GIBNEY:



THANK YOU YOUR WORSHIP..MR SMITH...WHAT..HAZARD AWARENESS TRAINING EXISTED..AT..TRAINING AND PRACTICE EXISTED AT BLACKWATER MINE PRIOR TO THE 4TH OF MAY THIS YEAR?



Probably some year prior to that ..18 months 2 years prior to that we'd started formally putting the mine workforce through hazard awareness training hazard control training..we had..a course commonly known as CB61 which is an internal BHP competency based module ..and we probably put about a third of the workforce through that particular module..at that particular time..it was planned prior to..May to continue that program with the workforce..it was actually organised in April..for a hazard control course to be started in July..also with that as part of our..mine safety system..commonly called Be Safe ..we have a program of ensuring that..people..on the minesite had to have the competencies to be able to assess hazards and conduct risk assessments..and we have a position called a Be Safe representatives course ..for the Be Safe representatives in order to ensure that they're competent to carry out their duties..we implement a Be Safe training..Be Safe reps training course.



WOULD YOU JUST HAVE A LOOK AT THESE DOCUMENTS FOR ME ..THIS DOCUMENT..WHAT IS THAT DOCUMENT MR SMITH?



This is basically a handout booklet which is presented to..people attending the Be Safe reps course.



AND THAT'S THE BE SAFE REPS TRAINING COURSE THAT YOU REFERRED TO?



Yes that is.



YOUR WORSHIP..I ASK TO TENDER THAT..IT IS CONTAINED IN A BUNDLE OF MATERIALS THAT HAVE BEEN PROVIDED.

WARDEN:
RIGHT..DO YOU WANT THAT AS A SEPARATE EXHIBIT OR?



WELL I'M HAPPY TO TENDER THE LOT AS ONE EXHIBIT IF THAT IS CONVENIENT TO EVERYONE..IT WILL REDUCE THE RECORD?



RIGHT.



I'M REALLY IN YOUR HANDS IN RESPECT OF THAT..REDUCE THE RECORD AND REDUCE THE TIME AS WELL I SUPPOSE.



YOU CAN PRODUCE THAT..I'LL MARK IT AS A SEPARATE DOCUMENT IF YOU LIKE?



SO WE'RE NOT PUTTING THE WHOLE FOLDER IN?



I'M WE CAN HAVE IT AS ONE EXHIBIT IF YOU LIKE.. WHICHEVER IS EASIEST.



O.K. I WILL BE TENDERING EVERYTHING IN THE FOLDER SO I THINK IT WOULD BE EASIEST TO PUT ONE FOLDER IN.



OH WELL JUST LEAVE IT AS ONE EXHIBIT.



YES.



YES O.K.



IF IF THAT'S CONVENIENT TO YOU..O.K.



O.K. DO YOU WANT THAT NOW?



YES THE FOLDER OF DOCUMENTS..PROVIDED..

EX.#8.
THAT CAN BE EXHIBIT NUMBER EIGHT.



..BY BHP COAL IS EXHIBIT 8.



O.K. THANK YOU.



MR SMITH WHAT'S THE ROLE OF BE SAFE REPS?



Be Safe rep is a person who's normally selected within their work group..their work crew and we'd probably have some 20 or 30..20 work crews on site and these people are..asked to conduct the role of the co-ordinator for the group safety activities.. and be a channel to..for people to..channel safety concerns to..they are also formally trained to conduct..risk assessments..formal risk assessments and..submit hazard reports to the appropriate areas on the appropriate subjects.



AND AS AT MAY 1997..WHAT WAS THE PROGRESS IN YOUR OPINION TOWARDS..NOT ONLY TRAINING PEOPLE IN FORMAL HAZARD AND RISK ASSESSMENT..BUT PEOPLE APPLYING THAT TRAINING?



We felt that was starting to particularly the first few months this year was really starting to..develop well..we've run..by that stage we'd run about 4 or 5 Be Safe reps courses..and was giving a good deal of experience within each crew of that those skills.... we felt..with the third of the workforce we put through in the CB61 course we felt it was probably better way to communicate to people and make people more aware of identifying hazards..and this is where we change our direction slightly and started commencing the..the hazard awareness courses with a trainer called Jim Knowles.



ALRIGHT NOW DO YOU HAVE A COPY OF THAT FOLDER OF DOCUMENTS TENDERED BY BHP COAL..THERE?



yes I do.



YOU DO..IT'S UNDER COVER OF A LETTER FROM MY FIRM DATED THE 13TH OF NOVEMBER...WITHOUT GOING THROUGH ALL THE DOCUMENTS IN DETAIL..IF YOU LOOK AT THE INDEX ....CAN YOU JUST IDENTIFY...BY DOCUMENT NUMBER WHICH OF THE DOCUMENTS..RELATING TO HAZARD IDENTIFICATION OR RISK ASSESSMENT WAS..PART OF A TRAINING PROGRAM..OR OTHERWISE IN USE AT THE MINE AS AT THE 4TH OF MAY 1997?



Document number four would have been..there's actually a previous version of the mine traffic rules there was actually a '93 version which was in place at that point in time.



WE'LL COME BACK TO THAT BUT..JUST FOCUS SPECIFICALLY ON RISK ASSESSMENT AND HAZARD IDENTIFICATION ALTHOUGH I REALISE THAT MINE TRAFFIC RULES ARE RELEVANT TO THAT?



Oh sorry..o.k. document 6, 7, 8 and 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14.



RIGHT..I THINK THE MATERIAL THEN GOES ON TO VEHICLE TRAINING THEN DOESN'T IT?



Yes it does.



O.K. SO ON THE CONFINED SUBJECT OF RISK ASSESSMENT AND HAZARD IDENTIFICATION..6 TO 14..YOU SAY THESE WERE IN USE AT THE MINE..AS AT THE 4TH OF MAY?



yes they were.



RIGHT..NOW AS AT THAT DATE...WHAT WAS YOUR UNDERSTANDING OF HOW ANY..CHANGES IN OPERATIONS OR OPERATING CONDITIONS..WAS COMMUNICATED..AT THE MINE?



Could you clarify the question as far as is it short-term change or long..major changes?



WELL LET'S CONFINE OURSELVES TO SHORT-TERM?



O.k. well I guess Blackwater Mine is like many mines and probably moreso the fact that we do quite a number of short-term changes..for example we blend coal in the prep plant proportionally by allocating trucks on different ramps if the blend doesn't match up to the plan..they may re-allocate the proportional trucks or cut-off ramps so the operations can change hour by hour..normally this is communicated over the two-way to the truck drivers.. I don't know of any other formal procedure which was used prior to May..for communicating that to a broader workforce..as far as informing people of where the major operations are...because obviously there's planning meetings for these things..there's Monday communication meeting which is..advise the senior staff across the various departments where the major operations are..but there's no formal communication at the workforce level as far as I know between departments but it certainly was quite well communicated within departments.



AND WHAT IS THE SYSTEM IN RELATION..IF THERE IS ONE IN RELATION TO COMMUNICATION BETWEEN DEPARTMENTS NOW?



O.k. one of the key planning processes put in place was instead of having separate planning meetings for say maintenance and mining at a separate meeting.. there's now a meeting held on Wednesday after lunch where..it's..attended by..all operations personnel normally senior supervisors to supervisor level or if the supervisors are on shift on that particular day..all the planning people involved..so the.. planning process is well communicated at that level as I understand..recent months the maintenance department is..commenced ..commenced a communication with all its people prior to the start..them starting every shift..this process normally starts an hour prior to the shift start..for example on day shift it's 6 o'clock..maintenance foreman will call the mining foreman ask them..where their activities are for the forthcoming shift..the..where the mining operations are where..other operations such as blasting or..shovel truck pre-stripping whatever.. that is then communicated to the workforce along with ..any pertinent safety briefs which may be relevant which may come out because we do..now have a ..a safety brief system on any out of ordinary activities..the last one I recall was when I saw.. yesterday..was advising all people on the minesite that they were hauling reject on the back access road which I felt was an out of ordinary activity where there would be haul trucks..on a road which would normally people wouldn't normally encounter and this..these sort of safety briefs are also communicated at all levels across the minesite.



SAFETY BRIEFS..ARE NOT SOMETHING NEW SINCE THE 4TH OF MAY ARE THEY?



We've always used safety briefs as a means of communicating..either information about particular incidents that may have occurred with the..along with the recommended actions..controls..it's also been used as a mechanism for highlighting particular hazards which may occur from time to time around the minesite..make people more aware of these sort of these sort of things occurring.



AND AS AT THE 4TH OF MAY THIS YEAR HOW WERE THOSE SAFETY BRIEFS DISTRIBUTED?



As from..January 1996..sorry 1997 sorry..the safety briefs were sent to every mine official..and every Be Safe rep..and mine officials are expected to communicate that to their crews..forthwith..if it applies to their area..general safety briefs may they may retain until..they are retained until say a periodic safety committee communication meeting.. prior to January we..there's a reason why we changed our method prior to January..we used to issue safety briefs to notice boards and to..superintendents senior foreman level..now we send it to..I think from memory we send probably about 70 safety briefs out every time we send one out.



TO ALL SUPERVISORS AND?



All mine officials and all Be Safe reps.



AND ALL BE SAFE REPS..IN THAT FOLDER OF DOCUMENTS TENDERED BY BHP..COULD YOU TURN TO THE LAST DOCUMENT ...WHICH IS THE STATEMENT BY ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR MacDONALD CHRISTIE..HAVE YOU..HAVE YOU READ THAT STATEMENT MR SMITH?



Yes I have.



DO YOU UNDERSTAND FROM THE EVIDENCE THAT YOU HAVE SEEN HERE TODAY IN COURT THAT..THERE WAS..A LEVEL OF THE SUBSTANCE THC..FOUND IN MR GADSBY'S URINE?



I've seen the report..that there was a presence of cannabis yes.



THAT IS THE..STATE ANALYST CERTIFICATE?



Yes it is.



DO YOU NEED TO HAVE ANOTHER LOOK AT THAT OR?



No I don't.



NO YOU CAN IDENTIFY IT?



I recall.



RIGHT..IS THERE A DRUG TESTING PROGRAM IN PLACE AT BLACKWATER MINE AT PRESENT?



No there's not.



IS THERE AN INTENTION TO INTRODUCE ONE?



Yes we..our company has a commitment to a drug testing program into place as soon as practicable.



AND..WAS THAT INTENTION FORMED BEFORE OR AFTER THE 4TH OF MAY THIS YEAR?



Probably about a little over 2 years ago..probably around October 1995 we put together a..policy that we needed to implement drug and alcohol testing program on the minesite..at that particular time several other minesites in Queensland mines had had alcohol testing programs..we felt at the time we needed a comprehensive drug and alcohol testing program..we had a group put together..which included representatives from each union and included miners officers as well..plus some members of our staff and safety group..and..investigated how we could put together a policy to implement such a program..it was felt fairly early on that there was..we felt there was..it was going to be easier to introduce an alcohol testing program than a than a drug one.. we decided to proceed with the alcohol testing program at that point in time..with the view..of once it was up and running..then..put a looking at putting a drug testing program into place.



AND WHY FOR YOUR PART..DO YOU WANT TO INTRODUCE DRUG TESTING PROGRAM?



I feel there's a need to ensure the safety of people themselves and people they work with..we must minimise any opportunities for people to be not not fitness for duty..not fit for duty..this includes impairment..by any method..and obviously drugs and alcohol we feel are a ..some concern of people on site who are coming to work impaired due to those substances..we feel it's very important to..put a policy in place to..try to educate people..the prime purposes of these putting these into place is education..to educate people not to..come come to work impaired.



AND WHAT IF ANYTHING DOES THE STATEMENT OF PROFESSOR CHRISTIE TELL YOU..IN RELATION TO..A DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING PROGRAM..IT'S UTILITY?

MS MALONEY:



WELL YOUR WORSHIP I DON'T KNOW WHETHER THE WITNESS CAN ANSWER THAT IF..PROFESSOR CHRISTIE IS..



O.K. NO I'LL..YEAH..PROFESSOR CHRISTIE IS NOT HERE SO ..I WAS ASKING WHAT IT TOLD THE WITNESS..YOUR WORSHIP..I I WILL REPHRASE THAT..IS THERE ANYTHING IN THE STATEMENT OF PROFESSOR CHRISTIE AS YOU HAVE READ IT..THAT HAS CAUSED YOU TO REVISE YOUR VIEW ON AS YOU'VE JUST EXPRESSED IT..ABOUT THE DESIRABILITY OF INTRODUCING A DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING PROGRAM?



Professor Christie did have some concerns about the level..he considered it..it could have caused impairment..offers no conclusive..conclusions to that remark but..I I'm ..concerned enough by reading that statement the fact that..the level in Mr Gadsby we have no evidence of course that it caused impairment of course but he did have a level there and that concerns me.



RIGHT.



The..last sentence says `level does not establish whether cannabis was ingested or in fact a degree of impairment and offers no conclusion to that effect'.



RIGHT..YOUR WORSHIP I TRIED TO MAKE THIS VERY CLEAR BUT I SHOULD PERHAPS JUST READ IT INTO THE RECORD THAT BHP DOES NOT CONTEND..THAT MR GADSBY'S FACULTIES WERE IMPAIRED..SIMPLY THAT IN LIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE OF..PROFESSOR CHRISTIE AS OPPOSED TO THAT OF THE POLICE..THE INVESTIGATING POLICE OFFICER THE PANEL CANNOT CONCLUSIVELY DETERMINE THAT THEY WERE OR THEY WEREN'T..SO IT IS A POSSIBILITY..WE PUT IT NO HIGHER THAN THAT..AND WE ARE NOT RUNNING A POSITIVE CASE TO THAT EFFECT.

WARDEN:
IT'S COME UP ON NUMEROUS OCCASIONS BEFORE IN INQUIRIES..NEITHER ONE CAN GO EITHER WAY.



WELL I WANT TO BE QUITE EXPLICIT ABOUT THAT I'M NOT GOING TO TAKE UP ANY MORE TIME ON THAT ISSUE.



RIGHTEO.



IT'S BEEN ADDRESSED IN..IN..IN FULL FOR MY PART NOW ...FINALLY MR SMITH THERE'S BEEN..YOU COMMENTED THAT YOU NOTICED THE TRUCK TURNING SIGNS ON THE FRIDAY I THINK..THAT BEFORE THE 4TH OF MAY?



Yes I did.



ON YOUR..WHAT WAS THAT A STATUTORY INSPECTION OF THE MINE OR JUST A NORMAL INSPECTION?



Oh part of my weekly statutory inspection.



RIGHT..WHAT WAS..DOES BE SAFE HAVE ANYTHING TO SAY ABOUT SIGNAGE AND WAS THERE ANY..SYSTEM IN RELATION TO OR CONSIDERATION OF SIGNAGE IN PLACE AT THE MINE AT THAT TIME?



We had prior to that and I'm not sure if it was the end of last year or earlier this year..had been working with..Artcraft..who are a specialist signage organisation..we had used them to..conduct audits of the site..and to upgrade our signage..we as part of our traffic management plan which was currently looking at..currently developing..and obviously part of that was a standardisation of signs.



AND HAS THAT PROCEEDED SINCE THE 4TH OF MAY?



We have proceeded to..with our sign replacement program and putting signage in where we felt there was lacking of signage.



WHAT ARE SOME OF THE MAJOR EXAMPLES OF THAT?



some of the major examples would be ramp identification signs..equipment location signs.. upgrading our give way and stop signs.



O.K. NOW I'M SORRY I SAID FINALLY..BUT WE'RE NOT QUITE FINISHED..IF YOU TURN TO THE FIRST DOCUMENT BEHIND THE INDEX..IN THAT REPORT..IN THAT FOLDER OF DOCUMENTS..IT IS A STATUS OF ACTIONS TO IMPROVE SAFETY...SORRY HAVE YOU TAKEN THAT OUT OF THERE... IT MIGHT BE QUICKER IF YOU HAVE A LOOK AT..HAVE YOU GOT ONE THERE?



Yes.



WAS THIS DOCUMENT PREPARED BY YOU?



It was compiled by myself it was based on..a lot of the issues which came out of the return to work inductions with employees..and also taking heed of the recommendations and the..investigation.



RIGHT NOW..JUST TELL US A LITTLE BIT ABOUT WHAT THAT RETURN TO WORK INDUCTION WAS?



Return to work induction was a program which we put together immediately after the accident..where we were directed..by..direction came from Dick Carter that we were to re-induct all our employees prior to returning to work..we put together a program which.. we wanted it to be presented by..not professional presenters but we wanted our superintendents to be involved..was focussed on behaviour..habits and communication..along with..communication of the new changes in the traffic rules..and..a two-way call up system.



NOW IF YOU JUST...



In that particular program has lasted for..about 3 to 4 hours..included a practical..that's getting people to sit in a haul..coal hauler and water truck ..to basically look at the difficulties that people had..in actually visibility.



AND..WERE PEOPLE ADVISED OF THE..REVISED PROCEDURE FOR OVERTAKING HEAVY VEHICLES AT THAT INDUCTION SESSION?



Yes it was explained quite emphatically and quite quite a lot of detail.



NOW CAN YOU JUST IDENTIFY THAT REVISED PROCEDURE FOR ME..IF YOU GO BACK TO THE FOLDER OF DOCUMENTS THE BLUE ONE..IT IS THE SECOND DOCUMENT IN THERE I BELIEVE..OVERTAKING HEAVY VEHICLES?



Yeah the document that was actually presented at that course was ..fairly basic overhead but I had it had exactly those steps in it..this was a more refined document..which was put together..a little time after that.



O.K. BUT THE STEPS..1 TO 8..WERE THE STEPS THAT PEOPLE WERE TRAINED ON ON THEIR RE-INDUCTION?



That's correct.



AND THE OTHER ACTIONS TO IMPROVE SAFETY THAT ARE LISTED IN THIS STATUS REPORT..CAN YOU SAY THAT THIS STATUS REPORT IS TRUE AND CORRECT AS OF THE DATE WHICH IT SPEAKS?



Yes it is..it's a document which has continually been  upgraded as we..as we proceed with putting a lot of the action plans in place..it is correct as of the date as given there.



YOUR WORSHIP IN SO FAR AS I HAVE NO FURTHER QUESTIONS I MAY NEED TO DEAL WITH SOMETHING IN RE-EXAMINATION..BUT..THAT IS SUFFICIENT FOR NOW THANK YOU.

WARDEN:
THAT'LL BE FINE..MS MALONEY?

MS MALONEY:



I HAVE NO QUESTIONS AT THIS TIME YOUR WORSHIP.



THANK YOU..MR BEST?

MR.BEST:
YES YOUR WORSHIP..MR SMITH..DID YOU AT THE TIME OF AROUND THE ACCIDENT TIME WERE YOU EVER AWARE OF ANY COMPLAINTS MADE ABOUT THE CONDITION OF THE BACK ACCESS ROAD?

Mr Smith
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MR BEST:
The..there were complaints made I had made some observations myself..in fact at certain parts of that road..which were under construction under repair..did need to proceed to get a better state.



AND THERE WAS..WAS THERE ANY RECORDS OF OF THOSE COMPLAINTS MADE BY ANY ANY OFFICIALS UNDER YOUR CHARGE?



I didn't get any reports from officials my officials no..I made mention to it in my ..in my weekly inspection report.



HOW ABOUT OPEN-CUT EXAMINERS..WAS THERE ANY OPEN-CUT EXAMINERS REPORTS THAT MADE..ALLUDED TO ANY PROBLEMS WITH THE BACK ACCESS ROAD?



I believe there was yes.



WHAT IS A..UNDER YOUR..JURISDICTION THE OPEN-CUT EXAMINERS HAVE A PROCEDURE TO FOLLOW WOULD THAT BE CORRECT?



They have a system of an inspection reporting of the open-cut excavation..we're required to have that inspections and make reports and recommendations.



AND THEREFORE THE..REPORTS THAT THEY MAKE WOULD THEY HAVE TO REPORT THEM TO TO ANYONE IN PARTICULAR OR DO THEY JUST PUT IT IN A..IN A BOOK IN THE ENTRY IN THE INSPECTION REPORT BOOK..AND LEAVE IT THERE FOR EVERYONE TO READ OR DO THEY..IS THERE ANOTHER PROCESS?



There's two levels of process reporting they use.. the first level of course is just a in a report which is a low level basically a report of their observations..if they identify a hazard on the minesite..they either correct it then and there..or normally report it to the shift foreman..shift supervisor..they actually..at times they do report it to myself directly.



IF THERE'S A PROBLEM WITH..WITH THEIR REPORTING TO THE SHIFT SUPERVISOR OR THE ACTION TAKEN BY THE SHIFT SUPERVISOR THAT'S WHEN YOU GET INVOLVED IS THAT IS THAT HOW IT WORKS?



That is normally correct yes.



THEN..PART OF THE..IF THEY FIND A HAZARD..UNDER THE THE RISK ASSESSMENT OR THE HAZARD IDENTIFICATION HAVE THEY BEEN TRAINED..TO IN THAT PART OF IT?



Some of them would have been yes.



SO THEREFORE THEY WOULD FOLLOW..UNDER THIS PROCESS THAT I'VE JUST READ IN THIS IN THE DOCUMENT HERE THAT WE'VE JUST ..THAT YOU'VE JUST BEEN TAKEN THROUGH ..THERE IS A CATEGORY OF IDENTIFICATION OF HAZARDS..OR RATING THE HAZARD?



Yes.



SO THEREFORE THE..OPEN-CUT EXAMINER WOULD WOULD NO DOUBT HAVE A RESPONSIBILITY IN..EITHER..RATING THAT HAZARD WHERE HE..IMMEDIATELY TAKE ACTION..OR HE CAN BRING IT FORWARD TO..REPORTING TO A SUPERVISOR OR A BE SAFE REP AND..TAKE IT THROUGH THAT CHANNEL..OR COME..THROUGH THE PROCESS TO MEET YOU?



Yes those three avenues yes.



THERE'S THREE AVENUES..IF HE TAKES IMMEDIATE ACTION THEN..HE STILL HAS TO REPORT TO SOMEBODY..WOULD THAT BE CORRECT?



Normally correct yes.



WELL HE'S..ON THE 3/5/97 I'VE GOT A COPY OF THE..INSPECTION OF THE OPEN-CUT EXCAVATION DONE BY AN OPEN-CUT EXAMINER..AND..IT'S GOT THAT THE BACK ACCESS ROAD IS CLOSED BETWEEN RAMP 8 AND RAMP 9 ...AND ALSO ON THE 4/5/97..ON NIGHT-SHIFT..A BACK ACCESS ROAD BETWEEN RAMP 8 AND RAMP 9 IS CLOSED.. WHAT I WANT TO..SAY ABOUT THAT THEN IS..IF ALL THESE PROCESSES WERE IN PLACE..WOULD ALL THE WORKFORCE BE MADE AWARE THAT..THAT THERE WAS A PROBLEM WITH THAT BACK ACCESS ROAD IN THAT AREA?



As it was in that point in time..that would be..I understand about that time..work was being conducted on that road..not probably the procedure to have a wholesale communication to the workforce on that situation..but certainly would be reported on the examiner's report which is..posted in the assembly area.



SO THAT COULD..WELL AS MINE MANAGER AND..SAFETY SUPERINTENDENT..WAS THE AIM OF THE WORK THAT WAS BEING DONE ON THE BACK ACCESS ROAD AND UP IN THE UPGRADING PROGRAM..WAS THE AIM ALWAYS TO TRY AND MOVE AS MUCH OF THE LIGHT VEHICLE TRAFFIC AWAY FROM THE..HEAVY..FROM THE HAUL ROADS?



There's always been a policy encouraging non-essential traffic not to use the haul roads..we were..the upgrading of the..back access road there was 2 locations..in the front first few months of this year which we were rebuilding..it was area part of the road north of Ramp 12 and part of the road south of Ramp 8..normal progress was a strip mine going down dip..there's a normal process every 5 years to have to relocate the back access road.. the works in those up those relocations were..somewhat disrupted by..heavier than normal rain..in the February March period..and it did delay a lot of those works and..the resources we had did slow down the works we had to do so..relocations.



SO..NO DOUBT BY..BY THE LENGTH OF TIME THAT IT WAS TAKING TO DO THOSE..TO THOSE UPGRADES ON THAT BACK ACCESS ROAD AS WELL AS THE EXTENSIONS NECESSARY YOU COULD JUST ABOUT SAY THE WORKFORCE WAS ..MOST OF THE WORKFORCE WOULD HAVE BEEN AWARE THAT?



I believe they would be..because at times people went out there yes.



SO REALLY THE HAUL ROAD WAS THEN AN ACCEPTABLE WAY OF TRAVELLING?



For accessing the pits themselves..yes it was..if you were going out to a dragline you normally used the back access roads.



CAN I ASK..ANOTHER QUESTION THEN..WITH REGARDS TO ..THE ERECTION OF SIGNS..THE ERECTION OF SIGNS ON THE SECOND OF MAY..WHEN YOU WERE DOING YOUR MINE WEEKLY MINES INSPECTION THE STATUTORY INSPECTION AS THE MINE MANAGER..YOU NOTICED SOME ACTIVITY OR SIGNS OF ACTIVITY AROUND THAT STOCKPILE AREA..BUT YOU ALSO NOTICED..SIGNS..THAT THERE WAS SOME SIGNS ERECTED?



I noticed a sign at one end.



SIGNS AT ONE END..WHICH INDICATED?



Caution trucks turning.



TRUCKS TURNING..CAUTION TRUCKS TURNING..SO WHO WHO ACTUALLY PUTS THOSE SIGNS UP?



For temporary signs like that as part of the..we ask our examiners to erect those signs..which is..it's not part of their statutory duties it's part of their additional duties to..erect signs.



ERECT THE SIGNS..AND IS THERE ANY..ANY STANDARD OR ANY PROCEDURE THAT THEY FOLLOW IN REGARDS TO..HOW THE SIGN IS ERECTED..HAS IT GOT TO BE IN A IN AN AREA WHERE..IT'S EASILY VISIBLE OR IS IT..HUNG UP ON AN EXISTING GUIDE POST OR HAS IT GOT ITS OWN BRACKET OR HAS IT GOT ITS OWN STAND..THOSE SORT OF ISSUES.. IS IT OR IS IT UP TO THEM..TO ERECT THE SIGN..THAT THEY BELIEVE IS ..IS VISIBLE?



There was no strict procedure for the ways signs erected in place at the time..but..possible up to about a year before that they used to have a larger sign which was on its own stand..and..we had a one of the examiners sustain a back injury from erecting that sign..it was quite a heavy sign..that's one of the reasons why we went to a slightly smaller sign.. which we then..attached to a guide post normally and to..to attract attention to that sign there's a policy of putting one or two witches hats..out from that sign and on the roadway a little bit..and far as I could see that..that had been followed.



RIGHT..THAT WAS TO NO DOUBT..STAND OUT THE SIGN.. MAKE THE SIGN STAND OUT?



yes.



AND IF..CAN I ASK ANOTHER QUESTION THEN..IN..AS A MINE MANAGER..IN YOUR CAPACITY AS THE MINE MANAGER YOU..ARE FAMILIAR WITH..THE MINESITE INSPECTIONS MADE BY INSPECTOR..GOVERNMENT MINES INSPECTORS AND DISTRICT UNION INSPECTORS..OF THE MINE?



Yes I am.



AND THEY..THEY MAKE ENTRANCES INTO THE RECORD BOOK?



yes.



I KNOW..ON THE 5TH OF JUNE 1996 YOU WEREN'T PRESENT AT THE MINE WHEN..I WAS THERE TO DO A NIGHT TIME INSPECTION..BUT..I DID MAKE AN ENTRY IN THE RECORD BOOK..BUT WERE YOU FAMILIAR WITH THAT ENTRY?



I'm familiar with that entry yes.



WHERE IT CALLED ON A RISK ASSESSMENT TO BE MADE OF IN MICK'S JUNCTION BECAUSE OF THE..HAULING OF COAL WATERING ROAD THROUGH MICK'S JUNCTION TO THE 2 WEST STOCKPILE..IS THAT 2 WEST STOCKPILE THE SAME STOCKPILE ..THAT WAS IDENTIFIED IN THE ACCIDENT?



Yes ?? as far as I recall from that entry and I..

MS GIBNEY:



EXCUSE ME YOUR WORSHIP..WOULD IT BE POSSIBLE FOR THE WITNESS TO SEE THE ENTRY..IT MIGHT MAKE IT EASIER TO ANSWER THE QUESTION I THINK..I'VE GOT THE ORIGINAL RECORD BOOK HERE IF YOU WISH MR BEST..IS THIS THE ONE?

MR BEST:
YES...CAN I TENDER THAT AS A STATEMENT OF EVIDENCE?

WARDEN:
YOU WANT IT TENDERED BY..YOU WANT THAT TENDERED?



IF ANYONE WANTS TO ASK ANY OTHER QUESTIONS ABOUT IT.



You're referring to..number 19?



YES THE RISK ASSESSMENT.



I was familiar..I was aware of that entry yes.



DO YOU KNOW IF THERE WAS ANYTHING..ANYTHING DONE IN REGARDS TO A RISK ASSESSMENT..ANY WAS THERE ANY FORM OF RISK ASSESSMENT OR..HAZARD IDENTIFICATION DONE WITH REGARDS TO THOSE ISSUES THAT I RAISED IN THAT REPORT?



As I'm aware..as you understand I was..away from the minesite for a matter of two and a half month around that period..as I understand the..concern mainly was the glare of the industrial area lights.. particularly with light vehicles travelling from the south into the industrial area and not see trucks coming out of the bypass..because the lights blended in with the industrial area lights..as I understand there was a..I don't believe there was a formal risk assessment done as we did in these days..but there was a review made of the problem and so far as I can recall..there was a program to communicate to truck drivers there's was a give way sign at the bypass .. they must give way..it was a bit of a practice among some of the truck drivers..that the give way signs are not for them..but for the lighter vehicles and light vehicles give way to anything..any heavy vehicle..we reinforced the fact that truck drivers must give way to give way signs..and we felt with traffic coming into this area..this was would control some of the problems..we are..I guess sometimes it does mention in this particular entry ..it is a congested part of the mine..over the previous number of years we have reduced the light vehicles going through that whole area..probably up to about I think about 8 years ago we prevented vehicles going down past the number 1 crusher into that five-way junction..we then developed a..a light vehicle road..around that congested area which came in just sort of south of Mick's Junction..we were still at a level of concern and there was plans in about..being put into place to put another bridge across Deep Creek and run a parallel light road.. to come onto the..access the back access road..by Ramp 1 water point..now there obviously there'd be quite a large capital expenditure and obviously been mooted to put into the next capital budget.



THANKS VERY MUCH FOR THAT..I ALSO AT THAT TIME WE DONE THE INSPECTION WE DID HAVE SOME SOME ISSUES THERE WITH REGARDS TO THE INTERACTION OF THE HAUL TRUCK..THE LOADED HAUL TRUCKS COMING DOWN THROUGH THERE PAST MICK'S JUNCTION AND THE LIGHT VEHICLE COMING UP THE OTHER WAY..THAT WAS AGAIN POINTED OUT THROUGH OUR ACCIDENT INVESTIGATION..SO AND THAT WAS ALSO POINTED OUT BY MR WALKER AGAIN THROUGH THAT PROCESS THIS MORNING.



There is a..the road was widened at that point..so vehicles could pull off to the left if they had to.



YES..ALSO I WANT TO ASK A QUESTION THEN..WITH THE CHANGES THAT YOU'VE NOW PUT INTO PLACE AT THE MINE AND YOU'VE IDENTIFIED IT AS..AS QUITE A NUMBER..AND IT'S..YOU'VE CHANGED THE..THE..LIGHT VEHICLE..ROUTE THERE AND YOU'VE KEPT THEM..YOU'VE KEPT THEM AWAY FROM THAT PARTICULAR AREA..IS THERE ANY EXEMPTIONS FOR ANY LIGHT VEHICLES TO GO THROUGH THAT AREA OTHER THAN AN EMERGENCY..IN AN EMERGENCY..HAS ANYONE GOT AN EXEMPTION TO TRAVEL THROUGH THERE?



yes they do..the supervisor as part of his supervisory duties must have access to that area... any maintenance personnel may have to go into that area for breakdowns or..so forth..there is a procedure in place..for people to go into that area they call up..the..the two-way ..announce that they're in that area..and put on their orange hazard lights.



RIGHT AND THEY'VE GOT FLAGS..IN THEIR?



In the vehicles..it's compulsory for all vehicles coming on the minesite to have flags yes.



SO THAT'S THAT'S..THAT'S ALL IN PLACE?



yes.



AND THE CALL-UP SIGN IS WORKING..THE CALL-UP SYSTEM IS WORKING?



I believe so yes it's certainly do get a lot of communication on the two-way and..as far as I'm aware everybody abides by that ruling now.



YOU WERE AWARE BECAUSE WE'VE HAD DISCUSSIONS AT DIFFERENT MINE TIME..DIFFERENT TIMES I'VE VISITED THE MINE WHEN YOU'VE BEEN WITH ME..ON THE INSPECTIONS..YOU WERE AWARE OF SOME OF THE COMMUNICATION PROBLEMS THROUGHOUT THE MINE AND ARE YOU SATISFIED THAT YOU'RE ON TRACK TO..OVERCOME THOSE?



Certainly am..as I've been..mentioned prior to this there was two channels we used..common use to the mine..channel 4 and channel 11..we found there was blank spots in some particular spots of the mine particularly down the south end of the mine..and obviously the communication didn't have complete 100% coverage reception throughout the mine..and.. survey to a considerable depth had been made over over the probably from early in the year it was commenced..what's resulted out of that survey..is the fact that we are now on currently on a 3 month trial with one channel..and..the repeaters that are freed up by not using the second channel are to be relocated..to try to fill up the gaps where the reception problems occurred..the trial is going well ..obviously you get some people dissenting in such things..but certainly it's you're both on the same channel now..and augers very well for the minesite communication if trucks do change routes for example ..everybody is on the minesite will will hear of that.



GOOD..JUST ONE OTHER QUESTION..WHEN YOU SAID THAT.. YOU STARTED THE HAZARD IDENTIFICATION RISK ASSESSMENT TRAINING..SOMETIME EARLIER THIS YEAR.. PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT..THE FIRST PEOPLE THAT WERE GIVEN THE..THE TRAINING COULD YOU IDENTIFY WHO THEY WOULD HAVE BEEN..OR WAS IT RANDOMLY SELECTED..I'M NOT ASKING FOR NAMES I'M ASKING FOR GROUPS?



Well what level of training are you referring to the Be Safe rep training or the..general?



ALL ALL THE..ALL THE TRAINING THAT YOU'VE GOT MENTIONED IN THE REPORT HERE..THAT IS TO DO WITH THE RISK ASSESSMENT AND HAZARD IDENTIFICATION..IS ONLY AIMED AT THE..AT ONE GROUP OR IS IT AIMED ACROSS THE MINESITE AND IN ALL AREAS..AND..WHO WAS..WHO ACTUALLY GOT THE..STARTED THE TRAINING..GETTING THE TRAINING FIRST?



O.k. it was directed right across the minesite..I am relying very much on my memory now but I believe the open-cut examiners..and..they were certainly in the first group..a lot of groups went through..and..I believe the miners officers went..received that as well..plus they selected people throughout the we tried to get a cross-section of each..someone off each crew..certainly all of your supervisors.



ALL THE SUPERVISORS?



yes.



SO THAT'S THE SUPERVISORS IN CHARGE OF..IN CHARGE OF THE COAL OPERATIONS AND..OVERBURDEN REMOVAL AND..AT ALL LEVEL?



yes.



THANK YOU VERY MUCH.



And I can't guarantee we got everybody but we certainly got the majority of them.



O.K. THANKS VERY MUCH.

WARDEN:
THANK YOU YES MR MELLICK?

MR.MELLICK:



YOU'VE GOT YOUR BUNDLE OF DOCUMENTS THERE IN FRONT OF YOU..EXHIBIT 8..IF YOU COULD GO TO THE..STATUS OF ACTIONS TO IMPROVE SAFETY ITEM 1..ON THE FOURTH PAGE THE LAST ITEM "VISIBILITY OF WATER TRUCK TURNING INDICATORS"..IN THE IN THE THIRD COLUMN UNDER STATUS IT SAID `MODIFICATIONS TO THE REAR LIGHT CLUSTER HOUSING DESIGN HAS BEEN MADE ON TWO TRUCKS AS HAS THE LOWERING OF THE SPRAYS'..I TAKE IT IT MEANS WHAT IT SAYS..TWO TRUCKS HAVE BEEN MODIFIED..AS INDICATED THERE?

Mr Smith
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MR MELLICK:



Yes.



ALRIGHT NOW..IN..ITEM 19 IN THAT BUNDLE..COMPRISES THE..FOUR PHOTOGRAPHS..YOU MAY HAVE HEARD..MR SULLIVAN WAS ASKED SOME QUESTIONS ABOUT THESE PHOTOS EARLIER TODAY?



Could you refresh me on the photographs please?



THERE ARE 4 PHOTOGRAPHS IN THAT BUNDLE..ITEM 19 UNLESS..UNLESS THEY'VE BEEN TAKEN OUT AND MADE EXHIBIT A?

MS GIBNEY:



I THINK IF MR SMITH RETURNS TO HIS BLUE FOLDER WHICH IS THE BUNDLE OF DOCUMENTS HE WILL FIND IT.

MR MELLICK:



ARE THEY THE PHOTOGRAPHS OF ONE OF THOSE TWO TRUCKS IN IT'S MODIFIED CONDITION I TAKE IT?



No that's a photograph of..?? 1300..what the..what didn't undergo the modifications.



IT DIDN'T..WHAT IS THE PURPOSE OF THOSE PHOTOGRAPHS?



The purpose of those photographs was..I just wanted to take some still photos of that truck in action I followed it out of Ramp 11..just and I deliberately followed a truck and I had my camera with me when I came across that truck..and to me the indicator lights were..quite bright and really the photograph doesn't do it justice.



AND..WAS THAT TRUCK IN USE AT THAT TIME..OR WAS IT SPECIALLY PUT THERE?



No no it was just in use.



ALRIGHT.



I just came up behind it.



AND WHAT WAS DONE ABOUT CLEANING IT..THAT IS THE LIGHT?



Well..I'm not sure what he done to clean the lights ..to me the lights appeared to be in a similar state to..what I saw on the day of the accident.



WELL..THEY ARE..PART OF EXHIBIT 7..PHOTOGRAPHS E12 AND E13..DO YOU HAVE THE..INSPECTOR'S FOLDER THERE?



yes I do.



THESE PHOTOGRAPHS APPEAR TO HAVE BEEN TAKEN AT THE SITE OF THE ACCIDENT?



yes they were.



YOU CAN'T TELL FROM LOOKING AT THOSE..WHAT THE COLOUR IF ANY THAT THE THE GLASS..OR THAT THE GLASS MIGHT HAVE?



Those lights are not operational at that point in time.



BUT ARE YOU SAYING THAT..YOU TOOK THE PHOTOS THAT.. THE PHOTOS IN EXHIBIT 8?



yes.



AND THE..THE GLASS WAS SIMILARLY COVERED..IS THAT YOUR EVIDENCE?



When I..was called out to the accident on Sunday the 4th..I came across the truck the reverse light..the blinker light was still flashing when I came on the scene..and I felt that..I didn't take too much notice at the time..but you definitely were conscious that the indicator was on..I felt when I took the photographs..later than that Ramp 11 was a similar sort of brightness..I took no notice of how much mud was on the..was on the lenses.



WELL SO THERE'S NO..WE DON'T HAVE ANY BASIS FOR MAKING A COMPARISON THEN?



it's just a photograph of a truck..at an operational stage which I thought was of interest to the inquiry.



ALRIGHT YOU STILL HAVE THE..THE STATUS SHEET THERE ITEM 1 OF THE EXHIBIT 8?



yes.



THERE'S BEEN A CHANGE MADE TO THE OVERTAKING..THIS IS ..SORRY AT PAGE 1..ITEM 2 "CHANGE TO OVERTAKING PROCEDURE"..YOU'RE FAMILIAR WITH THAT CHANGE?



yes I am.



WAS THERE ANYTHING TO PREVENT THAT..CHANGE HAVING BEEN IMPLEMENTED BEFORE THIS ACCIDENT?



I guess when you..generally..there was facility for verbal communication that a lot of mines do have but a lot didn't..there was probably nothing to prevent it but it was not considered..a hazard at that point in time..to warrant such a change.



THE FACT IS THAT..SORRY I DON'T MEAN TO INTERRUPT I THOUGHT YOU'D FINISHED..BUT THE FACT IS THAT ON OTHER MINES PRIOR TO THE 4TH MAY..THEY IN FACT HAD THAT VERY PRACTICE..THE ONE THAT'S NOW BEEN IMPLEMENTED AT THE MINE YOU MANAGE?



Some mines did some mines didn't.



YOU HEARD MR SULLIVAN SAY THAT..LIGHT VEHICLES WERE VERY COMMON ON THAT..ON ALL HAUL ROADS AT THE MINE BEFORE 4TH OF MAY..YOU DON'T DISAGREE WITH THAT DO YOU?



Don't disagree no.



AND..IS IT THE CASE THAT THERE WAS NO..RULE OR INSTRUCTION IN PLACE AT THE MINE..THAT..THE WATER TRUCKS WHEN EXECUTING A RIGHT TURN..GIVEN THEIR LIMITED VISIBILITY TO THE RIGHT..WERE NOT REQUIRED TO ..THE OPERATORS WERE NOT REQUIRED TO TURN OFF THE THE RIGHTHAND SPRAYS?



There was no such procedure in place..in fact I had wasn't aware of it even happening..they normally when they were watering round a corner into a ramp they kept the sprays going.



O.K. ON THE SECOND LAST ITEM ON PAGE 1..IT'S RECORDED THAT CERTAIN AREAS OF THE BACK ACCESS ROAD WERE NOT IN GOOD CONDITION..AND..THERE'S A COMMENT ON THE..IN THE RIGHTHAND COLUMN THAT..THERE WAS A POLICY OF ENCOURAGING NON-ESSENTIAL LIGHT VEHICLES TO USE THE BACK ACCESS ROAD..IT WAS NOT STRICTLY ENFORCED..DUE TO THE DIFFICULTY OF MAINTAINING THE ROAD..WHAT WAS THE..WHAT WAS THE POINT TO HAVING A POLICY OF ENCOURAGEMENT ON THE ONE HAND..AND NOT MAINTAINING THE ROAD ON THE OTHER?



I dispute the fact that the roads weren't maintained they were maintained..the problems we had at the particular time were..there was two sections of road being rebuilt..and trying to rebuild roads with having to cope with the traffic as well.. particularly in the Ramp 8 area we were in fact ended up..laying them..laying the road right adjacent to the new drill pattern which was..or the advancing cut..now the roads in the back access were maintained..normally maintained by the draglines working in that area.



BUT THE RESULT WAS THAT..A GOOD DEAL OF LIGHT TRAFFIC USED THE..HAUL ROADS?



I think if you saw a photograph of or a plan of the full mine..the particularly going to the south..it's a lot quicker..and a lot smoother ride for people to travel south on the haul road..it was made very easy for people to travel south on the haul road because coming out of the industrial area..you can always travel directly to you want to..the mine is in a curve and the shortest route and the smoothest route is going along the haul road..now if people are going to the..pre-strip operations or the dragline operations..yes they went the back access road.



ALRIGHT YOU SAID THAT..THAT YOU..INSPECTION PRIOR TO THIS..INCIDENT OCCURRING?



yes.



THIS IS YOUR YOUR WEEKLY STATUTORY INSPECTION I THINK YOU SAID?



Yes.



YOU SAID YOU DIDN'T CONSIDER THAT THE USE OF THAT STOCKPILE IMPOSED ANY RISK ABOVE THE NORMAL HAZARDS THAT..EXIST ON A MINESITE..DO YOU RECALL SAYING THAT?



yes I do.



HOW DID YOU GO ABOUT MAKING THAT ASSESSMENT?



Well I guess I count on experience point of view the fact that..you've got an operation which has heavy and light vehicle mixing with each other..people are expected to conduct themselves in a fashion the fact that the high degree of awareness of hazards when they're driving around the site..you never know when trucks are going to possibly turn in front of you so you take all precautions when you're around heavy equipment..the fact that..I saw them hauling to that particular stockpile..my personal thoughts were basically o.k. we using this ramp 2..or ramp 1 west as I knew it at that particular time..using that stockpile there's a sign in place and..I felt that it didn't..rate anything above the normal hazards associated with a normal operation of the minesite.



THEY WERE AS YOU SAY YOUR THOUGHT PROCESSES WHAT I'M ASKING YOU IS HOW YOU WENT ABOUT MAKING THAT ASSESSMENT..DID YOU GET OUT AND PHYSICALLY INSPECT ANYTHING..IS THIS SOMETHING THAT YOU JUST SAW AS YOU WERE DRIVING BY..DID YOU HAVE SOME CHECKLIST THAT YOU WERE APPLYING..WAS THERE SOME RECORD THAT YOU WERE MAKING OF WHAT YOU WERE DOING?



No.



SO WAS WHAT I SAID FIRSTLY..CORRECT..THIS YOU DROVE BY AND AS YOU DROVE BY..THESE THOUGHT PROCESSES OCCURRED?



It is a judgement which one makes..on everything when you're doing inspection on a minesite..rather other than a formal inspection you use your experience and..awareness of the hazards..use that experience to make those judgement.



YOU MAY BE ANSWERING MY QUESTION THE FAULT MAYBE ENTIRELY MINE..BUT AM I CORRECT..IN SAYING THIS THAT WHAT HAPPENED..WAS YOU DROVE BY..YOU HAD THESE THOUGHTS WHICH YOU ELABORATED ON A MOMENT AGO..AND THAT WAS THE..THAT WAS THE SYSTEM OF ASSESSMENT IS THAT CORRECT?



yes it was.



YES..THERE WAS NO FORMAL CHECKLIST THAT WAS APPLIED?



No.



THERE WAS NO INSPECTION BEYOND WHAT YOU SAW FROM YOUR MOVING VEHICLE..THAT WAS UNDERTAKEN?



That's right.



FOR INSTANCE..DID YOU MAKE SOME ASSESSMENT IN THE CONTEXT OF WATER TRUCKS OPERATING IN THAT AREA?



I didn't see any water trucks operating.



BUT DID IT OCCUR TO YOU THAT WATER TRUCKS WOULD BE USED IN THAT AREA?



Well probably with the mining operation you always have water trucks operating it's part of the process of mining coal.



CERTAINLY BUT..THE..SPECIFIC MOVEMENT OF WATER..



I made no deliberate assessment where the trucks would do wide looping turning circles or anything like that I made no assessments on that point of view at all.



ALRIGHT.



As I recall I made one assessment on that particular inspection which was the north haul road..they're carrying out roadworks and so it's on the record of the record book..that they had insufficient signs for those roadworks and that's one..recommendation that I did make on that inspection.



EXCUSE ME A MOMENT YOUR WORSHIP....WELL..WAS THE.. THE CARTING OF..MINE TO THIS STOCKPILE..ALREADY UNDER ALREADY UNDERWAY..THEN BY THE TIME THAT YOU UNDERTOOK YOUR WEEKLY STATUTORY INSPECTION?



As I subsequently found out they'd been..had started about..some..one week a week to 10 days prior to that.



RIGHT SO..YOU DIDN'T PARTICIPATE IN ANY WAY IN THE DECISION MAKING TO RESUME ANY STOCKPILING THERE?



I don't normally get involved in those decisions they're operational decisions which are made by competent mine officials.



AND YOU TOOK NO PART IN THE ASSESSMENT OF ANY RISKS WHEN THE STOCKPILING THERE WAS RESUMED?



No I didn't/



IT WAS A MATTER OF..YOU..WHEN YOU DROVE BY..LATER IN THIS INSPECTION THAT YOU MENTIONED..YOU MADE A VISUAL CHECK..AND..AND AN ASSESSMENT?



yes.



WELL WHO SHOULD HAVE BEEN..OR WHO WOULD HAVE ASSUMED RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY ASSESSMENTS THEN..WHEN WHEN..



If it was deemed to have an assessment to be necessary we most probably be a mining foreman..it would be Darryl Wockner.



WAS WOULD ANY RECORDS BE MADE..OF THOSE ASSESSMENTS?



I'm not aware of any records.



SHOULD ANY RECORDS HAVE BEEN..MADE?



Normally if we do a formal risk assessment yes we keep records of those.



AND..WHAT WAS THE..DID ANY SYSTEM EXIST FOR INFORMING ..PEOPLE WHO MIGHT BE WORKING IN THE AREA AS TO THE..THE CHANGE OR THE RESUMPTION OF STOCKPILING THIS RAMP?



There was no system for communication..as I said earlier..to operations people hauling from one ramp to another location is a normal part of the mining process..we don't do risk assessments when we start each new ramp unless there's a particular issue.. which is within that operations deemed to..feels necessary to do a risk assessment.



RIGHT SO..PEOPLE WHO ARE NOT IN PRODUCTION..THEY'VE JUST GOT TO PICK IT UP AS THEY GO ALONG?



I wouldn't put it strictly in those words.



WELL HOW WOULD YOU PUT IT?



I'd put it in words that the fact that people who are working on minesites..we..put a lot of resources into..training these people so they are aware of general hazards as they come across them..to take the appropriate actions..we encourage..we like our people to be fully aware of their surroundings at all times..I I found out later it was referred to me the so called near misses had happed a couple of days prior to that on that particular circuit..I investigated these..reports..what was ..some people consider a near miss and I'll give an example..one of the electricians was driving..north going towards where the stockpile goes in..he noticed this truck coming coal hauler coming towards him with the righthand blinker on..thought it was rather strange ..took ..he slowed down..truck turned across in front of him..and when I say in front it was still a hundred metres away..but that person took the appropriate precautions because he felt it was unusual..and I would not consider this a near miss I would possibly consider it as an incident not a near miss.



WELL..HOW DO..HOW DO PEOPLE LIKE MR GADSBY AND MR BILES WHO ARE MAINTENANCE PEOPLE..NOT PRODUCTION PEOPLE..IF THEY HAVEN'T ACTUALLY SEEN..ANY TRUCKS GOING INTO THAT AREA..WHETHER WATER TRUCKS OR.. TRUCKS CARTING COAL..HOW DO THEY BECOME..HOW UNDER THE SYSTEM THAT PREVAILED..UP TO 4TH MAY DID THEY BECOME AWARE..THAT WORK WAS RESUMING AT THAT STOCKPILE AFTER SOME 4 MONTHS?



There was no formal system in place for making them aware..but again..we rely on peoples general awareness of hazards..and being basically wide awake to these sort of things.



YES..THANK YOU.

WARDEN:
THANK YOU..MR LEES?

MR.LEES:
MR SMITH I THINK YOU JUST ANSWERED ONE OF THE QUESTIONS I WANTED TO KNOW..YOU SAY THAT THERE'S NO FORMAL PROCESS IN PLACE TO..INFORM MAINTENANCE PEOPLE OF THE OPERATION AREAS OR AREAS THAT ARE BEING OPERATED IS THAT CORRECT?

Mr Smith

XXD BY

MR LEES:
At the present time or prior to 4th of May?



WELL PRIOR TO THE 4TH OF MAY FIRST?



For situations like that probably wasn't but if it was something related to something really out of the ordinary there would have been a process.



WELL FOR EXAMPLE..IT WAS THE BELIEF I BELIEVE OF MOST OF THE EMPLOYEES OUT THERE THAT THIS STOCKPILE WASN'T USUALLY USED..AND IT'S ONLY ON RARE OCCASIONS SO WAS THERE ANY WAY OF COMMUNICATING THE USE OF THIS PARTICULAR STOCKPILE AREA TO THE MAINTENANCE PEOPLE?



As I said before that there was no formal system for communicating.



IS THERE ONE NOW?



There certainly is.



ALRIGHT SO SO THE MAINTENANCE PEOPLE WOULD BE MADE AWARE OF IT?



?? with the daily and shift by shift communication we have across the site which we felt we needed to improve..that system.



O.K. I SEE NOW THAT YOU HAVE A..TWO-WAY PROCEDURE FOR PASSING VEHICLES..BHP HAVE SEVERAL MINES..IN THE VICINITY OF..OR A LARGE AREA OF QUEENSLAND HERE AND IT'S A TENDENCY WHEN COMPANIES LIKE BHP HAVE SEVERAL MINES THAT THEY HAVE..SAFETY PROCEDURES OR THAT THAT ARE..A GENERIC TO THEIR OPERATIONS..WAS THERE ANY OTHER BHP MINES THAT HAD..THE PASSING PROCEDURE WHERE YOU CALLED UP WHEN YOU WERE PASSING A HEAVY VEHICLE?



I believe there could have been but I'm not aware of specific mines.



O.K. BUT YOU DIDN'T AT BHP BLACKWATER?



Certainly no generic overtaking rule communicated throughout the group.



ALSO I SEE YOU'VE NOW GOT THE FLAG CONCEPT ON LIGHT VEHICLES SO THEY CAN BE EASILY..VIEWED BY HEAVY EQUIPMENT BECAUSE OF THE..SIZE OF THEM COMPARED TO THE LARGER EQUIPMENT..ONCE AGAIN..ARE YOU AWARE THAT OTHER BHP MINE HAD THIS IN PLACE..YET BHP BLACKWATER DIDN'T?



I wasn't aware of any other BHP mine that had it in place..BHP Mount Newman did..I visited there 2 years previous and.



HAVE YOU..I DON'T BELIEVE YOU WOULD HAVE HAD PRIOR TO THE 4TH OF MAY BUT SINCE THE 4TH OF MAY HAVE YOU GOT A PROCEDURE IN PLACE..THAT CATERS FOR NEAR MISSES FOR EXAMPLE A..A REPORTING SYSTEM THAT THAT ALLOWS REPORTEES TO RECORD NEAR MISSES HENCE ALLOWS ALL OTHER EMPLOYEES TO BE AWARE OF SUCH A NEAR MISS AND IT BRINGS IT TO THE ATTENTION OF THE EMPLOYEES?



There's always been a system for reporting accidents near misses..in our reporting procedures.



SO THERE IS A NEAR MISS PROCEDURE IN PLACE OUT THERE?



There's an incident reporting procedure accident and incident.



I'M NOT TALKING ABOUT AN ACCIDENT I'M TALKING ABOUT WHERE AN ACCIDENT COULD HAVE HAPPENED BUT DIDN'T HAPPEN..BUT MAY HAPPEN AT SOME STAGE?



There's two..two types of reporting procedures where that could be reported..there was the normal incident reporting system..and there was the hazard hazard reporting system..there was nothing with a headline called a near miss reporting system.



ARE YOU AWARE THAT'S PRETTY COMMON IN THE COAL INDUSTRY..THAT PEOPLE HAVE THIS SORT OF PROCESS IN PLACE?



They have a mechanism in place and various degrees of success in the operation of that..it's a difficult system to..operate effectively..people when they have a near miss because there's no physical evidence of damage or anything like that there's a natural tendency for people to want to cover it up or hide it..as a matter of major communication..process to encourage people and try to satisfy them try to state to them well we're not going to blame you or..or belt you over the head because you did something that you..made a mistake.



WELL THAT'S WHAT I THOUGHT THE NEAR MISS..PROCEDURES WOULD DO..IT WOULD ALLOW PEOPLE TO REPORT WHERE THEY'VE NEARLY HAD AN ACCIDENT HENCE..GO TOWARDS STOPPING SOME OTHER EMPLOYEE FROM DOING THE SAME THING THAT MAY..INCUR AN INJURY OR DAMAGE TO THE COMPANY'S PROPERTY?



That's the way it should be running yes.



YES.



We do get..I get near miss reports..there's a lot I know I don't get.



I THINK MOST OTHER QUESTIONS ?? YES.



Because one of the problems was..couple of things I believe has been satisfied now but there's a policy with one of the unions on site for dobbing in mates ..people didn't want to dob in their mates.

REVIEWER 

MR BRADY:
NOW MR SMITH..I THINK YOU SAID EARLIER..EARLIER IN YOUR EVIDENCE HERE THAT IT COMES DOWN TO THE YOU KNOW SENIOR MINE FOREMAN SAY TO ASSESS..DO AN ASSESSMENT OR ASSESS THIS AREA AND DECIDE WHETHER A FORMAL RISK ASSESSMENT WAS NEEDED OR NOT?

MR SMITH

XD BY

MR BRADY:
That's normal process for a normal operating decision yes..he can call on the assistance of people who have more..are from the safety department to carry that assessment if he wishes.



ARE WE TRYING TO MAKE THIS RISK ASSESSMENT PROCESS JUST TOO COMPLICATED..IN YOUR OPINION?



My belief is you can't do risk assessment on every decision you make..you can make judgements..better judgements.



O.K. BUT THERE ARE SOME BASIC..BASIC PRINCIPLES THAT SHOULD BE OBSERVED ISN'T THERE..SEE IF WE EXAMINE THIS CASE..IF THIS IS A CHANGE FROM NORMAL ISN'T IT?



We have a process of conducting risk assessments when a hazard is identified.



YEAH BUT I MEAN..ARE WE TRYING TO MAKE..YOU KNOW FOR FUTURE TYPE EVENTS..ARE WE TRYING TO MAKE THE RISK ASSESSMENT PROCESS JUST TOO COMPLICATED..IF WE BREAK THIS INCIDENT DOWN TO ITS SIMPLEST FORM..THE FACT THAT ..WE'VE GOT TO DUMP IN A NEW AREA..ON A TEMPORARY BASIS..THAT'S A CHANGE FROM NORMAL OPERATION ISN'T IT..I MEAN A NORMAL OPERATION IS FOR A HAUL TRUCK TO RUN UP AND DOWN THE HAUL ROAD..NOT SORT OF STOP HALFWAY ALONG IT AND DO A RIGHT TURN?



Why I hesitated there is this stockpile has been in existence since for the last 7 or 8 years.



TRUE IT'S BEEN IN EXISTENCE A LONG TIME..BUT IT'S ONLY USED OCCASIONALLY..SO IS IT FAIR TO SAY IT'S A CHANGE FROM NORMAL OPERATIONS?



If you call a normal operation hauling out of pits and to a wrong dump area yes it is a change.



YEAH I'M NOT TRYING TO TRAP YOU OR ANYTHING LIKE THAT ..I'M LOOKING FOR A WAY TO..



No..well I consider..



..YOU KNOW FROM WHAT I CAN SEE THERE ARE SOME OF THE BEST PROCEDURES THROUGHOUT THIS INDUSTRY ARE RISK ASSESSMENT..AND RISK MANAGEMENT..I'M YET TO FIND ONE THAT WORKS.



I'm not trying to evade you..it is a normal operation for us to have a temporary stockpile.



YEAH WHICH IS USED..OCCASIONALLY?



Yes that's correct.



NOW IF IT WAS USED ALL THE TIME..THAT WOULD BE THE NORMAL OPERATION?



When you put it in that context yes.



SO IF WE DO SOMETHING THAT'S A CHANGE FROM NORMAL IS THERE A NEED FOR A FORMAL RISK ASSESSMENT GIVEN THAT BY YOUR OWN EVIDENCE..OVER A THIRD OF THE WORKFORCE HAS ALREADY BEEN TRAINED IN RISK ASSESSMENT TECHNIQUES?



that's correct.



NOW IF WE GO TO YOUR BE SAFE FORM..I BELIEVE THAT JUST THAT CARD THERE..THAT RISK ASSESSMENT RATING GUIDE..IS THAT WHAT EVERYBODY HAS GOT?



Yes.



WELL HAVE YOU USED..



We have access to one.



WELL HAVE YOU USED THAT GUIDE SINCE THIS ACCIDENT TO CONDUCT A RISK ASSESSMENT ON THAT PARTICULAR PLACE?



yes we have.



AND WHAT ANSWER DID YOU COME UP WITH?



We come up with the answer as I recall we shut off the road while we..it was just after we were actually taking coal off that stockpile..and because of the issues involved..we shut off the road..for the time we were hauling.



SEE..IT TAKES LESS THAN 5 MINUTES TO SLIP THROUGH THAT..ANY PERSON ON SITE..GIVEN THAT YOU'VE ALREADY PUT OUT A SAFETY BRIEF..DATED THE 30TH OF NOVEMBER 1996..WHICH BASICALLY SAYS..HERE'S AN INCIDENT THAT HAS OCCURRED AT ANOTHER MINE..SO IT'S VERY..THIS SORT OF THING HAS HAPPENED BEFORE AND ONLY SOME MONTHS BEFORE..MY ARGUMENT IS..IT TAKES LESS THAN 5 MINUTES TO USE THIS..YOUR OWN FORM..TO ASSESS THE SITE AND SAY THIS IS A HIGH RISK AREA?



Yes in hindsight yes..it is a risk area.



WELL GIVEN THE HIERARCHY CONTROLS THAT IS ALSO ON THIS FORM..IS ERECTING A SIMPLE SIGN..SUFFICIENT CONTROLS..FOR THE..MAGNITUDE OF THE RISK?



At the time we considered it to be an adequate control..I guess..



BUT IT'S BEEN PROVEN NOT TO BE.



It's been proven not to be..but you do go beyond that now..when we're operating out of the ordinary activities we tend to isolate those areas..to light vehicles.



BUT YOU KNOW YOU'D HAVE TO AGREE THAT UNDER THE HIERARCHY CONTROLS ON THAT FORM..THAT A SIMPLE SIGN IS NOT ADEQUATE CONTROLS..WOULD YOU AGREE?



yes.



WELL GIVEN THAT WE CAN DO THIS ASSUMPTION IN LESS THAN..DO THIS ASSESSMENT HERE IN LESS THAN 5 MINUTES ..WHY DO WE NEED A FORMAL RISK ASSESSMENT..HOW DO WE AS A PANEL OF REVIEWERS GET SOMETHING ACROSS TO THE WORKFORCE THAT WORKS?



I think what you've got to have is certain situations where it's out of the ordinary..where there may be excessive interaction of equipment you may not have to do it..you might just have a set of circumstances where..adopt a certain policy like isolating roads..taking vehicles out of the area.. or real good communication system put in place to make people aware of the activity.



WELL..



Now I don't believe that it needs a formal risk assessment all the time.



WELL I DON'T THINK THAT A FORMAL RISK ASSESSMENT IN THIS PARTICULAR CASE IS NEEDED AT ALL..IF A MAN HAS ALREADY BEEN IN THERE 5 TIMES TONIGHT..5 TIMES DURING THAT DAY..AND BY HIS EVIDENCE CONSIDERED THIS AREA TO BE A PIG PEN AND VERY BAD..YOU MIGHT NOT AGREE WITH THAT..I DON'T KNOW WHETHER IT WAS OR NOT ..BUT IF HE'S GOT ACCESS TO THIS FORM..AND THE FOREMAN THAT'S ASSESSED THE PLACE HAS GOT ACCESS TO THIS FORM..HOW CAN THEY COME UP WITH ANY OTHER ANSWER?



Well that's a particular example..you would not use the form you'd make corrective action immediately into place..to improve the surface of that stockpile.



I AGREE I DON'T NEED THAT FORM.



That's right.



BUT I THINK IF PEOPLE ARE LEARNING THE PROCESS THEY NEED THIS FORM?



People when they're taught the system they say if you can't fix it immediately or within a short time frame we normally say 24 hours you go into the formal systems.



JUST ONE THING..THAT I MIGHT GET YOU TO CLEAR UP FOR ME..THAT SITE MAP THAT'S..ALONGSIDE YOU THERE..THE.. THE RED LINE I THINK IT IS SHOWING THE..THE HAUL ROAD ..ACCESS POINTS?



The dotted red line?



YEAH I THINK IT'S ..WELL I JUST WANT YOU TO CLEAR UP ONE THING..THAT SHOWS IT AS A SWEEPING TURN BUT WE HAVE EVIDENCE THAT IT'S NOT A SWEEPING TURN IT'S A VERY SHARP NARROW TURN..IS IT A SHARP NARROW TURN OR IS THAT DRAWING CORRECT?



It is..



WHEN YOU GO..



..you're referring to the turn into the..



..I'M TALKING ABOUT THE ACCIDENT SITE THERE?



It is an acute turn..purpose being is that that stockpile is used from the north and south of the mine.



SO THIS RED LINE DOESN'T REALLY SHOW THE ROAD.. COMING FROM THE NORTH END?



The turn in there is..



IS ACUTE.



..is acute.



RIGHTO....JUST ONE THING ON YOUR PHOTOGRAPHS MR SMITH..ONE..ON YOUR PHOTOGRAPHS THAT YOU'VE TAKEN.. ON YOUR PHOTOGRAPHS YOU'VE TAKEN..YEAH THOSE THERE.. I DON'T KNOW WHAT THEY ARE..PHOTOGRAPHS OF THE WATER CART ON THE RAMP..CLEARLY SHOW THE INDICATOR DON'T THEY?



yes.



COULD YOU EXPLAIN OR DO YOU HAVE AN IDEA OF WHY THE DIFFERENCE IS BETWEEN THE..ON THE VIDEO ..ON THE VIDEO WITH THE CAMERA INSIDE THE CABIN OF THE TOYOTA LANDCRUISER..YOU DEFINITELY CANNOT SEE THE..WELL I COULDN'T..I COULDN'T SEE THE..THE INDICATORS FLASHING?



I couldn't see it either..



BUT IT'S CLEAR THERE.



..and I can't understand why you can't..might be the medium which was..the video there might have been some..



IS ONE THING..IS THAT..IS THAT SHOT TAKEN OUT OF YOUR CAR?

WARDEN:
WHAT'S THE NUMBER ON THAT PHOTO JUST SO THAT WE KNOW WHAT WE'RE TALKING ABOUT?



THESE THREE PHOTOGRAPHS.



JUST SO YOU CAN IDENTIFY THEM.



This one hasn't got a number on it..it's the ones with.. submitted with the BHP..

MS GIBNEY:



YOUR WORSHIP YOU COULD IDENTIFY THEM WITH DOCUMENT 19 ..IN EXHIBIT 8.

WARDEN:
O.K. JUST FOR FUTURE REFERENCE.



Why I took those photographs I happened to be in that area..late one morning..I always carry a camera in my car.



AND SO THAT'S TAKEN OUT OF YOUR CAR?



Taken out of the ..out of my car yes.



BECAUSE THERE YOU'D HAVE TO SAY THAT YOU COULD CLEARLY SEE THE..THE TURN INDICATOR BUT ON THE VIDEO YOU CAN'T CAN YOU?



That's right.



BUT YOU..



I can't understand why you can't see the video because certainly when we were doing that videoing you could see it with the naked eye.



AND YOU CAN SEE IT WITH A CAMERA LIKE THIS BUT YOU CAN'T SEE IT WITH THE VIDEO AND THAT'S WHAT YOU'RE SAYING?



yes.



BUT ONE THING I THINK YOU DID SAY THAT..WHEN YOU GOT TO THE ACCIDENT SITE..THE THE INDICATOR WAS STILL FLASHING ANYWAY?



yes it was.



AND THERE'S NO INDICATION AT ALL THAT ANYBODY ALTERED THAT OR CHANGED IT OR SWITCHED IT ON?



No the..well the indicator was flashing..I arrived at the accident scene about twenty past one..which is obviously some 40 minutes after the occurrence.. the indicator was flashing and a few minutes after I got there someone turned it off.



YEAH O.K. O.K. THANKS MR SMITH I'VE GOT NOTHING FURTHER THANKS.

REVIEWER

MR BIRD:
YES MR SMITH DO YOU HAVE..DO YOU USE STOCKPILE PROCEDURES..WHEN YOU ARE DUMPING COAL HAVE YOU GOT FORMAL STOCKPILE PROCEDURES?

Mr Smith

XD BY

MR BIRD:
We have the procedures to the extent of when we're dumping we..required to..grade ..keep them as tidy as possible..we don't dump on stockpiles which have been recovered with a face..we..certainly barricade those sections of the stockpile off..there is a certain direction you go onto and off stockpiles..which is ?? for that particular stockpile there is a formal procedure in place for stockpiles.



SO MOST PEOPLE..AT THE MINESITE UNDERSTAND THOSE PROCEDURES IN YOUR BELIEF?



The people who use those stockpiles yes.



O.K.



I woudn't say it was generally known throughout across the minesite but people who use those stockpiles I believe would be would be known.



O.K. AND THE..AND THE SUPERVISORS WHO WERE ON THAT SHIFT THAT PARTICULAR ..PARTICULAR DAY..WOULD THEY HAVE CHECKED THAT STOCKPILE PRIOR TO PEOPLE GOING OUT TO DUMP COAL ON IT?



I've no..knowledge of that.



O.K.



You'd have to ask the supervisor.



RIGHT..AND YOU DONE YOUR INSPECTION AND THAT OUT THERE..WHEN YOU WHEN YOU DROVE THROUGH..IN YOUR OPINION WAS THAT ROAD ..AND THE ENTRY INTO THAT STOCKPILE AREA WAS THAT ROAD OF SUFFICIENT WIDTH FOR ..TWO OF THE LARGEST VEHICLES TO PASS AT ANY ONE TIME?



Two vehicles couldn't pass it's probably about one and a half rear vehicle width..and it was not necessary for vehicles to pass because the direction of dumping on that stockpile is from south to north.. there was no no cause for vehicles to go in the other direction.



THANK YOU..ANOTHER ONE IS WITH YOUR B SAFE TRAINING IS THAT IS THAT ACCEPTED BY THE..BY THE MAJORITY OF THE OF THE EMPLOYEES WORKING AT AT YOUR MINE?



yes.



O.K. AND THE OTHER ONE IS WHEN WHEN YOU WERE COMMUNICATING WITH YOUR WITH YOUR WORKFORCE WITH EITHER WITH YOUR MINE OFFICIALS OR WITH SAFETY BRIEFS ..DO YOU ALSO BELIEVE THE MAJORITY OF YOUR EMPLOYEES WERE..WERE WELL INFORMED OF THE..ANY ACTIONS THAT WOULD HAVE TO TAKE PLACE..TO REMEDY ANY ANY DANGEROUS AREAS..OR ANY AREAS WHERE HAD TO BE FIXED LIKE..WHERE THEY WERE REPORTED BY SAY OPEN-CUT EXAMINERS OR BY INSPECTORS?



The process of reporting and feedback is obviously an area where you are improving all the time ..we're certainly aware of problems in past years where you'll get frustrated because they can't see anything be done or they don't get feedback on what they reporting..I believe we've got a process in place now which adequately..satisfies that requirement.



AND THE OTHER ONE IS THAT..WHEN YOU..CARRIED OUT YOUR INSPECTION YOU DID MENTION THAT THE PEOPLE WERE OPERATING OFF OFF THAT STOCKPILE SOME ..SOME 10 DAYS PRIOR TO YOU DOING YOUR INSPECTION..BUT YOU WEREN'T AWARE THAT THEY WERE DOING THAT WHEN YOU DONE YOUR PREVIOUS INSPECTION?



oh well it was only on the Friday before that I was aware of it..I believe the previous week they'd only run off about 2 days..it was the middle of the week.



AND THE OTHER ONE IS..HOW HOW DOES THE MINE OFFICIALS COMMUNICATE TO THE EMPLOYEES..AFTER YOU'VE SAT DOWN AND YOU KNOW..YOU'VE HAD YOUR MEETING WITH THE MECHANICAL AND ELECTRICAL AND THE PRODUCTION PEOPLE.. HOW DO YOU ..HOW DO THEY ACTUALLY COMMUNICATE THAT TO THE EMPLOYEES..IS THAT BY WORD OF MOUTH OR IS THAT BY A NOTICE OR HOW DOES IT HAPPEN..THIS IS PRIOR TO THE 4TH?



Oh prior to the 4th ..there was no standard process for people to ..communicate information they received ..some supervisors are very good at communicating with their people..some not so good ..there was no standard in place I believe we've focussed on that issue and..we have created a standard..where people are required to..start formally communicating with their crews on a regular basis..they've brought a process in for that now as well now.



THAT'S FINE THANK YOU.

REVIEWER

MR MULLER:



HOW ARE THE ACTIVITIES OF THE OF THE MINE OR THE COAL ACTIVITIES OF THE MINE..ARE THEY RECORDED SOMEWHERE LIKE IN THE OCE's REPORT OR?



What sort of activities.



JUST GENERAL LIKE COALING ACTIVITIES WHICH RAMP THEY ARE OPERATING OUT OF..IS THAT REPORTED IN THE OPEN-CUT EXAMINER'S REPORT?



The open-cut examiner would report on the open-cut excavation..they would report what areas they inspected..they may not specifically report on what were active ramps..active ramps are or open ramps are designated with an open sign..we're in the process of brining in the system of designating active ramps as such..active..ramps so people know exactly which ramps have expect to have trucks coming out of..often in the open-cut examiners report they wouldn't specifically report what..ramp was active they'd just report what areas they inspected..and any concerns they might have had about safety within those area.



THANK YOU.

REVIEWER

MR HAMMET:



YES..I GUESS WE HEARD MR SULLIVAN'S EVIDENCE ABOUT THE STATE OF THE STOCKPILES..I JUST WONDER IF THERE IS ANY REFERENCE IN ANY OF THE OCE STATUTORY INSPECTIONS PRIOR TO THE INCIDENT ABOUT THAT CONDITION OF THE ROAD ACCESS TO THE STOCKPILE AND THE STOCKPILE ITSELF?



Normally the OCE wouldn't report on the condition of stockpiles it's outside their statutory area of inspection and reporting..they often..we often ask them to inspect the haul roads..the state of haul roads and and sign posts and guide posts..but normally normally they don't inspect the stockpiles.



SHOULDN'T THEY BE INSPECTING ALL WORKINGS?



No it's a requirement to inspect..there's quite a clear definition in the Coal Mining Act what the  open-cut excavation is..we expect the..mine official in charge of that area to..have an overall responsibility for ensuring those areas are safe.. with the assistance of the open-cut examiners inspection of the open-cut excavation.



I THINK GRAEME YOU JUST MENTIONED YOUR..DUMPING ON THAT STOCKPILE WAS BASICALLY SOUTH TO NORTH..IS THERE AN ACTUAL PROCEDURE WRITTEN FOR THE DUMPING ON THAT STOCKPILE..HOW DOES TRUCK DRIVERS FOR INSTANCE KNOW THAT..ENTRY IS FROM THE SOUTHERN END EXIT FROM THE NORTH?



I'm not familiar with all the mining department procedures..perhaps it's a question one would direct towards..the Mr Wockner or someone like that..he'd be more familiar with the..actual work work work procedures.



THOSE ENTRY AND EXIT POINTS WOULD BE CLEARLY MARKED WOULD THEY OR?



They're not marked as such with entry and exit..any such signs like that..the southern entry point was marked with a..flicker lamp on a post..to identify the area at night.



THAT'S ALL I HAVE.

WARDEN:
O.K. ANY FURTHER QUESTIONS?

MS GIBNEY:



YOUR WORSHIP CAN I CLARIFY A POINT?



YES.



BRIEFLY..COULD I HAVE A LOOK PLEASE AT THE PHOTOGRAPHS WHICH WERE IN AN ENVELOPE ATTACHED TO EXHIBIT 6 THE POLICE REPORT..MR SMITH I JUST WANT TO SEE IF WE CAN GET SOMETHING CLEAR IN RELATION TO THE NEAR MISSES AND THE REPORTING OF THEM..BEFORE THE 4TH MAY WAS THERE A REQUIREMENT TO REPORT NEAR MISSES?

Mr Smith

RXD BY

MS GIBNEY:



Yes there was.



HOW HAD THAT BEEN MADE KNOWN TO THE WORKFORCE?



I've been involved over a number of years of two or three safety briefs stating that all accidents must be reported and all near misses must be reported.. it was probably 2 or 3 years ago I wrote the last one of those.



WOULD THAT..SORRY YOU'VE GIVEN THAT MESSAGE ONCE OR?



Oh no several times over the last 10 years.



O.K. AND IF IN THE END THIS WAS REPORT..REPORTED IT'S NOT AN ACCIDENT FORTUNATELY WHAT DOES IT GO ON AN INCIDENT REPORT FORM..IF SOMEONE WANTS TO PUT IT IN WRITING?



Somebody could put it in writing on our formal accident report form and..the box there there's a tick box on near misses..on this particular form.



RIGHT..O.K. NOW..CAN YOU HAVE A LOOK AT THIS PHOTOGRAPH PLEASE AND I'M SORRY IT'S..I THINK THE ONLY AERIAL PHOTOGRAPH THAT WE HAVE WHICH IS WHY.. I DON'T KNOW WHETHER YOU'VE SEEN THAT BEFORE..BUT THAT'S IN THE PHOTOGRAPHS ATTACHED TO THE POLICE REPORT..IS THAT IDENTIFIABLY AN AERIAL SHOT OF THE RAMP 2 WEST STOCKPILE?



yes it is.



WHICH I THINK YOUR WORSHIP ACCORDING TO THE POLICE REPORT WAS TAKEN..AT OR ABOUT THE TIME OF THE ACCIDENT..BY THE POLICE..IT'S ALREADY IN EVIDENCE DOES THAT..ACCURATELY IDENTIFY THE ANGLE OF THE STOCKPILE ENTRY?



It does accurately identify it I mentioned before the entrance was probably about one and a half truck width..but looking at this probably..over two truck widths wide.



O.K.



It's certainly not a two lane goat track.



RIGHT..IF YOU'D HAVE A LOOK ALSO..AT..DO YOU HAVE INSPECTOR WALKER'S REPORT THERE ..EXHIBIT 7..IF YOU HAVE A LOOK AT PHOTOGRAPH NUMBER 21 IN THAT..WHICH IS THE VIEW FROM ACROSS THE..LEFTHAND SIDE OF THE HAUL ROAD INTO THE ACCESS TO THE STOCKPILE..LEFT IF YOU WERE GOING SOUTH?



I can't seem to find 21.



21.



In one of the appendices is it?



NO 21 PHOTOGRAPH NUMBER..IF YOU JUST HAVE A LOOK AT THIS ACTUALLY IT MIGHT BE FASTER MR SMITH..YOUR WORSHIP THIS IS ACTUALLY IN APPENDIX 3 THE SERIES OF PHOTOGRAPHS APPENDED TO MR WALKER'S REPORT..DOES THAT HELP YOU TO MAKE AN ASSESSMENT ABOUT THE WIDTH OF THE ACCESS ROUTE?



yes it does.



AND.



I can..suggest that would be at least two and a half times the width of a truck..possibly three times.



RIGHT..O.K. YOU CAN HAND THAT BACK TO ME PLEASE MR SMITH..AND YOU CAN ALSO HAND THAT OTHER PHOTOGRAPH BACK..MR SMITH BEFORE YOU DID YOUR STATUTORY INSPECTION ON THE..FRIDAY THE 2ND OF MAY..HAD ANYONE TOLD YOU THAT THIS STOCKPILE WAS BEING IN THE PROCESS OF BEING USED AGAIN?



They may have told me but I don't recall.



SO HOW DID YOU BECOME AWARE OF IT..YOU WERE DRIVING DOWN THE HAUL ROAD?



I was driving down the haul road and I..in fact I came across the coal the evidence of coal scatter first..which is I was on the early afternoon shift on the Friday afternoon..and I then backtracked and just whether the north sign was there..and then I saw the dampness on the road.



O.K. SO YOU NOTICED..YOU NOTICED DAMPNESS ON THE ROAD ..COAL SPILLAGE ON THE ROAD..WHERE WAS THAT?



Along the..southern haul road.



WHERE IT TURNED INTO THE STOCKPILE OR WHERE IT CAME OUT OF THE STOCKPILE?



Oh the dampness on the road was where the water truck had been.



AND WHERE WAS THE COAL SPILLAGE?



At the entrance to the stockpile.



RIGHT..AND YOU THEN..AFTERWARDS NOTICED A SIGN?



yes.



THANK YOU..YOUR WORSHIP I'VE GOT NO FURTHER QUESTIONS.

WARDEN:
THANK YOU.



I may have noticed the sign I just can't recall whether I saw the sign or not but..



THANK YOU YOUR WORSHIP.

WARDEN:
THANK YOU.

MS MALONEY:



COULD I ASK A FEW FURTHER QUESTIONS I THINK THERE ARE SOME FURTHER QUESTIONS THAT HAVE ARISEN AS WELL YOUR WORSHIP.



YES.



JUST IF I CAN JUST TAKE YOU BACK MR SMITH TO JUST THEN YOU WERE REFERRING TO..YOU WERE LOOKING AT PHOTOGRAPH 21..I DON'T KNOW IF YOU'VE GOT THAT IN FRONT OF YOU THERE AT THE MOMENT OR NOT..IT'S IN INSPECTOR WALKER'S REPORT?

Mr Smith
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MS MALONEY:



I'll find it now..yes I do.



IS THAT PHOTOGRAPH 21..YOU WERE LOOKING AT THAT PHOTOGRAPH IN RELATION TO THE WIDTH OF THAT THE ACCESS ROAD OR THE ROAD INTO THE STOCKPILE..THAT ALSO CLEARLY SHOWS THE ACUTENESS OF THAT ANGLE INTO ..OF THAT ROAD INTO THE STOCKPILE DOESN'T IT.. THAT'S NOT A GRADUAL TURN?



Oh the..I guess for 10 metres that would be pretty well right angles to the..to the road but then it does turn north..so it does turn at an acute angle.



IT ALSO SHOWS THE AMOUNT OF COAL SPILLAGE..THAT'S OCCURRED IN THE..WITH THE HAULERS?



Yes.



THAT'S QUITE AN EXTENT OF SPILLAGE THERE IF HEADING INTO THAT INTO THAT CORNER?



It's often the case when trucks are going around corners the..a bit of spillage comes off them.



NOW..YOU'VE BEEN ASKING ABOUT THE..THE WIDTH OF THAT ROAD OR THAT ENTRY INTO THAT STOCKPILE AREA..IN AGAIN JUST IN INSPECTOR WALKER'S REPORT UNDER APPENDIX 4..CONTAINS THE MAP OR CHART THAT'S BEEN ENLARGED BESIDE YOU..THERE'S ALSO A SECOND CHART PREPARED..BY BHP IN RELATION TO THE ACTUAL SITE OF THE ACCIDENT?



yes.



AND THAT ACTUALLY SHOWS THE..THE ANGLE OF ENTRY INTO THE ROAD INTO THE STOCKPILE..YOU CAN SEE THE DOTTED LINES..THE WIDTH OF THE HAUL ROAD..AND THERE'S ALSO THE DOTTED LINE WHICH IS THE EDGES OF THE ROAD INTO THE STOCKPILE?



yes.



SO THAT'S CLEARLY..IT'S LAID OUT IN THAT CHART..IS THE ..ALSO IN RELATION TO THAT IS THE..DOES THAT ALSO ADEQUATELY ASSIST IN DETERMINING THE WIDTH OF THE ROAD COMPARED TO THE OUTLINE OF THE VEHICLE THAT'S IN THAT CHART AS WELL?



Normally when they define the..external part of a road..they would define it along the paved area or the tracking area of a truck..or to the relevant extremities of the road.



SO HOW DO YOU DEFINE THE EXTREMITIES OF THE ROAD?



Well where a truck can run..normally a roads have a rill..on each side..and this basically assists roadworks.



O.K. BUT LIKE IN THAT ONE..IN THAT PARTICULAR CHART WE'VE GOT THE DRAINAGE IS INDICATED ON THE HAUL ROAD ..SO..THEY'VE INDICATED THE EDGES OF THE ROAD ALSO THEY'VE FURTHER INDICATED THE DRAINAGE THAT EXISTS ON EITHER SIDE..NOW THAT'S WHAT YOU'RE TALKING ABOUT THE AREA YOU'RE DEFINING WHERE IT STARTS TO..CURVE OFF INTO THE DRAIN?



Yes..that's right.



SEE YOU'VE GOT THE THE HAUL ROAD COMING DOWN FROM THE TOP OF THE CHART..AND YOU'VE GOT THE DASHED LINES ONE IS THE EAST EDGE OF THE HAUL ROAD..THE CENTRE LINE OF THE HAUL ROAD..COMING TO THE LEFT OF THE CHART AND IT SAYS THE WEST EDGE OF THE HAUL ROAD IS DEFINED BY RILL..AND THEN THERE'S A FURTHER DASHED LINE..INDICATES THE DRAIN INVERT..SO THAT SHOWS THE EDGES OF THE ROAD?



Yes it would.



AND THAT WOULD BE SIMILARLY FOR THE ROAD INTO THE STOCKPILE?



That's correct.



DID YOU MAKE ANY ASSESSMENT OF..THE CONDITION OF THE ROAD AT THAT TURNING POINT?



The road actually..turned off the haul road and went through the spoon drain..they did not build the road up..a great deal..and..looking..refreshing my memory looking at this plan now..the road is a lot wider than I originally thought it was.



O.K.



So really it is..to me it's an adequate width road for for one way traffic.



YEAH BUT THE CONDITION OF THE ROAD SURFACE..TURNING INTO THAT ROAD TO THE STOCKPILE?



It went through the spoon drain but really it was.. to me it didn't it wasn't unduly rough.



HAD YOU DRIVEN IN THERE YOURSELF?



No I hadn't.



AT ANY TIME?



Not from that end no I had been in the other end.



HAD YOU EVER HAD ANY REPORTS OR ANYTHING FROM ANY OF THE DRIVERS..AS TO THE CONDITION OF THAT ROAD?



No I didn't.



NOW..JUST GETTING BACK TO THE..WE'VE LOOKED AT.. THERE'S A NUMBER OF PHOTOGRAPHS INDICATING THE SPRAY FROM THE BACK OF THE WATER TRUCKS..CAN YOU JUST TELL US..I'VE LOOKED AT THE PHOTOGRAPHS THAT YOU'VE TAKEN YOURSELF..WHAT'S THE IMPACT OF WIND ON THAT SPRAY?



The wind can blow the spray.



IT CAN BLOW IT UP IT CAN BLOW IT BACK TOWARDS THE TRUCK?



It can blow it across or up yes.



O.K. SO DEPENDING ON THE ACTUAL CONDITIONS ON ANY GIVEN DAY..YOU'LL HAVE ADDITIONAL LIKE MIST THE SPRAY WILL BE..INCREASED?



it is possible.



I'VE NO FURTHER QUESTIONS YOUR WORSHIP HOWEVER THERE IS THE ISSUE OF THAT RECORD BOOK WHICH WAS RAISED EARLIER THAT MAY COME UP IN SOME FURTHER QUESTIONING BUT..THE RECORD BOOK I DON'T KNOW WHETHER IT'S FORMALLY BEEN TENDERED OR NOT AT THIS POINT IN TIME?

WARDEN:
YES..ISN'T IT?

MS GIBNEY:



YOUR WORSHIP I DIDN'T TENDER IT BUT I'M HAPPY FOR IT TO BE TENDERED..BUT I'D ACTUALLY BE HAPPIER IF I COULD HAVE THE ORIGINAL AND TENDER A COPY OF THE RELEVANT PAGE?



YES..NO THAT'S NOT A PROBLEM.



IS THAT ALRIGHT?



NO THAT'S FINE.



I THINK MR BEST TENDERED IT..BUT I'LL EXTRACT A PHOTOCOPY OF THE RELEVANT PAGE FOR YOUR HONOUR..



O.K. ..YES MR BEST?

MR BEST:
THANK YOU YOUR WORSHIP..MR SMITH IN YOUR IN THE TIME THERE AT BLACKWATER THAT YOU'VE BEEN MANAGER AND SAFETY SUPERINTENDENT..HAS THERE BEEN ANY LIGHT VEHICLE AND WATER TRUCK ACCIDENTS..PRIOR TO THIS INCIDENT......OR INTERACTION COLLISION?

Mr Smith
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MR SMITH:
There has been an accident I believe in June 1990 Ramp 14.



WAS IT..THAT'S A ..1990 IS A LONG WAY..A LONG WAY BACK..BUT..WOULD YOU HAVE KNOWN IF THERE WAS..ANY SIMILARITIES TO THIS TYPE OF ACCIDENT?



From the investigation at that point of time the situation of that accident was fairly similar to this one.



VERY SIMILAR..AND WAS THERE..ANY CHANGES ANY ANY INTRODUCED CHANGES..INTO THE..SYSTEM OR INTO THE WORKFORCE..FROM THAT ACCIDENT..CAN YOU REMEMBER THAT?



Apart from the very good communication session at the time I don't recall specific changes..that doesn't mean to say there wasn't changes.



THE STOCKPILE THAT WE SPOKE ABOUT..SAID..YOU SAID QUITE CLEARLY THAT..IT WOULD BE NORMAL..A NORMAL UNDERSTANDING FOR PEOPLE TO KNOW WHICH ENTRY TO GO IN OR TRUCK DRIVERS TO GO IN AND WHICH ONES TO COME OUT..A WAY OF..THERE WAS NO ENTRY AND EXIT SIGNS?



No there wasn't.



DO YOU USE ENTRY AND EXIT SIGNS?



No it's not normal.



NOT NORMALLY?



No.



THERE'S NOT MUCH BENEFIT IN USING ENTRY AND EXIT SIGNS?



If it's a system which can demonstrate there was a problem of people not identifying where entries and exits are..it would be like that would possibly be used to improve the safety..it hasn't been put into place at..to date.



YOU MADE A STAY..WE MADE SOME..QUITE A DEAL OF REFERENCE TO THE CHANGED OVERTAKING PROCEDURE..NOW ..WITH THAT BEING IMPLEMENTED..HAS IT..HAS IT NOW ALSO BEEN MOVED TO THE TRAINING..BOOKLET AS A A COMPULSORY PART OF THE TRAINING DO YOU KNOW?



As part of the..



OPERATOR TRAINING FOR..



..part of the light vehicle training program now.



LIGHT VEHICLE TRAINING?



yes..we're we're currently updating our induction in line with the industry generic induction modules.. and it will be incorporated in that as well.



RIGHT..DID YOU..DO AN AUDIT ON HOW WELL..THROUGH THE ..THE YOUR EVIDENCE..YOU SPOKE ABOUT A SAFETY BRIEF THAT YOU'D DISTRIBUTED TO THE SUPERINTENDENTS AND THE FOREMEN AND YOU ALSO..THE B SAFE REPS..DID YOU YOURSELF PERSONALLY CHECK OR DO AN AUDIT OR HAVE AN AUDIT DONE ON HOW WELL IT WAS COMMUNICATED THAT THAT SAFETY BRIEF WAS COMMUNICATED THROUGH THE WORKFORCE?



Are you speaking of any particular specific safety brief?



THE SAFETY BRIEF..THAT WAS MENTIONED..IT COME DOWN FROM ONE OF THE OTHER BHP MINES..AND THAT YOU PUT YOUR SIGNATURE TO TO ASSOCIATE IT WITH OVERTAKING OF ..LIGHT VEHICLES AND..



That specific safety brief was distributed in the normal fashion as it was done back in November October of 1996..it was sent to notice boards and to ..to..superintendents and senior foremen..with the view of them communicating to the workforce..their was no..specific follow up option on that..that was probably one of the reasons why we introduced.. improved system of sending safety briefs to all supervisors..all B Safe reps with a notice on it saying..please communicate this to your people in your responsibility.



SO THERE IS NOW A CLEAR DIRECTION FOR THEM TO TO BRING THE WORKFORCE UP TO DATE WITH THE INFORMATION ON THE SAFETY BRIEFS?



And over the last month..month or 6 weeks we've introduced an auditing system to..review that..it's a part of our safety sampling system where we ask people to question people in knowing what safety briefs have been distributed in the last week.. specifically asking..a sample of people on a crew what information whether they knew anything about that safety brief..what information they'd talked about at they last safety communication meeting and what the supervisor talked to them about at safety communication in the last two shifts..and that's the process we've put in place in the last month.



O.K. NOW WITH THE..HAZARD MANAGEMENT..OR HAZARD IDENTIFICATION UNDER THE HAZARD IDENTIFICATION AND RISK ASSESSMENT THAT THE B SAFE..REPRESENTATIVE AND THE SUPERVISOR OR FIRST OF ALL AN EMPLOYEE WITH A PROBLEM IN A WORKPLACE..AND HE BELIEVES THAT.. THERE'S A A HAZARD THAT HASN'T BEEN ADDRESSED.. THAT'S WHAT YOU SAY IN THE SYSTEM..HE THEN HAS A AS WE SAID BEFORE HE HAS A..A PROCESS OR HE HAS SOME RESPONSIBILITIES ONE IS..HE CAN..DO PUT SOME BARRIERS UP OR ACTUALLY TRY AND RECTIFY THE SITUATION WITHOUT HARMING HIMSELF IF HE'S GOT THE CAPABILITIES AND THE TOOLS TO DO THAT..OR THE SECOND THING IS..HE GETS HIS B SAFE REP..AND THE SUPERVISOR INVOLVED..THERE'S NO PROBLEMS WITH THAT..WHAT I'M SAYING..WHAT IT ALSO GOES ON TO SAY IS THAT..CHANGES CAN BE MADE TO OR EXTRA..PROCEDURES CONTROL MEASURES CAN BE IMPLEMENTED..INTO THAT..INTO THAT WORKPLACE INTO THAT AREA..TO OVERCOME ANYONE ELSE BEING EXPOSED TO THAT RISK..THAT'S CORRECT?



That's correct.



WELL I CAN'T FIND ANYWHERE IN IN YOUR PROGRAM I'VE GONE THROUGH IT A COUPLE OF TIMES..SO I'M ASKING YOU DIRECTLY BECAUSE I MIGHT HAVE MISSED IT BUT..IF THEY'RE GOING TO MAKE THAT CHANGE..IS THERE A WAY THEN..OR IS THERE RESPONSIBILITY FOR THAT CHANGE TO BE..PUT THROUGH TO..TO THE WORKFORCE THAT AT LEAST ARE WORKING IN THAT AREA..SO..I MEAN IF IT'S IF IT'S ONLY ONE OR TWO WORKERS..WORKING ON DAY SHIFT..AND IT'S ON A..SHORT TERM JOB I CAN UNDERSTAND THAT IT WOULD STAY WITH THEM..BUT IF IT'S ON A 3 SHIFT BASIS ..THAT..AND YOU KNOW THERE'S A ROTATION OF PEOPLE THROUGH THAT AREA..WELL THEN I'M ASKING IS THERE A WAY..IS THAT..IS THE SYSTEM CATERING FOR THAT SORT OF COMMUNICATION ..I KNOW IT CATERS FOR ANOTHER AUDIT TO BE DONE..BUT WHETHER OR NOT IT CATERS FOR THE COMMUNICATION SIDE OF IT..I CAN'T FIND IT?



Obviously communication is one of the main issues we've been looking at over the last 3 or 4 months ..obviously when you do a risk assessment that results in changes..obviously you either assess the effect of those changes..specific system for communication is probably not written into that procedure at this point in time..but it generally comes under the..overall communication umbrella with significant changes are made in any operation on the minesite it must be communicated.



YES..THE ONLY..THE ONLY WITH THIS IS I ENCOURAGE THE THE USE OF THE..THE SYSTEM IN REGARDS TO THE HAZARD IDENTIFICATION AND THE..AND ALSO THE..RISK ASSESSMENT I ALSO ENCOURAGE THE..RESPONSIBILITIES THE WHERE THEY'RE BEING PLACED..BUT I DO HAVE A PROBLEM IF IF ONE ONE SET OF CHANGES ARE MADE AND SOMEBODY GOES IN AND IGNORES THOSE CHANGES TO GO BACK WE'VE JUST GOT OURSELVES INTO A INTO A WORSE SITUATION SO..I AM HIGHLIGHTING IT FOR THAT REASON THAT..WE MIGHT BE ABLE TO TIDY THAT UP BEFORE IT GETS OUT OF HAND...I WOULD LIKE TO ASK YOU ANOTHER QUESTION AND THAT IS WERE YOU AWARE OF..OF ANY COMPLAINTS..OR...MADE WITH BY THE WATER TRUCK DRIVERS OR THERE MIGHT EVEN HAVE MADE SOME REPORTS ASSOCIATED WITH THE MIRRORS ON..TRD1300..PRIOR TO OR EVEN AFTER?



Yes I am aware of concerns about there's a railing which obstructed the view a little bit.



A HAND RAILING?



Yes.



IS THERE IS THERE ANYTHING GOING TO BE..OR IS THERE A PROCESS IN PLACE OR IS SOMEBODY HAVE YOU..IT MIGHT NOT BE IN YOUR JURISDICTION BUT IS THERE SOME WAY OF ..ADDRESSING THAT?



Certainly the concern was documented..we call it the famous 104 issues..it was one of those..which is.. you know this is a summary of some of those major issues..and..I believe there's been a process we're looking at all rear vision mirrors..we've had a trial of a..video camera..which has been very effective..water trucks..and we'r looking at purchasing video cameras for our water trucks.. rear view video cameras..and they're..I believe some modification I don't know the details of the modifications but..it's certainly our..senior workshop foreman is fully familiar with that.



O.K. THANK YOU MR SMITH I HAVE NO FURTHER QUESTIONS YOUR HONOUR.

WARDEN:
THANK YOU..YES IF THERE'S NO FURTHER QUESTION THE MINE MANAGER CAN BE EXCUSED.  

MS MALONEY:



MAY THIS WITNESS BE EXCUSED PLEASE YOUR WORSHIP.



THANK YOU..WE'LL JUST TAKE A BREAK THANKS..JUST ADJOURN THE COURT.

INQUIRY ADJOURNED.

INQUIRY RESUMED.

WITNESS DULY SWORN:

MS MALONEY:



MR BILES COULD YOU PLEASE STATE YOUR FULL NAME AND ADDRESS FOR THE COURT PLEASE?

Mr Biles
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MS MALONEY:



Evan Graeme Biles 4 Cedar Street, Blackwater.



O.K. AND WHAT'S YOUR OCCUPATION?



Fitter/welder.



O.K. AND WAS THAT YOUR OCCUPATION BACK AT THE 4TH OF MAY 1997?



Yes.



O.K. NOW DO YOU RECALL GIVING A STATEMENT TO AN INSPECTOR WALKER FROM DEPARTMENT OF MINES AND ENERGY?



yes.



IF THE WITNESS COULD BE SHOWN HIS STATEMENT?

WARDEN:
IT'S RIGHT AT THE BACK.



NOW IF YOU COULD JUST HAVE A LOOK AT THAT..HAVE A LOOK THROUGH THERE'S A..THERE ARE 7 PAGES..IS THAT YOUR SIGNATURE THAT APPEARS ON THE BOTTOM OF EACH OF THOSE PAGES?



Yes.



O.K. AND THAT'S THE STATEMENT YOU PROVIDED TO INSPECTOR WALKER ARE THERE ANY..HAVE YOU HAD A CHANCE TO HAVE A LOOK AT THAT STATEMENT PRIOR TO COMING TODAY AT ALL?



yeah I had a look..a good look through it yeah.



ARE THERE ANY CHANGES OR ADDITIONS YOU'D LIKE TO MAKE TO THAT STATEMENT?



Oh there's a spelling mistake in one of the gentleman's names and..



OH O.K. CAN YOU RECALL WHAT THAT WAS?



yeah Peter Rowley on the front page "Rowley" is not spelt right.



O.K. THAT'S IN THAT SECOND LINE?



Yeah.



AND THAT SHOULD BE WHAT "R.I.L.E.Y."?



I'm not sure..no.



IT'S NOT SPELT THAT WAY..IT SHOULD BE PETER RILEY ..O.K. IS THAT?



And everything else is fine.



O.K. AND TO THE BEST OF YOUR KNOWLEDGE IS THE CONTENT OF THAT STATEMENT TRUE AND CORRECT?



Yeah.



YOUR WORSHIP THAT'S ALREADY PART OF EXHIBIT 7.

WARDEN:
YES.



NOW..MR BILES WITH YOUR POSITION..AS A FITTER/WELDER WHAT WERE YOU REQUIRED TO DO..WHAT SORT OF WORK WOULD YOU DO AT THE MINESITE?



A lot of maintenance repair..sometimes in the bucket shop..sometimes down the paddock.



O.K.



Sometimes in the workshop.



O.K. SO DID THAT REQUIRE YOU TO TRAVEL OVER THE MINESITE?



On occasions yeah.



O.K. WHAT SORT OF VEHICLES WOULD YOU USE FOR DOING THAT SORT OF WORK?



Landcruiser utes..we had..



WERE YOU REQUIRED TO HAVE ANY SORT OF AUTHORISATION TO DO THAT FOR DRIVING ANY OF THE VEHICLES ACROSS THE THE MINESITE?



oh I imagine so..drivers licence anyway.



O.K. NOW..IN RELATION TO..THE DAY OF THIS PARTICULAR INCIDENT THE 4TH OF MAY WHAT WAS THE WORK YOU WERE DOING ON THAT PARTICULAR DAY?



I was working down at the shovel..the overburden shovel and..erecting like a jib type gantry to remove the brake braking system off the one of the swing loaders.



O.K. NOW..TO GET TO THE ACTUAL SITE OF THAT WORK YOU HAD TO DRIVE?



yeah.



DRIVE TO GET TO THAT SITE..O.K. ON THIS PARTICULAR DAY AFTER LUNCH YOU..TO GET BACK TO THE WORKSITE YOU WERE TRAVELLING WITH MR GADSBY?



That's right yes.



YOU'D SEEN HIM EARLIER IN THE DAY AS WELL?



yeah.



O.K. HAD YOU KNOWN HIM FOR LONG?



yeah yeah..I think I started on the same crew.. when I went out there..it's approximately 8 years so.



O.K. NOW..IN RELATION TO HAVING TO TRAVEL TO YOUR ACTUAL WORKSITE..WERE THERE PARTICULAR PROCEDURES OR RULES YOU HAD TO FOLLOW?



Oh just stop signs and..and..basically get to the haul road by the light vehicle access and..that's basically about all.



YOU YOURSELF HAD DONE THE DRIVING TO GET TO THE WORKSITES ON PREVIOUS OCCASIONS?



On previous occasions yeah yeah..I never drove that day.



O.K. NOW...NOW..IN RELATION TO..ACTUALLY DRIVING ON THIS PARTICULAR OCCASION YOU ENCOUNTERED A WATER TRUCK..WERE THERE PARTICULAR PROCEDURES TO BE FOLLOWED WHEN YOU ENCOUNTERED SUCH A WATER TRUCK OR OTHER HEAVY VEHICLES SAY ON THAT HAUL ROAD?



You were..I don't understand with regards to passing it?



PASSING IT TO OVERTAKING IT?



yeah.



O.K. WHAT DO YOU UNDERSTAND THAT THOSE PROCEDURES AT THE TIME OF THE ACCIDENT WERE?



Come up behind the vehicle and..remain at a safe distance so to speak out of the sprays and move to the left..so he can get a view of you..and..when the right spray goes off we ..can go to the right outside the vehicle and if all's clear just go through.



O.K. HOW DID YOU KNOW THAT PROCEDURE LIKE WAS IT A WRITTEN DOCUMENT..A WRITTEN PROCEDURE YOU'D EVER SEEN?



No..like I said in my statement it just sort of passed through the system I don't recall.



O.K. NOW SINCE THE ACCIDENT HAS HAS THE PARTICULAR PROCEDURE BEEN CHANGED?



Yeah.



AND WHAT CHANGE..WHAT HAS IT BEEN CHANGED TO?



Making radio contact with the..with the driver of the truck..and making sure they they understand who you know what's going on.



O.K. NOW..ARE YOU AWARE OF IN RELATION TO ISSUES SUCH AS TRUCKS TURNING OF SIGNS BEING ERECTED ALONG EITHER THE ROADSIDE INDICATING THAT THERE WOULD BE TRUCKS TURNING AT THE PARTICULAR ACCESS ROADS..HAVE YOU SEEN THAT SYSTEM IN PLACE AT THE MINE?



I..I'm just trying to think..in various spots there would be.



AND HOW WOULD THOSE SIGNS BE ERECTED..HAVE YOU SEEN THEM ..WHEN YOU'VE SEEN THEM IN THE PAST..HOW CAN YOU..



No I can't..I'm not real sure on it actually..I've sort of a bit..bit vague on it to be quite honest.



O.K.



I can only imagine how they'd look like the with the other signs just a couple of pegs in the ground and .



O.K. NOW...ON THE DAY OF THE ACCIDENT WERE YOU AWARE THAT PARTICULAR RAMP 2 WEST STOCKPILE WAS BEING USED?



no.



SO YOU HAD NO IDEA AT THAT TIME THAT WAS IN USE AT THAT TIME?



No.



O.K. WAS IT EVER A PROCEDURE OR PRACTICE THAT YOU WOULD BE NOTIFIED OF WHERE PARTICULAR WORK WAS BEING CONDUCTED ACROSS THE MINESITE AS A WHOLE?



no no only if you were given a job..and you had to know where those..



O.K. WHEN DOING YOUR MAINTENANCE YOU'D BE TOLD WHERE MAINTENANCE NEEDED TO BE DONE OR REPAIRS NEEDED TO BE DONE?



yes.



YOU WOULD GO TO THAT PARTICULAR SITE AND DO THE WORK?



Yeah.



NO I'VE NO FURTHER QUESTIONS YOUR WORSHIP.

WARDEN:
THANK YOU..MR BEST?

MR.BEST:
THANKS YOUR WORSHIP..MR BILES..YOU WERE JUST ASKED A QUESTION ABOUT..WERE YOU MADE AWARE OF THE COAL HAULING ACTIVITIES INTO THAT STOCKPILE ON THE DAY OF THE ACCIDENT..YOU ANSWERED NO?

Mr Biles
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MR BEST:
Mmm.



WHAT ABOUT PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT..A WEEK BEFORE A COUPLE OF MONTHS BEFORE?



Not that I can recall.



SO..DID YOU KNOW THAT THAT WAS A STOCKPILE?



Not particularly no..the only area I knew was further up further up past the..that particular spot.



THERE'S ANOTHER ANOTHER AREA FURTHER UP IS THERE THERE'S THE PLAN THERE..NOW..DOWN THE BOTTOM ON THAT HAUL ROAD ..SEE WHERE THAT RED..DARK RED?



Yeah.



THAT'S WHERE THE ACCIDENT OCCURRED..SO WHERE WAS IT FURTHER SOUTH?



Well..there was a spot further up here where you they used to call it a dry derrick or coal heap sort of thing..and we used to go up around the back here ..that's what I understood.



AND THERE WAS ACTIVITY IN THAT AREA?



I don't know.



WELL HOW DID YOU KNOW THAT THAT ACTIVITY THAT WAS AN ACTIVE AREA?



Well there's a lot of work goes on in that coal heap areas so there's also trucks whether it's a light vehicle or..or a bigger truck coming out..because there's dragline equipment stored..equipment stored there dragline cables..there's a ??



SO THERE'S A STORAGE AREA THERE?



yeah.



HAVE YOU ENCOUNTERED..ANY SORT OF AT ANY TIME ON ANY SHIFT DAY SHIFT AFTERNOON SHIFT NIGHT SHIFT.. WEEKENDS IN REGARDS TO TRUCKS TURNING INTO THAT AREA AS YOU'VE BEEN OPERATING?



yes yes.



YOU'VE BEEN OPERATING A LIGHT VEHICLE?



Mmm.



AND WAS THERE ANY CAUSE FOR ALARM..ON THOSE OCCASIONS?



Well you had to be careful coming out of the coal heap because you had to sort of..have a sharp look to the right..because sometimes they'd come up from that way and meet on the same roads..same small road that went onto the haul road.



O.K. NOW YOU'VE HAD ..YOU'VE HAD EXPERIENCE AT BEING ABLE TO OVERTAKE WATER TRUCKS?



yeah.



WAS THERE A SPECIAL WAY THAT YOU OVERTOOK THE WATER TRUCK?

WARDEN:
YOU HAVE TO SAY YES OR NO FOR THE TAPES.



Yes.



CAN YOU EXPLAIN..HOW YOU WENT ABOUT IT?



Same thing come up to the left..come up behind the truck..move left get him within view..and I suppose you just hope he saw you..and if he did he'd drop the right spray off and then..that was the indication we got..that he saw you and..you went out but yeah..sorry.



YOU SAID THAT YOU HOPED THAT HE SAW YOU BUT..THE INDICATION WAS WITH THE POSITIVE COMMUNICATION HE'D DROP THE RIGHT SPRAY OFF?



yeah.



WAS THERE OCCASIONS WHERE HE DIDN'T DROP THE RIGHT SPRAY OFF?



Yeah there was yeah.



THAT MEANS THAT..OVERTAKING COULD STILL TAKE PLACE?



Mmm.



YOU THEN TOOK IT ON THAT YOU WOULD NEED TO DRIVE THROUGH THE SPRAYS OR ROUND THE SPRAYS?



Through the sprays.



Mmm



RIGHT WAS THAT A COMMON OCCURRENCE?



I wouldn't think so no.



BUT IT DID OCCUR..THERE WAS NO COMMUNICATION YOU DIDN'T TALK ON THE TWO-WAY?



No.



NOW YOU WERE IN THE MAINTENANCE AREA..SO..YOU WERE LOCKED ONTO WHAT..YOU HAD A CHANNEL THAT YOU LOOKED AFTER YOUR COMMUNICATION..WHICH WAS DIFFERENT?



To the truck.



TO THE TRUCKS?



yeah to the hauling trucks yeah.



ON THE DAY OF THE THE ACCIDENT YOU WERE DOWN AT RAMP 12..WITH THE SHOVEL..RAMP 10?



Ramp 10 yeah.



AT THE SHOVEL?



Mmm.



AND DID ANYONE..VISIT YOU WAS THERE ANY..OPEN-CUT EXAMINERS OR INSPECTIONS OR ANYONE COME ROUND TO LOOK AT..OR ASSESS THE AREA WHERE YOU WERE WORKING?



yeah I think the open-cut examiner may have gone past or stopped there for a bit but he didn't communicate with me at all..I think I might have seen him come through.



SO AMONGST EVERYONE THAT WAS WORKING DOWN THERE DOING THE MAINTENANCE ON THE SHOVEL..THERE WAS NO DISCUSSION ABOUT ACTIVITIES GOING ON?



No.



UP AT THE..2 WEST STOCKPILE AREA?



No.



YOU TRAVEL THAT ROAD BY YOUR STATEMENT YOU TRAVEL THAT ROAD AT LEAST TWICE..PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT?



Yes.



NEVER WITNESSED ANY TRUCKS GRADERS?



No no I was in the back of the Kanta going down which had six people in it..so..me mind wasn't even on the..on the area then.



AND ..THEREFORE THERE WOULD HAVE BEEN NO DISCUSSIONS BETWEEN YOU AND DALE..WITH REGARDS TO ANY ACTIVITIES IN THAT AREA AS YOU WENT PAST ON THE OCCASION?



No no Dale wasn't in the car going down that morning he was..yeah.



RIGHT..



In his own ute.



YOU YOU DID SAY THAT YOU'RE AWARE NOW OF MAKING TWO-WAY COMMUNICATION THAT'S BEING PRACTICED?



Well that is the new new concept brought in yeah.



NEW PROCEDURE..AND IS THERE ANY OTHER CHANGES THAT YOU YOU'VE BEEN MADE AWARE OF?



yeah don't pass if you can't communicate..all that sort of business you know.



WHAT ABOUT MINING ACTIVITIES?



yeah they've started safety brief in the morning now and they notify people where they're mining and hauling.



SO YOU YOU FEEL MUCH MORE COMFORTABLE NOW WITH THAT INFORMATION?



Well..yeah I think there's a board before you drive up to..so you can see where they are mining yeah.. that makes a big difference yeah..I think so.



YOU CAN FOLLOW THE ACTIVITIES OF THE MINE?



yes..plus they did..might just keep off the haul road now which is..which means they might be upgrading the access road would be better..the access road.



YEAH I WAS GOING TO LEAD ONTO THE BACK ACCESS ROAD ..WE..WAS IT A PREFERENCE TO TRAVEL THE BACK ACCESS ROAD OR THE HAUL ROAD..FROM WITHIN YOUR DEPARTMENT OR FROM..FROM WITHIN YOU KNOW WITHIN YOURSELF TO GET TO THE JOBS?



Sort of mainly the haul road but just sort of preferred all depends which piece of machinery you had to go and work to and where where you could access it from..sometimes you had to go the back access road to get to certain parts and the gear and other times it was easier to go the haul road..shorter.



WAS THERE ANY INSTRUCTIONS GIVEN TO YOU AT THE START OF THE SHIFT TO GO DOWN THE HAUL ROAD OR DOWN?



No.



NO..WELL YOU WEREN'T DRIVING SO?



No.



YOU DON'T KNOW WHAT INSTRUCTIONS WERE GIVEN TO THE DRIVER..WHAT ABOUT THE BACK ACCESS ROAD WERE YOU AWARE OF ANY ANY PROBLEMS WITH THAT BACK ACCESS ROAD?



There were quite often detours and..and gradings rough gradings off to the side around ..around problems there..yeah.



HOW DID YOU FIND THAT OUT?



Well I'd ..being in maintenance you get tow a trailer welder for quite often which is..quite a heave quite a heavy trailer with the big welder on the back and and it does get pretty hairy sometimes with the rough ruts in the road and stuff like that so.



RIGHT.



Yeah you'll encounter that every now and then so you just avoid most of the time..used to.



WHEN YOU SPOTTED THE..THE WATER TRUCK..WHEN YOU SPOTTED THE WATER TRUCK ON THE DAY OF THE ACCIDENT.. DO YOU..DID YOU PERCEIVE ANYTHING DIFFERENT OR OR ANY TO GIVE YOU ANY INDICATION THAT..IT WAS O.K. TO PASS?



I wasn't really thinking about it..but..it was going very slow and it was pulling right over to the left side of the road the truck so..yeah you could.



AND BOTH SPRAYS WERE STILL OPERATING?



Yeah.



SO IT WAS GOING VERY SLOW..SO THE SPEED THAT YOU WOULD HAVE BEEN DOING WOULDN'T HAVE BEEN?



It wasn't very quick either.



WOULDN'T HAVE BEEN VERY QUICK?



No we were only going slow.



AND THE..THE EVASION THAT WAS TAKEN PLACE WAS..WHEN WHEN YOU NOTICED THE TRUCK WAS COMING ACROSS..THE EVASION THAT DALE WAS APPLYING WAS..WAS IN YOUR OPINION AS BEST AS..WAY YOU COULD TRY AND EVADE AVOID IT?



Yeah..yeah braking hard and sort of easing off again to stop the vehicle from skidding and going in.



AND HE WAS..WAS HE TAKING GOING ON AN ANGLE?



yeah avoiding yeah..to the diagonal across the road sort of thing.



TRYING TO TRYING TO ..



Get away from the truck.



..REDUCE THE IMPACT AND GET AWAY FROM THE TRUCK?



Yeah.



WOULD THERE BE..NO NO FURTHER QUESTIONS.

WARDEN:
THANK YOU..YES MR MELLICK?

MR MELLICK:



THANK YOU YOUR WORSHIP..YOU KNEW MR GADSBY SOME 8 YEARS?

Mr Biles
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MR MELLICK:



Mmm.



AND HE APPEARED PERFECTLY NORMAL ON THIS DAY?



Yes.



THE..STEPS THAT HE TOOK TO AVOID A COLLISION YOU DESCRIBE EVASIVE ACTION IN TERMS OF HIM STEERING AWAY TO HIS RIGHT?



Mmmm.



I THINK YOU'VE GOT TO..YOU'LL HAVE TO SAY YES OR NO FOR THE RECORD?



Yes sorry yeah.



AND THERE WAS THIS CONTROLLED BRAKING HE WAS ADOPTING?



Yes.



SO..IT..YOU..IS IT FAIR TO SAY HE WAS BEING FAIRLY COOL CALM AND COLLECTED IN A PRESSURE SITUATION?



Yeah oh yeah..I don't know whether Dale knew the severity of it I think he thought he had it under control no problems yes.



YES ALRIGHT..YOU WERE ASKED SOME QUESTIONS ABOUT THE THE ACCESS ROADS..DO YOU RECALL WHAT THE STATE OF THE ACCESS ROADS WAS AT THAT TIME?



Not at that day I don't.



WAS THERE AN ACCESS ROAD THAT COULD HAVE BEEN TAKEN TO THE PLACE WHERE YOU AND MR GADSBY HAD TO GO AND WORK?



I can't really recall..we may have been able to get down to Ramp 8 but then you'd have to cut across to the haul road again..I can't be certain.



SO IT WAS LIKELY THAT EVEN USING ACCESS ROADS TO SOME EXTENT..THE HAUL ROAD STILL WOULD HAVE HAD TO HAVE BEEN USED?



Yeah even today you've still got to get onto the haul road at some stage..at times it all depends what vehicle you're wanting to get to.



AND..THERE'S BEEN TALK ABOUT A POLICY AT THE MINE THAT ENCOURAGED LIGHT VEHICLES TO..TO BE OPERATED ON THE ACCESS ROAD..WERE YOU AWARE OF ANY SUCH POLICY?



Not so much from the ..not so much from the company more from the union..because I'm in the truck driving union..CMFEU..the guys do complain a bit.. the truck drivers..about light vehicles being on them.



SO WAS THERE..ANY ENFORCEMENT THEN FROM THE COMPANY THAT IS THE..BHP THAT YOU COULD SEE?



No.



IN TERMS OF NOT USING THE HAUL ROAD WITH LIGHT VEHICLES?



No.



NOT NOT AT ALL...EXCUSE ME A MOMENT...YES THANK YOU.

WARDEN:
THANK YOU..YES MR LEES..MS GIBNEY?

MS GIBNEY:



THANK YOU YOUR WORSHIP..MR BILES..YOU SAID THAT YOU ..DIDN'T THINK THAT DALE KNEW THE SEVERITY OF IT.. THAT YOU THOUGHT HE HAD IT UNDER CONTROL ..WHY DID YOU FORM THAT VIEW..WHY DO YOU THINK THAT?

Mr Biles
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MS GIBNEY:



I sort of thought I think he may have thought the truck was doing a complete u-turn in that area.. instead of turning..to an unknown spot he was maybe thought it was..but that's only my opinion that he may have thought it was doing a u-turn..a complete u-turn..which meant he would have been able to go round the..righthand side of the truck.



SORRY IF THE TRUCK WAS DOING A COMPLETE U-TURN HE COULD HAVE?



Maybe avoided it around the outside..that's why we pulled her in so far to the right.



RIGHT..NOW..WERE YOU TALKING ON THE DRIVE DOWN THE HAUL ROAD THAT AFTERNOON..YOU SAID YOU DIDN'T TALK YOU SAID IN YOUR STATEMENT THAT YOU DIDN'T TALK MUCH ON THE DRIVE UP TO LUNCH?



No..and the drive down..



WHAT WAS HAPPENING IN THAT PERIOD IMMEDIATELY BEFORE THE COLLISION OCCURRED?



Immediately before I was winding the window up on the ute..I was paying attention to that.



LET'S TAKE IT JUST FROM A LITTLE BEFORE THAT.



Before that.



SAY FROM WHEN YOU PULLED ONTO THE HAUL ROAD?



Yeah..I usually always look to the lefthand side because there used to be an old ramp there..and it's just got habit..the trucks used to somehow..sometimes come up there..and there's a fire training area sometimes there's activity there I usually always look in there and..see if there's anything going on..so I wasn't really paying any attention..to what was happening.



SO WHEN YOU SAY YOU WEREN'T REALLY PAYING ANY ATTENTION TO WHAT WAS HAPPENING..WHAT WAS HAPPENING WHEE..AROUND GENERALLY?



Around..around at the rest yeah..we stopped at the stop sign and I looked to the left..and..I left the driving up to Dale.



RIGHT..AND YOU PROCEEDED ON OUT ONTO THE HAUL ROAD?



That's right.



AND HOW FAR HAD YOU GONE BEFORE YOU SAW THE WATER TRUCK..ROUGHLY?



Oh..be a couple of hundred metres..what did I say in me statement.



AND WAS THERE ANY CONVERSATION IN THAT TIME OR WERE YOU STILL..STILL?



Not that I can recall.



NOT THAT YOU CAN RECALL?



No.



YOU MENTIONED THAT..YOU..ON OCCASION I THINK AND THIS MAY NOT BE EXACTLY YOUR WORDS SO..EXCUSE ME IF THAT'S SO..IF IF A WATER TRUCK DRIVER DIDN'T TURN OFF HIS RIGHTHAND SPRAY..YOU'D DRIVE THROUGH THE SPRAY..HAVE YOU DONE THAT YOURSELF?



Once yes I have.



DO YOU HAVE ANY VISIBILITY WHEN YOU DRIVING THROUGH THE SPRAY?



No.



IS IT A VERY SENSIBLE THING TO DO?



No it's not.



NO..AND IT'S NOT PART OF THE PROCEDURE TO DRIVE THROUGH THE SPRAYS IS IT?



No it's not no.



O.K. ..THE GUY DEREK AREA?



Yes.



WHICH IS..A BIT FURTHER SOUTH THAN THIS STOCKPILE AND WHICH YOU MENTIONED EARLIER..DO YOU HAVE TO BE CAREFUL IN THAT AREA..IS THAT ESPECIALLY MORESO THAN YOU HAVE TO BE DRIVING AROUND THE MINE GENERALLY?



No I wouldn't say that.



YOU WOULDN'T SAY THAT..SO WHAT DO YOU HAVE TO DO WHEN YOU'RE DRIVING AROUND THE MINE GENERALLY?



Keep your wits about you.



ALRIGHT..COULD I JUST CLARIFY ONE THING THE SHOVEL THAT YOU WERE WORKING ON IN THE MORNING..WAS..AT RAMP 10?



Nine or 10 yeah.



O.K. AND IT WAS IN THE PIT WASN'T IT?



Yes.



AND YOU COULD ONLY ACCESS THE PIT VIA THE HAUL ROAD ..I MEAN YOU COULD HAVE COME IN AT..YOU MIGHT HAVE BEEN ABLE TO COME IT AT..AROUND RAMP 8 BUT YOU DID HAVE TO GET ONTO THE HAUL ROAD TO GET INTO THE PIT .. ARE YOU..?



I think so unless you have to go right around the.. right around the back..I'm not familiar with the whole thing because I don't travel all that much out there.



ALRIGHT THEN WELL THEN IT'S PROBABLY NOT A FAIR QUESTION TO ASK YOU..WAS THERE..YOU SAY IN YOUR STATEMENT THAT..YOU SAID TO DALE `I THINK THIS BASTARD IS TURNING'?



Mmm.



AND THEN..YOU SAID AGAIN..`I'M SURE HE'S TURNING'?



yes.



AND AT THAT STAGE DALE STARTED TO TAKE EVASIVE ACTION WAS THAT A SPLIT SECOND THING?



yeah.



IT WAS?



Yeah..there was no delays.



THERE WAS NO DELAYS?



No.



O.K. NO FURTHER QUESTIONS YOUR WORSHIP.

WARDEN:
THANK YOU.

REVIEWER

MR BRADY:
YEAH MR BILES...FIRST LET ME ADD I APPRECIATE YOU'RE WHAT YOU'VE BEEN THROUGH I THINK..YOU'RE PROBABLY BLESSED..CAN YOU HELP ME UNDERSTAND..YOU SAID..IN ANSWER I THINK TO MR BEST..YOU SAID YOU THINK THAT THERE'S A BOARD..AT THE MINE NOW?

Mr Biles
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MR BRADY:
Well I know there's a board at the mine now yeah.



THAT'S WHAT I WOULD RATHER HEAR O.K.?



yeah.



YOU KNOW BECAUSE..IF YOU THINK THERE'S A BOARD THAT SUGGESTS THAT YOU DON'T EVEN READ IT?



Well you can understand that I've probably been out in the paddock maybe 3 times since the accident.. and ..and..



BUT YOU KNOW THAT THERE'S A BOARD THERE?



I know there's a board there yes..each time I've gone out hasn't been to do any maintenance work so.



DO YOU ALSO KNOW THAT..YOU SAID SOMETHING ABOUT THIS SAFETY BRIEF?



Each morning.



EACH MORNING AND HOW IS THAT CONDUCTED?



7 o'clock..all the boys gather around the assembly area from the workshop and..the foreman reads out of some some briefs and..bits and pieces.



AND THAT'S DIFFERENT TO WHAT OCCURRED BEFORE?



yes.



NOW..JUST ONE THING HAVE YOU..DID YOU SEE THE VIDEO THAT WAS PREPARED FOR RE-ENACTMENT ON THIS ACCIDENT?



No.



YOU'VE NEVER SEEN THAT VIDEO?



no.



O.K. THAT'S FINE..NOW COULD YOU..JUST IN YOUR STATEMENT ON PAGE 6..HAVE YOU GOT IT IN FRONT OF YOU?



Yeah.



IT'S ABOUT THE FOURTH PARAGRAPH DOWN..WHAT IS YOUR PERCEPTION OF THAT SECTION OF THE SOUTHERN HAUL ROAD WITH RESPECT TO SAFETY AND OVERTAKING..`IF YOU WERE HEADING SOUTH..IT IS A SAFE AREA TO OVERTAKE UNTIL YOU GET TO THE REJECT STOCKPILE WHERE THERE IS A HAZARD OF TRUCKS TURNING TO THE RIGHT INTO THE STOCKPILE AND LEAVING IT'..NOW IS THAT REJECT STOCKPILE IS THAT THE SAME TURNOFF AS THE ACCIDENT OCCURRED?



No no.



IT'S NOT?



No..that's the stockpile I conferred to earlier about being further up past the accident.



SO THAT'S FURTHER UP SO IT'S NOT THE SAME ONE?



No.



O.K. THANKS I'VE GOT NO FURTHER QUESTIONS.

WARDEN:
JUST A COUPLE OF THINGS MR BILES..ON THAT VIDEO THAT YOU JUST SAID THAT YOU HAVEN'T SEEN IT..I MIGHT HAVE MISUNDERSTOOD IT BUT I'M PRETTY SURE IT SAYS THAT YOU WERE DOZING AT SOME STAGE..WAS THAT..IT'S NOT IN YOUR STATEMENT..YOU WEREN'T?

Mr Biles
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WARDEN:
No I don't know where that come from no.



YOU NEVER MADE THAT STATEMENT TO ANYBODY?



No.



NO..BECAUSE I'M PRETTY SURE IT WAS ON THE VIDEO.

MR BRADY:
IT IS.



YES.. O.K. I'VE GOT NO FURTHER QUESTIONS.

REVIEWER

MR MULLER:



JUST AS YOU WERE FOLLOWING THE TRUCK DOWN THE ROAD YOU SAID BEFORE..THAT IS WAS COMMON PRACTICE FOR FOR ..TO PROCEED TO PASS WHEN THEY DROPPED THE RIGHTHAND SPRAY..AND YOU ALSO STATED THAT SOMETIMES OR ON OCCASION PEOPLE HAVE DRIVEN THROUGH THE SPRAYS?

Mr Biles
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MR MULLER:



Mmm.



ON THAT PARTICULAR DAY DID THE DRIVER DROP HIS SPRAY?



No.



HIS RIGHTHAND SPRAY?



No.



DO DID YOUS DRIVE THROUGH THE SPRAY?



no..the truck was far enough over to the left that we had half the road was only being watered..so we had enough room to go round it.



O.K. THANK YOU.

WARDEN:
NO FURTHER QUESTIONS?

MS MALONEY:



NO YOUR WORSHIP MAY THE WITNESS BE EXCUSED?

MS GIBNEY:



YOUR WORSHIP..CAN WE JUST CHECK SOMETHING IN RESPECT OF THAT QUESTION THAT YOU ASKED ABOUT THE VIDEO?

WARDEN:
O.K.



JUST ON THAT.....................YOUR WORSHIP NO FURTHER QUESTIONS.

MS MALONEY:



MAY THE WITNESS BE EXCUSED YOUR WORSHIP?

WARDEN:
O.K. YES YOU'RE EXCUSED THANK YOU.



MR WILLIAMS A ROBERT WILLIAMS IS THE NEXT WITNESS TO BE CALLED YOUR WORSHIP.



O.K.



I WON'T BE A MOMENT YOUR WORSHIP.

WITNESS DULY SWORN. 

MS MALONEY:



O.K. MR WILLIAMS CAN YOU STATE YOUR FULL NAME AND ADDRESS FOR THE COURT PLEASE?

Mr Williams
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MS MALONEY:



Well my name is Robert Peter Williams I live at 71 Arthur Street Blackwater.



O.K. AND WHAT'S YOUR OCCUPATION?



A miner/plant operator.



O.K. AND HOW LONG HAVE YOU BEEN DOING THAT..HOW LONG HAVE YOU BEEN DOING THAT?



Oh 23 years.



O.K. NOW BACK AT THE DAY OF THIS INCIDENT ON THE 4TH OF MAY OF THIS YEAR..WHAT WERE YOU DOING ON THAT DAY WHAT WAS YOUR JOB FOR THAT DAY?



Grader driver.



O.K. AND..HAVE YOU OPERATED..OPERATED A GRADER FOR SOME TIME?



About 10 years.



O.K. NOW..IN RELATION TO THIS PARTICULAR INCIDENT DO YOU RECALL GIVING A STATEMENT TO AN INSPECTOR MIKE WALKER?



yeah he's the cop.



SORRY?



The policeman in Blackwater?



TO THE..TO THE MINES INSPECTOR..IF YOU HAVE A LOOK I THINK IT'S JUST BEEN PUT IN FRONT OF YOU..THE DOCUMENT THERE..6 PAGES..JUST HAVE A QUICK..JUST A LOOK THROUGH AND CAN YOU IDENTIFY IF THAT'S YOUR SIGNATURE ON THE LAST PAGE AS WELL?



Yeah that's mine.



O.K. HAVE YOU HAD A LOOK AT THAT..STATEMENT AT ALL SINCE PROVIDING THAT TO THE INSPECTOR?



yeah.



NOW ARE THERE ANY CHANGES OR ADDITIONS THAT YOU WISH TO MAKE TO THAT STATEMENT?



No.



O.K. AND TO THE BEST OF YOUR KNOWLEDGE ARE THE CONTENTS OF THAT STATEMENT TRUE AND CORRECT?



That's right.



YOUR WORSHIP THAT IS ALREADY PART OF EXHIBIT 7..NOW IF YOU JUST GET TO..YOU STATE IN THAT YOU'VE OPERATED JUST ABOUT EVERY MACHINE ON THE LEASE?



yes.



EXCEPT THE DRAGLINE AND SHOVEL?



That's right.



SO YOU CONSIDER YOURSELF EXPERIENCED IN OPERATING BITS OF..ITEMS OF PLANT LARGE PLANT?



yes yes.



O.K. NOW..IN OPERATING PLANT HAVE YOU..HAD CAUSE TO OPERATE OR DRIVE THEM ALONG NUMEROUS OF THE ROADS ON THE MINESITE?



Yes I've been everywhere on the the minesite.



O.K. NOW..IN RELATION TO..I'LL JUST COVER A COUPLE OF ISSUES FIRSTLY WITH YOUR STATEMENT..ON THE DAY OF THE INCIDENT..YOU SAY THAT..YOU WERE TOLD BY CRAIG CATON TO TAKE THE GRADER..AND FIRST OF ALL GRADE THE COAL HEAP?



No I had to go to Ramp 10 first to get the grader.



O.K. O.K. SO YOU WENT AND PICKED IT UP..AND YOU CAME BACK AND GRADED THE COAL HEAP?



That's right.



NOW WHEN YOU SAY THE COAL HEAP WHAT ARE YOU REFERRING TO WHEN YOU TALK ABOUT THE COAL HEAP?



the stockpile where the..where the haul trucks dump.



O.K. IS THIS THE STOCKPILE WHERE THE ACCIDENT OCCURRED?



Right yeah.



O.K. NOW YOU SAY YOU HAD TO GRADE THE COAL HEAP.. WHAT WAS INVOLVED IN GRADING THE COAL HEAP?



We had to knock the tops off the coal so the other trucks can keep on dumping there until..the rubber tyred dozer come.



AND YOU SAY IN YOUR STATEMENT THAT I THINK IT WAS ONLY ON THAT DAY THAT YOU'D BECOME AWARE THAT THAT STOCKPILE WAS ACTUALLY BEING USED FOR COAL DUMPING?



That's right when we started work that morning.



O.K. NOW..GETTING ONTO..YOU DID THAT WHAT DURING THE MORNING AT SOME STAGE..YOU GRADED THE COAL HEAP?



yes.



O.K. AND..



About 8 c'clock I got back there and started grading till..half past..9 o'clock and then I went down to Ramp 13 to grade the floor..for the coal haulers down there.



O.K. NOW..JUST BEFORE CRIB..LUNCH BREAK..CRIB'S THE WORD FOR LUNCH BREAK I TAKE IT?



Crib yeah.



O.K. YOU SAID YOU GOT A CALL..FROM A PETER COPE?



yeah.



O.K. AND HE ASKED YOU TO GRADE THE ENTRANCE TO THE COAL HEAP BECAUSE IT WAS ROUGH?



That's right yes.



ARE YOU AWARE OF WHAT THE PROBLEM WAS..LIKE YOU SAY BECAUSE IT WAS ROUGH..WHAT WAS THE DIFFICULTY OR WHY DID IT NEED GRADING?



Well it was rough for the big trucks going in there they bounce around too much for the drivers and that ..you've got too much weight and you've got a dip to go into the coal heap.



O.K. THAT'S PART OF THE DRAINAGE THAT DIP DRAIN ISN'T IT?



Yes..yes,.



WAS IT SOMETHING ADDITIONAL TO THAT THIS WAS..?



No just..just where the trucks had been turning and they bounce over their their road.



O.K. THERE WAS ACTUALLY COAL SPILLAGE ON THAT TURN INTO THE STOCKPILE?



Yeah coal spillage around there too.



O.K. AND ON THAT OCCASION YOU DIDN'T GET TO GET THERE AND DO THAT THAT GRADING?



No I was coming back..and it was lunchtime so I pulled in the ?? the lube bay where I parked the grader and went over and crib in the crib hut.



O.K. AND IT WAS TO BE AFTER..AFTER CRIB THAT YOU WERE TO GO AND GRADE THAT THAT ENTRANCE?



I was going back there straight after crib to grade it.



O.K. NOW..IN RELATION TO..OPERATING THE VARIOUS ITEMS OF PLANT ON THE MINING SITE..YOU'D HAVE BEEN FAMILIAR WITH THE MINE TRANSPORT RULES?



Yes.



O.K. HAD YOU..WHEN HAD YOU BECOME AWARE OF THOSE PARTICULAR TRAFFIC OR TRANSPORT RULES?



Well not long before..about a month or two they give us a course on it..Trevor Douglas..give us a run through on the mine rules and everything.



O.K. HAD YOU KNOWN ABOUT THEM..?



Yeah yeah.



YOU'D KNOWN ABOUT THEM PRIOR TO THAT BUT IT WAS LIKE A REFRESHER OR AN UPDATING?



yeah yeah just an updated.



O.K. NOW..IN RELATION TO..ALSO TRAVELLING ALONG THE HAUL ROAD..WAS THERE PARTICULAR PROCEDURE IN PLACE FOR OVERTAKING OF VEHICLES ON WELL PARTICULARLY ON THE HAUL ROAD?



No.



WHAT THERE WAS NO PROCEDURE YOU WEREN'T AWARE OF A?



You just get past the best way you can.



O.K. HAD YOU EVER DRIVEN ONE OF THE LIGHT THE LIGHT VEHICLES AT THE SITE?



yes.



O.K. NOW..WHAT WAS THE..AVAILABILITY OR ANY PROCEDURES FOR COMMUNICATING FOR OTHER VEHICLES ON THE MINESITE..WAS THERE ANY SORT OF TWO-WAY RADIO COMMUNICATION?



There wasn't at the time but..ever since the accident they use it all the time now.



O.K. AND IS THAT BETWEEN..THE DIFFERENT TYPES OF VEHICLES OR JUST GENERALLY?



Everything they pass they always sing out..even if it's a light vehicle they'll say..light vehicle we're coming past.



O.K. AND PRIOR TO THIS INCIDENT..THERE WAS A RADIO SYSTEM BUT IT WAS..IT WAS A RADIO SYSTEM FOR THE LARGE AND HEAVY VEHICLES AND ONE FOR THE MAINTENANCE OR THE LIGHT VEHICLES?



Yes that's right..there was two lots there with two-way.'



TWO SEPARATE CHANNELS?



Channels yes.



O.K. NOW..ARE YOU AWARE OF THE PROCEDURES THAT WERE IN PLACE AT THE TIME OF THE INCIDENT FOR PUTTING UP SIGNS TO..NOTIFY OTHER WORKERS OF..PARTICULAR HAZARDS LIKE TRUCKS TURNING?



There was a truck turning sign there.



AND THAT WAS OFF AROUND..?



That was just before..just after Ramp 1 or they used to call it Ramp 1 but..



O.K. WHAT SORT OF SIGN ARE WE TALKING ABOUT?



oh one about that high about 2 foot by about a foot.



O.K. WAS THERE ANYTHING ELSE..AND WHAT WAS ON THE SIGN CAN YOU REMEMBER WHAT WAS ON THE SIGN?



Said "Truck Turning".



O.K. WAS THERE ANYTHING ELSE WITH THE SIGN?



Oh I don't recall no.



O.K. 



There is another sign there but it's only for powerlines and that all.



O.K. BUT THESE SORT OF WARNING SIGNS LIKE TRUCK TURNING THEY'RE A COMMON THING ON THE SITE?



Yeah same as graders if there's graders working on the haul road there..they put a grader sign up.. grader working ahead.



O.K. HAVE YOU OPERATED THE WATER TRUCKS AT ALL?



yeah.



O.K. WHAT'S..IS THERE A..AGAIN IS THERE A PROCEDURE FOR OTHER VEHICLES THAT WANT TO PASS YOU IS THERE SOME SORT OF..AT THE TIME OF THIS INCIDENT WAS THERE SOME SORT OF PROCEDURE?



yeah well..oh..as always has..a vehicle wants to get past you you always go to the left because you're sitting on the lefthand side of the truck..and..you you flash your lights at the back there to let him know you're behind..and you switch your righthand spray off to let him go past.



O.K. IS THAT ..APART FROM WHEN YOU FINISH YOU'LL TURN OFF I ASSUME ALL SPRAYS?



Yes.



IS THERE ANY OTHER SITUATION IN WHICH YOU TURN OFF YOUR WHITE..YOUR RIGHTHAND SPRAY?



Well if you've finished watering you turn them all off because you're out of water or something like that and you're going back but..if another vehicle is coming towards you..like a light vehicle a fitter or something like that..you usually turn it off so you not wetting all their spanners in the back or something like that..you know.



IF YOU'RE WATERING THE ROAD SURFACE AND YOU HAVE TO TURN INTO LIKE IN THIS CASE INTO THE STOCKPILE AREA WOULD YOU TURN OFF ANY OF YOUR WATER SPRAYS?



No they want it watered into the area.



O.K. YOU TALKED ABOUT ..JUST THEN WE WERE TALKING ABOUT OPERATING THE WATER TRUCK AND THE PERSON BEHIND YOU THEY WOULD FLASH THEIR LIGHTS WHATEVER?



Yeah.



WHAT SORT OF VISIBILITY DO YOU HAVE WHEN YOU'RE OPERATING THOSE WATER TRUCKS FROM THAT LEFTHAND SIDE?



Well you've only got your..your mirrors that's all you've got.



IS IT EASY OR HARD TO SOMETHING COMING UP BEHIND?



Oh it's easy to see if they'd let you know.



O.K. JUST A MOMENT PLEASE..I HAVE NO FURTHER QUESTIONS YOUR WORSHIP.

WARDEN:
YES MR BEST ANY QUESTIONS?

MR BEST:
YES YOUR WORSHIP.. MR WILLIAMS..YOUR UNDERSTANDING OF THE STOCKPILE AREA..IS QUITE GOOD..BEING A GRADER DRIVER..IS THAT CORRECT?

Mr Williams
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MR BEST:
Yes.



THIS PARTICULAR STOCKPILE..DID YOU WOULD YOU RATE THAT AS BEING..A SAFE STOCKPILE TO..FOR LIGHT VEHICLE OPERATIONS AND..NORMAL TRAFFIC FLOW?



It is a safe stockpile if everybody is aware of it's getting used..they only use it say every six months or..3 months or something like that..they don't use it fulltime..and the people are not some of the people are not aware that trucks are turning in there.



O.K. SO IF WE LOOK AT THE OTHER STOCKPILES UP AROUND THE..THE ROM THERE..THAT ARE..THAT ARE FREQUENTLY USED?



They use it all the time and 



BUT IS THERE IS THERE ANY OTHER DIFFERENCES?



No.



IS THERE LIGHT VEHICLE INTERACTION UP THERE?



Well where..there is when the old road used to come around for the light vehicles..you didn't know whether there was a truck going to come around and go down and pick up bypass..you had to go down around and to pick up the bypass..the rejects or whatever yeah rejects..and you didn't know which way he was gonna go you know.



RIGHT..SO UNLESS YOU WERE MADE AWARE OF THE TRAFFIC FLOW YOU COULD BE CAUGHT IN A TRAP?



You could be run over pretty easy..but it's all changed now.



IT'S ALL CHANGED.



But..but they still sneak through.



WHO SNEAKS THROUGH?



Light vehicles I've seen them..about a week ago fortnight ago.



DID YOU..WHAT HAVE YOU DONE ABOUT THAT?



Well the foreman got onto..what's his name Hal got onto them and told him to..got onto Stretch to get it fixed up..because the light vehicle was sneaking through.



SO..THE LIGHT VEHICLES WERE..OPERATED BY MINE WORKERS?



Well..yeah well mine workers there's nobody else on the lease only mine workers..traybacks and that.



YEAH..AND YET THEY KNOW THAT THAT'S NOT..THAT'S A DANGEROUS..?



They know everybody knows the road has been blocked off but they still sneak through and don't don't give a two hoots where you are.



SAFETY ALERTS..HAVE YOU HEARD OF THE SAFETY ALERTS AROUND THE MINESITE?



yes.



NOW..PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT..WERE EVER MADE AWARE OF ANY SAFETY ALERTS?



Oh no not really..no.



SINCE THE ACCIDENT..HAVE YOU BEEN MADE AWARE OF ANY SAFETY ALERTS?



No.



WHAT ABOUT LIGHT..THE SAFETY BRIEF THAT WAS CALLED "LIGHT VEHICLE SAFETY ON THE MINESITE"..WAS WAS THAT A COMMON COMMUNICATION TOOLBOX MEETING TYPE TOPIC OR WAS IT ON THE NOTICEBOARDS OR WAS IT?



I never ever seen it on the noticeboards.



NEVER SEEN IT ON THE NOTICEBOARD?



No.



YOU WERE SHOWN IT ON THE DAY OF..WHEN YOU WERE QUESTIONED ON THE DAY OF THE AFTER THE ACCIDENT?



Yes.



AND THAT WAS THE FIRST TIME YOU'D NOTICED IT?



That's the first time I noticed it.



IS THERE ANY..DO YOU THINK THERE'S ANY CHANGES BEEN MADE IN THAT COMMUNICATION AREA..WITH REGARDS..?



well nobody's ever talked to us about it..that's the only sign I've seen of it.



RIGHT.



I still haven't seen it since.



WHAT ABOUT..WHAT ABOUT THE CHANGES TO THE TRAFFIC RULES ..HAVE YOU BEEN MADE AWARE OF ANY CHANGES TO THE TRAFFIC RULES SINCE THE ACCIDENT?



Not since the accident.



BUT YOU'VE BEEN PUT THROUGH AN INDUCTION?



Yeah straight after the accident.



RIGHT..DID THEY COVER THE CHANGES THAT WERE GOING TO BE IN THERE?



They haven't..I haven't seen any cover..anything on that safety rules..they reckoned there was new things coming out but I've never seen them.



O.K. SO YOU HAVEN'T SEEN ANY DIFFERENCE TO SAFETY TO THE TRAFFIC RULES OTHER THAN THE OLD ONES?



The old ones..the old one that's right.



O.K. ARE YOU AWARE OF..OF RISK ASSESSMENT AND HAZARD IDENTIFICATION..ARE YOU AWARE OF THOSE THOSE PROCESSES BEING PUT INTO PLACE?



No.



AND THAT YOUR..YOU HAVE A RESPONSIBILITY TO TO WORK UNDER THAT PROCESS?



I haven't seen it.



YOU HAVEN'T SEEN THEM?



No.



ARE YOU AWARE OF THE CHANGES THAT'S BEEN MADE BUT IN REGARDS TO..COMMUNICATING TO THE APPROACHING FOR LIGHT VEHICLES TO APPROACH THE VEHICLES BECAUSE YOU'VE ALREADY STATED THAT?



That's right..that's the only thing I've seen is for the water trucks..and the overtaking vehicles you sing out and notify..that's the only thing I've seen that's all.



WHAT ABOUT YOU AS A GRADER DRIVER..YOU GRADE THE MIDDLE OF THE ROAD AND THE SIDE OF THE ROAD..IS THERE ANY COMMUNICATION WITH YOU?



No..we've got a ruling that the truck shovel..if the grader blade is on the ground..you don't have to notify him that you're going past him because he's working..that's a rule we've got with the truck shovel.



YES..IS THERE SIGN..THERE'S SIGNS WARNING ABOUT YOU?



No no.



THERE'S NO SIGNS WARNING WHERE YOU'RE WORKING?



No.



COMMUNICATION..NOTIFIED TO THE PEOPLE THAT THERE'S A GRADER WORKING IN THE AREA?



Oh all depends who it is.



HAVE YOU SEEN..LIGHT VEHICLES..YOU'VE BEEN AROUND THE MINE FOR A WHILE NOW..YOU SAID YOU'VE BEEN GRADER OPERATOR FOR 10 YEARS?



yes.



AND YOU'VE BEEN AROUND SO..THAT'S ALL AT BLACKWATER?



yes.



HAVE YOU SEEN LIGHT VEHICLES PASSING WATER TRUCKS BY DRIVING THROUGH THE SPRAY?



yeah.



IS THAT ON THE RIGHTHAND SIDE..OF THE WATER TRUCK OR THE LEFTHAND?



That's on the right..righthand side they usually go through..well they used to to wash the windscreens of their vehicles.



THAT WAS ONE WAY OF WASHING THE WINDSCREENS?



yeah get the spray off the..



DID YOU DID YOU THINK IT WAS A GOOD PRACTICE?



No.



DID YOU SPEAK TO ANYONE ABOUT THAT?



Well I've..I've told some foremans out there..but this is going back a few years ago..they said you only get paid from the shoulders down..that's all.



HOW DO YOU IDENTIFY..HOW DO YOU IDENTIFY POTENTIAL HAZARDS..WHEN YOU'RE DOING YOUR JOB..GOING INTO A WORKPLACE?



Well doing the grader job?



OR OPERATING ANY OTHER EQUIPMENT OR DO YOU JUST MAINLY ..ARE YOU JUST CONTINUOUSLY ON THE GRADER?



I I've been continuously on the grader for a few years now..but if they're short I go on the water truck or the night time I drive the water truck.. I do the grading and watering at nighttime.



AND IS THERE ANY POTENTIAL HAZARDS THAT YOU..YOU HAVE TO?



No we're mainly in the truck shovel area..and everybody sings out who comes in and what have you and.



RIGHT SO THE COMMUNICATION IS GOOD?



Pretty good yeah.



RIGHT..OPEN-CUT EXAMINER DO YOU..CONTACT THE OPEN-CUT EXAMINERS..THE OPEN-CUT EXAMINERS CONTACT YOU?



He comes into the area yes..he contacts..calls out to everybody.



YOU..KNOW WHERE THE STATUTORY SHIFT REPORT IS..OPEN-CUT EXAMINER'S REPORT?



yes.



DO YOU CHECK THAT?



No..got nothing to do with me.



IT'S GOT NOTHING TO DO WITH YOU?



No..he reckons not.



WHY WOULDN'T IT HAVE ANYTHING TO DO WITH YOU?



Oh we have a look at it sometimes we..pick their mistakes out and that's about it.



THEIR SPELLING MISTAKES?



yeah.



HAVE A GO AT THEM?



yeah.



HAVE A GO AT THEM ABOUT THAT HEY..THANKS MR WILLIAMS.

WARDEN:
THANK YOU MR MELLICK?

MR MELLICK:



I HAVE NO QUESTIONS THANK YOU YOUR WORSHIP.



YES..MR LEES?

MR LEES:
JUST A COUPLE OF QUESTIONS YOUR HONOUR..MR WILLIAMS I THINK YOU INDICATED BEFORE..THAT IF YOU SEE A LIGHT VEHICLE FOLLOWING THE WATER TRUCK..THAT IT'S A COMMON PRACTICE TO TURN OFF THE RIGHTHAND SPRAY AND USE YOUR LIGHTS TO INDICATE THE PASS?

Mr Williams

XXD BY

MR LEES:
No me..the fellow in the cruiser..to flick their lights up to let you know that they're..behind you.



RIGHTEO..YOU INDICATED THAT THE LIGHT VEHICLES ARE STILL PROCEEDING TO GO THROUGH THESE AREAS THAT THEY'RE NOT SUPPOSED TO AND YOU'VE REPORTED THIS TO ..YOUR FOREMAN OR RELEVANT FOREMANS..WHAT'S BEEN DONE ABOUT THAT?



Well they blocked it off.



THEY HAVE CLOSED IT OFF?



They have closed it off..Hal got a machine down there the other day to..block it completely so nobody can sneak past.



SO NO ONE'S GOING PAST NOW?



That's right.



THAT'S GOOD..I THINK YOU INDICATED IN ONE OF YOUR ANSWERS THAT YOU HAVE NEVER PARTICIPATED IN A RISK ASSESSMENT PROCESS IS THAT CORRECT?



That's right.



AND YOU'RE NOT CONVERSANT WITH IT?



No.



SO..WHEN YOU'RE SENT TO AN AREA TO GRADE OR DO A PARTICULAR JOB WHETHER YOU'RE OPERATING A TRUCK OR WHATEVER YOU JUST MAKE AN ASSESSMENT?



As you're going through that's it.



O.K. SO YOU'RE NOT AWARE OF THOSE ASSESSMENT PROCESSES?



No.



AND I THINK YOUR LAST..ONE OF YOUR LAST QUESTIONS YOU ANSWERED WAS..YOU'RE OF THE UNDERSTANDING THAT THE OCE REPORT HAS NO RELEVANCE TO YOU WHATSOEVER?



I don't know..I can't see any reason why it has.



ARE YOU MADE AWARE DURING YOUR..INDUCTION AND I THINK YOU'VE JUST BEEN INDUCTED ..THE RELEVANCE OF THE OCE REPORT?



Yeah well we have a talk with the OCE and he..he told him what's right or wrong you know..what's been going on around the area and what shouldn't have been there and..we pick a few faults out..with him where he hasn't put a..a sign up you know "give way" sign or something like that.



O.K. BUT I JUST WANT TO KNOW..DURING THAT RE-INTRODUCTION DID THEY EXPLAIN TO YOUS THE NEED TO READ THOSE REPORTS?



No.



O.K. THANK YOU..NO MORE.

WARDEN:
YES MS GIBNEY?

MS GIBNEY:



THANK YOU..CAN MR WILLIAMS HAVE A LOOK AT THE LIGHT VEHICLE SAFETY ON THE MINESITE SAFETY BRIEF?

Mr Williams

XXD BY

MS GIBNEY:



No never..the only time I seen this one was when you showed me it so..??



O.K. NOW MR WILLIAMS HAVE YOU SEEN UP AROUND THE MINE OVER THE YEARS..NOW ON NOTICEBOARDS DOCUMENTS THAT LOOK LIKE THAT?



Oh I've seen some but..but I've never ever seen.



NO NOT THAT SPECIFIC ONE I UNDERSTAND THAT..YOU HAVEN'T SEEN THAT SPECIFIC ONE.



No.



BUT..HAVE YOU SEEN DOCUMENTS THAT THEY'VE GOT THAT GREEN BACKGROUND AND THEIR HEADED "SAFETY BRIEF"?



I've seen an odd one here and there.



UP ON NOTICE BOARDS?



I have seen an odd one here and there yes.



RIGHT..AND..DO YOU HAVE A DO YOU HAVE A B SAFE REP FOR YOUR CREW YOUR AREA?



Well we did have one..I don't know whether he's still there.



WELL WHO WAS..WHO WAS THE ONE THAT YOU RECALL?



Billy McCall would be the..he was the B Safe I don't know whether he's still in it or not.



WHEN HE WAS THERE..IS HE STILL IN YOUR CREW?



He is now but.



ALRIGHT THE B SAFE REPS CHANGE FROM YEAR TO YEAR?



Yes..they do..apparently they do yeah.



YES..HAVE HAVE YOU EVER BEEN AT A MEETING WITH YOUR CREW WHERE THE B SAFE REPS OR YOUR SUPERVISOR HAS TALKED ABOUT..SOMETHING THAT'S BEEN A SAFETY ISSUE?



No.



YOU'VE NEVER BEEN TO A MEETING WHERE YOUR B SAFE REP TALKED ABOUT A SAFETY ISSUE?



A B Safe rep has never ever talked to me.



WHAT ABOUT YOUR SUPERVISOR?



Oh a supervisor has talked to me yes.



HAVE YOU BEEN TO A TOOLBOX TALK?



Yes yes.



OR A SAFETY COMMUNICATION MEETING AS I THINK THEY'RE CALLED?



Yeah toolbox yeah



YES. AND WHAT THINGS ARE DISCUSSED AT THOSE?



Oh a few complaints.



COMPLAINTS?



Mmm.



O.K. HAVE A LOOK AT THIS ONE..WHICH IS THE.. OVERTAKING PROCEDURE POST MAY 1997?



Yes I did see this one.



YOU SAW THAT ONE?



Yes.



WHEN DID YOU SEE THAT?



About a fortnight ago.



WELL..REMEMBER YOU TALKED ABOUT THE FACT THAT YOU WENT THROUGH AN INDUCTION OR A RE-INDUCTION SESSION AFTER THIS ACCIDENT?



Yes.



DO YOU REMEMBER THAT?



Yes.



WHAT WHAT TOOK PLACE AT THAT?



Oh they just..told you about safety and everything.



OVERTAKING?



Well I don't recall overtaking.



SO WHEN DID YOU FIND OUT ABOUT THE NEW PROCEDURE FOR OVERTAKING WATER TRUCKS?



Somebody was talking about it in the crib room the other day..using the two-ways to overtake.



O.K. WELL I'M GOING TO TRY AND PUT THIS TO YOU SQUARELY..BUT..AND YOU CAN TELL ME YES OR NO..THAT AT THE INDUCTION SESSION..THE RE-INDUCTION THAT TOOK PLACE..AFTER..THE ACCIDENT ON THE 4TH OF MAY..IN WHICH MR GADSBY WAS KILLED..THAT THE..NEW OVERTAKING PROCEDURE WITH THOSE 8 STEPS..WAS EXPLAINED TO ALL PEOPLE AT THOSE RE-INDUCTIONS?



Oh they could have done I don't remember.



YOU SAY IT COULD HAVE DONE AND YOU CAN'T REMEMBER?



I can't remember.



O.K. CAN THE ENTRANCE TO THE RAMP 2 WEST STOCKPILE GET DUSTY..DOES IT NEED WATERING?



Yes yes.



IS IT UNUSUAL TO GET COAL SPILLAGE IN AN AREA WHERE COAL HAULERS ARE TURNING?



Yes.



SORRY UNUSUAL OR USUAL?



It's usual when your coal hauler turns they've got that much on their back it just spills off as you turning it.



RIGHT..SO THAT'S A USUAL THING?



yes.



AND IT'S USUAL TO WATER?



yeah you've got to..



THOSE AREAS?



..you've got to keep the dust down it gets too dusty.



RIGHT..AND IT'S USUAL TO GRADE A COAL HEAP IS IT?



Oh not no not usual but..if that's the only vehicle you've got that's what you use.



RIGHT IF YOU'VE GOT ANOTHER VEHICLE YOU USE THE OTHER VEHICLE?



They had a rubber tyred dozer come on its way.



O.K. AND THAT RUBBER TYRED DOZER I THINK YOU SAID TOOK OVER AFTER YOU FINISHED AT THE COAL HEAP THAT MORNING?



That's right that's right.



O.K. WHAT ABOUT ACCESS WAYS..INTO STOCKPILES?



Well when you go into a stockpile you're sitting on your lefthand side and..you dump downhill..to make it run out faster..and you've got to have your your load on that side so you can..follow your rill down because if you come in the other way..you run up on those rills and you can..tip your truck over.



SO YOU NEED TO WHAT..GRADE THOSE AREAS?



You've got to grade in so the trucks can get a straight run at it.



RIGHT..SO IS IT USUAL OR UNUSUAL TO GRADE IN THOSE AREAS?



You've got to grade in that area.



YOU'VE GOT TO GRADE RIGHT..WHEN YOU WERE PUT THROUGH THE MINE TRANSPORT RULES..THIS WAS YOU SAID NOT LONG BEFORE THE 4TH OF MAY?



It would have been 4 months.



O.K. WHAT WAS THAT..WAS THAT AT A..TOOLBOX TALK OR WAS IT SOME OTHER SORT OF?



I think it was a toolbox talk.



IT WAS A TOOLBOX TALK..AND AND WHO PUT YOU THROUGH THE MINE TRANSPORT RULES..WHO TOOK YOU THROUGH THEM?



Trevor Douglas.



WHO?



Trevor Douglas.



TREVOR DOUGLAS..WHO'S HE?



He's our foreman.



HE'S YOUR FOREMAN?



Mmm.



RIGHT..AND WOULD YOU DESCRIBE THAT AS BEING A A SAFETY SESSION AT A TOOLBOX TALK?



I would say it would be yes.



IT WAS?



yes.



THE TRUCKS TURNING SIGNS NEAR THE RAMP 2 WEST STOCKPILE..IS IT YOUR UNDERSTANDING THEY WERE TAKEN DOWN WHEN THE STOCKPILE WAS NOT IN USE?



They were taken they take them down yes.



RIGHT...CAN I JUST..I HATE TO LABOUR THIS POINT BUT ..CAN YOU HAVE A LOOK AT THIS..WHICH IS THE..AN OVERTAKING HEAVY EQUIPMENT DOT POINT?



yeah I've seen that.



YOU'VE SEEN THAT..WHERE HAVE YOU SEEN THAT?



In the noticeboard.



YOU'VE SEEN THAT ON THE NOTICEBOARD?



Mmm.



AND HAVE A LOOK AT THAT COMPARED WITH THE LAST ONE I GAVE YOU..ONE'S A MUCH MORE WORDY DOCUMENT?



that's right..I've seen this one yeah.



YOU'VE SEEN THAT ONE..AND YOU RIGHT..I PROBABLY SHOULD TENDER THAT THEN YOUR WORSHIP..IF I CAN HAVE THOSE BACK..THE FIRST OF THOSE DOCUMENTS WAS THE LIGHT VEHICLE SAFETY ON THE MINESITE DOCUMENT WHICH IS ALREADY IN INSPECTOR WALKER'S REPORT SO I DON'T NEED TO PUT THAT IN..AND THE OVERTAKING HEAVY VEHICLES ..IS ALREADY IN EXHIBIT 8..AND THIS IS AN OVERTAKING HEAVY EQUIPMENT WHICH I THINK IS OVERHEAD ISN'T IT..OR HAND UP..WE'LL JUST HEAD IT OVERTAKING HEAVY EQUIPMENT AND..AS..AN EXHIBIT.

EX.#9-11.

WARDEN:
THERE'S A COUPLE OF OTHER THINGS I HAVE TO READ INTO THE RECORD THAT HAVEN'T BEEN READ IN..THEY HAVE BEEN TENDERED..THE RECORD BOOK IS EXHIBIT 9..JUST FOR THE RECORD AND..THOSE 3 PHOTOS THAT WERE..ADMITTED SOME TIME AGO AS EXHIBIT "A" FOR IDENTIFICATION FORMALLY ADMIT THEM AS EXHIBIT 10..AND THIS NOTICE HEADING OVERTAKING HEAVY EQUIPMENT WILL BE NOW EXHIBIT NUMBER 11...THANK YOU.



THANK YOU YOUR WORSHIP.

REVIEWER

MR BRADY:
YES MR WILLIAMS AFTER..AFTER THE ACCIDENT I BELIEVE YOU UNDERWENT AN INDUCTION AGAIN?

Mr Williams

XD BY

MR BRADY:
That's right.



HOW LONG WAS THAT INDUCTION?



Oh..about 4 hours from memory.



4 HOURS SO IT WASN'T A THREE DAY INDUCTION OR ANYTHING LIKE THAT?



No no.



AFTER AFTER THE INDUCTION..WAS THERE ANY FORM OF ASSESSMENT DONE?



I couldn't tell you ..I don't think so.



YOU DON'T THINK SO..YOU WEREN'T..YOU WEREN'T GIVEN A FORM TO ANSWER QUESTIONS OR?



no.



WHAT YOU WHAT YOU LEARNT DURING THAT INDUCTION AT ALL?



No no.



I MEAN NO ONE SAT DOWN AND MARKED YOU COMPETENT.. TICKED THE BOX ANYTHING LIKE THAT?



No.



FINE I'VE GOT NO FURTHER QUESTIONS THANKS.

MR MULLER:



YOU SAID THAT..YOU'D BEEN TO SOME SAFETY MEETINGS OR TOOLBOX TALKS WITH YOUR FOREMAN?

Mr Williams

XD BY

MR MULLER:



Yeah.



DO YOU KNOW WHETHER YOUR FOREMAN TOOK MINUTES FOR THOSE MEETINGS?



Oh I wouldn't have a clue.



NO FURTHER QUESTIONS.

WARDEN:
ANY FURTHER QUESTIONS?

MS MALONEY:



NO YOUR WORSHIP..IF THE WITNESS COULD BE EXCUSED?



YES YOU'RE EXCUSED THANK YOU..FREE TO GO.

MS MALONEY:



THE NEXT WITNESS IS A MR FRANCIS GEOFFREY PAULL.

WITNESS DULY SWORN.



MR PAULL COULD YOU PLEASE STATE YOUR FULL NAME AND ADDRESS FOR THE COURT?

Mr Paull

XD BY

MS MALONEY:



My name is Francis Geoffrey Paull I live at 16 Miles Street Blackwater.



AND WHAT'S YOUR OCCUPATION?



I'm a diesel fitter employed at BHP Blackwater mine.



O.K. AND HOW LONG HAVE YOU HAVE YOU WORKED AT BLACKWATER MINE?



I've been at the mine nearly eleven and a half years.



O.K. NOW..DO YOU ..AS AT THE 4TH OF 4TH OF MAY OF THIS YEAR..YOU WERE PERFORMING THE DUTIES OF THAT PARTICULAR POSITION ON THAT DATE?



yes I was.



O.K. NOW DO RECALL PREPARING A STATEMENT FOR AN INSPECTOR MIKE WALKER FROM THE DEPARTMENT OF MINES AND ENERGY?



Yes.



I THINK YOU'VE JUST HAD IT PUT IN FRONT OF YOU HAVE YOU..IF YOU JUST HAVE A LOOK THROUGH THAT..7 PAGES COULD YOU JUST CHECK THAT THAT'S THE STATEMENT THAT YOU PROVIDED FOR HIM..JUST CHECK I THINK THERE'S A SIGNATURE ON EACH PAGE..AND ON THE FINAL PAGE?



Yeah that's mine.



O.K. HAVE YOU HAD A CHANCE TO HAVE A READ THROUGH THAT STATEMENT PRIOR TO COMING ALONG TODAY AT ALL?



yeah I did yes.



ANY CHANGES OR ALTERATIONS YOU WISH OR ADDITIONS YOU WISH TO MAKE TO THAT STATEMENT?



No.



O.K. AND THE CONTENTS OF THAT STATEMENT ARE TO THE BEST OF YOUR KNOWLEDGE TRUE AND CORRECT?



Yes.



YOUR WORSHIP THAT STATEMENT IS ALREADY PART OF EXHIBIT NUMBER 7..O.K. NOW MR PAULL JUST A COUPLE OF QUESTIONS..I JUST WANT TO..TAKE UP FROM YOUR STATEMENT..YOU SAY IN THERE THAT..YOU'VE BEEN A MEMBER OF..THE BLACKWATER RESCUE SQUAD FOR SOME 3 OR 4 YEARS?



that's correct.



O.K. AND IN RELATION TO THIS ACCIDENT WHICH HAPPENED ON THE 4TH OF MAY OF THIS YEAR..THAT WAS YOUR INVOLVEMENT ..YOU WERE CALLED OUT AS PART OF THE RESCUE SQUAD?



yes.



O.K. I JUST WANT TO TAKE YOU..TO..PAGE 3 OF YOUR STATEMENT..YOU TALK IN THERE..YOU'RE RUNNING THROUGH WHAT WAS OCCURRING WITH THE RESCUE AND THE EFFORTS MAKE AFTER THE ACCIDENT..RIGHT IN THE 4TH PARAGRAPH ON THAT PAGE YOU TALK ABOUT USING..I SUPPOSE YOU'RE TALKING ABOUT THE CUTTING JAWS AND SPREADERS..AND YOU TALK ABOUT YOU ATTEMPTED TO USE THE SPREADERS TO FORCE PANEL WORK AND THE RADIO WHICH WAS PINNING EVAN'S ARM..BUT THE SPREADER CYLINDER STARTED TO LEAK OIL AND WAS NO GOOD..WHAT WAS THE EFFECT OF THAT ..OIL LEAKAGE ON THAT OCCASION..WHAT DID IT MEAN FOR YOU ATTEMPTING TO..USE THOSE SPREADERS?



Well..with with that particular type of spreader ..when when you exert a force on it..it tends to force apart metal or panelwork..and we were just trying at that stage to remove a pressure point load that we could see was on Evan's arm..and when we put them in right close to actually get the panelwork away they failed to operate correctly..they leaked and..and thus they just weren't doing the job so we couldn't use them.



O.K. AND I THINK FROM WHAT WHAT OCCURRED AT THAT POINT THE FIRE BRIGADE HAD BY THAT TIME ARRIVED?



Yes .



SO YOU WERE ABLE TO USE THEIR EQUIPMENT?



Yeah there was no stoppage..in the actual rescue what had happened is..our stuff at that time..we'd gone as far as we could..and before the..our stuff actually leaked at that time because I had used them before..and they were and they started to leak the second time..the rescue people in the fire brigade had their stuff sort of like continuous..they had got there as we were attempting to use the gear and they were on the spot as soon as our stuff..we sort of continued straight on with theirs.



WERE YOU ABLE TO DETERMINE WHAT HAD CAUSED THAT LEAKAGE?



Well the..what's happened since then..is the the piece of equipment were..was taken over to the Trades Training and they'd organised and got new seals and resealed the units.



O.K.



I say in defence of that..that the ..equipment on the rescue vehicles..are checked regularly..every week they get put through and every month the inapak stuff is checked..but they're not tested to full load like like we had to use them on that day.



O.K. NOW..IN YOUR POSITION AS DIESEL FITTER..IS THAT CLASSIFIED ?? IN THE MAINTENANCE ASPECT OF THE MINE?



yes it is.



O.K. NOW AND IN PERFORMING THE MAINTENANCE FUNCTIONS YOU'RE REQUIRED TO TRAVEL..YOU EITHER DO THE MAINTENANCE IN THE THE WORKSHOP OR YOU HAVE TO TRAVEL TO A PART OF THE MINE AND PERFORM THE MAINTENANCE WORK?



yeah that's correct..in like my position as diesel fitter..we not only just in a workshop environment as you're aware..the equipment breaks down out in the field and you have to go out and repair it in the field.



O.K. WHAT SORT OF..WHAT TRANSPORT..WHAT SORT OF VEHICLE WOULD YOU USE TO GO OUT TO DO THE MAINTENANCE WORK?



Well generally in a Landcruiser trayback.



THAT'S CONSIDERED A LIGHT VEHICLE AS FAR AS THE MINE IS CONCERNED?



Yes light vehicle yes.



O.K. NOW..IN TRAVELLING OUT..OBVIOUSLY I ASSUME THIS DEPENDS ON WHERE YOU WORK WHERE YOUR MAINTENANCE WORK IS REQUIRED TO BE DONE..YOU WOULD USE ANY NUMBER OF THE ROADS THAT EXIST ON ON THE MINESITE?



That's correct.



O.K. SO YOU MIGHT USE THE HAUL ROAD?



yeah most previous to the accident yes we used to use the haul road..more often and not.



O.K. AND WHAT'S HAPPENED SINCE THE ACCIDENT?



Since the accident..they there's been a hell of a lot of upgrade done to the roadworks around the minesite..we virtually don't travel on the main haul road hardly at all..only if it's..expressly needed.. we ..if we've got work down at Ramp 11 we travel across the haul road..into the back access road down the new route..and then we go through a bypass road at Ramp 8..onto the main haul road..and before entering the ramp where they're actually working the trucks..you must call the trucks and let them know that you're advancing down the ramp.



SO THE CHANGE HAS BEEN TO MINIMISE LIGHT VEHICLE USE OF THE HAUL ROADS?



yeah the access on the..back access road is..is just got..it's like a major highway now..compared to what it used to be years ago.



I ASSUME THE EXCEPTION TO THAT WOULD BE..IF YOUR MAINTENANCE WORK HAD TO BE ON THE HAUL ROAD LIKE A VEHICLE OR SOMETHING LIKE THAT ON THE HAUL ROAD?



Yeah well that's right..if I mean you do use it if you if there's no other alternative you have to.



O.K. NOW PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT..THE BACK ACCESS ROAD EXISTED AT THAT TIME DIDN'T IT?



Yes it did.



HOW FREQUENTLY WOULD YOU USE THE BACK ACCESS ROAD PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT?



Probably not as much as it should have been used.. because the..the condition of the road was terrible and in these cruisers they've got very hard suspensions..you bounce your tools around everywhere and yourself..and..a lot of the breakdowns and stuff that occurred...you couldn't get access to the machinery from the back access road anyway..and it was definitely shorter..and quicker to go down the main haul road.



O.K. HAS THE CONDITION OF THE BACK ACCESS ROAD CHANGED SINCE THE INCIDENT?



Yes..it's..the road is now pretty well maintained and it's in a lot better condition that it was previous.



O.K. NOW..IN TALKING..WE'LL FOCUS NOW AT THE TIME AROUND THE ACCIDENT PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT..WHEN TRAVELLING OR USE THE EXAMPLE OF THE MAIN HAUL ROAD ..WERE THERE PARTICULAR PROCEDURES THAT YOU WERE TO ADOPT..WHEN YOU NEEDED TO OVERTAKE A HEAVY OR A LARGER VEHICLE..PARTICULARLY IN THIS CASE A WATER TRUCK?



Well..the minesite did have a procedure..for passing vehicles..but..the procedure wasn't strictly adhered to at all times..by I think everybody on the site.. it was sort of like it was there..people were told about it at at toolbox meetings..like I think in all the time I've been there I can remember it being addressed probably 2 or 3 times..mine rules..you know at different toolbox meetings.



O.K. NOW YOU SAY IT WASN'T STRICTLY ADHERED TO ARE YOU AWARE OF PARTICULAR EXAMPLES..HAVE YOU BEEN INVOLVED IN PARTICULAR EXAMPLES OF NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE?



yes I have.



CAN YOU JUST TELL US WHAT THE ..WHAT SORT OF PROCEDURE..WHAT SORT OF ACTION TOOK PLACE BY PEOPLE TRYING TO..OR OVERTAKING A WATER TRUCK?



Well I've got in my statement here..`on one occasion I came up behind a water truck..I wanted to overtake it..and he switched off the lefthand spray..I started to the lefthand..I started the lefthand indicator.'..oh sorry..



AND IS THAT ONE IS OUTLINED IN YOUR STATEMENT THAT'S ON PAGE 4 OF YOUR STATEMENT?



yeah that's right.



AND ON THAT PARTICULAR OCCASION..BECAUSE OF THE ACTION TAKEN WHAT BY THE WATER TRUCK OPERATOR..YOU PASSED ON THE LEFTHAND SIDE OF THE WATER TRUCK?



yes I passed on the lefthand side the water truck operator..it was down by Ramp 13..which is an extremely wide part of the ramp or the road sorry and he was in the middle of the road..he actually turned off the lefthand spray..and put the lefthand blinker on..and I saw him do that and he had his arm out the window and he sort of like give a bit of a nudge so I pulled right over and went past him on the lefthand side..and he give me a wave as I went past.



AND THE OTHER OCCASION YOU'VE GOT OUTLINED THERE.. YOU HAD TO..THE RIGHTHAND SPRAY WASN'T TURNED OFF AND SO YOU'VE GONE RIGHT AROUND THE SPRAY?



Yeah on a..on another occasion which happened more than once..was..if you were going anywhere on the minesite..the truck operators were told that they had..you know you dropped back..they could see you and they'd sort of acknowledge they'd see you they'd turn the righthand spray off which was what you generally think in the mine traffic rules said..but you'd be sitting there..for ages and ages..and you know they've seen you and they just wouldn't turn the spray off..you know you'd be there you'd be zig-zagging you might flick your lights on or something or you'd you know they'd spotted you but they just wouldn't turn it so you'd pull out as far as you could or you'd drop back as far as you could..see that the way was clear past the truck nothing was coming..pull right out to the righthand side..and go outside the sprays..on those occasions that personally happened to me..when I got back to the workshop I reported a few instances that..had happened to the mining foreman.



O.K. ARE YOU AWARE OF WHETHER ANY FURTHER ACTION WAS TAKEN AS A RESULT OF THOSE PARTICULAR REPORTS BY YOURSELF?



As far as I know in one instance in particular the actual foreman Gary Rabine..got hold of the truck driver and..chatted him and made him aware.



O.K. NOW HAS THERE BEEN A CHANGE TO THE PROCEDURE AFTER THIS PARTICULAR ACCIDENT?



yes.



AND WHAT'S WHAT'S THE CHANGES TO THAT PROCEDURE?



The procedure now is..basically you must get in contact with the with the truck driver..you will not pass under any circumstances unless the righthand spray has been turned off and you've been given verbal indication to do so.



O.K.NOW..I TAKE IT WHEN YOU'RE TALKING ABOUT VERBAL INDICATION YOU'RE TALKING ABOUT TWO-WAY RADIO?



Yes.



O.K. NOW..PRIOR TO THE INCIDENT RADIOS WERE..IN USE ON THE MINESITE?



yes they were.



IN ALL THE VEHICLES..BUT THERE WERE TWO CHANNELS THAT'S?



Yeah what I've written in my statement there's two channels..oh well two that we used to use truck channel was channel 4 and we maintenance people used to use 1 or 11..a lot of the cruisers..in my statement I wrote there was 3 radios in use in all of the vehicles but there was 4..and the earlier types you couldn't pick up channel 4..because they were a push button and a..a knob type of arrangement so..you know you just didn't want to fumble around where you were driving near a water truck or anything on the road to try and find a channel.



O.K. AND SO THAT HAS CHANGED SINCE THE ACCIDENT?



Well as far as I'm aware all those old style of two-ways have gone..and they have got new digital type things in use.



AND IT'S ONLY ONE CHANNEL THAT'S BEING TRIALLED AT THE MOMENT?



At the moment they're using one channel on the minesite yes.



O.K. NOW..JUST ANOTHER AREA I WANT TO ASK YOU ABOUT ..IS THE USE OF WARNING SIGNS SUCH AS TRUCK TURNING WARNING SIGNS..ARE YOU AWARE OF THE USE OF SUCH SIGNS ON THE MINESITE?



I'm aware that they are being used yes.



O.K. ON THE DAY OF THIS PARTICULAR ACCIDENT DID YOU SEE THE TRUCK TURNING WARNING SIGNS AT ALL?



No I didn't.



YOU WEREN'T REALLY LOOKING FOR THAT WHEN YOU WERE WHEN YOU WERE HEADING TO ASSIST WITH THE INCIDENT?



No no well I was sort of looking where we..where you come down the haul road..you could see in the distance..you know I wasn't looking for that..and apparently where the sign was it was shielded by the grader anyway.



O.K. I HAVE NO FURTHER QUESTIONS YOUR WORSHIP.

WARDEN:
THANK YOU..MR BEST HAVE YOU GOT ANY QUESTIONS?

MR BEST:
THANK YOU YOUR WORSHIP..MR PAULL DO YOU KNOW WHERE RAMP 2 WEST STOCKPILE IS?

Mr Paull
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MR BEST:
I do now.



YOU DO NOW YOU DIDN'T AT PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT?



No.



SO THEREFORE..YOU'VE HAD..QUITE A NUMBER OF TRIPS DOWN THAT SOUTHERN HAUL ROAD..AND YOU WERE REALLY UNAWARE OF ..ANY SORT OF STOCKPILE ACTIVITY?



Yes most definitely.



DID YOU TRAVEL DOWN THE SOUTHERN HAUL ROAD ON THE DAY OF THE ACCIDENT?



The day of the accident I was..attached in the workshop on a job I didn't go out only with the call.



ONLY WHEN THE ACCIDENT OCCURRED?



yes.



O.K. SO PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT YOU DIDN'T TRAVEL DOWN THERE?



Not on that day no.



WHAT ABOUT THAT WAS A SUNDAY?



Sunday.



SUNDAY..WHAT ABOUT WERE YOU ROSTERED ON FOR THE SATURDAY THE FRIDAY?



yeah I would have been.



DID YOU TRAVEL DOWN THE HAUL ROAD DURING THAT TIME?



I can't remember if I went down on those particular days but..you know..it..we go down the roads for sort of like..we used to go down a fair bit..you know when the jobs were given out if you had one you travelled..I can't remember the exact date.



YES..BUT AT NO TIME YOU..INTERACTED WITH HAUL TRUCKS DOWN THROUGH THAT AREA?



Not at that particular area no.



AND WHERE..DO YOU KNOW WHERE MICK'S JUNCTION IS?



yes.



SO YOU APPROACH MICK'S JUNCTION..WHAT WERE YOU.. WHAT WOULD YOUR MIND BE FOCUSSED ON THEIR IN WHEN YOU APPROACH MICK'S JUNCTION?



Coming from the workshop?



YES.



Yeah when you're coming from the workshop you come down a bit of a rise..like down a decline..there's a stop sign at the bottom of it..you naturally stop at the stop sign and to the righthand side there's an incoming haul road..and there's a..like a large roundabout..and there's..a rom entry..and you just you can only..you're looking all around the whole area ..for any traffic movement in that area.



WOULD YOU BE EXPECTED A..FOR A..LOADED HAUL TRUCK TO CONTINUE DOWN PAST MICK'S JUNCTION..DOWN THE SOUTHERN HAUL ROAD?



Not no not if it's..not if it's come from the northern end it would normally turn right and go into the stockpile or or the dump or if you see one coming out from the reject which is further down the road..they normally come out further down near the washplant entry..and then turn right and go down to the dump area there..that dump area is down further past where the accident happened.



IN YOUR EARLIER STATEMENT..OR IN YOUR EVIDENCE YOU SAID ABOUT THE TRUCK TURNING SIGN THAT YOU'RE UNAWARE OF THEM..BUT..YOU WERE..WERE AWARE OF THE TRUCKS SHOVEL OPERATION DOWN AT RAMP 10?



Yes.



NOW WAS THERE ANY..SORT OF WARNING SIGNS THAT YOU WERE FAMILIAR WITH DOWN THERE?



yeah..the truck shovel area..that was based at..or wherever it's based on the minesite..the signs would probably be..10 or 12 foot high..big billboards..and are placed at the entrance to the area..and you just can't miss those type of signs..you know they're right on the road..you can't miss them.



SO THEY STAND OUT AND..THEY DELIVER A GOOD MESSAGE?



They certainly do.



SO YOU YOU DON'T KNOW WHETHER..THERE WAS ANY SIGNS DONE..WARNING OF THE TRUCKS TURNING INTO THAT STOCKPILE AREA?



No I was unaware of it I've..in all in the 11 years that I've been at the mine..I wasn't aware that there was even a stockpile in that area that..the accident occurred..and I haven't seen any signs that I can remember..telling of it.



ANOTHER QUESTION..IN THE 11 YEARS YOU'VE BEEN AT THE MINE..WERE YOU EVER AWARE OF ANY NEAR MISSES THAT MIGHT HAVE OCCURRED BETWEEN ..LIGHT VEHICLES AND HAUL TRUCKS..IN THE PROCESS OF OVERTAKING?



yes yeah..since the accident..I had somebody actually speak to me..and mention a situation they got themselves into..there was a similar..the result could have been very similar to what actually occurred at this accident..a bloke was going to go past a water truck..the spray was still going..and at the last minute the truck put on his blinker and started to turn..he hid the skids and pulled in behind..and..a while back..previous I had a similar experience but not with a water truck but with a haul truck..going down past large parts..I mean you normally don't expect a haul truck to be going down there..down that particular direction loaded..I drove drove down and I was thinking about passing this haul truck..the truck slowed a bit..and he sort of moved over a little bit..I thought oh yeah he's waiting for me to to go out past him..and..I looked around..I sort of pulled back a bit..looked around it ..didn't think you know I better not..and all of a sudden he put his blinker on..slowed up more and went to the right up to the reject dump..so you know I was aware at that stage that..you know there's a possibility there was a near miss there too but.



YOU TOOK EVASIVE ACTION?



Well I I didn't proceed..I sort of recollected there was..was a road there..I mean I didn't even think he would turn but..I just thought I'd better wait until I get around this piece and just as well I did.



IN THAT CASE..THE BLINKERS..YOU MADE REFERENCE TO THE BLINKERS..HOW EASY ARE THEY TO SEE?



On on the haul trucks..a lot of times they're covered in mud and dirt from the roads..they've flicked up..sometimes they can be sort of discoloured ..but generally you can see them.



WHAT ABOUT WATER TRUCKS?



Water trucks at times they can almost be pretty difficult to see because they fill up with water ..they get mud on them and through the sprays.. they're very difficult at times to see.



ARE YOU AWARE OF..ANY WATER TRUCKS HAVING THEIR SPRAYS LOWERED SINCE THE ACCIDENT?



Yes since the accident..a few modifications have happened to the trucks..or to a couple of them I think I'm not sure all of them have been done.. but they've actually lowered the sprays..and in one truck that I'm aware of..they've fitted a remote facing video camera..you know you notice that when you're backing it out of the workshop..it's got rear view which sort of never ever..had that sort of visibility before.



SO IT'S A GOOD THING?



Yeah I feel it is.



THE LOWERING OF THE SPRAYS..YOU HAVEN'T SORT OF GOT BEHIND IT SINCE THE SPRAYS HAVE BEEN LOWERED TO?



No I've been fortunate enough to keep away from them.



YEAH..JUST ANOTHER QUESTION..WHEN YOU GO TO PASS ONE OF THESE HAULERS..OR THE WATER TRUCKS..THE SPEED WHAT SORT OF WOULD YOU HAVE TO ACCELERATE MUCH TO TO GET PAST THEM..NOT JUST YOU BUT YOU KNOW IN GENERAL?



Well in general I I'd say I wouldn't be any different to anybody else out there..and you find that ..that the haul truck is probably doing 65 kilometres..maybe 70 kilometres an hour..maximum and you..and you don't want to be driving past as slow as a turtle..even though the rules say 80k on the lease..so..it's like when you're passing something you want to get past it as soon as possible..you don't want mud and rocks or..a tyre blowout ..that's always in the back of your mind..so you pull out as far as you can..and get past them as fast as you can because..you know the potential sitting beside one of those things..rock could fall off..anything..so I'd say you'd probably get to about a hundred hundred and ten pretty easy in a cruiser.



AND SINCE THE ACCIDENT..HAVE YOU BEEN MADE AWARE OF SOME CHANGES TO..TO THE TRAFFIC RULES?



In the overtaking?



YES.



Yes.



THE OVERTAKING THAT'S RULE..RULE 8 AND RULE 6..THE DUTY TO GIVE WAY..HAVE YOU BEEN GIVEN ANY INFORMATION ON THAT?



I can't say I have no.



BUT YOU'RE AWARE OF THE OVERTAKING RULE?



Yes.



YOU ATTENDED THE INDUCTION?



Yes.



DID YOU FIND THE INDUCTION VALUABLE?



Well at that stage I was probably still a bit shell shocked after the incident and I must say that a lot of that would have you know sort of paled into insignificance..at that time.



SO..YOU WEREN'T REALLY FULLY AWARE OF A NUMBER OF ISSUES THAT COULD HAVE BEEN RAISED AT THAT INDUCTION THAT?



yeah you're right..so many things happened and there's so much taken on board..that you know I could say..I..at the time I probably did understand but there's so much else went on I haven't remembered everything.



BY AN ASSESSMENT HAVE YOU EVER BEEN PUT THROUGH AN ASSESSMENT..IN REGARDS TO YOUR RETENTION OF THE INFORMATION OR..WHETHER OR NOT YOU UNDERSTOOD THE INFORMATION?



No not after no.



O.K. AND NOT ON THE DAY NEITHER?



the day..that we were actually put through it..well I think everybody would have been asked are you all happy with this or whatever I suppose..I can't remember that either.



O.K. THE OTHER ISSUE IS..RISK ASSESSMENT OR HAZARD AWARENESS ..HAZARD AWARENESS OR HAZARD OR RISK ASSESSMENT..HAVE THE MAINTENANCE PEOPLE BEEN SUBJECT TO THAT?



yeah I think..yeah they're running courses on hazard awareness all the time at the moment getting everybody through..it's a pretty good course like that.



AND YOU'VE GOT..SAFETY B REPS IN YOUR AREA?



B Safe reps yes.



B SAFE REPS YEAH..YOU GOT THEM IN YOUR AREA?



Yes.



RIGHT..SO YOU'RE FAMILIAR WITH WHO YOUR B SAFE REP IS?



At the moment yes.



AND DO YOU GET MUCH COMMUNICATIONS THROUGH THE B SAFE REP?



Not a great deal of communication but like after their meetings ..the minutes are posted on the noticeboards and..if you've got something that you need or if you want to find out you go and see the rep and then they'll chase it up for you.



IN YOUR STATEMENT..IF YOU CAN REMEMBER IN YOUR STATEMENT YOU SAID THAT YOU..AND YOU'VE ALREADY SAID IT TO US HERE THAT YOU WEREN'T AWARE OF ANY MINING OPERATIONS DOWN IN THAT AREA..YOU ALSO SAID THAT YOU'D BEEN RESPONSIBLE FOR DEPLOYING FITTERS TO JOBS AND I'VE NEVER PROVIDED THE SORT OF INFORMATION WITH REGARDS TO MINING ACTIVITIES?



Yes.



HAS THAT CHANGED?



Yeah now..what happens the..management have put in place..at the start of shift..we get an like an information session prior to anybody getting any work any jobs given out..it's..they provide us with information of the blasting that's going to happen during the day..and where it's going to occur..where the mining is taking place..use of the back access road..and..what could be happening in the area..and also if there's..mining happening on a Saturday or Sunday they've been using the back access road to actually mine and take..cart coal to another washplant..everyone is informed of that and there's a notice put on the board to the effect stipulating if you didn't catch it at the meeting..and you have a look at the safety brief details where it's actually occurring.



SO SAFETY BRIEFS ARE NOW COMMON..USE OR COMMON UNDER THEY'RE IN LIKE A..A FORMAT THAT'S EASILY UNDERSTOOD?



yeah it's a tool..it's a spoken format..normally one of the foreman or senior foreman..do it every morning ..it's carried out on a regular basis now yes and..information that we actually get must come a lot of it must come from the mining department which shows that there's communication that we never had in the past.



O.K. WHAT ABOUT ON AFTERNOON SHIFT..DO YOU WORK 3 SHIFTS?



No but on afternoon shift..I work 7 day roster day shift at the moment..but we do a afternoon shift every 6 weeks..the afternoon shift foreman..does exactly what the day shift foreman does.



RIGHT SO WE'D SAY THEN THAT OR YOU WOULDN'T BE ABLE TO SAY THAT THE NIGHT SHIFT GETS IT AS WELL?



I don't know I..



OR DON'T YOU DO MAINTENANCE ON NIGHTSHIFT?



yeah ..oh I don't do it personally on nightshift ..my shift isn't nightshift but.



ALRIGHT NO WORRIES IF YOU DON'T KNOW..SOMEBODY THAT'S ON NIGHTSHIFT WILL ASK HIM.



yes.



YOU KNOW THE..SAFETY ALERTS..THE DOCUMENTATION SAFETY ALERT YOU EVER SEEN THEM?



yes.



DO YOU GET ACCESS TO THEM ARE YOU FAMILIAR WITH THE ..WHEN THEY BECOME AVAILABLE WITH..ON THE MINESITE ARE YOU MADE FAMILIAR THAT THERE'S SAFETY ALERTS?



now I am but..previously we weren't..it was previously they were just..put on a noticeboard and you sort of weren't really..drawn..attention wasn't drawn to them..but now at these meetings in the morning..safety alerts are read out..as well as part of the thing.



O.K. THANK YOU YOUR WORSHIP.

WARDEN:
YES..MR MULLER?

MR MULLER:



I HAVE NO QUESTIONS THANK YOU.



MR LEES?

MR LEES:
JUST A COUPLE YOUR HONOUR HERE..PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT YOU INDICATED THAT YOU WERE NOT MADE AWARE OF THE MINING OPERATIONS..ARE YOU AWARE OF THE OCE REPORTS WHEN THEY DO THEIR INSPECTIONS?

Mr Paull

XD BY

MR LEES:
No.



SO YOU..YOUS AREN'T MADE AWARE OF THE OCE DOING AN INSPECTION AND SOME OF THE SAFETY ASPECTS..PEOPLE THAT ARE INTERACTING WITH MINING OPERATIONS SHOULD BE CONVERSANT WITH?



no we..we you know don't get anything from the OCE the only thing that I would sort of say that we find from the OCE's is when you drive down the haul road they've got a..a ramp..if you're going down and they had a ramp closed sign up..you'd get in touch with them to find out ..if it was safe to proceed just or a restricted sign.



IF YOU HAD TO GO AND HAVE A LOOK AT THE OCE REPORT WOULD YOU KNOW WHERE TO GO AND GET IT?



No.



HAVE YOU EVER RECEIVED A COPY OF THESE NEW RULES.. THE NEW RULES..THIS?



If..if that was handed out at the debrief I definitely was given a copy..but..since then I haven't no.



SO YOU'RE NOT A HUNDRED PERCENT CERTAIN THAT YOU'VE GOT A COPY OF THE NEW RULES OR THE OLD RULES?



No.



O.K. YOU INDICATED PREVIOUSLY IN SOME OF YOUR ANSWERS TO QUESTIONS THAT THERE'S BEEN..OR YOU HAVE KNOWLEDGE OF SOME NEAR MISSES..ARE YOU CONVERSANT WITH A NEAR MISS PROCEDURE ON SITE..THAT YOU CAN REPORT IT AND IT'S DOCUMENTED AND ACTION TAKEN?



Now I am..but previously no.



YOU WEREN'T YOU DIDN'T HAVE NO KNOWLEDGE OF IT PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT AT ALL?



no.



IT'S JUST COME TO LIGHT SINCE THE ACCIDENT?



yeah.



AND THERE IS A PROCEDURE IN PLACE NOW?



yeah now there is..it's part of part of hazard awareness.



PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT YOU HAD NO KNOWLEDGE EITHER OF THE RISK ASSESSMENT PROCESS?



Yes I did have because I had already been through a B Safe course.



RIGHT BUT..OTHER EMPLOYEES WOULDN'T?



Not all employees no..I was one of the first B Safe reps in the workshop.



SO WHEN WHEN YOU HAD ..THE RESPONSIBILITY FOR DEPLOYING FITTERS TO A JOB..THE RISK ASSESSMENT PROCESS WASN'T TOLD..FOLLOW THIS RISK ASSESSMENT PROCESS?



No I was the leading hand in the workshop..that changed a few years ago..and..that was when I used to deploy people to jobs..since then I have done the B Safe course..and hence I didn't have that knowledge prior.



O.K. THAT'S ALL.

WARDEN:
THANK YOU..YES MS GIBNEY?

MS GIBNEY:



MR PAULL WHEN DID YOU DO THE B SAFE COURSE?

Mr Paull
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MS GIBNEY:



I've done a hazard awareness with Jim Knowles which was about..about 4 months ago..and prior to that I did a B Safe reps course..probably 12 months ago.



RIGHT AND ARE YOU CURRENTLY A B SAFE REP..OR HAS THAT ROTATED?



No..yes it's rotated.



JUST..WHAT'S THAT SYSTEM..CAN YOU EXPLAIN THAT THE INQUIRY..HOW LONG ARE YOU A B SAFE REP FOR?



Well I was..one of the first in the area..in the workshop and I was on for 12 months..and then I dropped out..and a new member took my place.



O.K. NOW WHEN YOU WERE A B SAFE REP WHAT DID THAT INVOLVE YOU DOING?



Well at that..particular time..I was there we were sort of..just kicking off trying to implement all the ..all the new NOSA standards and stuff like that just to upgrade the whole site..mainly the workshop I was involved in..just setting up a safer working environment for people..marking walkways..thinking of better ideas safer ideas..and trying to implement them into the system.



AND AS A B SAFE REP DID YOU COMMUNICATE SAFETY ISSUES TO YOUR CREW..YOUR PEOPLE..PEOPLE YOU WORKED WITH?



After the meetings like I said all of our things went up on the board..and it was..generalised talking with the blokes yeah.



RIGHT...THE MINE ENVIRONMENT POTENTIAL HAZARDS DOES THAT TRAINING WAS THAT THE TRAINING THAT YOU REFERRED TO IN YOUR ANSWER TO MR LEES QUESTION..DO YOU REMEMBER THAT?



Of potential hazards?'



YES..I'M JUST HAVING A LOOK AT YOUR TRAINING RECORDS AND I DON'T NEED TO TAKE TO THEM IN DEPTH BUT DO YOU REMEMBER DOING..A MINE ENVIRONMENT POTENTIAL HAZARDS IN MARCH OF '95 AND AGAIN IN APRIL OF '96..8 HOURS ON EACH OCCASION?



I remember the courses but not the full content of them.



O.K. GENERAL RECOLLECTION OF THE CONTENT?



Once again that was basically hazard..identifying hazards..doing assessments of hazards and implementing things to prevent hazards..risk assessments and things like that..that's basically it.



O.K. AND FINALLY THE MINE TRAFFIC RULES..DO YOU RECALL A TOOLBOX TALK IN RELATION TO MINE TRAFFIC RULES IN SEPTEMBER OF THIS YEAR..WHICH YOUR CREW ATTENDED..WHICH YOU ATTENDED?



We have quite a few and like I say they have..I have been to a few..toolbox talks on mine safety rules and other things..it's not just the major issue you know there's always other stuff brought up.



THERE'S A FEW THEMES TO THEM?



yes..well one of them was..



AND..AN OPPORTUNITY FOR PEOPLE TO RAISE ISSUES?



Yes.



AND ONE OF THEM WAS..SORRY I CUT YOU OFF?



One oh well..the mine traffic rules is one..it might have been the core of one of the meetings that we attended yes.



O.K. IN RELATION TO THE OVERTAKING PROCEDURE FOR OVERTAKING WATER TRUCKS..PRIOR TO THE 4TH OF MAY.. YOU'VE GIVEN YOUR EVIDENCE TODAY AND IT'S CLEAR FROM THE STATEMENT WHAT YOU UNDERSTOOD THAT PROCEDURE TO BE..YOU TALKED ABOUT WATER TRUCK DRIVERS WHO JUST SIT THERE AND YOU KNEW THEY COULD SEE YOU AND THEY WOULDN'T DO ANYTHING..ANY IDEA WHY THEY WOULD BEHAVE IN THAT WAY?



Why..because..I might offend people but I think truckies are bloody ignorant at times..you know ignorant to the fact that they've got a job to do and it's only a..you know it's only a cruiser behind them..basically you know they're just ignorant to the fact that..we've got a job to do and they don't at that stage I don't think they think of anybody else but themselves and their own job.



RIGHT..I MEAN YOU CAN'T GET INSIDE THEIR MINDS I APPRECIATE THAT..BUT..YOU KNEW THE PROCEDURE ANY REASON TO BELIEVE THEY WOULDN'T?



The only reason I could probably give for any of them is that ..there wasn't always the same people used as water truck drivers..and maybe..they weren't aware of what they had to do.



MAYBE THEY WERE?



Or maybe they weren't.



MAYBE THEY WERE..ANYWAY ON OCCASION YOU COMPLAINED TO THE FOREMAN ABOUT THAT?



Yes I did.



AND YOU..BELIEVE THAT AT LEAST ON ONE OCCASION TO YOUR KNOWLEDGE..IT WAS TAKEN UP?



Yeah.



NOW ON..GIVEN THAT YOU HAVE HAD..SOME TRAINING IN RELATION TO BOTH THE CB61 HAZARD AWARENESS THIS YEAR AND MINE ENVIRONMENT POTENTIAL HAZARDS IN EARLIER YEARS AND DONE THE B SAFE REPS COURSE..WHEN YOU'RE DRIVING AROUND THE MINESITE..ON THE BACK ACCESS ROADS OR THE HAUL ROADS..WHAT DO YOU DO BASICALLY?



Please explain?



WHAT DO YOU DO..WHEN YOU'RE DRIVING OBVIOUSLY SO YOU'VE GOT YOUR HANDS ON THE WHEEL?



Yeah well I mean it's just a normal it's just a normal reaction..you're driving around you drive as safe as possible..you know it's commonsense.



AND WHAT'S INVOLVED IN SAFE DRIVING?



Being aware of of your environment..being aware of what is actually what's around..the road conditions the light..the state of the vehicle.



RIGHT..CAN YOU JUST HAVE A LOOK PLEASE AT THESE PHOTOGRAPHS..THIS IS IN ACTUALLY..MAX YOU MIGHT LIKE TO GET IT THERE..IT'S E15 AND 35 IN INSPECTOR WALKER'S REPORT..SORRY 15..E15 AND THEN NUMBER 35 AND 36...JUST DO 35 AND 36 MAX THAT WILL BE FINE.. 35 AND 36..YES THEY'RE IN THERE..............O.K. THAT'S IT..DO YOU RECALL..THESE ARE THE PHOTOGRAPHS OF THE TRUCKS TURNING SIGN..WITH..WITCHES HAT NEXT TO THEM..NOW I KNOW YOUR EVIDENCE IS THAT YOU HADN'T NOTICED THEM AND I THINK YOU SAID THAT AT THE TIME THAT YOU DROVE DOWN IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWING THE ACCIDENT..THE GRADER MIGHT WELL HAVE BEEN OBSTRUCTING THEM ANYWAY YOU UNDERSTOOD..IS THAT RIGHT?



Yes.



DO YOU RECALL SEEING OTHER SIGNS AROUND THE MINE IN THE PAST..SIMILAR TO THAT..PRIOR TO THE 4TH OF MAY?



No I can't say I have.



YOU CAN'T RECALL SEEING THEM?



No.  



WHAT ABOUT SIGNS MARKED BY WITCHES HATS..NOT THIS SPECIFIC SIGN..BUT ANY SIGN..WERE WITCHES HATS A COMMON MARKING OF A SIGN?



They may well have been but I..



YOU CAN'T RECALL?



No.



O.K. THE BACK ACCESS ROAD YOU SAY THERE'S NOW..USED A GREAT DEAL MORE THAN IT WAS BEFORE?



Yes.



IF THERE'S..OBVIOUSLY THERE ARE SOME INSTANCES ARE THERE WHERE IT'S STILL NECESSARY TO DRIVE ON THE HAUL ROAD?



Yes.



THERE ARE?



There is yes.



THERE ARE..O.K. IF IT WAS SHORTER AND QUICKER TO DRIVE ON THE HAUL ROAD RATHER THAN ON THE BACK ACCESS ROAD..AND YOU WERE ALLOWED TO WOULD YOU?



Right now?



YES.



If I..no I I think I'd use the back access road where ..well I do where possible..I use the back access road at all times now.



WELL..YOU'RE REALLY NOT ALLOWED ON THE HAUL ROAD RATHER THAN FOR SOME SPECIFIC PURPOSES NOW ARE YOU?



If you..if you've got to go down there to get access to a ramp or to a broken down vehicle..you know you use the haul road if there's no other alternative.



RIGHT..SO ONLY NOW WHERE THERE ARE NO..THERE'S NO ALTERNATIVES?



yes.



O.K. NO FURTHER QUESTIONS YOUR WORSHIP.

WARDEN:
YES.

REVIEWER

MR BRADY:
MR PAULL YOU SAID YOU HAD A NEAR MISS ACCIDENT AT THE SAME SITE..WITH A HAUL TRUCK..WHEN WAS THAT?

Mr Paull
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MR BRADY:
As far as I can remember it..probably be 9 months or so prior to the accident.



WELL..AM I RIGHT THEN WOULD YOU HAVE BEEN A B SAFE WORK THEN..DURING THAT PERIOD..IF IF I'VE..



Done the sums.



IF I HAD DONE THE SUMS RIGHT YOU WOULD HAVE BEEN THE B SAFE WORKER AT THAT PARTICULAR TIME?



Well when I when I said 9 months..I can't I wasn't a hundred percent sure that was 9 months..but I did have an experience and I probably was a B Safe rep during that 9 month period.



WELL DID DID YOU REPORT THAT INCIDENT TO ANYONE?



No I didn't..at that stage I..I thought it..you know that was lucky that..you know I didn't pass him and I sort of when he..when the truck pulled over and did turn I sort of like drive reasonably safely and I was back in the distance..but I could have..was thinking about passing him but then I decided no I better wait till after ..get a clear vision because there's a little bend in that part of the road..and ..I just I just didn't pass it and then..when it did turn I thought to meself..you know there was a potential there..and that's where I say there is a near miss.



OH O.K. SO THERE'S DEFINITELY THE POTENTIAL THERE YOU ALMOST EXPERIENCED IT DIDN'T IT..IN NOVEMBER IN NOVEMBER 1996..THERE'S A MESSAGE COME DOWN FROM SERAJI THAT SAYS..THIS SORT OF THING HAPPENS..SO THIS IS A REAL NEAR MISS..IT NEARLY GOT TWO OF TWO.. WE'VE GOT AN INCIDENT ON THE SITE THERE WITH A B SAFE REP..BUT 9 MONTHS LATER ALL THOSE HAZARDS ALL COME TOGETHER AND A PERSON IS DEAD..YOU KNOW I JUST FIND IT DIFFICULT TO UNDERSTAND WHY IT IS SO DIFFICULT TO SEE AN OBVIOUS HAZARD AND DO SOMETHING ABOUT IT..CAN YOU SEE MY POINT?



yeah I can see that.



YOU KNOW WHAT'S SO DIFFICULT..YOU HAVE DONE ALL THESE PARTICULAR COURSES..YOU KNOW THE..PRIOR TO THE EVENT YOU'VE DONE A..AND A LOT OF OTHER PEOPLE IN THIS MINESITE I MIGHT ADD HAVE DONE HAZARD IDENTIFICATION RISK ASSESSMENT..AND HAZARD CONTROL STRATEGIES..BUT THERE'S A THING THAT EXISTS..WHAT'S BEEN THE POINT OF ALL THOSE TRAINING EXERCISES..YOU KNOW I WHAT'S THE POINT OF ASKING ..CONDUCTING AN INQUIRY AND SAYING WELL WE SHOULD INTRODUCE MORE PROCEDURES..WE SHOULD RECOMMEND THAT MORE PEOPLE DO RISK ASSESSMENT AND RISK MANAGEMENT..WHEN..HAVE THEY WORKED IN THIS PARTICULAR CASE?



No definitely not.



YOU KNOW AN OCE ON A MINESITE..IS HE A SAFETY ADVISER A SAFETY OFFICER?



Not as far as I'm aware.



NOT AS FAR AS YOU'RE AWARE..WELL YOU KNOW AGAIN I FIND THAT ASTOUNDING THAT HERE'S A PERSON THAT'S A B SAFE REPRESENTATIVE FOR A MINESITE AND DOESN'T APPRECIATE THE ROLE THAT AND OPEN-CUT EXAMINER HAS GOT STATUTORY RESPONSIBILITIES AT ALL TO ENSURE THE SAFETY OF THE MINE AND YOU DON'T KNOW THAT HE EXISTS?



No I know he's got that..he can close ramps and he and you phone him up and get access to areas.



YOU DON'T KNOW WHERE HIS REPORT IS KEPT EVEN?



No I don't know.



YOU KNOW YOU TALKED ABOUT TRUCK DRIVERS BEING.. WELL I DON'T KNOW I DON'T WANT..



No I know that's just I mean for want of better words you could probably say that I said ignorant to the fact but..I don't know how to explain it the other way.



WELL NOW..UNDER THE WAY THE MINE IS OPERATED..AREN'T TRUCK DRIVERS MAYBE WATER TRUCK DRIVERS THE NEXT DAY?



Yeah truck drivers yeah they could be yes.



SO I COULD TAKE THAT TO MEAN THAT..THERE'S A VIEW OUT THERE THAT..TRUCK DRIVER WATER TRUCK DRIVERS DON'T CARE ABOUT ANYBODY IN A SMALL VEHICLE?



No I wouldn't say they don't wouldn't care about them I..nobody would sort of..you would imagine nobody would not care about anybody else..but I don't know how to say..I mean I'm not a water truck driver..I don't know how they talk.



WELL YOU CAN UNDERSTAND FROM OUR POINT OF VIEW IF WE HEAR THINGS LIKE THAT..WE ALSO HEAR THAT PEOPLE IN BIG TRUCKS DON'T TALK TO PEOPLE IN LITTLE TRUCKS BECAUSE WE HAVE THEM ON DIFFERENT CHANNELS..I MEAN ISN'T THIS A RECIPE FOR DISASTER?



It certainly is.



IF I LISTEN TO ONE WITNESS..MOST OF THAT HASN'T CHANGED..WOULD YOU AGREE WITH THAT?



It's not my knowledge..I'd say it's changed a hell of a lot.



IT HAS CHANGED A HELL OF A LOT?



Yes to me personally it's definitely changed.



WELL..AND BEING INVOLVED IN A RESCUE ATTEMPT IT DOES TEND TO CHANGE YOU DOESN'T IT?



I's day well..it does for me..but..



PERSONALLY IT CHANGES YOU?



..yes personally yes definitely yes.



SEE HISTORY SAYS THAT..JUST ABOUT EVERYBODY HAS GOT TO BE INVOLVED ..PERSONALLY INVOLVED IN THAT SORT OF EXERCISE BEFORE IT CHANGES THEM..IT'S A SAD STATE OF AFFAIRS ISN'T IT?



yes it is yes.



O.K. I GOT NOTHING FURTHER THANKS.

REVIEWER

MR BIRD:
I'VE GOT JUST A COUPLE OF SMALL ONES..RIGHT AT THE END OF YOUR STATEMENT YOU SAY IN THAT A WATER TRUCK DOES ABOUT 65 KILOMETRES AN HOUR..WOULD THAT BE AN AVERAGE SPEED FOR A WATER TRUCK GOING OUT ALONG THE ROAD..OR WOULD THEY GET BETTER THAN THAT?

Mr Paull
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MR BIRD:
Oh no they probably wouldn't and..probably 65 would be flat out they normally drive in probably third gear.



WHAT ABOUT A HAULER?



haulers they go a little bit quicker.



YES APPROXIMATELY WHAT SORT OF PACE WOULD THOSE HAULERS DOWN THERE DO?



Probably 75-80 kilometres.



75-80 KILOMETRES O.K. AND WHAT WOULD YOU EXPECT THE A DECENT SORT OF A SPEED FOR A LIGHT VEHICLE TO BE TRAVELLING DOWN A ROAD?



Well I'd say the mine says we're only to do 80 kilometres an hour.



O.K. SO WOULD YOU SAY THAT IF A HAULER DRIVER WAS GOING DOWN THE ROAD AT 80 KPH WOULD YOU..I'VE JUST TAKEN WHAT WE'VE GOT IN THIS STATEMENT HERE..WOULD YOU BE DOING THE RIGHT THING TO BE CLIMB UP TO 110 KPH TO PASS HIM..TO GET TO GO SOMEWHERE AT THE SAME SPEED?



No.



MAYBE THAT'S ONE OF THE REASONS WHY THE HAULER DRIVERS GET A LITTLE BIT BROWNED OFF..THANKS MATE.

REVIEWER

MR MULLER:



AS A B SAFE REP..AND..HAVE YOU BEEN INVOLVED WITH ANY RISK ASSESSMENTS?

Mr Paull
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MR MULLER:



I'll just think hang on..I'll just have a think..as as part of..actually I haven't been involved in in any of..any outside the course that we did..the course that we did..you actually did a..found went looking for something and did a risk assessment on that particular thing..as part of the course you took then..you then took it back and you had breaking it down into different you know..the risks and give it an assessment score..and then sort out a way of actually reducing that risk..or reducing that hazard..but..as far as outside of that course I personally haven't done a risk assessment on anything as a B Safe rep.



NOW IN THE TOOLBOX TALKS THAT ARE CARRIED OUT PROBABLY BY THE SUPERVISOR..DO YOU EVER GET INVITED AS THE B SAFE REP TO SHARE SOME OF THE SAFETY ISSUES?



Well I'm no longer the B Safe rep..I'm in the actual workshop..on that on my crew..and in the past no.



THAT'S ALL.

REVIEWER

MR HAMMET:



JUST IN YOUR OPINION..IS IT A COMMON OCCURRENCE THAT THE WATER CART OPERATORS DON'T TURN OFF SPRAYS..WHEN A VEHICLE IS WANTING TO PASS?

Mr Paull
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MR HAMMET:



Well it used to be..as..



THIS IS THE PREVIOUS TO THE ACCIDENT?



..previous to the accident..it used to be.



COULD I JUST REFER TO THE EVIDENCE YOU'VE SUBMITTED ..I THINK ON PAGE 6..YOU SAY IN THE SOUTHERN ROAD.. OVER THE LAST TWO WEEKS..YOU HAD OCCASIONS TO TRAVEL THAT ROAD 12 TIMES..THEN PAGE 5 YOU'RE SAYING THERE THAT THE..THE WATER CART DIDN'T SWITCH OFF THE RIGHT SPRAYS ONCE OR TWICE A WEEK..I BELIEVE THAT'S A FAIRLY HIGH OCCURRENCE..I JUST WONDER WHAT YOU'VE DONE ABOUT THAT?



Well like I said I reported it those instances to the to the mining foreman who's in charge of the drivers.



WAS THERE ANYTHING DONE THERE TO?



Not that I..only only one occasion I was aware that the..because I only saw the foreman that afternoon afternoon and I said..and what did you do about those the water truck driver..he said I've been and spoken to him and I..he was going to bring it up the next morning and like..and tell the blokes in the water trucks you know..be a bit courteous and do the right thing..so and you know I was happy enough with with what he was going to do..and that is only on the one ..the other time that I went to them and told him..you know he sort of said yeah I'll get onto it and I didn't actually get a feedback from him on that one occasion.



DID YOU GET FRUSTRATED IN THIS WHOLE PROCESS..DID YOU THINK THERE'S A..MAYBE SOMETHING THAT YOU COULD BRING UP AS A B SAFE REP OR WHATEVER TO TRY AND RESURRECT OR WHATEVER THE NEAR MISS REPORTING OR ANYTHING LIKE THAT?



Well yeah..well I suppose you do get frustrated because you feel any..any suggestions you have or anything that..in the past anyway..anything that you might have thought was valuable would just fall on deaf ears..and there's many things were reported not from me but generally with everybody else..you know you could go back..a month later and ask oh what happened and ..they'd sort of nothing had been happening and they'd sort of..you'd have to prompt them all the time to try and get something going on any particular aspect..that I was aware of for other people anyway.



DID YOU EVER THINK ABOUT ACTUALLY..IF YOU WEREN'T GETTING ANYTHING DONE AT THAT POINT WAS TO EVEN TALK TO THE MINE MANAGER OR SOMETHING?



No I didn't no..I mean..you know you go through what you assume are the right channels..like you tell the foreman..if he sees them and nothing happens and you ask again well you go and see the safety department and you think that matters are in hand there..and you sort of like..you might go for probably 2 months and you've forgotten about the incident or the actual matter that you had in hand..until something else happens that jogs your memory again and if you chase it up..it's in the backlog of all the rest of it..with all the other stuff..well it had been in the past.



YES THAT'S ALL I HAVE THANKS.

WARDEN:
THERE'S NOTHING FURTHER?

MS MALONEY:



I BELIEVE THERE IS ..AT LEAST ANOTHER QUESTION.



MR BEST..YES?

MR BEST:
MR PAULL JUST ONE ONE QUESTION AND THAT IS..YOU JUST STATED YOU GET FRUSTRATED..I DON'T I DON'T DISAGREE WITH YOU..YOU'VE PROBABLY GOT A LOT MORE PATIENCE THAN A LOT OF PEOPLE SITTING AROUND IN THIS ROOM.. BUT..ONE OF THE THINGS THAT I NEED TO ASK YOU..IS.. IS THERE ANY CHANGES BEING MADE AT THE MINE..IN REGARDS TO..INVESTIGATION..INTO THESE ISSUES..IF THEY ARE REPORTED?

Mr Paull
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MR BEST:
Yes now now things seem to be a bit different as far as I'm aware..there's feedback and there's..you it's sort of like everything that's done now is sort of like logged and it comes out on computer sheeting and it's put into certain timeframes to be to be actioned on and if if things aren't done by set dates the print out prints out..and the..and if the time isn't met from when it was supposed to be fixed it sort of like comes out highlighted and you get a letter saying if you've raised the issue you get a letter look we've resolved this or we haven't..you know it's a lot a lot more communication is happening now.



RIGHT NOW THAT..IN THE CASE OF AN INCIDENT OR A AN ISSUE THAT RESULTS IN..AN INVESTIGATION..COMING OUT WITH A SET OF CONTROL MEASURES..THAT NEED TO BE ACTIONED..WHAT ABOUT THE DELIBERATE BREACH OF DRIVING THROUGH SPRAYS OF NOT COMMUNICATING WITH WATER TRUCK DRIVERS..OR BREACHING PROCEDURES.. KNOWING THE PROCEDURES AND BREACHING THEM..BREACHING TRAFFIC RULES..IS THERE ANY CHANGE IN THAT AT THAT MINE..AT THE MINE NOW?



I haven't come across because I haven't broken any rules.



NO HAVE YOU HEARD OF ..IS THERE ANYTHING LAID DOWN.. IS THERE ANYTHING LAID DOWN ANYWHERE..IS THERE DISCIPLINE LAID DOWN?



Yeah well there's..as far as I'm aware there's more more stringent control on..on what's actually happening in the safety department and there are disciplinary procedures..we're assured we'll be set upon if we don't do the right thing.



AND THOSE DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES ARE FOR EVERYONE OR JUST A SECTION OF THE WORKFORCE..LIKE TRUCK DRIVERS?



No they're for everybody.



EVERYBODY?



Yes.



THANK YOU VERY MUCH.

WARDEN:
THANK YOU..YES?

MS GIBNEY:



NOW YOUR WORSHIP CAN I..SORRY..I JUST WANT TO CLARIFY SOMETHING ARISING OUT OF MR BRADY'S QUESTIONING..THE PLACE WHERE YOU HAD WHAT YOU DESCRIBED AS A NEAR MISS 9 MONTHS OR SO BEFORE THIS ACCIDENT..WAS..AT THE REJECT AREA?

Mr Paull
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MS GIBNEY:



yes.



CORRECT..TO THE SOUTH OF THE CURRENT STOCKPILE?



Yes leading to the reject.



AND YOU WERE AWARE OF THE EXISTENCE OF THAT AREA?



yes.



AT THE TIME?



yeah that's why..you could say..that was a contributing factor why I decided to hang back and not pass.



O.K. I JUST WANTED TO MAKE IT CLEAR THAT IT WAS NOT EXACTLY..IT WAS NOT THIS AREA?



No it wasn't that exact area no.



ONE MORE ..AND I'M HAPPY FOR YOU TO HAVE A LOOK AT THIS DOCUMENT..IF YOU'D LIKE TO..IT'S..THE EXHIBIT 8 ..DOCUMENT 14..DOCUMENT 14..MR PAULL I'LL JUST READ SOME OF THIS TO YOU AND THEN YOU CAN HAVE A LOOK AT IT YOURSELF IF YOU WANT TO BUT IF YOU WOULD JUST LIKE TO...PAGE 22 OF DOCUMENT 14...O.K. 22...NOW THIS IS A..YOU'RE WELCOME TO FLICK BACK THROUGH THIS THIS IS THE BHP COAL BLACKWATER MINE SAFETY REPRESENTATIVES COURSE PAPERS..TRAINING COURSE..HAVE YOU EVER SEEN THIS BEFORE..SORRY DON'T GO..THERE'S A LOT OF DOCUMENTS IN THERE..JUST GO TO THE..YOU KNOW ..JUST THIS SECTION.



Yeah this was..yeah part of the elements and that sort of stuff yes.



YOU'VE SEEN THIS..ARE YOU FAMILIAR WITH THIS DOCUMENT..O.K. WELL TURN TO THAT..HAVE YOU GOT THAT OPEN AT PAGE 22?



Yes.



5.4 B SAFETY..B SAFE SAFETY REPRESENTATIVE..YOU ATTEND A TRAINING COURSE..YOU ASSIST THE WORKPLACE COMMUNICATION NETWORK..ATTEND B SAFE ACTION GROUP MEETINGS..ASSIST AND ENCOURAGE THE WORK CREWS TO UNDERTAKE REGULAR INSPECTIONS OF THEIR WORK AREA AND TO CORRECT OR REPORT HAZARDS IDENTIFIED..DO YOU SEE THAT?



yes.



DID YOU UNDERSTAND THAT TO BE PART OF YOUR JOB AS A B SAFE REP..TO ASSIST..THE CREW..TO CORRECT OR REPORT HAZARDS AS IDENTIFIED?



Yeah it's part of it's part of the part of your role as a B Safe rep if people have problems they come to you and identify them and then you can carry out different assessments.



AND THE NEXT ONE ASSIST AND ENCOURAGE THE WORKFORCE TO BEHAVE IN A SAFE MANNER..AND SHARE INFORMATION RELATING TO ACTUAL OR POTENTIAL RISKS OR HAZARDS?



yeah on the occasion if you were in the workshop somebody hasn't got glasses on so to speak you jog their memory or a safety clip in an air hose or something there that they could trip but it's just general stuff that everybody in the whole workplace does.



OR IF YOU THINK YOU'VE JUST HAD A NEAR MISS WITH A COAL HAULER AND THAT WAS A POTENTIAL HAZARD WOULDN'T THAT OCCUR TO YOU THAT MIGHT BE SOMETHING THAT YOU MIGHT MENTION?



yes probably.



REPORT ON THE EFFECTIVENESS OF HAZARD CONTROL MEASURES..IF YOU LOOK OVER THE PAGE...SO YOU.. ACCEPT THAT THOSE WERE THINGS THAT YOU UNDERSTOOD?



Yeah well they were sort of like part of your..the thing here..is that..you're a diesel fitter 8 hours a day..and..a B Safe rep..sort of like on top of it it's just like an integral part you did it..like everyone was getting a stab at doing it to be made more safety aware on the whole site..and..people that had problems would come to you but I mean it wasn't my job..to be fulltime..safety department if you know what I mean..I was employed as a diesel fitter.



NO.



And this is just extra that you took on and tried to do as best you could.



FOR A 12 MONTH PERIOD?



Well it's..it wasn't..well roughly 12 months yes.



MMMM.



And being like it was in the inception period that that I started..there was just so much that was done not so much on the hazards and incidences and that side of it was more..getting the place up to NOSA standard so that we could..BHP Blackwater Mine could get a star rating..through the NOSA system.



O.K. I'VE GOT NO FURTHER QUESTIONS YOUR WORSHIP.

WARDEN:
THANK YOU..YES..ASK THAT THE WITNESS BE EXCUSED?

MS MALONEY:



UNLESS THERE ARE ANY OTHER FURTHER QUESTIONS YOUR WORSHIP MAY THIS WITNESS BE EXCUSED?



I HOPE NOT..YOU'RE EXCUSED THANK YOU.



YOUR WORSHIP IS MR LYLE BOOKER STILL WAITING OUTSIDE?



YES THANK YOU.

WITNESS DULY SWORN.



MR BOOKER CAN YOU JUST STATE YOUR FULL NAME AND ADDRESS FOR THE COURT?

Mr Booker
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MS MALONEY:



Lyle Booker 53 Stower Street Blackwater.



AND WHAT'S YOUR OCCUPATION?



Level 4 shiftman miner.



O.K. AND THAT'S AT THE BLACKWATER MINE?



yeah Blackwater Mine.



O.K. FOR BHP..AND NOW..ARE YOU AWARE OF AN INCIDENT THAT..AN ACCIDENT THAT OCCURRED ON THE 4TH OF MAY OF THIS YEAR?



yes.



O.K. AND IN RELATION TO THE INVESTIGATION INTO THAT MATTER YOU GAVE A STATEMENT TO AN INSPECTOR MIKE WALKER FROM THE DEPARTMENT OF MINES AND ENERGY?



yes.



O.K. IF THE WITNESS COULD BE SHOWN..HIS STATEMENT PLEASE....O.K. IF YOU JUST HAVE A LOOK THROUGH THAT DOCUMENT IT'S 2 PAGES..JUST CHECK IF THAT'S THE STATEMENT YOU GAVE AND THAT'S YOUR SIGNATURE THAT APPEARS ON THAT ON THAT STATEMENT?



Yeah that's the statement I made.



O.K. NOW HAVE YOU HAD A CHANCE TO READ THAT BEFORE COMING IN?



Oh through the day I had a couple of times.



ARE THERE ANY CHANGES OR ADDITIONS THAT YOU'D LIKE TO MAKE TO THAT STATEMENT?



Only one regarding the signs that I put up they would have been more equivalent to the same signs that were used about 2 to 3 weeks before that they were hauling from the same spot.



O.K. SO YOU WANT TO ADD THAT TO YOUR STATEMENT?



yeah I just.



O.K. SO THE SAME SIGNS WERE USED?



yeah I think it was roughly 2 weeks before when they actually started hauling that stockpile coal from ?/



IN THAT SAME LOCATION?



Same location.



O.K. NOW..WE MAY DEAL WITH THAT AS SEPARATE EVIDENCE WE'LL PUT THAT IN THROUGH SEPARATELY..AS FAR AS THE CONTENTS OF THAT STATEMENT THERE..TO THE BEST OF YOUR KNOWLEDGE ARE THEY TRUE AND CORRECT?



yes.



O.K.  SO THE STATEMENT IS PART OF EXHIBIT 7 YOUR WORSHIP..O.K. SO..WE'LL TAKE OFF THERE FROM WHAT YOU WERE JUST SAYING..THE SIGNS THAT WERE IN THIS LOCATION PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT..YOU'RE SAYING WERE THERE 2 TO 3 WEEKS..PRIOR WHEN THEY STARTED HAULING IN THAT AREA?



Yeah they would have been used then just while they hauled at certain times then they would have been removed..and then just..I put them back up when they commenced hauling there again.



O.K. AND THAT WAS THE THURSDAY OR FRIDAY OF THE WEEK 



Yeah Thursday afternoon shift.



RIGHT O.K. NOW...YOU DO SAY IN YOUR STATEMENT YOU'RE AN OPEN-CUT EXAMINER?



Yes.



O.K. AND YOU'VE BEEN THAT FOR ABOUT 10 YEARS?



yeah 10 to 12 years.



NOW AS AN OPEN-CUT EXAMINER..AT THIS PARTICULAR MINE DO YOU HAVE A PARTICULAR AREA OF RESPONSIBILITY AS OPEN-CUT EXAMINER?



More or less the whole minesite.



THE WHOLE MINESITE..WHAT SORT OF DUTIES DOES THAT INVOLVE BEING THE OPEN-CUT EXAMINER?



Oh I put it down to more or less being kind of a safety adviser..anything that's..happens like in the pit spoil failure dangerous high walls you might get a washout on back access roads..more or less cover those areas..report them to the appropriate foreman and..if its..they're not fixed more straight away put appropriate signs up until they are fixed..or just warning people coming into the area.



O.K. AND..IN THIS PARTICULAR INSTANCE..THE HAZARD OF TRUCKS TURNING OFF THE HAUL ROAD?



Off the road ..something that wasn't really done like I said in me statement once in a blue moon.



O.K. BECAUSE THAT PARTICULAR STOCKPILE THERE WASN'T USED ON A REGULAR BASIS?



It not really..when it was used it was more or less used for say our top seam from the southern end.. like Ramp 10 or something like that coming from that way but not from the northern end.



O.K. AND FROM YOUR STATEMENT IT WAS GURNEY CLAMP THE PIT FOREMAN?



Yeah Gurney Clamp.



SO HE TOLD YOU THAT THAT PARTICULAR STOCKPILE WAS TO BE USED?



Yeah.



AND WAS IT YOUR DECISION THEN TO PUT THE SIGNS UP?



Yeah I put the signs up because I feel that's part of our statutory duties..just to check the area out and make sure there is warning for people going into that area not familiar with it really I guess.



O.K. NOW YOU PUT THE TWO SIGNS UP O.K. ONE ON THE SOUTHERN END SAYING "TRUCKS CROSSING" SIGN?



Yeah.



WHY DID YOU USE A TRUCKS CROSSING SIGN?



Well that's on the southern end they were coming from the northern end they'd be coming across the road and more or less fully loaded..because you dump on the top side come down a hill it's easier for the truck driver then to come back on the bottom side.



O.K



So I thought it appropriate to put the crossing on the top side not the bottom side.



AND THEN AT THE AT THE NORTHERN END YOU PUT THE "CAUTION TRUCKS TURNING" SIGN?



Turning yeah.



NOW..AND YOU SAID IN YOUR STATEMENT YOU PUT IT BACK A BIT FURTHER..WHY DID YOU?



Yeah well where they were re-entering the haul road just in case they did veer out a little bit onto the wrong side it just gave traffic coming from the other side just a bit more warning.



O.K. NOW YOU TALK IN THERE ABOUT PUTTING THE WITCHES HATS BESIDE EACH SIDE..WHY IS THERE A NEED FOR THE WITCHES HATS?



Yeah well the signs they use are on a star picket and it's more or less impossible to hammer them in the haul roads..so the driver coming up has got more better visibility..and I usually put one or two hats beside them just to give or make more noticeable.



WELL HOW NOTICEABLE ARE THE SIGNS BY THEMSELVES?



Well I can notice them no worries but..maybe the size of them..to people not really out in the area they could miss them.



O.K. AND IN AN AREA THEY SAY NOT COMMONLY USED IN THIS PARTICULAR MANNER YOU SAY IT IS POSSIBLE FOR A DRIVER OR AN OPERATOR NOT TO SEE THAT SIGN?



Possibility yes.



WHAT IS THE SIGN THE AVERAGE SIGN OR THE USUAL SIZE FOR ONE OF THESE SIGNS?



I think they're roughly about 18 inches square.



O.K. SO EITHER SQUARE OR A DIAMOND SHAPE?



Yeah.



O.K. AND FROM THE PHOTO I THINK THEY'RE A YELLOW AND BLACK?



Yeah yellow and black.



ARE THEY VERY BRIGHT..THOSE PARTICULAR SIGNS?



They are considering especially night time and the lights do hit them..in daytime if they're clean you can pit them up no worries.



O.K. NOW..YOU DO MAKE COMMENT IN YOUR STATEMENT.. YOU WERE ASKED ABOUT WHAT IS YOUR OPINION OF THE SIGNAGE ON THOSE ROADS..TALKING ABOUT THE BACK ACCESS ROAD HERE..AND YOU SAY THAT THEY COULD BE A LOT BETTER..IT'S ON PAGE 2 OF YOUR STATEMENT..AND YOU'RE TALKING ABOUT THE STOP GIVE WAY AND SPEED SIGNS..WHAT ARE YOU TALKING ABOUT THERE?



That was a special area where you more or less leave the assembly area going across the haul road out to the back access roads and that..and before the accident you could also go right through what we call Mick's Junction that's more or less where all the trucks do come in to the hoppers and that to drop their coal.



NOW WHEN YOU SAY THEY COULD BE A LOT BETTER HAVE YOU EVER MADE HAVE YOU MADE ANY RECOMMENDATIONS ABOUT THOSE SIGNS ??



Yeah on and off we just more or less any little incident report to the mining foreman to put a give way or a stop sign there and then more or less it's noted and it's left up to them when they get made and that..to put them in the appropriate positions.



O.K. HAS ANYTHING BEEN DONE TO THE AREA THAT YOU WERE CONCERNED WITH?



Yes it's ..through Mick's Junction it's been completely closed off..T signs have been put in place stop signs and give way signs.



WHAT'S YOUR OPINION AS TO THE..ADEQUACY OF THE CAUTION TRUCKS TURNING SIGNS AND THE TRUCKS CROSSING SIGNS?



Now or?



WELL BEFORE THE ACCIDENT?



Before the accident..I would say they were adequate because I work in that area all the time but..maybe to other people who don't like the workshop area who don't get out a great deal maybe it mightn't be sufficient for them.



AND HAVE THOSE SIGNS CHANGED SINCE THE INCIDENT?



Yes.



HOW HAVE THEY CHANGED..AND WHAT ARE THEY NOW?



We've got bigger signs that are on a stand there you put them on..put them actually on the haul road..and also we go other signs that..notify drivers before proceeding..and there's memos put out to all areas saying what is actually going to happen in the new area..like carting rejects or new stockpiles and things like that.



I'VE NO FURTHER QUESTIONS YOUR WORSHIP.

WARDEN:
THANK YOU ..MR BEST?

MR.BEST:
THANK YOU YOUR WORSHIP..MR BOOKER..WHEN YOU JUST ON THOSE SIGNS ..WHEN YOU WENT TO REPLACE THOSE SIGNS ..THEY WERE TAKEN DOWN BY SOMEBODY..SOME OTHER OPEN-CUT EXAMINER OR TAKEN DOWN BY YOU?

Mr Booker
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MR BEST:
Yes I'd say it would have been taken down because when they've hauled their roughly two weeks before it was only for 3 or 4 shifts..and then they would have removed them and put them in the dolls house that's where we keep all our signs..because..being a shallow seam..like you only mine there for so many shifts and you've more or less caught up with the dragline and then you just go back there later on and there's sufficient coal to be mined out again.



RIGHT SO..THE ASSESSMENT TO PUT THOSE SIGNS WHERE THEY WERE WAS MADE ON THE CONDITION THAT THEY WERE THERE TWO WEEKS PRIOR?



When I say there 2 weeks they'd be more in that roughly in that same area..where I would have put them..they were up you know more..mightn't have been exactly the same spot but they would have been either end..of the stockpile..so the truck turning sign would have been there.



O.K. THE TRUCK TURNING SIGN..IF YOU CAN CAST YOUR MIND BACK TO WHERE THAT WAS PUT..WERE THERE ANY OTHER SIGNS IN THAT AREA?



yeah I believe there's a couple of power warning signs..and a..or a half broken sign there.



AND WHAT WAS ON THAT HALF BROKEN SIGN?



It was a truck warning sign when we used to cart coal from the back of Ramp 12 used to be a haul road at the water point there..where they used to come on the road..then up to rom 1.



SO THERE WAS A HALF BROKEN SIGN..CLAIMING OR STATING THAT THERE WAS A TRUCK TURNING SIGN THERE?



Yes..but..



IT WAS HALF BROKEN AND IT WAS LEFT THERE?



yeah it's on a set frame all the time you just bent it up and it wasn't in use..and it's more or less fallen apart.



SO ON THE DAY..OF THE ACCIDENT..OR ON THE NIGHT THAT YOU..OR THE AFTERNOON THAT YOU PUT THAT SIGN UP.. WHAT WAS THAT SIGN..WAS IT VISIBLE..AS A TRUCK WARNING SIGN AS A TRUCK TURNING SIGN?



Yeah truck..I say it would have been yes..but.. because when I put them in..I try and put them at an angle so there's a fraction of the sign sticking out on the road itself..because of the hardness of the ground in that area.



NOW WAS THERE ANY OTHER SIGNS..WAS THERE ANYTHING ABOUT A RAMP..ENTRANCE OR?



It was down further..Ramp 1 entrance.



RIGHT..NOW..IS THERE ANY ACTIVITY EVER AROUND RAMP 1?



Going back a long time.



GOING BACK A LONG TIME?



yeah apart from the water cart coming out occasionally from the water pipe there.



SO PEOPLE DRIVING PAST THERE HOW MUCH..RELIANCE WERE THOSE SIGNS TO WARN THEM OF OF A NEW DANGER?



Well with the..adequacy of signs that we had I thought it just more or less give them to take a bit of notice..especially when a witches hat was beside it..I felt they should have picked it up.



O.K. YOU FELT THAT THEY SHOULD HAVE PICKED IT UP BUT JUST..FURTHER IN..FURTHER DOWN TO THE NORTH OF THAT SIGN THAT YOU PUT OR THE LOCATION OF WHERE YOU PUT THE SIGN..THERE WERE OTHER SIGNS..OR THERE WAS THAT TRUCK TURNING SIGN..THE OLD TRUCK TURNING SIGN WAS JUST THERE?



Yeah it was just there..I think the power signs were just on the on the top side of it.



O.K. SO WHEN THESE..THE TRUCK TURNING SIGN THAT YOU PUT THERE..WHEN YOU TAKE THAT AWAY..THAT OLD TRUCK TURNING SIGN IT STAYED THERE..CORRECT?



Yeah but you couldn't really read it because the side that was up was the blank side..it was a fold up one.



IF IT FELL DOWN..COULD YOU READ IT?



If it fell down it could but it was wired up so the hinges on the bottom were broken so..it wouldn't actually fall down.



O.K.



When that that was..



O.K. SO THERE WAS A CLUSTER..WE WOULDN'T CALL IT A CLUSTER OF SIGNS OR WE'LL SAY THAT THERE WAS OTHER SIGNS AROUND THERE?



Other signs around it wouldn't be a cluster because when I did put it up I did notice and I did you know more or less space them.



SO YOU PUT MORE SPACE BETWEEN YOUR SIGN AND THAT OLD SIGN?



Yeah.



AND YOU SAY THAT YOU MOVED YOUR SIGN OUT A LITTLE BIT MORE ONTO THE HAUL ROAD?



yeah you try and put the top on a slight angle near a guide post so a little bit does stick out on the road because the ground is so hard you know it's hard to get a steel picket in.



RIGHT..SO THEREFORE..YOU MADE SOME OTHER ASSESSMENT OTHER THAN IT WAS JUST THERE TWO WEEKS AGO..YOU MADE SOME OTHER ASSESSMENT THAT YOU WANTED THE..OPERATORS OF LIGHT VEHICLES IS THAT CORRECT?



Or any kind of vehicle really.



ANY KIND OF VEHICLE?



yeah.



AND WHAT HEIGHT WERE THESE SIGNS SET?



It would be three foot six to 4 foot the height of a steel picket.



O.K. NOW DID YOU EVER DO AN INSPECTION AT NIGHT TIME GOING THROUGH THAT AREA..WITH YOUR LIGHTS..DID THAT SIGN..DID YOUR LIGHTS IN YOUR LIGHT VEHICLE PICK IT UP ON LOW BEAM?



It does because I'm aware of the fact the sign is there..and you more or less notice it.



O.K.



You're aware of things.



O.K. NOW WE TALK ABOUT BEING AWARE..YOU PUT A SIGN THERE..YOU'RE AWARE THAT THE STOCKPILING OPERATIONS OR THAT STOCKPILE IS NOW GOING TO BE USED..DID YOU MAKE ANYONE ELSE AWARE..THAT THAT NOW WAS GOING TO BE IN USE?



Apart from all the truck drivers that were on that shift that were carting over areas..that was the only area that was aware of it..and workshop areas like that no I didn't.



WE WON'T JUST WORRY ABOUT THE WORKSHOP AREAS WE'LL TALK ABOUT SOME OTHER FIELD WORK WORKERS LIKE ROAD MAINTENANCE PEOPLE.



Electricians.



YEAH WHAT ABOUT OTHER MINING PERSONNEL?



yeah they all knew that they were carting to that stockpile.



ALL KNEW..ALL THE MINING PERSONNEL KNEW THAT?



yeah.



WAS THERE ANY SHOTFIRING?



No.



CREWS ON THAT DAY?



No because they've..they already finished work.



O.K. WELL..YOU SAID THAT THE MAINTENANCE PEOPLE WEREN'T MADE AWARE..WHAT RESPONSIBILITIES DO YOU HAVE..IN REGARDS TO COMMUNICATING ANY..IDENTIFIED HAZARD OR SAFETY CONDITIONS..OR..OUTCOMES OF YOUR INSPECTIONS..HOW DO YOU DESCRIBE YOUR RESPONSIBILITIES HOW..WHAT RESPONSIBILITIES WOULD YOU HAVE IN COMMUNICATING THAT..THROUGH INTO THE SYSTEM?



with other areas apart from the mining area where where our report is posted..well the only time I deal with the workshop when there's a major say.. haul road upheaval where you've got holes dug and that..you notify the foreman of the workshop and if anyone's travelling that way..or if there's a drain across a back access road and their maybe a detour and that road maybe used fairly often you'll..I let the workshop know then but apart from that..more or less the only time I suppose when there's a major obstacle where it could be a big hazard to someone going in that area if they weren't quite aware of it.



WELL YOU KNOW ON THIS DAY..ON THE DAY OF THE ACCIDENT ON THE SHIFT THAT YOU ARE THE OPEN-CUT EXAMINER ON..WERE THERE ANY PEOPLE WORKING DOWN THE SOUTHERN END OF THAT STOCKPILE?



The actual stockpile itself..apart from?



THAT 2 WEST STOCKPILE AREA?



Apart from the rubbery that was levelling out after they stockpiled it that was the only part of heavy machinery that I knew was working in that area..or grader.



WHAT ABOUT..WHAT ABOUT DOWN IN THE RAMP 10 AREA?



yeah there would have been..could have been the truck shovel down in that area or hauling the coal from that end.



DID YOU..VISIT THAT AREA?



yes.



DID YOU SPEAK TO ANYONE?



Only or not really just the usual conversation because with the..that hauling the start of the shift all trucks were notified you know that the coal haulers that's where we're going..I think they might have been hauling from another ramp from the southern end and they would be more or less told about it that they would be hauling coal to that stockpile..you know keep an eye out on one another as they come into that area..which always happens in the mining area.



WHEN YOU DONE YOUR INSPECTION AT RAMP 10..CAN YOU RECALL WHAT ACTIVITIES WERE GOING ON?



I'm not quite sure..I'm not quite sure if the truck shovel was down in that area then..I don't know if it was in Ramp 10 or Ramp 9.



WELL WOULD IT HAVE BEEN RAMP 10..RAMP 9..THE TRUCK SHOVEL AREA WAS IT DOWN FOR MAINTENANCE?



I couldn't quite remember.



SO YOU DIDN'T KNOW..WHAT ACTIVITIES WERE ACTUALLY IN THAT AREA ANYWAY AS AN OPEN-CUT EXAMINER?



Yeah I..recall that say time back there would have been activities down there but I just can't quite recall what particular areas they were working at that time.



O.K. ON AFTERNOON SHIFT..ON THE AFTERNOON SHIFT.. WHEN YOU ERECTED THAT SIGN..WHAT ACTIVITIES WERE DOWN IN THAT AREA?



Just in the ramp 1 area..ramp 1 area where they were stocking the stockpile?



JUST THAT ACTIVITY?



Oh plus the truck shovel..there would have been draglines down the other end and hauling of coal.



THE DRAGLINE CREWS KNOW ABOUT HAULING INTO THAT STOCKPILE?



I'm not quite sure.



O.K.



I say they may not have.



SO YOU DIDN'T..YOU DIDN'T VISIT THEM ON YOUR INSPECTION..OR IS THAT OUT OF YOUR JURISDICTION?



No in that area..I visit that area but not all the times..I'll go up and talk to the crews..I just check the highwalls and.



ARE YOU ON THE SAME FREQUENCY AS THE DRAGLINES ON YOUR TWO-WAY?



Yes.



CAN YOU COMMUNICATE WITH THEM ON YOUR TOW-WAY?



yes.



DOWN IN THAT AREA OR IS THERE A PROBLEM WITH COMMUNICATION?



No.



SO YOU CAN TALK TO THEM..DO YOU KNOW THE GUYS ON THE DRAGLINE?



yes.



SO YOU GET ON PRETTY GOOD WITH EVERYONE ON YOUR SHIFT?



Oh more or less no worries.



NOW BETWEEN YOU AND THE FOREMAN DID YOU..THINK THERE WAS A NEED TO LET THE PEOPLE KNOW ABOUT..ANY CHANGE TO ACTIVITIES THROUGH HAULING..THROUGH THE HAULING TO THE STOCKPILE?



I guess there wasn't.



O.K. SO..BECAUSE I NEED TO ASK YOU QUESTIONS HERE  IF THOSE GUYS ARE DOWN THERE WHICH WAY WOULD THEY TRAVEL BACK?



Mainly down the haul road through Mick's Junction.



THROUGH MICK'S JUNCTION..O.K.



Past where they're stockpiling.



O.K. NOW IF YOU'RE GOING BACK THROUGH MICK'S JUNCTION AND THERE'S A..IS THERE A CHANGE TO WHAT THEY'D NORMALLY SEE HAPPENING WITH THE HAUL TRUCKS?



yes there could have been a loaded one coming from 13 instead of turning into bypass or rom 1 he would have been turning left down to the stockpile which is a rare occurrence.



IS A RARE OCCURRENCE?



MMm



SO WHEN WE HAVE A RARE OCCURRENCE..WE THEN TAKE RARE ACTION..OR WE TAKE..OR WE MAKE..SOME OF US MAKE SOME SILLY DECISIONS OTHERS TAKE CALCULATED RISKS.. WOULD YOU AGREE?



Yes.



SO THEREFORE YOU WERE AWARE OF THIS..OR DID YOU ONLY BECOME AWARE OF THIS AFTER THE ACCIDENT?



No I was aware at the start of the shift.



SO WE DIDN'T COMMUNICATE..SO WHO DID..OR DID YOU BELIEVE THAT THE WAY YOU COMMUNICATED IS THERE A PROCESS OF THE WAY YOU COMMUNICATED BY PUTTING IT ON INTO A REPORT..WOULD THAT HAVE GOT OUT?



Yes maybe or with the erection of the signs.



SO WE'VE GOT A SIGN WOULD BE GOOD ENOUGH BUT THAT SIGN'S UP OPPOSITE THE RAMP 1 AREA AND THEN THERE'S ANOTHER ONE DOWN ON THE NORTHERN SIDE OPPOSITE THE ENTRY INTO THE 2 WEST STOCKPILE CORRECT?



yes.



SO THEN WE'VE GOT THE STAT REPORT..AND WE'VE GOT WHAT ELSE?



Just the communication like that was more or less only with the other truck drivers.



SO WE KNOW IT'S A..DO WE KNOW IF WE TALK ON THE TWO-WAY THAT THE WHOLE MINE IS LISTENING TO US ON THE TWO-WAY?



Not then because we had..you have your own special truck channel 14 truck channel.



SO IF THE DRAGLINE IS ON A DIFFERENT CHANNEL?



Yes.



THEY WOULD HAVE BEEN?



yes.



MAINTENANCE PEOPLE WOULD HAVE BEEN ON A DIFFERENT CHANNEL?



yes.



SO LIGHT VEHICLES..THEY TRAVEL IN LIGHT VEHICLES THOSE DRAGLINE BLOKES DON'T THEY?



yes.



SO THEY WOULDN'T HAVE KNOWN MUCH ABOUT IT..DO YOU FEEL THAT YOU COULD IMPROVE YOUR COMMUNICATIONS WITHIN YOUR RESPONSIBILITY AS A SAFETY ADVISER AN OPEN-CUT EXAMINER?



Well after this accident I was..I feel you've got to look at every aspect and let all areas know just not just because you work in the mining area you just let them know and not other areas.



WHAT ABOUT..RISK HAZARD..HAZARD MANAGEMENT AND RISK ASSESSMENT..HAZARD AWARENESS AND RISK ASSESSMENT HAVE YOU BEEN TRAINED UP IN THAT?



We was put through a course on it yes.



HAS THAT MADE A DIFFERENCE TO THE WAY YOU..DO YOUR JOB?



Not really because..like spoil failures and loose highwalls..cracked areas..I still more or less go about the same way I done before..restrict the ramp put the appropriate signs up then notify the foreman if there's got to be a safety rill or items like that put around them.



BUT CAN YOU..ASCERTAIN BETTER CAN YOU ASCERTAIN BETTER WHEN YOU'RE DOING YOUR STATUTORY INSPECTION FOR LOOKING AT THE AREAS WHERE..HAZARDS MIGHT OCCUR CAN YOU ASCERTAIN BETTER THE POTENTIAL THE SERIOUSNESS OF THE HAZARD..OR THE POTENTIAL OF PERSONS NOT BEING EXPOSED TO THE HAZARD BY ACTIONS THAT YOU MIGHT BE ABLE TO ENCOUNTER..CAN YOU ?



yeah.



YOU CAN DO THAT..SO YOU CAN WEIGHT IT DIFFERENTLY TO WHAT YOU USED TO BE ABLE TO?



Oh in a way just by putting the appropriate signs there the right distance and everything from the actual hazard that's in the area..and I guess you could notify all areas and make sure they do know about it in case they've got to go into that area.. but you find if you have a dangerous area that you've got no..machinery whatsoever working in that area..until it either settles down or is fixed that it is stable.



WHEN WE GO TO THIS..STOCKPILE AREA WE PUT THE SIGN YOU PUT THE SIGNS UP..YOU PUT THE SIGNS UP..AND DID YOU MAKE ANY ENTRY IN YOUR REPORT ABOUT YOU PUTTING SIGNS UP THERE TO WARN PEOPLE?



No I don't believe I did that day.



SO THEREFORE WE CAN'T REALLY USE..BUT IT'S A MECHANISM THAT WE COULD USE..HAVE YOU GOT IS THERE A RESTRICTION ON WHY YOU COULDN'T PUT IT IN YOUR STATUTORY REPORT?



No..I didn't just fill me do me proper duty that day where other times I do meant to put it in me me report.



SO THERE'S NO RESTRICTION ON WITH YOU BEING ABLE TO USE THE RECORD BOOK OR THE STAT REPORT BOOK NOT THE RECORD THE STAT REPORT BOOK?



Yeah.



YOU STILL FILL THAT OUT?



yes.



WELL HAVE..YOU KNOW WHERE YOU PUT THE SIGNS HOW DID YOU KNOW..WHAT ACCESS TO FOCUS THE SIGN AT..HOW DID YOU KNOW THAT..THAT REALLY WASN'T THE ENTRY SIGN.. AND THE OTHER SIGN RAMP AREA WAS THE EXIT SIGN..EXIT ROAD?



I'd say once again you're more or less just thinking of the mining area..I guess it's mining experience or knowledge of the coal haulers that when you're stockpiling you always dump on a down a hill because it's easier to get the load off so you don't get bogged and that.



RIGHT..AND THEN..HAVE YOU..IN YOUR ROLE AS OPEN CUT EXAMINER..SAFETY ADVISER..HAVE YOU CHANGED IN THE WAY YOU DO YOUR JOB..IN REGARDS TO..EXTRA DUTIES.. BEING INVOLVED MORE IN SAFETY MANAGEMENT..OR ARE YOU JUST FOCUSSED ON?



I just try and do my job the best I can and if I see a hazard or something can be improved in an area I just go and report to like the mining foreman or senior mining foreman and we more or less swap ideas ..he'll say yeah no worries we'll go ahead and do it.



SO..THE OPEN-CUT EXAMINERS RESPONSIBILITY THAT YOU'VE UNDERTAKEN IS SPELT OUT SOMEWHERE..WHERE IS THAT SPELT OUT?



In our statutory duties book..I think it's rule 5.1. in that.



SO IT'S SPELT OUT IN THE ACT OR THE REGULATIONS BY THE MINE MANAGER?



No the Act.



HAS THE MINE MANAGER GOT ANY SPECIFIC RULES FOR YOU TO FOLLOW..OR RESPONSIBILITIES FOR YOU?



yeah it's more or less covered in the Act too.



DO YOU HAVE TO POLICE TRAFFIC RULES?



I believe it's yes.



ARE YOU AWARE OF ANY CHANGES THAT'S BEEN MADE TO THE TRAFFIC RULES..SINCE THE ACCIDENT?



The only one that I can call of is one that our senior mining foreman is the passing of heavy equipment must call up and also going into a mining area you must call that ramp and stay a certain distance from the mine ..active mining..apart from that that's I'm not aware of any new ones to that.



HAS THERE BEEN ANY CHANGES TO THE RULE PERTAINING TO THE DUTY OF GIVE WAY?



Yes it has.



IT HAS?



yes.



EVER ATTEND A TOOLBOX MEETINGS..SAFETY MEETINGS?



Yes.'



WHERE THAT'S BEEN SPELT OUT?



yes that was..a good few months again they changed the give way sign more or less the same as if you're on the open highway..because we used to have a policy out there..you more or less gave way to any loaded truck coming out of the ramp..that's all he's got to give way to anyone on that main haul way now.



RIGHT..IS IT WORKING BETTER YOU THINK?



Once everyone got to know it you know more or less as the time went on I feel it's working better now because you had a lot of truck drivers they did put up a protest more or less against it in the first place but..I believe once it's been in force for a good while now it is working a lot better.



AS A SAFETY ADVISER HAVE YOU SEEN..OR HAVE YOU BEEN INVOLVED WITH INVESTIGATING ANY NEAR MISSES?



No.



YOU HAVEN'T?



Or I've been there when it's happened or just after it's happened but any near misses..they mainly get reported to the miners officers who..by the people who may have had them..get checked out from there.



IS THERE A NEAR MISS ..IS THERE A NEAR MISS REPORT SYSTEM NOW IN PLACE DO YOU KNOW?



I believe so.



YOU HAVEN'T BEEN MADE AWARE OF IT?



no.



O.K. WITH THE..B SAFE SYSTEM..HOW FAMILIAR ARE YOU WITH THAT?



Quite reasonable..we got each got a booklet each if the hazard is not reported or fixed you can go to one better and go to the B Safe one..where I believe it's more or less got to be looked at straight away it's not..if it's not fixed through the right..the appropriate channels when you report it first up.



IS THERE ANY RESISTANCE TO THAT..DOWN IN THE WORKFORCE..DO YOU KNOW OF?



Not that I know of.



WHAT ABOUT YOUR B SAFE ..HAVE YOU HAVE THE OPEN-CUT EXAMINERS GOT A B SAFE REPRESENTATIVE OR DO THEY ANSWER TO A B SAFE REPRESENTATIVE?



No.



O.K.



We mainly just report to our apart from our registered mine manager just to the mining foreman or senior mining foreman.



DO YOU GET ON GOOD WITH YOUR FOREMAN?



yes I'd say I would.



AND..YOU'D KNOW YOU'D KNOW WHAT WENT ON ON THE SHIFT IF YOU WERE OUT THERE AS AN OPEN-CUT EXAMINER YOU'D WHAT WENT ON LIKE..IF THERE WAS A NEAR MISS OCCURRED AND OR AN INCIDENT OCCURRED YOU'D PICK UP ON IT?



Not really.



WHY NOT?



Because you'll find a lot of people have near misses they won't report them..but if there is any reported to the miners officers we do hear about them.



O.K. NOT TO THE OPEN-CUT EXAMINER..WHAT ABOUT..DOES THE FOREMAN KNOW ABOUT IT..DO YOU KNOW?



Maybe maybe not.



O.K. WE CAN ASK THAT LATER..WHAT ABOUT..THE ISSUE OF PASSING WATER TRUCKS..PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT..WERE YOU AWARE OF WHETHER OR NOT THE WATER TRUCK HAD TO COMMUNICATE WITH THE LIGHT VEHICLE BY ANY FORM OF ANY PROCEDURE?



No.



WHAT ABOUT SWITCHING THE RIGHTHAND SPRAY OFF?



Some used to some wouldn't some didn't..so sometimes it was possible to drive around the whole spray where in my position I if you had a water cart in the middle of the haul road..because I had the truck channel in the vehicle I would just call him up and just tell him I'm coming up on the inside and he'd turn that spray off..and I'd just pass him.



SO YOU USED TO COMMUNICATE WITH THE TRUCK DRIVERS?



Yes.



BUT IT WASN'T..NOT EVERYONE COMMUNICATED WITH THE TRUCK DRIVER?



No not really no.



BUT THIS IS..THEY'RE COMMUNICATING NOW?



yes.



AND THE SPRAY..THE RIGHTHAND SPRAY?



On the shifts I've been on when I'm examine they turn the spray off before the vehicle goes around and he gives him the o.k. that it's right to pass.. there's nothing coming the other way.



O.K. THANKS MR BOOKER.

WARDEN:
YES MR MELLICK?

MR MELLICK:



YES THANK YOU..YOU SAID THAT YOU COMPLETED A RISK HAZARD ASSESSMENT COURSE..WAS THAT BEFORE OR AFTER THIS ACCIDENT?
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MR MELLICK:



That was before.



NOW ON..THE FIRST OR SECOND MAY..2 OR 3 DAYS BEFORE THIS ACCIDENT YOU ERECTED THE TRUCK SIGNS..TRUCK TURNING SIGNS?



Yes.



ALRIGHT..WHAT WAS THE ASSESSMENT PROCESS THAT YOU UNDERTOOK IN DETERMINING WHAT SIGNS TO ERECT AND THE LOCATION AT WHICH YOU WOULD ERECT THEM?



I was just..I was just part of my statutory duties I that..didn't even think of that hazard report then.. to go through it and do it.



SO THE COURSE THAT YOU'D UNDERTAKEN DIDN'T BEAR UPON YOUR DECISION MAKING PROCESSES AT THAT TIME?



No not at that time..because I was under more or less in around..and I done it more or less in workshop areas..something that may hurt you or something like that..not really out in the field.



COULD I SUGGEST TO YOU THAT THE PROCESS YOU UNDERTOOK WAS REALLY A VERY MECHANICAL PROCESS THAT IS..THERE WAS GOING TO BE COAL DUMPED AT THIS AT THIS STOCKPILE..SO..YOU DECIDED YOU'D PUT SOME SIGNS UP..AND AND THAT WAS REALLY ALL THE THE ATTENTION THAT WAS GIVEN TO THAT..IS THAT FAIR?



Yes. yes that'd be it just..appropriate signs to ward other machinery coming into that area.



WELL WHO MADE THE DETERMINATION THAT THE SIGNS WERE APPROPRIATE?



Well the signs that was the only available signs with regarding to a situation like that that we had in our dolls house..where we keep all the signs.



YEAH..THERE WAS NO CHECKLIST THAT YOU HAD..THAT YOU COULD APPLY..IN DETERMINING THE SAFETY PROCEDURES FOR WHAT WAS REALLY GOING TO BECOME AN INTERSECTION?



No.



YOU MAY NO..IN DETERMINING THE SIGNS YOU MADE NO ASSESSMENT OF ..ANY SITUATIONS THAT MIGHT ARISE WITH RESPECT TO WATER TRUCKS TURNING THERE?



No not really because the water truck there is more or less part of the mining in that area..to keep the dust down..and they often follow the route of the actual haul trucks.



WELL THAT'S PRECISELY MY POINT THAT..OBVIOUSLY WATER TRUCKS WERE GOING TO BE PART AND PARCEL OF WHAT WAS GOING ON THERE..BUT NO ASSESSMENT WAS WAS MADE WITHIN THE CONTEXT OF..OF SAFETY AS TO ANY STEP OR PRECAUTIONS THAT OUGHT TO BE TAKEN BECAUSE WATER TRUCKS WOULD BE EXECUTING RIGHT HAND TURNS THERE/



No.



NOTWITHSTANDING THAT..WATER TRUCK DRIVERS ARE SITUATION ON THE LEFT SIDE OF THE VEHICLES?



I don't..unless..I don't know just human nature it's part..that long been part of the mining area you just assume that..people are aware that there will be a water cart in that area where they're hauling coal to.



RIGHT..YOU TOLD MR BEST THAT YOU DIDN'T ENTER..THE WHAT YOU DID IN TERMS OF THE SIGNS INTO THE STATUTORY REPORT..THAT'S CORRECT?



Yes.



DID YOU MAKE ANY OTHER RECORD AT ALL OF YOUR DECISION MAKING PROCESS OF YOUR CONSIDERATIONS AS TO WHAT TO DO OR OF WHAT YOU IN FACT DID?



More or less only to the foreman mining foreman and to the other truck drivers that were on there and the when I changed over with the oncoming examiner.



THIS IS AN ORAL REPORT?



More or less a verbal oral report yes.



ALRIGHT AND THAT WAS THE..END OF THE COMMUNICATION THAT YOU EFFECTED AS TO THE..DUMPING THAT WAS GOING TO GO ON AT THIS SITE?



Yeah in that area.



AND THERE WAS NO SYSTEM OR CHECKLIST YOU HAD IN PLACE THAT WOULD..THAT SUGGESTED TO YOU THAT YOU SHOULD ENSURE THAT THERE WERE ..THERE WAS A MORE EXTENSIVE COMMUNICATION?



No.



YES THANK YOU.

WARDEN:
MR LEES?

MR LEES:
YES MR BOOKER..AS PART OF YOUR STATUTORY OBLIGATIONS DO YOU HAVE THE SAFETY OF ALL EMPLOYEES OR THE RESPONSIBILITY FOR THAT?
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MR LEES:
Yes on the whole on the site.



SO WOULD IT BE FAIR TO SAY..THAT YOU WOULD HAVE THE RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE SAFETY OF MAINTENANCE PEOPLE?



Travelling on access roads and that yes.



SO WOULDN'T IT BE PART OF YOUR RESPONSIBILITY TO MAKE SURE THAT MAINTENANCE PEOPLE WERE AWARE OF ANY HAZARDS THAT THEY MAY BE CONFRONTED WITH IN DRIVING ALONG A HAUL ROAD OR ANYWHERE AROUND THE MINESITE?



yes.



WELL WHY IS IT THAT..IT SEEMS IN YOUR STATEMENT THAT YOU REPORT..THESE SORT OF HAZARDS ETC. TO THE RELEVANT PIT OR DRAGLINE FOREMAN OR SENIOR PIT OR DRAGLINE FOREMAN OR A PRODUCTION FOREMAN..FOR EXAMPLE IF THE ACCESS ROAD HAS A A HAZARDOUS AREA IN IT..LIKE A DITCH OR A WASHOUT OR SOMETHING LIKE THAT YOU REPORT IT TO THOSE PEOPLE..AND NOT TO THE PEOPLE THAT MIGHT BE TRAVELLING ON IT?



yeah before I report to those areas we always put adequate signs up..warning people there is a ditch there until it is fixed.



SO YOU ..RELY ON THE SIGNAGE?



yeah that's put in there until it's fixed properly then we remove them..as far as I've been noticing that's been always the format that you put signs up if that or if it can't be fixed straight away and report it to the mining area because that's the area where the machines are to fix that hazard.



I CAN UNDERSTAND THAT..DO YOU ENTER THOSE INCIDENCES INTO YOUR STATUTORY REPORTS?



yes.



SO THEY'RE NORMALLY..LISTED INTO THE STATUTORY REPORT?



yeah if there's a major washout or water across back access roads from rain or anything like that.



WHY WOULD YOU PUT MORE EMPHASIS ONTO A PRODUCTION AREA THAN TO AN ACCESS AREA..IF PEOPLE IN THE MINING ON THE MINING LEASE ARE GOING TO USE THE ACCESS AS A NORMAL PART OF THEIR DUTIES..COMPARED TO PRODUCTION PEOPLE USING THE MINING OPERATION AS PART OF THEIR DUTIES WOULDN'T THERE BE EQUAL PRIORITIES ON THEM WHY WOULD YOU PRIORITISE ..SAFETY HAZARDS?



yeah I guess me reason for that is more or less where we start you start with the mining areas and you more or less cover those areas first..if there's everything is safe there..and then you more or less go round and do the back access roads..after you do the main working areas.



YEAH BUT..IF A HAZARD IS FOUND..IT SEEMS TO ME IN YOUR STATEMENT THAT..THERE IS MORE PRIORITY PUT ON THE RECORDING AND THE FIXING UP OF HAZARDS IN THE PRODUCTION AREA THEN THERE IS IN THE ACCESS AREA.. AND I'LL SAY TO YOU THAT ACCESS AREA IS JUST AS IMPORTANT IF NOT MORE IMPORTANT SOME OF THE EMPLOYEES OUT THERE THAN THE PRODUCTION AREA?



Yes I agree with you there but the availability of the machines to fix a hazard in the mining area it's a lot quicker than to have one on the back access roads.



SO IN THIS PARTICULAR CASE WHEN YOU PUT THE SIGNAGE UP..YOU RELIED ON A VERBAL REPORTING TO THE ONCOMING OCE HENCE RELIED ON HIM TO INFORM HIS PARTICULAR SHIFT HENCE HOPED THAT THAT WAS CARRIED ON TO THE NEXT SHIFT?



Yes.



RATHER THAN IT BE RECORDED IN A OCE STATUTORY REPORT?



Most times I do put it in there but..one of those things I just completely forgot to put it in.



SO IT MEANT THAT ALL EMPLOYEES COMING ONTO THE FOLLOWING SHIFTS AFTER THE SIGNS WERE INITIALLY ERECTED UP THERE..HAD TO DEPEND ON THIS VERBAL COMMUNICATION TYPE SYSTEM RATHER THAN THE STATUTORY OBLIGATION SYSTEM WHERE IT'S RECORDED IN WRITING HENCE THE REPORT PUT IN AN AREA WHERE ALL PEOPLE ON THE MINING LEASE COULD READ IT?



Yes.



I'VE GOT NO FURTHER.

WARDEN:
ARE YOU GOING TO BE VERY LONG MS GIBNEY?

MS GIBNEY:



YOUR WORSHIP I KNOW WE'D LIKE TO FINISH WITH THIS WITNESS TONIGHT BUT I GUESS 5 MINUTES.



I'M HAPPY TO KEEP GOING IT'S JUST THAT IT'S I DIDN'T REALISE WE WERE GOING TO GO SO LATE..I DON'T WANT TO CUT YOU SHORT THOUGH..THE CONDITIONS ARE GETTING A LITTLE BIT WARM..WE CAN'T GET ACCESS TO THE AIR CONDITIONING.



WELL COULD YOU..



IF YOU'RE NOT GOING TO BE TOO LONG WE'LL KEEP GOING.



I WON'T BE NO..CAN YOU JUST HAVE A LOOK AT THESE PHOTOGRAPHS THEY ARE..WELL I SHOULD TAKE THIS ONE E15 FROM INSPECTOR WALKER'S REPORT..IS THE PHOTOGRAPH THAT I'M SHOWING THE WITNESS..IS THAT THE SIGN YOU ERECTED?
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MS GIBNEY:



Yes.



ONE OF THE SIGNS YOU ERECTED..CAN YOU IDENTIFY IN THAT PHOTOGRAPH THE OLD DISUSED FOLDED UP TRUCK TURNING SIGN?



Yes that's more or less the one right behind it or a distance from it.



IT'S A DISTANCE FROM IT ISN'T IT?



yes.



AND IT'S ROLLED UP AND YOU CAN'T SEE WHAT IT SAYS CAN YOU?



No.



SO..AND YOU SAID THAT THAT WAS..FIXED WITH WIRE SO THE ..



Yes the hinges down the bottom when we used to use it it just flaps down and there's wire wrapped around it so that it couldn't fall.



SO YOU'VE GOT ONE TRUCK TURNING SIGN THERE NOT TWO?



Yes.



SO YOU DIDN'T THINK THAT WAS CONFUSING?



No because the other one was wired up.



RIGHT O.K. YOU CAN HAND THAT BACK..WHY DID YOU PUT THE SIGNS UP THE TRUCK TURNING SIGNS AND TRUCK CROSSING SIGNS?



I just felt as part of me duties..just for warning.



TO WARN PEOPLE?



Vehicles.



TO WARN PEOPLE?



Oh make them aware of that there could be trucks turning in front of them when they're going along there.



RIGHT..WHEN YOU PUT THEM UP DID YOU PUT THEM UP TO WARN PEOPLE..DID YOU EXPECT THAT THEY WOULD BE NOTICED?



i thought so yes.



RIGHT DO YOU DRIVE A CAR?



yes.



HOW DOES THE MAIN ROADS DEPARTMENT WARN YOU AS A ROAD USER ABOUT HAZARDS ON THE ROAD?



road signs and speed signs.



RIGHT..HOW WOULD YOU COMPARE THE SIZE OF THE SIGNS THAT YOU PUT UP..WITH THE SIGNS THAT YOU FOUND ON THE ROAD?



I they're smaller than their main road work signs I thing..the same size as their speed signs.



RIGHT..THIS IS A BIT DIFFICULT QUESTION TO ANSWER BUT HAVE YOU EVER DRIVEN THROUGH A GIVE WAY SIGN OR IGNORED A STOP SIGN OR MISSED A SIGN AND HAD YOUR PASSENGER GIVE YOU A BIT OF A BROW BEATING FOR THAT?



Not really maybe a red light but..a sign no.



YOU HAVEN'T EVER MISSED A SIGN..YOU'RE GOOD?



I might go..might go a little bit past them but not completely through them.



O.K. SIGNS ARE BETTER THAN LIGHTS FOR YOU?



yes.



ALRIGHT THEN..HAVE YOU EVER SEEN AN INCIDENT OR ACCIDENT REPORT WITH THE FORM THAT'S USED AT BLACKWATER?



Yes.



DO YOU RECALL WHETHER THEY HAVE A..IT'S AN ACCIDENT REPORT AND AN INCIDENT REPORT?



Yes.



SO AN INCIDENT IS NOT AN ACCIDENT CORRECT?



Yes.



WHAT'S AN INCIDENT?



It's something that..more or less did happen or nearly could have happened and there's only say machinery damaged.



ALRIGHT NEARLY COULD HAVE HAPPENED?

WARDEN:
MS GIBNEY SORRY ..I'M JUST GOING TO ADJOURN FOR A FEW MINUTES..WE'LL BE BACK IN A FEW MINUTES.



THIS IS MY LAST QUESTION.



NO I THINK WE'LL ADJOURN FOR A FEW MINUTES..I WANT TO FINISH THIS WITNESS OFF..BUT..FOR VARIOUS REASONS WE'LL JUST ADJOURN FOR A FEW MINUTES THANK YOU.

INQUIRY ADJOURNED

INQUIRY RESUMED.

WARDEN:
YES THANK YOU.

MS GIBNEY:



NOW I THINK I WAS PROBABLY ABOUT TWO THIRDS OF THE WAY THROUGH SO I'LL GO TO THAT QUESTION AGAIN..IF YOU DON'T MIND...YOU SAID THAT YOU HAD..WERE FAMILIAR WITH THE ACCIDENT INCIDENT REPORT AND YOU DESCRIBED AN INCIDENT AS WHAT..COULD YOU JUST DESCRIBE AN INCIDENT TO ME AGAIN?



I feel it's just where something does happen like a collision and just the machinery is more or less damaged in a way and there's nobody..no one hurt.



AND ARE YOU..AWARE OF THE FACT..AND I MUST ASK YOU TO TAKE IT AS A FACT AT THE MOMENT..THAT THERE IS A NEAR MISS BOX ON THAT REPORT?



I believe there is yes.



YOU DO?



yes.



YOU'RE AWARE OF THAT..I HAVE NO FURTHER QUESTIONS YOUR WORSHIP.

WARDEN:
THANK YOU.

REVIEWER

MR BRADY:
YEAH MR BOOKER..THE..YOU KNOW WE..YOU WERE ASKED ABOUT SIGNS PUTTING UP THE SIGNS AND GIVEN AN ANALOGY OF A SIGN OUT ON THE HIGHWAY..BUT IF THERE'S TRUCKS TURNING ON THE HIGHWAY..WHERE WOULD YOU EXPECT THE SIGN TO BE IN RELATION TO WHERE THE TRUCK'S TURNING?
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MR BRADY:
So many metres before the actual turn itself.



O.K. SO THE SIGNS THAT YOU PUT UP FOR THIS PARTICULAR AREA ..IN RELATION TO WHERE THE TRUCKS TURN IN IS OVER 500 METRES AWAY..WOULD YOU EXPECT TO SEE THAT ON THE HIGHWAY?



Not really.



NOT REALLY WOULD YOU?



No.



I MEAN TO SAY THOSE SIGNS..AS THEY RELATE TO THAT PARTICULAR TASK OF THE TRUCKS TURNING INTO THAT STOCKPILE AREA..I WOULD ARGUE THEY'VE GOT ABSOLUTELY NOTHING TO DO WITH IT..THEY'RE RATHER POINTLESS AREN'T THEY?



Yes when you look at it now it should have been two at either where they enter and where they were leaving the stockpile.



SO..YOU KNOW THOSE TRUCKS AT THOSE SIGNS YOU'VE GOT THOSE SIGNS 70 METRES AWAY FROM THE EXIT?



The first one.



THE FIRST ONE 70 METRES AWAY FROM THE EXIT..BUT THEN THERE'S NOTHING TO THE ENTRANCE TO THE DUMP UNLESS YOU'RE COMING FROM THE SOUTH AND GOING TO THE NORTH THAT'S CORRECT ISN'T IT?



yes.



SO YOU KNOW WOULDN'T IT BE SAFER TO SAY THAT THOSE SIGNS WERE NOT PUT UP THERE BECAUSE SOMEBODY HAS IN FACT IDENTIFIED A HAZARD ..THEY'RE JUST PUT UP THERE AS A MATTER OF COURSE THAT THIS IS A TRUCK TURNING AREA?



More or less to the stockpile yes.



O.K. I'VE GOT NOTHING FURTHER THANKS.

MR BIRD:
MR BOOKER..YOU SAID IN HERE THAT..IT WAS OPEN-CUT EXAMINERS YOU HAVE FULL RESPONSIBILITY TO LOOK AFTER THE SAFETY OF ALL PEOPLE IN THE MINE..DO YOU THINK THAT YOU'VE TAKEN ON A LITTLE BIT TOO MUCH THERE AND REALLY WHAT YOU MEANT IN THAT AREA THAT..

Mr Booker

XD BY

MR BIRD:
What I meant was more or less in the field.



BUT YOU SORT OF POLICE THE ACT IN ACCORDANCE.. EVERYTHING IS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE ACT AND ALSO THE COMPANY'S POLICIES AND THEIR PROCEDURES LIKE THE ..LIKE THE MINE TRAFFIC RULES..AND IT'S UP TO EVERY INDIVIDUAL ON THE MINESITE..AND IT'S THEIR RESPONSIBILITY TO ADHERE TO THOSE POLICIES RULES AND ACT AS WELL..DO YOU BELIEVE THAT IS THE CASE OR IS IT YOUR TOTAL RESPONSIBILITY?



No I..I'm more or less referring to the..the field area where hauling on back roads..access to those areas and that..but like you say it's up to the individual with road rules and things like that they should abide by them without being refreshed all the time.



O.K. THANK YOU.

MR HAMMET:




YES..ARE YOU AWARE OF THE MANAGER'S INSPECTION RULES?

Mr Booker

XD BY

MR HAMMET:



Yes.



THESE ARE SPECIFIC RULES THAT HAVE BEEN OUTLINED BY THE MANAGER..NOT WHAT'S IN THE ACT?



Yeah I'm only more or less aware of the ones in the Act.



SO HAS THAT CLEARLY BEEN BROUGHT TO YOUR INTENTION WHAT THE MANAGER'S INSPECTION RULES ARE?



No not really no.



WAS THERE AN ENTRY MADE AT ALL IN THE STATUTORY BOOK TO ACTUALLY..ON THIS PARTICULAR DAY THAT WERE HAULING FROM THE PIT TO THE STOCKPILES?



no..I..completely slipped my..when I wrote me report for that day I didn't put it in there..not in my report..as far as the one in the manager's one..I couldn't say.



O.K. THAT'S ALL I HAVE.

WARDEN:
THANK YOU.

MR BIRD:
MR BOOKER JUST ONE MORE..WOULD YOU HAVE SIGNED IT'S LIKE A WRITTEN ACCEPTANCE THAT THAT YOU WERE GOING TO PERFORM THE OPEN-CUT EXAMINERS DUTIES..AND ANY OTHER DUTIES OUTSIDE OF THAT..AT THE MINESITE DOWN THERE?



No I..



AT ANY TIME?



When I got me open-cut examiners ticket..I believe I signed something then.



O.K.



But I couldn't recall it's that far back now.



NO WORRIES..THANKS MATE.

WARDEN:
O.K. THERE'S NO FURTHER QUESTIONS.

MS MALONEY:



I DON'T THINK SO YOUR WORSHIP..MAY THE WITNESS BE EXCUSED?



YES YOU'RE EXCUSED THANK YOU..IF WE CAN ADJOURN OVER TILL 9 O'CLOCK IN THE MORNING IF THAT SUITS ALL PARTIES..JUST ONE FURTHER THING..IN RELATION TO MR VAN DER KLOOSTER..I'VE GOT A NOTE THAT HE'S IN HOSPITAL..AND I UNDERSTAND FROM THE..PARTIES THAT HIS ATTENDANCE ISN'T REQUIRED.



NO THAT'S RIGHT..WE'VE HAD SOME DISCUSSIONS ABOUT MR VAN DER KLOOSTER DURING THE DAY..EVERYONE I THINK IS HAPPY TO RELY ON HIS STATEMENT AND NOT REQUIRE HIS ATTENDANCE..THE INFORMATION I THINK CONTAINED IN HIS STATEMENT HAS ALREADY BEEN COVERED BY OTHER WITNESSES AS WELL.



O.K. WELL SEEING HE'S A SUBJECT OF A SUBPOENA I'LL FORMALLY DISCHARGE HIM FROM THAT SUBPOENA.



THANK YOU YOUR WORSHIP.



AND WE'LL ADJOURN TILL 9 IN THE MORNING..THANK YOU.

INQUIRY ADJOURNED TO 9AM 3/12/97.

START OF DAY TWO

WARDEN:
YES FOR THE RECORD THIS IS THE CONTINUATION OF AN INQUIRY INTO A FATAL ACCIDENT WHICH OCCURRED TO MR DALE GADSBY AT BLACKWATER MINE ON THE 4TH OF MAY 1997.  YES THANKYOU.

MS GIBNEY:



YOUR WORSHIP I HAVE ONE PRELIMINARY MATTER.  THE STATEMENT OF ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR MACDONALD CHRISTY IS THE FINAL DOCUMENT IN EXHIBIT 8 THE BHP FOLDER OF DOCUMENTS.  THAT IS JUST A PHOTOCOPY AND I THINK IT'S APPROPRIATE THAT THE SIGNED ORIGINAL OF THAT STATEMENT SHOULD FORM PART OF THE RECORD.

WARDEN:
YES THANKYOU.

MS GIBNEY:



AS YOU KNOW PROFESSOR CHRISTY IS NOT GOING TO BE CALLED AS A WITNESS.  I ASSUME THAT THE PANEL HAVE READ THE MATERIAL AND I JUST DRAW THEIR ATTENTIONS PARTICULARLY TO THE FINAL PARAGRAPH WHERE PROFESSOR CHRISTY MAKES IT CLEAR THAT THE LEVEL OF 105? AT THAT LEVEL THE POSSIBILITY OF IMPAIRMENT EXISTS BUT THE DATE DOES NOT PERMIT A CONCLUSION AS TO WHETHER IMPAIRMENT WAS IN FACT PRESENT AND ALSO PARAGRAPH 5 OF THE STATEMENT WHERE PROFESSOR CHRISTY SAYS THAT THE LEVEL IS ONE THAT HE WOULD RECOMMEND AS REQUIRING A PERSON TO BE RELIEVED TEMPORARILY FROM WORK DUTIES EVEN THOUGH HE CANNOT DRAW ANY CONCLUSION AS TO IMPAIRMENT.  THOSE ARE THE PARTICULAR PARTS OF THAT STATEMENT TO WHICH WE REFER YOU.

WARDEN:
YES I'LL FORMALLY ADMIT THAT.  IT WILL BE EXHIBIT NUMBER 11.  YES MS MALONEY.

MS MALONEY:



YES YOUR WORSHIP THERE'S ALSO A PRELIMINARY MATTER.  WE HAVE A MEDICAL CERTIFICATE IN RELATION MR VAN DER KLOOSTER WHO FORMALLY DISCHARGE FROM ATTENDING LAST NIGHT.  I'D HAND UP THE MEDICAL CERTIFICATE.  

WARDEN:
THAT'LL BE EXHIBIT NUMBER 12.

MS MALONEY:



YOUR WORSHIP I'D CALL MR CRAIG CATON.

WARDEN:
YES.

WITNESS DULY SWORN.

MS MALONEY:



MR CATON COULD YOU PLEASE STATE YOUR FULL NAME AND ADDRESS FOR THE COURT?

Mr Caton:
Craig Ian Caton.  2 26 Mile Street Blackwater.



AND WHAT'S YOUR OCCUPATION?



I'm a mining engineer.



AND WHAT WAS YOUR OCCUPATION AS AT THE 4TH OF MAY?



I was a relief mining foreman.



AT WHICH MINE?



Blackwater Mine.



NOW DO YOU RECALL..YOU'RE AWARE OF THE INCIDENT THAT OCCURRED ON THE 4TH OF MAY THIS YEAR AT THE MINE?



Yes.



AND DO YOU RECALL GIVING A STATEMENT TO INSPECTOR MIKE WALKER FROM THE DEPARTMENT OF MINES AND ENERGY?



Yes.



IF YOU JUST I THINK THERE'S IN THAT FOLDER IN FRONT OF YOU I THINK IT'S BEEN OPENED TO THAT STATEMENT THERE..THAT STATEMENT.  COULD YOU JUST HAVE A LOOK THROUGH THAT AND IDENTIFY WHETHER THAT IS THE STATEMENT YOU PROVIDED AND CHECK YOUR SIGNATURE ON EACH PAGE.  IS THAT THE STATEMENT YOU PROVIDED?



That's correct.



NOW HAVE YOU HAD A CHANCE TO HAVE ANOTHER READ OF THAT STATEMENT BEFORE COMING TO COURT TODAY?



Yes.



ARE THERE ANY CHANGES OR ALTERATIONS YOU WISH TO MAKE TO THAT PARTICULAR STATEMENT?



Just with regard to the name of the stockpile I called it..it's seen there as ? West.  Wherever it appears there it should be Ramp 2 West.  It's referred to that interchangeably.



OK THAT IN FACT IS THE OLDER NAME FOR IT?



That's right yes.



OK SO YOU'D LIKE TO CHANGE YOUR STATEMENT WHEREVER IT SAYS ? TO READ RAMP 2.



Ramp 2 yep.



AND NOW TO THE BEST OF YOUR KNOWLEDGE ARE THE CONTENTS OF THAT STATEMENT TRUE AND CORRECT?



Yes.



YOUR WORSHIP THAT STATEMENT FORMS PART OF EXHIBIT 7.  NOW YOU JUST STATED THAT YOUR OCCUPATION AS AT THE 4TH OF MAY WAS RELIEF FOREMAN.  WHAT DID ENTAIL?



Supervision of stripping and mining crews when they're permanent supervisor was on annual leave or absent for training courses etcetera.



AND IN RELATION TO THAT POSITION HOW LONG HAD YOU BEEN RELIEF FOREMAN AT THAT PARTICULAR TIME?



I started towards the end of October the previous year so seven eight months.



AND ON THAT PARTICULAR DAY FROM YOUR STATEMENT YOUR SHIFT STARTED AT 2.30AM.  



That's correct.



HOW LONG A SHIFT WERE YOU ON FOR THAT DAY?



Sorry?



HOW LONG WAS YOUR SHIFT FOR THAT DAY?



12 hours.



NOW.  DID YOU HAVE A PARTICULAR AREA WITHIN THE MINE ITSELF THAT WAS UNDER YOUR CONTROL ON THAT DAY?



The stripping are for the night shift and the stripping and mining activities on the Sunday.



SO WHEREVER THAT WAS OCCURRING ON THE LEASE FOR THAT DAY YOU WERE SUPERVISING FOR THAT?



That's right.



NOW..AND FROM YOUR STATEMENT WHEN THE DAY SHIFT CREW ARRIVED YOU GAVE THE INSTRUCTIONS AS TO WHAT WAS TO BE DONE ON THAT PARTICULAR DAY?



That's correct.



OK THAT INCLUDED WHERE THE MINING WAS TO BE DONE AND FROM THE STATEMENT INCLUDED GIVING THE DIRECTIONS THAT THERE WAS MINING FROM RAMP 13 AND WAS TO BE THEN TAKEN TO OR RAMP 2 WEST STOCKPILE?



That's correct.



DID YOU SPEAK TO EVERYONE THAT WAS ON SHIFT THAT DAY?



All the mining people I did in allocating their jobs yes.



WHAT ABOUT ANY OF THE MAINTENANCE WORKERS.  THEY'RE LIKE A DIFFERENT AREA OF WORKERS.  DO YOU HAVE ANY CONTACT WITH THEM?



I have contact with the foreman.  The maintenance foreman.



AND WHAT WAS THE NATURE OF THAT?



In relation to plant and equipment that is under maintenance.  When particular items will be ready to come onto the mine.  What equipment would need to be brought in for scheduled or planned maintenance.  Discussions of that nature.



WERE THERE EVER ANY DISCUSSIONS WITH HIM AS TO WHERE THE MINING WAS BEING DONE ON THAT DAY AND WHERE IT WAS BEING HAULED TO?



No not to my knowledge.



WHO WOULD MAKE THE ACTUAL DECISION AS TO WHERE MINING WAS ACTUALLY BEING CONDUCTED?



The senior mining foreman.



AND DO YOU KNOW WHO THAT WAS AT THAT TIME?



Darryl Wockner.



SO WHEN YOU HAD THAT INFORMATION WHICH YOU PROVIDED TO THE DAY SHIFT CREW YOU HAD BEEN YOURSELF PROVIDED WITH THAT INFORMATION?



That's correct.



AND WHEN WOULD THAT DECISION BE MADE FOR THAT.. WHERE THAT MINING WAS TO OCCUR?



I couldn't be exactly sure but Darryl would have been guided by a mining plan.



HAD THAT OCCURRED LIKE WAS IT JUST THAT DAY OR HAD IT OCCURRED SOMETIME BEFORE THAT?



No I discussed it on the Friday.  The mining activities for the weekend.  Who was coming in and..



OK.  NOW WITH YOUR POSITION AS BEING RELIEF FOREMAN DO YOU TRAVEL AROUND THE MINE SITE DURING THE SHIFT?



Yes.



AND HOW DO YOU TRAVEL AROUND THE SITE?  WHAT SORT OF VEHICLE DO YOU USE?



I use a Toyota Landcruiser station wagon.



SO WE'D TERM THAT AS A LIGHT VEHICLE SO FAR AS VEHICLE SIZE IS CONCERNED?



Yes.



AND YOU WOULD DO THAT REGULARLY.  YOU'D DRIVE AROUND?



Yes.



CAN YOU JUST TELL US FROM YOUR POSITION WHAT THE PROCEDURES WERE ANY PARTICULAR PROCEDURES THAT WERE TO BE FOLLOWED WHEN DRIVING AROUND THE SITE.  FIRSTLY IN PARTICULAR TO OVERTAKING ANY HEAVY VEHICLES YOU MIGHT COME ACROSS?



At the time of the accident.  Overtaking any heavy vehicles just require there to be clear vision and free of any intersections.



OK WAS THERE ANY SPECIFIC REQUIREMENT IF YOU CAME ACROSS A WATER TRUCK THAT WAS ACTUALLY WATERING THE ROAD SURFACE?



Similar.  There was a safety brief which in effect required their water sprays to be turned off prior to overtaking and once again you had to have clear vision and be free of any intersections.



HAD THERE BEEN ANY CHANGES TO THAT PROCEDURE SINCE THE ACCIDENT?



Not to my knowledge.



YOU WOULD HAVE BEEN AWARE OF THE MINE TRAFFIC RULES?



Yes.



WOULD YOU HAVE HAD A COPY OF THOSE AT THE TIME OF THE ACCIDENT?



In my office yes.



YOU WOULD HAVE BEEN FAMILIAR WITH WHAT THE RULES REQUIRED OBVIOUSLY WHEN TRAVELLING ON THE SITE?



Yes.



NOW AT THE TIME..AND HAVE THERE BEEN CHANGES TO THOSE RULES SINCE THIS ACCIDENT?



Yes with relation to overtaking of any heavy vehicle.  It now requires positive radio contact to be established.



NOW TALKING ABOUT THAT POSITIVE RADIO CONTACT.  AT THE TIME OF THE INCIDENT IF YOU WERE TRAVELLING IN A LIGHT VEHICLE AND YOU WERE COMING UP TO A HEAVY VEHICLE WOULD YOU HAVE BEEN ABLE TO HAVE RADIO COMMUNICATION DIRECTLY WITH THAT HEAVY VEHICLE?



Yeah it's possible yes.



HOW WOULD YOU HAVE HAD TO HAVE DONE THAT?



Just call the number of the vehicle.



WERE THEY ON THE SAME CHANNEL AT THAT TIME?



No.  No. the mining channel was different from the general stripping frequency so yeah obviously I would have to change channels before calling.



WHAT CHANNEL WOULD YOU HAVE USED AS RELIEF FOREMAN IN RELATION TO MINING ACTIVITIES.  WHAT CHANNEL WOULD YOU GENERALLY HAVE BEEN TUNED INTO?



Predominantly 11.  Or I'd have it on scan.



AND THAT'S DISTINCT FROM THE MAINTENANCE..THE CHANNEL 4 AS WELL.



Yeah that's the mining channel..channel 14.



SO YOU WOULD HAVE BEEN ON THE..



I was on the general stripping which channel 1 or channel 11..the main channel.



HAS..YEAH YOU TALK NOW ABOUT POSITIVE COMMUNICATION HAS THERE BEEN ANY CHANGE TO THAT SET UP OF THE DIFFERENT CHANNELS SINCE THIS ACCIDENT?



We're now operating on one channel.  Channel 1.



NOW IN RELATION TO THE PARTICULARLY THE HAULAGE OF COAL TO THE RAMP 2 WEST STOCKPILE YOU ARRANGED FOR SOME WARNING SIGNS TO BE PUT UP AROUND THAT AREA?



No I just communicated the intention to mine from and where to to the oncoming opencut examiner.



OK WELL WHO WOULD HAVE TOLD YOU TO HAVE THE WARNING SIGNS PUT UP?



That's accepted practice that the warning signs go up.



SO YOU JUST PASSED THAT INFORMATION ON TO THE OCE?



Yes.



NOW DID YOU GIVE PARTICULAR DETAIL AS TO HOW THEY WERE TO BE ERECTED OR WAS THAT SOMETHING THAT WAS LEFT TO THE OCE?



That was left to the OCE.



DID YOU CHECK THAT THE SIGNS HAD IN FACT BEEN PUT UP OR ALTERNATIVELY WERE YOU INFORMED THAT THEY HAD BEEN PUT UP?



I did see them later on that morning..mid morning.. travelling down to the southern end of the mine.



NOW TALKING ABOUT TRAVELLING TO THE OTHER END OF THE MINE.  WHAT WAS THE PURPOSE OF HAVING THE BACK ACCESS ROAD?



What was the purpose of sorry?



THE BACK ACCESS ROAD?



The purpose of the back access road was to or is to get light vehicles or the main haul road.



WAS THAT THE..WAS THAT IT'S USE AT THE TIME OF 4TH OF MAY 1997?



That's right it was encouraged to be used for that intention.



IT WAS ENCOURAGED BUT WAS IT A REQUIREMENT THAT YOU HAD TO USE THE BACK ACCESS ROAD?



No.



WHEN WERE YOU ENTITLED TO USE THE MAIN HAUL ROAD?



If access via the back access road wasn't applicable or couldn't get you to your final destination or if you had to inspect or go down various ramps.



HAD YOU ACTUALLY USED THE BACK ACCESS ROAD EITHER ON THE 4TH OR PRIOR TO THE 4TH OF MAY?



Yes.



WHAT WAS ITS CONDITION AT THAT TIME?



It was under construction in certain areas.  In particular between 8 and 10 so it was opened from 1 to 8.



HAS THERE BEEN ANY CHANGE TO THE REQUIREMENTS TO USE THE BACK ACCESS ROAD SINCE THE ACCIDENT?



Not as such.  More reinforcing of getting light vehicles onto it.  It's more strictly adhered to now.



OK.  I HAVE NO FURTHER QUESTIONS YOUR WORSHIP.

WARDEN:
THANKYOU.  YES MR BEST.

MR BEST:
THANKYOU YOUR WORSHIP.  MR CATON HAVE YOU BEEN TRAINED IN HAZARD AWARENESS AND RISK ASSESSMENT?



Yes I have.



WERE YOU TRAINED PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT?



Yes.



YOU WERE?



The hazard awareness no.  The risk assessment yes.



HAZARD AWARENESS NO.  RISK ASSESSMENT YES.



Hazard awareness course recently conducted by Jim Knowles under that which included elements of risk assessment.



SO IN YOUR OPINION RISK ASSESSMENT IS DIFFERENT TO THE HAZARD AWARENESS IS IT BECAUSE OF THE PROCESS OR IS IT BECAUSE OF THE WAY YOU CONDUCT YOURSELF IN DOING YOUR JOB?



I think one follows the other.  You need to identify the hazard and then the risk assessment is the next step. 



SO IF YOU IDENTIFY THE HAZARD WOULD YOU ASSESS THE RELEVANT PROCEDURES IF THERE ARE RELEVANT PROCEDURES IN PLACE.  WOULD YOU ASSESS WHETHER THEY COVER THE RISK OR IS THERE A COMPULSORY PROCESS THAT YOU MUST GO INTO THE RISK ASSESSMENT PROCEDURE?



No there is not a compulsory process.  In many instances in the course of a shift the risk can be eliminated immediately or acted upon immediately.



CAN BE ELIMINATED AND ACTED UPON.  SO THEREFORE THE RATING OF THE RISK IS SUBJECT TO THAT ACTION?  IS IT THE RATING OF THE RISK OR IS IT THE RATING OF THE HAZARD?



The rating of the risk associated with the hazard.



ASSOCIATED WITH THE HAZARD.  BUT THERE COULD BE OTHER CONTROL MECHANISMS IN PLACE IE SIGNS.  EXAMPLE THAT IS SIGNS.  COULD YOU RATE THE SIGNS AS BEING A CONTROL MECHANISM AGAINST THE HAZARD OR AGAINST RISKS THAT ARE PERCEIVED TO BE ASSOCIATED WITH THE HAZARD?



Yes.



SO WE COULD THEN PUT IN THE CASE OF YOUR INSPECTION OF THAT AREA ON THE DAY OF THE ACCIDENT WE COULD SAY THAT THE SIGNS WERE A CONTROL MECHANISM.  WOULD YOU RATE THAT AS A CONTROL MECHANISM?



Yes.



SO WOULD YOU THEN SAY THAT THE CONTROL MECHANISM THAT WERE IN PLACE FOR THE CHANGE OF MINING SEQUENCE FOR THOSE TRUCKS TO BE GOING INTO 2 WEST STOCKPILE YOU WOULD SAY THAT THOSE SIGNS WERE AN ADEQUATE CONTROL MECHANISM?



Yes.  Yes.



THEN WHEN YOU'VE DONE YOUR INSPECTION THROUGH THAT AREA YOU'RE QUITE SATISFIED THAT THOSE SIGNS REALLY IDENTIFIED THE HAZARD THAT YOU BELIEVE THOSE SIGNS WERE LOOKING AT OR DID YOU NOT RATE THOSE SIGNS IN THAT WAY?



In the context of the mining that was going on I was aware that it wasn't anything out of the norm.



OK.  SINCE THE ACCIDENT HAVE YOU SORT OF HAD A LOOK AT THE RELATIONSHIP OF THE CHANGE TO THE MINING TO THAT MINING PRACTICE AND CAN YOU SEE ANY DIFFERENCE?



Yes I can with the respect to the rationalising of the number of light vehicle roads and accesses and squaring up of the intersections etcetera has been a significant improvement.



WHAT ABOUT THE COMMUNICATION IN REGARDS TO A CHANGE THAT'S MADE TO DID YOU CONSIDER THAT THAT COMMUNICATION THAT YOU WERE IN CONTROL OF KEEPING IT IN THE MINING AREA AND NOT HAVE THE RESPONSIBILITY TO GIVE IT TO THE MAINTENANCE PEOPLE.  DO YOU CONSIDER THAT THAT COMMUNICATION WAS TAKING CARE OF EVERYONE ON THE MINE SITE THAT WAS USING THAT HAUL ROAD?



No.



SO IS THERE IMPROVEMENTS MADE.  DO YOU BELIEVE THAT THERE'S SATISFACTORY IMPROVEMENTS MADE IN THAT AREA NOW?



Yes I think there's an elevated level of awareness with regards to the communication side of things generally.  Both on the radio and with the exception of a large billboard that advises the mining and stripping or blasting activities for that particular shift.



THERE'S JUST A COUPLE OF THINGS.  YOU SAID I THINK BUT IN REALITY IS THERE?



Yes.



OK BUT THE OTHER ISSUE YOU MADE IS THIS BILLBOARD.  NOW YOU'RE THE FOREMAN.  IS IT YOUR RESPONSIBILITY TO MAKE SURE THE INFORMATION ON THAT BILLBOARD IS UP UPDATED OR KEPT CURRENT?



It's the OCE is actually changes it but yes I will look at it to ensure that it is current.



OK NOW THAT MEANS THAT THERE'S NO WAY WE CAN HAVE A PROBLEM WITH THIS BILLBOARD.  THAT MEANS THAT THE OCE KNOWS THAT THEY'VE GOT A RESPONSIBILITY TO PUT THAT INFORMATION ON THAT BILLBOARD.  THEY GET THE INFORMATION FROM YOU THE FOREMAN?



Yes.  Or the mining foreman of the day.



THAT IS THEN DONE AT THE START OF THE SHIFT.. MIDDLE OF THE SHIFT END OF THE SHIFT BY THE OPEN CUT EXAMINER?



The start of the shift.



START OF THE SHIFT.  YOU THEN HAVE A OBLIGATION TO AUDIT THAT OR ENSURE THAT IT'S THERE.  IT'S UP THERE OR DO YOU..



I'm not aware of the obligation but yes.



YOU'RE NOT AWARE OF THE OBLIGATION SO IF THE OPEN CUT EXAMINER AFTER HE GETS THOSE INSTRUCTIONS IS CALLED TO A PART OF THE MINE WHERE HE'S GOT TO GO AND DO SOMETHING AND HE GOES OFF AND DOES THAT AND HE HASN'T PUT THAT INFORMATION ON THAT BILLBOARD.  WHEN DOES THAT INFORMATION GET PUT ON OR THEN WHAT'S THE FALL BACK POSITION?



Well obviously it would be up to me or someone. Be up to everyone.



OBVIOUSLY.  THE QUESTION I WANT TO ASK IS IN REALITY IS THIS INFORMATION ON THIS BILLBOARD STAYING CURRENT?



To my knowledge yes.



TO YOUR KNOWLEDGE YES.  SO WE DON'T HAVE A PROBLEM WITH THE OPEN CUT EXAMINERS NOW MAKING SURE THAT'S THEIR FIRST PRIORITY AND THEN AWAY THEY GO DOING WHATEVER?



I haven't had a problem with that information not being updated.



OK NOW THAT INFORMATION THEN IS AVAILABLE FOR EVERYONE GOING INTO THAT MINING AREA?



That's right.



SO THE MAINTENANCE PEOPLE CAN ALSO VIEW THAT AS INDIVIDUALS OR SOMEBODY COULD GET THAT INFORMATION AND FEED IT INTO THE MAINTENANCE DEPARTMENT.. ENGINEERING VISITORS OR WHATEVER. IT'S ALL THERE FOR THEM?



That's right.



IS THERE ANY OTHER AREA IN THE MINE WHERE COAL HAULERS OR WATER TRUCKS INTERACT WITH THE LIGHT VEHICLES?  IN REGARDS TO THE MOVEMENT OF COAL TO STOCKPILES SIMILAR TO WHAT WAS AT MIXED JUNCTION OR A SORT OF AWAY FROM THE NORM OF HAULING IT UP THE HAUL ROAD FROM THE NORTH THROUGH TO THE SOUTH?



Not that I can think of with regard to coal but the situations arise that are out of the norm.  The topsoil hauling for example where on familiar or different haulage routes have to be established and it's usually during these unfamiliar or non-routine type work that the thought goes into the signage and risk assessments etcetera have been done.



SO BEFORE THAT IS STARTED THERE IS AN IDENTIFICATION OF THE HAZARD AS YOU JUST SAID RISK ASSESSMENT.  THERE'S IDENTIFICATION THAT IT COULD AFFECT PEOPLE.  SO THEN THERE'S CONTROL MEASURES PUT IN PLACE?



That's right.



HAS THAT BEEN DONE DOWN ROUND RAMP 7A FOR YOUR HAULING OF YOUR COAL ROUND TO THAT BACK STOCKPILE?



Yes.



IT HAS?



Yes.



AND WHAT DO WE HAVE IN PLACE DOWN THERE?  WITH THE INTERACTION BECAUSE THAT 7A RAMP 7A IS WHERE THE LIGHT VEHICLES COME BACK ONTO THE SOUTHERN HAUL ROAD IS THAT NOT CORRECT?



That's right.  They can.  That hauling from there is only a periodic.



OK WHAT WAS 2 WEST?  WAS THAT PERIODIC..TEMPORARY OR WHAT IN YOUR OPINION?



At the..as I said at the time of the incident I was unaware that it was anything but the norm or a normal hauling operation.  I don't know about temporary I believe there's a history of carting there but.



WELL RAMP 7 IS NOW A TEMPORARY OR A OUT OF THE NORM SITUATION RAMP 7A.  IT'S ACTUALLY ROUND THE BACK OF RAMP 8 ISN'T IT WHERE THE STOCKPILE IS?



That's right.



OK NOW IS THAT OUT OF THE NORM.  YOU JUST SAID IT'S SORT OF OUT OF THE NORM.  THAT'S WHAT YOU CLASSIFY OUT OF THE NORM?



Yep.



SO HOW ARE PEOPLE MADE AWARE WHEN THAT ACTUALLY IS IN USE?



Through the issue of a safety brief.  That hauling will be commencing between these times and advising the light vehicle routes that should be adhered to on those particular times.



SO WE'VE NOT ONLY RELIED ON THE SIGNS WE'VE GOT SIGNS IN PLACE THERE?



We've got signs.  We've got safety punting..other light roads that come in from the back are physically blocked off.



SO WE'VE GOT A NUMBER OF THINGS IN PLACE NOW THAT WOULD PREVENT A SIMILAR THING FROM OCCURRING?  NOW THE SAFETY BRIEFS ARE GIVEN BY WHO?



They come from the safety department be issued by the senior mining foreman.



THE SENIOR MINING FOREMAN.  IN YOUR EVIDENCE..YOU REMEMBER IN YOUR..THE QUESTION WAS ASKED WITH RESPECT TO THE SAFETY BRIEFS YOU STATED THAT YOU FELT THAT IT WAS AN OBLIGATION ON THE FOREMAN TO CONDUCT MEETINGS AND THAT'S CHANGED NOW IT'S THE SENIOR FOREMAN IS IT THAT DOES THE MEETINGS?



Oh no that's still..



SO THAT'S STILL CURRENT.  SO IT'S STILL AN OBLIGATION ON THE..



To communicate the information contained within the brief.



OK WITH THOSE MEETINGS.. THERE'S A PROCESS NO DOUBT OF DOCUMENTATION IN REGARDS TO IS THERE A PARTICULAR ITEM LISTED IN REGARDS TO MAKING THAT MEETING A STAND OUT MEETING.  IS IT CHANGE TO MINING CONDITIONS.  OR IS IT INFORMATION ON A SAFETY BRIEF OR IS IT JUST A GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF GETTING PEOPLE TOGETHER AND HAVING A TALK AND IN THE MIDDLE OF THAT YOU PRESENT THE SAFETY BRIEF.  WHAT'S THE IMPACT OF THIS MEETING?



It could be all of those things.



IT COULD BE ALL OF THOSE THINGS.  SO WE DON'T REALLY SAY THAT THE SAFETY BRIEF STANDS OUT AS A HIGHLIGHT OR A PRIORITY BUT WE COULD SAY THAT IT'S PART AND PARCEL OF INFORMATION THAT'S PRESENTED TO A GROUP.. TO THE SHIFT?



That's right.



HOW DO YOU KNOW THAT EVERYONE IN THE SHIFT HAS ATTENDED THAT MEETING?



There's a formal meeting..there would be a register kept on who attended the tool box talk if you like.



SO WE CLASSIFY THE COMMON NAME FOR THIS..TOOL BOX TALK.  NOT SAFETY BRIEF MEETINGS BUT TOOL BOX TALKS?



Mmm.



THAT'S THE COMMON NAME.  THAT'S WHAT THE WORKFORCE FEEL COMFORTABLE WITH.  IT'S A TOOL BOX TALK SO WE KNOW WE'VE GOT TO GO THERE?



Yes.



HOW ABOUT THE PEOPLE THAT..YOU KNOW WE'RE SAYING THAT SURELY IT WOULD ONLY BE THOSE PEOPLE THAT ARE GOING TO BE AFFECTED BY THIS PARTICULAR BRIEF OR WOULD YOU ENCOMPASS EVERYONE ON YOUR SHIFT AS SHIFT FOREMAN.  WOULD YOU THINK EVERYONE WOULD NEED TO ATTEND?



Generally if a safety brief is issued it would apply to everyone.



APPLIES TO EVERYONE.  SO IF WE'VE GOT SUCH ISSUES SUCH AS IN PIT PREPARATION TAKING PLACE AND THE OPERATION OF THE DRAG LINES WITH THE CREWS.  YOU WOULD SAY THAT THE SAFETY BRIEF MEETINGS HAVE THE RIGHT TO NOT ALLOW THEM TO GO INTO DOING THAT WORK.  THEY WOULD ATTEND THE SAFETY BRIEF MEETING TO THEN GO AFTER THE SAFETY BRIEF MEETING THEY WOULD THEN GO TO THEIR JOBS?



There can be..that doesn't always happen.  There are times when there are several meetings throughout a period.



OK SO YOU KNOW WHO'S AT THE ONE MEETING..AT THE ASSEMBLY AT THE FIRST ONE.  YOU'VE GOT A DOCUMENT ON THAT AND THEN YOU GO AND CATCH UP WITH THE OTHERS?  IS THAT HOW IT WORKS?



Yes at times yes.



AT TIMES.  NOT ALL THE TIME BUT AT TIMES?



Yeah no not all the time.



NOW THERE ARE PEOPLE THAT WORK ROSTERS AND HAVE DAYS OFF THAT'S CORRECT.  HOW DO THEY GET CAUGHT UP INTO THIS SYSTEM.  DO THEY GET INTRODUCED TO IT BECAUSE YOU GOT A RECORD THAT THEY'RE AWAY AND THEN DO THEY GET BROUGHT INTO IT PRIOR TO THEM STARTING WHEN THEY COME BACK FROM ROSTERS OR IS IT UP TO THE BE SAFE REP OR THE OPEN CUT EXAMINER OR YOURSELVES TO JUST VERBALLY COME ACROSS WHEN YOU COME ACROSS THEM AND EXPLAIN TO THEM WHAT THE CHANGES ARE?



That's correct.  If those changes are still happening.  Still current.  Applicable.



SO YOU DO IT THROUGH WHICH WAY?  IT'S A INTRODUCTION AS SOON AS THEY COME BACK FROM THEIR DAYS OFF OR IS IT BY CATCHING UP WITH THEM?



Generally it would be via catching up with them.



SO WE COULD REALLY SAY THAT THEY COULD BE ACTUALLY GOING INTO THAT AREA AND BE UNAWARE OF THE PARTICULAR HAZARD EXCEPT THAT WE HAVE GOT SIGNS AND WE HAVE GOT SOME OTHER ISSUES IN PLACE BUT TO BE GIVEN THE OVERALL RUN DOWN ON THE CHANGE IN THE WORKING ENVIRONMENT THEY'RE EXPOSED TO THAT COULD GET CAUGHT UP?



It's possible.



NOW AT THESE MEETINGS IS THERE ANY FORM OF ASSESSMENTS DONE IN REGARDS TO WHAT'S TAKEN ON BOARD BY THE PEOPLE THAT HAVE ATTENDED?  I MEAN IF YOU'RE GOING TO DELIVER THE INFORMATION DO YOU FEEL COMFORTABLE THAT BY YOU DELIVERING THE INFORMATION THE GUY UP THE BACK OR THE GIRL SMOKING JUST OUTSIDE THE DOOR HAS REALLY GOT HOLD OF THAT INFORMATION OF THE IMPORTANCE OF IT.  WOULD YOU FEEL COMFORTABLE WITH THAT?



You would hope that they..



WE'D HOPE THAT THEY HAVE PICKED IT UP.  WE ALSO HOPE THAT THE AGENDA ITEM WOULD GIVE THEM THE IMPACT FOR THEM TO BE INTERESTED IN WHAT THE HECKS BEING DELIVERED WOULDN'T WE.  WE'D REALLY WANT TO HOPE FOR THAT.  SO THERE'S TWO HOPES IN THIS.  THAT THE HOPE IS THAT THEY UNDERSTAND THAT THERE'S A CHANGE TO THE TRAFFIC RULES OR THE SAFETY BRIEF AND IT'S VERY IMPORTANT TO YOUR SAFETY TO UNDERSTAND WHAT THAT CHANGE IS AND HOW IT CAN AFFECT YOU.  WOULD YOU AGREE?



Yes.



AND THEN THE OTHER HOPE WE GOT IS THAT WE HAVE DELIVERED IT IN A WAY THAT THEY HAVE REALLY UNDERSTOOD IT AND TAKEN IT ON BOARD.  SO THAT'S THE TWO HOPES.  CORRECT?



Yes.



WELL WE HAVEN'T GOT ANY FORMAL ASSESSMENT IN PLACE TO REALLY IDENTIFY WHETHER OR NOT THAT OCCURS?



No.



YOU SAID IN YOUR STATEMENT OR IN YOUR EVIDENCE JUST PRIOR THAT YOU DON'T HAVE A PROBLEM WITH BEING ABLE TO OVERTAKE HEAVY VEHICLES BECAUSE YOU CAN CALL UP AND THEREFORE YOU KNOW HOW TO CALL UP BECAUSE YOU USE THE NUMBER OF THE VEHICLE.  YOU CALL THE NUMBER OF THE VEHICLE OR THE NUMBER OF THE HEAVY VEHICLE OR THE HAULER.  I NEED TO ASK YOU COULD ALL PEOPLE DO THAT ON THE MINE SITE.  IS THE NUMBERING VERY PLAIN TO SEE ON THE IF YOU'RE APPROACHING THEM TO PASS THEM.  IS THE NUMBERING..DOES THE NUMBERING STAND OUT AND IS IT VISIBLE?



On the coal haulers yes.  There's been certain enhancements made to the rear of the machines.



IS THAT PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT?



This is yeah after the incident.



AFTER THE INCIDENT.



Before the incident well we didn't have to call up.



NO SO OF COURSE THOSE CHANGES HAVE BEEN MADE AFTER AND I'VE GOT TO SAY THAT THAT WOULD BE THAT CERTAINLY SHOULD BE WORKING A LOT BETTER.  LIKE IDENTIFICATION IS A LOT BETTER ISN'T IT FOR TO SAVE CONFUSION.  AND THAT'S WHAT WOULD BE AIMED AT WOULDN'T IT?



That's right.



HAVE YOU..YOU'RE THE FOREMAN HAVE YOU WITNESSED CHANGE IN THAT.  DO YOU THINK THAT IT'S MADE A DIFFERENCE?



I think so.  I think there was the problems initially with the two channels but with the one channel is 100%.



CRAIG HAVE YOU BEEN INVOLVED IN ANY COMPLAINTS MADE ABOUT PROBLEMS IN THE MINE WHERE COMMUNICATION OVER THE TWO WAYS IS DIFFICULT?



In what sense?



BEING ABLE TO RECEIVE THE SIGNAL..ACCEPT THE SIGNAL AND POSITIVELY ANSWER A MESSAGE?



From time to time there will be areas.  Whether it be problems with the transmitters or..



WAS IT WORSE PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT THAN AFTER THE ACCIDENT.  WHAT I'M ASKING IS THERE IMPROVEMENTS BEING MADE IN THIS AREA THAT YOU'RE AWARE OF?



Yeah.  I didn't really have a problem with it prior to the accident and it certainly hasn't got worse.



YOU SAID THAT YOU'RE AWARE OF SOME CHANGES THAT HAVE BEEN MADE TO THE TRAFFIC RULES AND YOU QUOTED THE CHANGE TO THE OVERTAKING PROCEDURE. IS THERE MORE THAN JUST THE TWO WAY COMMUNICATION TO BE EXPECTED IN THIS OVERTAKING OF SAY A WATER TRUCK?  A LIGHT VEHICLE OPERATOR AND ALSO THE WATER TRUCK OPERATOR?



There's got to be that two way..obviously the common sense free of intersections.  Clear visibility and you don't overtake unless you convinced yourself it is clear to pass.



WELL WHERE DO YOU SEE THE IMPROVEMENTS HAVE BEEN MADE SINCE THE ACCIDENT.  BECAUSE PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT THAT WAS THERE WASN'T IT. THAT WAS STILL THE SAME.



That's right.



BUT HAS SOMETHING CHANGED?



Well the positive communication is just another control measure.



OK WE'VE GOT POSITIVE COMMUNICATION.  A LIGHT VEHICLE APPROACHES A WATER TRUCK AND SAYS I WANT TO PASS YOU.  THE WATER TRUCK DRIVERS SAYS OK AND THIS LIGHT VEHICLE GOES STRAIGHT PAST.  IS THAT HOW YOU SEE IT?  THAT'S HOW IT WORKS?



That's right.



WELL WE DIDN'T HAVE POSITIVE COMMUNICATION.  ALL WE HAD WAS A RESPONSIBILITY PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT ON THE LIGHT VEHICLE OPERATOR TO ACTUALLY MAKE SURE THAT THEY COULD SEE THAT THE ROADWAY WAS CLEAR FOR THEM TO OVERTAKE.  CORRECT?



That's right.



SO THEN AGAIN THEY JUST WENT STRAIGHT PAST OR DID THE WATER TRUCK DRIVER HAVE TO DO SOMETHING.  DID THEY HAVE TO DO SOMETHING FOR THE WATER TRUCK DRIVER TO KNOW THAT THEY WERE OVERTAKING AND DID THE WATER TRUCK DRIVER HAVE TO RESPOND?



No.  The water truck driver should have turned off his right spray I guess and that's a form of positive communication and probably the only form prior to the incident until this two way communication has been established.



RIGHT NOW THE DROPPING OF THE RIGHT SPRAY MEANT THAT WATER TRUCK DRIVER COULD SEE THE LIGHT VEHICLE BUT ALSO POSSIBLY MADE THE DECISION OR HELPED MAKE THE DECISION FOR THE LIGHT VEHICLE OPERATOR TO PASS SAFELY.  WOULD YOU SEE IT THAT WAY?



Yes but as a driver of a light vehicle I would still want to be convinced myself that it was clear.  



NOW WE GOT THE POSITIVE COMMUNICATION.  SO DOES THE WATER TRUCK DRIVER STILL DROP THE RIGHT SPRAY OR NOT?  BECAUSE HE'S NOW GOT POSITIVE COMMUNICATION THE WATER TRUCK DRIVER SAYS YEAH IT'S OK TO PASS?



Yes.



STILL DROPS THE RIGHT SPRAY?



Yep.



OK.  NOW AS A RELIEF FOREMAN YOU MIGHT BE AWARE OR YOU MIGHT NOT BE AWARE OF THIS NEXT QUESTION.  BUT HAS THERE EVER BEEN OCCURRENCES THAT YOU'VE BEEN MADE AWARE OF OR YOU KNEW OF WHERE THE LIGHT VEHICLES DROVER THROUGH THE SPRAYS TO OVERTAKE WATER TRUCKS?



Yeah I have seen it once.  Twice yeah prior to the accident.



BUT YOU DON'T THINK IT WAS A COMMON OCCURRENCE?



I don't believe it was a common occurrence no.



DID ANYONE EVER COMPLAIN TO YOU AS A FOREMAN FROM EITHER THE MAINTENANCE OR THE MINING DEPARTMENT DID ANYONE COMPLAIN TO YOU THAT THERE WAS PROBLEMS WITH WATER TRUCK DRIVERS NOT REALLY FOLLOWING A PROCEDURE TO ALLOW LIGHT VEHICLES TO PASS?



No.



DID YOU HEAR OF ANY COMPLAINTS?



No.



THERE WAS NO TALK IN AMONGST THE FOREMAN OF THAT ISSUE?



No not to my knowledge.



HAS THERE BEEN SINCE THE ACCIDENT?



I haven't been involved with any complaints or heard of any complaints.



IF SOMEBODY DID BREACH THE PROCEDURE YOU'RE THE FOREMAN WHAT'S THE RESPONSIBILITY FOR YOU UNDER THAT?  IF SOMEBODY COME TO YOU AND SAID THERE'S A BREACH OF THE PROCEDURE THEY DROVE STRAIGHT THROUGH THE WATER SPRAY?



To re-educate that person.



WOULD YOU COUNSEL..WOULD YOU CALL THAT PERSON IN AND TALK TO THEM OR SOMETHING?



Yeah if I knew who he was yeah.



IF THERE..IS THERE ANYTHING FORMAL ABOUT THAT?



No.



HOW ABOUT INCIDENTS.  IF THERE'S AN INCIDENT REPORTED TO YOU.  IS THAT INCIDENT..IS THERE A CHANGE IN THE REPORTING SYSTEM OF INCIDENTS THAT YOU'RE AWARE OF?



A change..



TO THE REPORTING OF INCIDENTS LIKE NEAR MISSES?



A change to what was previously done or what's being done now?



WELL YEAH.  WAS THERE SOMETHING IN PLACE BEFORE THE ACCIDENT?



Yes there was.  ? incidents near misses.



THERE WAS A REPORT.  WAS IT A REPORT?



Yeah.



WAS THERE AN INVESTIGATION INTO IT?



Yep.



AND THE FOREMAN PLAYED A PART IN THAT INVESTIGATION?



Yeah he would have..there would be an area there for him to comment.



OK.  AND SO YOU HAVEN'T BEEN INVOLVED IN ANY OF THAT?



I haven't no.



YOU'RE UNAWARE OF ANY NEAR MISSES OCCURRING?



Yeah I've been involved with a document that they record those..



YOU'VE BEEN INVOLVED WITH THE DOCUMENT?



Yeah.  The equipment damage.  Loss time injuries.



RIGHT AND IS THERE ANY RESPONSIBILITY WITH REGARDS TO YOU WITH REGARDS TO FOLLOW UP ACTION OR ACTIONING ANYTHING?



It's dependent on the recommendation once everyone has had a crack at it.



WELL HOW ABOUT AUDIT.  HOW ABOUT IF THE RECOMMENDATIONS YOU KNOW THERE WAS THINGS RECOMMENDED FOR YOU TO BE IMPLEMENTED.  YOU'RE THE FOREMAN THAT SEES THAT THAT INCIDENT HAS NOW BEEN COMPLETED THROUGH THE CIRCUIT AND THE CHAIN OF PROCESS AS WE MIGHT CALL IT AND THE RECOMMENDATIONS ARE NOW IN PLACE OR WILL PERCEIVE TO BE IN PLACE.  HAVE YOU GOT A RESPONSIBILITY TO SORT OF AUDIT?



Yes.



SO WOULD YOU DO THAT?



Yes if you're aware of that.



SO THERE COULD BE A PROBLEM WITH YOU BEING MADE AWARE OF SOME OF THESE RECOMMENDATIONS BEING IMPLEMENTED?



That's correct.  I wouldn't see all near misses.  I'd see those ones associated with the shift I was directly responsible for.



YEAH SEE NOW THE THING THAT I'M ASKING YOU IS AS A RELIEF FOREMAN IT WOULD BE DIFFICULT FOR YOU TO FIND OUT BECAUSE SEE YOU SAID THAT YOU REPLACE YOU RELIEVE FOREMAN THAT ARE ON HOLIDAYS.  THAT MEANS YOU COULD BE A FOREMAN FOR A MONTH AND THAT MEANS THEN THREE MONTHS LATER YOU COME BACK AS A FOREMAN FOR ANOTHER MONTH OR ANOTHER TWO MONTHS CORRECT?



It's a full time position but relative to a crew a particular crew I may have say two weeks with one crew then the next day I'll have two days with another crew.  So I'm there all the time but I'm jumping from crew to crew.



OK NOW WHEN YOU SAID THAT SURELY IF THERE'S ANY NEAR MISSES OR ANY RECOMMENDATIONS COMING TO FROM ANY FORM OF INVESTIGATION ASSOCIATED WITH SAFETY OR TO IMPROVE THE SAFETY MANAGEMENT OF THE MINE SURELY THAT WOULD BE GIVEN TO YOU OR YOU SHOULD BE ABLE TO ACCESS IT.  WOULD THAT BE CORRECT?



No it's not given to me unless I was actually the supervisor on at the time.



OK SO THEREFORE THERE IS STUFF THAT YOU WOULDN'T KNOW ABOUT.  I CAN UNDERSTAND WHAT YOU'RE SAYING.  THERE IS STUFF YOU WOULDN'T KNOW ABOUT BECAUSE OF THAT?



Yep.



DO YOU FEEL GOOD ABOUT THAT.  CAN IT BE IMPROVED THAT'S WHAT I'LL ASK YOU.  CAN IT BE IMPROVED?



Yes.



IT CAN.  THAT'S ALL YOUR WORSHIP.  THANKS VERY MUCH.

WARDEN:
YES MR MELLICK.

MR MELLICK:



THANKYOU.  ON PAGE FIVE OF YOUR STATEMENT HALF WAY DOWN THE PAGE FOR EXAMPLE IN CHANGING TO DUMP THAT RLM1 WHICH I TAKE FROM WHAT YOU SAID EARLIER WE SHOULD READ AS RAMP 2 WEST STOCKPILE.  DID ANYONE ASSESS THE IMPLICATIONS OF THE CHANGE TRAFFIC ACTIVITIES AND YOUR ANSWER WAS NOT TO MY KNOWLEDGE.  WAS IT ANY PART OF YOUR RESPONSIBILITIES TO UNDERTAKE AN ASSESSMENT OF THAT KIND?



No.  As I said before it was my perception that the activities of the day weren't different from the norm.  That we would..it was just normal coal hauling activities.



WELL IN WHAT CIRCUMSTANCES WOULD YOU UNDERTAKE OR WOULD YOU HAVE UNDERTAKEN ANY SORT OF ASSESSMENT?



With regards to non-routing type work.  Hauling topsoil.



SO USING THIS INFREQUENTLY USED STOCKPILE IS NOT SOMETHING THAT YOU REGARDED AS NON-ROUTINE?



No I wasn't aware that it was used infrequently.



WELL HOW FREQUENTLY DID YOU THINK IT WAS USED?  YOU'D BEEN THERE SINCE APRIL 95.  THAT'S TWO YEARS AND A MONTH.



Probably less than 10 days as a direct mining supervisor.  My main areas of responsibility were involved in the stripping area..draglines..drills ..truck shovel.



NOT THE DUMPING OPERATIONS?



So the actual coal hauling from the pits I'd seldom be involved with.



SO ONCE THE HAULERS LEAVE THE PITS THAT WOULD HAVE BEEN OUTSIDE OF YOUR NORMAL JURISDICTION?



It would generally be under..there'd be a mining foreman.



AT THE TOP OF PAGE SIX OF YOUR STATEMENT YOU WERE ASKED THE QUESTION TO YOUR KNOWLEDGE DO WATER TRUCK OPERATORS ON THIS MINE SITE ALWAYS TURN OFF THE SPRAYS..WHEN THEY SHOULD TO ALLOW VEHICLES THE OPPORTUNITY TO OVERTAKE AND YOU ANSWERED NO.  YOU'D ACTUALLY SEEN THAT HAPPENING?



Yes I said to Mat I have seen it once.



ONLY THE ONCE?



Yeah.



I THOUGHT WHAT YOU WERE TALKING ABOUT ON THAT OCCASION YOU ONCE SAW A VEHICLE DRIVING THROUGH SPRAYS.  SO THIS IS THE SAME OCCASION THEN.



Yeah.



WHAT DID YOU DO THEN?  DID YOU TAKE ANY STEPS THEN?



No.



IS THERE ANY REASON WHY YOU TOOK NO STEPS THEN?



I was unaware of the who that vehicle was and as I said I was operating on a different frequency.



WHAT ABOUT TAKING UP WITH THE WATER TRUCK OPERATOR ABOUT NOT TURNING OFF THE SPRAYS?



No.



YOU WERE ASKED SOME QUESTIONS ABOUT THE RADIOS AND YOU SAID THERE WAS A CAPACITY TO PUT YOURSELF IF YOU WERE IN A LIGHT VEHICLE ON THE SAME CHANNEL AS THE LARGER VEHICLES OR THAT THEY WERE ON.  ARE ANY OF THESE RADIOS FITTED WITH SCANNERS?  THIS IS BEFORE MAY THIS YEAR?



That's right.  The foremans vehicle had a scan button.



AND WHAT ABOUT OTHER VEHICLES?



I'm not sure if all light vehicle radios have the scan function.



WHAT ABOUT THE WATER TRUCKS AND HAULERS AND SO ON?



No they would stick to the hauling channel. Whether or not they had the scan ability.  I'm not sure.



IN ANSWER TO A QUESTION BY MR BEST YOU SPOKE ABOUT STEPS THAT HAVE BEEN TAKEN SINCE THE INCIDENT TO SQUARE UP T INTERSECTIONS I THINK WAS HOW YOU PUT IT.  WHAT'S BEEN DONE IN THAT REGARD?



With regard to..there's an additional road from the ramp 1 corridor that light vehicles travelling north from the southern end of the mine all turn off well before they get into that congested heavy vehicle area.



WELL THE INTERSECTION IF I COULD CALL IT THAT WHERE THIS ACCIDENT OCCURRED HAS ANY MODIFICATION BEEN MADE TO THAT INTERSECTION?



I couldn't comment.  Not to my knowledge.



YOU HAVEN'T SEEN ANY?



No.



SO THAT WASN'T WHAT YOU WERE REFERRING TO IN TERMS OF SQUARING UP T INTERSECTIONS?



No I was just talking generally.  The tidy up of light vehicle roads entrances onto main haul roads.  Squaring them up such that you've got a T intersection situation rather than a wide and increased visibility.



THANKYOU YOUR WORSHIP.

WARDEN:
THANKYOU.  YES MR LEES.

MR LEES:
YES A COUPLE OF QUESTIONS YOUR HONOUR.  MR CATON IS IT THE FOREMANS RESPONSIBILITY TO COMMUNICATE TO OTHER PEOPLE IN THE OPERATION WHETHER THERE'S GOING TO BE ? OF WORKFORCE?



Yes.



ON THE DAY OF THE ACCIDENT DID ANYONE COMMUNICATE TO THE WORKSHOP PEOPLE THAT TRUCKS WOULD BE IN THAT AREA THEREFORE THERE WOULD BE AN INTERACTION OF LIGHT VEHICLES WHEN THE MAINTENANCE PEOPLE WERE PROCEEDING DOWN TO THE SHUTTLE AREA FOR MAINTENANCE?



No.



SIGNAGE.  HAS THE FOREMAN ANY RESPONSIBILITY TO CHECK ON THE SIGNAGE TO MAKE SURE THAT IT COMPLIES WITH THE REQUIREMENTS TO INFORM PEOPLE THAT THERE IS A HAZARD AHEAD?



Yeah I think yes.



AND WAS THE SIGNAGE ON THAT PARTICULAR DAY OF THE ACCIDENT OR PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT CHECKED TO MAKE SURE THAT THE SIGNAGE WAS IN THE RIGHT POSITION AND THE RIGHT SIGNAGE WAS IN PLACE.  ARE YOU AWARE OF ANY CHECKS THAT WAS DONE?



Only that I observed that the signs to be up in..



SO YOU OBSERVED THE SIGNS AND YOU SEEN THE SIGNS UP AND YOU BELIEVE THAT THEY WERE IN THE CORRECT POSITION AND THE CORRECT SIGNAGE WAS THERE?



Yeah at the time yeah.  It was not signed out of the norm.



YOU INDICATED IN YOUR STATEMENT ON PAGE SEVEN THAT YOU WOULD FEEL COMFORTABLE SPENDING EXCESSIVE TIME ON THE RIGHT HAND SIDE OF THE ROAD TO PASS A VEHICLE SUCH AS A WATER CART AND SOME OF THE TIME BEING IN SPEEDS IN EXCESS OF 100 KILOMETRES AN HOUR?



That's right.



SO THAT'S THE NORMAL THING OUT THERE IS IT?



I think prior to the accident that would be a fair statement.



OK.  TOOLBOX TALKS.  NOW YOU INDICATED YOUR SAFETY BRIEF INFORMATION SESSIONS ARE DONE VIA TOOLBOX MEETINGS?



Yes.



AT TOOLBOX MEETINGS IT'S MY EXPERIENCE THEY MIGHT HAVE CHANGED A BIT THAT WHEN YOU HAVE A TOOLBOX MEETING EVERYTHING IS MENTIONED IN THOSE MEETINGS LIKE GRIEVANCES..THE PROBLEMS YOU'RE HAVING ON THE SHIFT.  THE PROBLEMS WITH THIS THE PROBLEMS WITH THAT.  IS THAT STILL THE CASE AT THOSE TOOLBOX MEETINGS?



Yes.



SO THEN THE EMPHASIS IS ON THE SAFETY BRIEFING GETS PUSHED ASIDE BECAUSE THE SAFETY BRIEFING IS SPELLED OUT AND THEN THE EMPHASIS IS MORE OR LESS PUT ON THE GRIEVANCES ISN'T IT?



I don't know whether..I think the emphasis is on the safety but inevitably in that environment there will be grievances that come out.  The emphasis would vary from toolbox.



SO YOU BELIEVE THAT BY HAVING A TOOLBOX MEETING THAT IT'S A SUCCESSFUL PROCESS IN GETTING ACROSS SAFETY BRIEFINGS?



Yeah.  It's part of the process of getting across safety information.



SO AT THESE TOOLBOXES AND YOU'RE DOING A SAFETY BRIEFING AND THERE'S WOULD THERE BE LITERATURE HANDED OUT?



There might be a copy of the safety brief.



THERE COULD BE A COPY?



Yeah.



THERE WASN'T ALWAYS A COPY?



If the meeting was directly involved with a issue of a safety brief then there would be copies available.



SO IF THERE WAS A SAFETY BRIEF..YOURSELF BEING A FOREMAN WOULD READ OUT THAT SAFETY BRIEF AND THEN HAND IT OUT OR WOULD YOU SAY THIS IS A SAFETY BRIEF..GIVE A BRIEF DETAIL OF THE CONTENT OF THAT SAFETY BRIEF AND THEN JUST HAND IT OUT OR WOULD YOU SAY HERE I'D LIKE YOU TO TAKE THE SAFETY BRIEFS.  HOW WOULD IT WORK?



We'd explain the safety brief..it's contents and it's implications to that particular crew or that particular workgroup.



OK.  A QUESTION WAS ASKED BEFORE WERE YOU AWARE OF A PROCESS IN PLACE FOR NEAR MISSES AND YOU WENT ON TO SAY YOU WERE AND THAT THAT YOU'VE BEEN PARTY TO AN ASSESSMENT OR IF THERE'S DAMAGE TO EQUIPMENT OR A LOSS TIME INJURY OR SOMETHING.  IS THERE A PROCESS OUT THERE FOR A NEARMISS TO INVESTIGATE IT IF THERE ISN'T ANY DAMAGE TO A PIECE OF EQUIPMENT OR ISN'T A LOSS TIME INJURY.  THAT IT WAS JUST A NEAR MISS.  IT WAS REPORTED HENCE PEOPLE GO ABOUT DO AN ASSESSMENT TO PREVENT THAT HAPPENING AGAIN OR OCCURRING AGAIN. IS THERE A PROCESS OUT THERE PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT?



There would be a process and I think the process would be in performing a risk assessment.



AND THAT'S A RECORDED TIME.  IT'S RECORDED AND IT'S PUT AROUND THE WORKFORCE?



Yeah I'm not sure.  I haven't been involved in any near misses.



SO YOU'RE NOT CERTAIN THAT IT'S A FORMAL PROCESS WHEREBY IT'S RECORDED AND THE REST OF THE WORKFORCE ARE MADE AWARE OF THAT NEAR MISS?



Mmm.



EXCEPT IN THE CASES WHERE THERE'S DAMAGE TO EQUIPMENT OR A LOST TIME INJURY?



That's right.  I have seen near misses being reported in safety briefs themselves.



SO..



So a near miss could appear if it was warranted appear on a subsequent safety brief.



OK.  THAT'S ALL.

WARDEN:
THANKYOU.  YES MISS GIBNEY.

MS GIBNEY:



MR CATON IF YOU WERE WORKING WITH A CREW AND YOU'D BEEN GIVEN A SAFETY BRIEF THAT MORNING WHEN YOU CAME ON DUTY AND IT WAS RELEVANT TO THE ACTIVITIES THAT YOUR CREW WAS ABOUT TO UNDERTAKE THAT DAY AND YOUR MONTHLY TOOLBOX TALK WASN'T DUE FOR ANOTHER TWO WEEKS WHAT WOULD YOU DO WITH THE SAFETY BRIEF?



In the case each crew has a Be Safe rep.  I generally put the safety brief and copies of the brief in their pay sign on point if you like so they can't help but see it and the Be Safe representative would be responsible for distributing the brief or copies thereof.



SO YOU'D TAKE STEPS TO MAKE PEOPLE AWARE OF IT THEN RATHER THAN WAITING FOR A TOOLBOX TALK.



That's right.



OK SO A TOOLBOX TALK IN THE FORMAL REGULAR SCHEDULED MEETING SENSE IS NOT THE ONLY MEANS OF GETTING SAFETY BRIEFS OUT TO PEOPLE?



No there is a high degree of verbal communication that goes on about the start of the shift.  I get to see pretty well everyone at the start of each shift.  So if there is an issue that's when it's brought up and it will tend to be verbally follow up with a safety brief from the Be Safe or the representative.



OK SO YOU VERBALLY ADVISE PEOPLE AND THEN YOU'D MAKE THE BE SAFE REPS JOB WOULD BE TO GET THE PIECE OF PAPER OUT TO THEM TO RE-ENFORCE THAT?



Yep.



OK.  HAVE YOU DONE ANY PRESENTATIONS IN THE FORMAL SENSE AT TOOLBOX TALKS ON..



I have conducted several ones on log tag out and lock out procedures.  As I'm the relief foreman generally toolbox talks quite often are done by the permanent supervisor.  But I have co-ordinated toolbox talks with other with the safety department for example.



WELL IN YOUR EXPERIENCE IS THERE GENERALLY..IS THERE NORMALLY AN AGENDA WITH A PRINCIPLE TOPIC FOR TOOLBOX TALKS?



There is a system whereby..to use the tag out lock out procedures there'll be like a module which say this hand out this do that.



SO YOU HAVE HANDOUTS.  OVERHEADS?  DO YOU HAVE OVERHEADS?



We have some talks we apply the use of overheads.



WHAT IS THIS MATERIAL.  IS IT A CENTRALISED PACKAGE OF MATERIALS?



That's right.



SO IF YOU'RE PRESENTING ON LOCK OUTS AT YOUR AT A CREWS TOOLBOX LOCK UPS TAG OUTS YOU'LL PICK UP THE MODULE AND THAT'S YOUR PRESENTATION MATERIALS AND IT WILL HAVE HANDOUTS PERHAPS..OVERHEADS PERHAPS.



That's correct.



OK.  IN RELATION TO I THINK IT WAS MR BEST THAT ASKED YOU A QUESTION ABOUT BECAUSE YOU'RE A RELIEF FOREMAN THERE MAY HAVE BEEN SOME INCIDENT OR NEAR MISS WHERE THERE WAS OR SOME HAZARD IDENTIFIED AND THERE WAS A RECOMMENDATION FOR FOLLOW UP ACTION AND THAT MIGHT HAVE OCCURRED TWO WEEKS AGO THERE'S STILL THAT NEED FOR FOLLOW UP ACTION AND YOU COME TO TAKE OVER A CREW THAT YOU HAVE NOT BEEN WORKING WITH.  BEFORE YOU BEGIN WORK WITH A CREW WHAT DO YOU DO TO FIND OUT ABOUT THE WORK THAT THEY WILL BE DOING AND ANY OTHER MATTERS OF RELEVANCE TO THEIR OPERATION?



What do I do.  It's a change over with the offcoming shift foreman.  So there's about half an hour or so there.  I communicate where everything is and what's happening and that in conjunction with instructions located in a diary which is written in by the senior foreman whether it be stripping or mining.



SO MIGHT ANYTHING THAT WAS ONGOING BE EITHER NOTED IN THE DIARY OR CONVEYED TO YOU?



Yes.



WOULD YOU EXPECT IT TO BE?



It's possible it would be.



SORRY?



It's possible it may not be.



IT'S POSSIBLE IT MAY NOT BE?



Mmm



WOULD YOU EXPECT IT TO BE?



I would expect it to be yeah.



OK.  NO FURTHER QUESTIONS YOUR WORSHIP.

MR BRADY:
MR CATON YOU APPRECIATE THAT WE'RE CHARGED WITH THE RESPONSIBILITY OF TRYING TO DETERMINE WHAT THE NATURE CAN CAUSE OF THIS ACCIDENT IS.  WHAT DO YOU BELIEVE THE CAUSE OF THIS PARTICULAR ACCIDENT IS?



It's another light vehicle not anticipating that the water cart 1300 was turning.



BUT THE LIGHT VEHICLE DOESN'T HAVE A MIND DOES IT?



Doesn't have sorry?



DOESN'T HAVE A MIND.  IT HASN'T GOT A MIND OF IT'S OWN.



The people driving the light vehicle.



SO ARE YOU SAYING THAT THE CAUSE OF THE ACCIDENT IS THE FACT THAT MR GADSBY DIDN'T ANTICIPATE THAT THE VEHICLE WAS GOING TO TURN?



Yes.



SO OUR JOB SHOULD BE RELATIVELY SIMPLE.  THAT'S ALL WE DO.  IS RIGHT THAT IN THAT'S THE END OF THE DISCUSSION.  AGREED?



Obviously there's others factors to talk about.



SEE THAT'S A SIMPLE LAYOUT OF ACCIDENT INVESTIGATION ISN'T IT. THAT BLAMES THE VICTIM.  BUT HASN'T THE VICTIM ALREADY PAID THE ULTIMATE PENALTY?



Yes.



SEE WHAT ABOUT ALL THE THINGS THAT ALLOWED THIS TO HAPPEN?



I don't know.



YOU SEE IF YOU KNOW YOU'RE APPOINTED AS A MINE OFFICIAL AT THE MINE.  YOU KNOW HAS ANYBODY EVER SAT DOWN AND EXPLAINED TO YOU WHAT THE ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF A MINE OFFICIAL ARE?



I did the mine officials course in Moura with Mr Brompton.



SO YOU'VE COMPLETED THAT COURSE?



That's correct.



THAT WAS AT MOURA.  HAVE YOU DONE ONE AT BLACKWATER HERE?



No.  I was sent from Blackwater to Moura for the purpose of doing that course.



OK.  SO THEREFORE YOU SHOULD BE AWARE OF YOUR DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES UNDER THE EXISTING REGULATIONS AND SYSTEMS OF WORK?  SO YOU'D ALSO BE AWARE THAT YOU KNOW YOU'RE THE PERSON IN CHARGE ON THAT PARTICULAR SHIFT?



Yes.



HOW MANY OTHER FOREMAN ARE ON THE SHIFT?



There's a foreman in the wash plant and mechanical maintenance foreman.



YEAH.  ANYONE ELSE.



No.



SO THERE'S THE THREE OF YOU'S.  ON THIS PARTICULAR DAY.  BUT NORMALLY THERE'D BE A LOT MORE THAN THAT WOULDN'T THERE?



That's right there'd normally be a dedicated mining supervisor..and respectful senior foremans.



OK SO YOU KNOW ON A SHIFT LIKE THAT WHO'S RESPONSIBLE OF PEOPLE DRIVING DOWN THE ROADWAYS.  WHO'S RESPONSIBLE FOR THEIR SAFETY OTHER THAN THEMSELVES OF COURSE WHICH IS THE NUMBER ONE THING.  WHO ELSE HAS A RESPONSIBILITY TO ENSURE WHAT THEY'RE DOING IS IN FACT SAFE?



We all do.



WE ALL DO. BUT THERE IS NOBODY ONE PERSON IN CHARGE OF THE SHIFT?



I was in charge of the shift.



YOU SEE YOU'RE THE PERSON IN CHARGE OF THE SHIFT ARE YOU.  SEE YOU SAID EARLIER ABOUT THE YOU BELIEVE THE SIGNS WERE ADEQUATE TO CONTROL THE TURNING HAZARDS BUT AFTERALL IT WASN'T REALLY A TURNING HAZARD BECAUSE IT WAS NORMAL PRACTICE.  DID I UNDERSTAND THAT CORRECTLY?



That's right I believe it to be a normal practice of cutting into that particular stockpile.



BUT SEE YOU KNOW CAN WE CONSIDER A TIME THAT'S OVER 500 METRES AWAY FROM WHERE THE TRUCKS ARE GOING TO TURN ADEQUATE WARNING?



In hindsight no.



I KNOW WE CAN SAY IN HINDSIGHT IN THIS PARTICULAR EXERCISE BUT LET'S SAY YOU'RE DRIVING BACK FROM BLACKWATER THIS AFTERNOON WOULD YOU ACCEPT A SIGN 500 METRES AWAY FROM A HAZARD WOULD BE AN ADEQUATE WARNING ON THAT HIGHWAY THERE?



No.



SO YOU KNOW WE CAN'T JUST ALLOW SOMEBODY AS A MATTER OF NATURE AND PAST PRACTICE THROW UP ANY SORT OF SIGN IN ANY SORT OF POSITION AND SAY WELL WE'VE PROVIDED ADEQUATE WARNING SO MY BACK IS NOW PROTECTED YOU KNOW BECAUSE IT QUITE OBVIOUSLY IS NOT.  YOU KNOW IN THIS PARTICULAR CASE THIS HASN'T WORKED AT ALL HAS IT?  YOU ALSO SAID YOU WEREN'T AWARE THAT THIS PLACE WAS USED INFREQUENTLY YOU KNOW.  WELL HOW DO YOU KNOW WHAT NORMAL IS?



Those stockpiles to the west there are often trucks carting on an adhoc basis rejects from the wash plant out to that area.  And quite often or I have seen that stockpile being used for rejects to the back access road.



BUT YOU KNOW OK SO WE KNOW WE'VE GOT A POSITION.  WE'VE GOT A PLACE WHERE LARGE TRUCKS OR WATER TRUCKS OR ANYTHING ELSE TURN IN FRONT OF OTHER VEHICLES?



Yes.



AND WE KNOW THAT THE MACHINES RUN OVER ONE ANOTHER ON MINE SITES WITH MONOTONOUS REGULARITY.  WHY DOES THAT HAPPEN GIVEN WE'VE GOT ALL THESE PROCEDURES IN PLACE?



Each situation is slightly different it requires individual attention.



IF THIS PLACE IS AS WE'VE BEEN TOLD USED INFREQUENTLY.  IF IT'S USED INFREQUENTLY HOW DIFFICULT IS IT TO ASSESS THE HAZARDS ASSOCIATED WITH THAT PARTICULAR TASK?  I MEAN DO YOU NEED A STRUCTURED RISK ASSESSMENT WITH A CAST OF THOUSANDS INVOLVED.  OR IS IT SOMETHING YOU COULD GO OUT THERE AND DO IN FIVE MINUTES?



I don't know about five minutes.



FIVE MINUTES BECAUSE RISK ASSESSMENT OR RISK MANAGEMENT IS AN ATTITUDE.  IT'S A WAY OF THINKING.  YOU KNOW I THINK THE REAL PROBLEM IS WE'VE TRIED TO MAKE IT TOO COMPLICATED AND PEOPLE SHY AWAY FROM IT.  I MEAN A RISK ASSESSMENT IS AN ACCIDENT INVESTIGATION BEFORE YOU HAVE AN ACCIDENT?  IT'S NOT THAT DIFFICULT.  YOU KNOW WE'VE BEEN SHOWN HERE A WHOLE RANGE OF PROCEDURES THAT WERE IN PLACE PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT AND BEEN PUT IN PLACE AFTER THE ACCIDENT.  WE'VE ALSO BEEN TOLD THAT THERE'S BEEN INSTANCES OF PEOPLE NOT OBSERVING THOSE PROCEDURES NOW.  DO YOU KNOW ABOUT ANY OF THEM?



No.  Not with regards to overtaking large vehicles.



WELL WHAT ABOUT ANY BREACH OF ANY OTHER PROCEDURE?



No.



DO YOU KNOW OF ANY DISCIPLINARY ACTION THAT'S BEEN TAKEN AGAINST ANYONE ON THE MINE SITE FOR BREACH OF PROCEDURES?



Breach of any procedure?



YEAH.



Alcohol policy that's not too common though.  Someone was dismissed for an unacceptable blood alcohol levels.



WHAT ABOUT ANY OF THESE TYPES OF PROCEDURES WHERE PEOPLE HAVE PASSED INCORRECTLY OR FAILED TO STOP?



Not that I'm aware of.



?????.

WARDEN:
YOU'RE JUST HAVING TROUBLE COMING UP ON THE TAPES THAT'S ALL.

MR BRADY:
THAT'S BECAUSE NO BREACHES HAVE OCCURRED OR YOU'RE NOT AWARE OF ANY?



I'm not aware of any.



WELL IF ANY HAD OCCURRED AND THERE HAD OF BEEN DISCIPLINARY ACTION WOULD YOU HAVE BEEN TOLD ABOUT?



I would imagine I would hear about it yeah.



SO FROM THAT WE CAN ASSUME THERE HASN'T BEEN ANY BREACHES OR DISCIPLINARY ACTION TAKEN?  SEE IT'S REALLY DISTURBING THAT A FEW MONTHS AGO WE'VE HAD A FATALITY AND THEN PEOPLE SIT THERE IN THAT CHAIR AND SAY YEAH WELL IT'S STILL GOING ON.  PEOPLE ARE SNEAKING PAST.



Yeah I don't believe it is going on.



WELL IS THE PERSON ON THE 17TH MISTAKEN.  SEE THIS IS THE PROBLEM THAT PRESENTS US.  IF THAT'S THE CASE WHAT ARE WE HERE FOR?  HOW ARE WE GOING TO PREVENT A RE-OCCURRENCE?  YEAH I'VE GOT NOTHING FURTHER THANKS.

MR BIRD:
MR CATON I KNOW THAT YOU'RE IN A BIT OF A DIFFICULT SITUATION.  I'LL ONLY KEEP YOU FOR A COUPLE OF SECONDS.  MATE ON THE DAY IN QUESTION ON THE SHIFT I NOTICED IN THE REPORT HERE THAT YOU DID NOT KNOW HOW MANY LOADS THAT THE COAL HAULERS HAD DELIVERED.  BUT WOULD YOU HAVE ANY IDEA OF THE FREQUENCY OF THE COAL HAULERS GOING UP ONTO THAT STOCK PILE?



Yeah the haul itself was relatively short.  There were three trucks involved and I'd suggest they'd do a load every half hour. I'd say one truck every ten minutes would be reasonable.



SO THERE WOULD BE A HEAVY VEHICLE ON THAT ROAD PROBABLY..



Once every 10 minutes.



ONCE EVERY 10 MINUTES.



And more if you included the water cart.



OK.  NOW THE OTHER IS THERE'S BEEN A FAIR BIT OF TALK ABOUT TWO WAY CHANNELS.  I'M A LITTLE BIT MIXED UP.  ACTUALLY HOW MANY CHANNELS PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT WERE THERE ON THE TRUCKS ON THE MINE SITE?



Two.



ONLY TWO?  I'M SORT OF GETTING THE MESSAGE THAT THERE WAS A GENERAL CHANNEL THEN THERE WAS ONE FOR THE TRUCKIES AND THEN THERE WAS ANOTHER ONE FOR THE TRUCK SHOVELS.  THEN THERE SEEMED TO BE SOMETHING ELSE FOR THE DRAG LINE.  IS THAT CORRECT?



The actual reception has improved various areas of the mine by turning to..you're still the same channel if you like.  There's still only two channels but a channel would be able to be transmitted from..



SO THERE'S STILL ONLY TWO CHANNELS BUT PEOPLE AROUND THE MINE SITE WOULD HAVE BEEN ABLE TO PICK UP EVERYBODY IF SOMEONE WAS TALKING FROM THE NORTH OF THE SITE OF THE MINE OR THE CENTRAL PART OF THE MINE?



They would be able to pick up if they were on that channel.  Yeah that's right.



OK AND THERE'S ONE OTHER ONE IS IN THE WAREHOUSE.  WHAT SORT OF A RECEPTION DO YOU GET IN THE WAREHOUSE? WHAT CHANNEL WOULD THAT BE ON?



Channel one.



IT'LL BE ON CHANNEL ONE?



It'll be on the main channel.



SO IF SOME FITTERS WERE OR ELECTRICIANS OR SURVEYORS OR SOMEBODY ELSE WERE TO GO OUT IN THEIR VEHICLE AND ON THE SITE AND THEY WERE TO GET IN DIFFICULTY AND THEY WANTED TO CALL AN EMERGENCY WHAT CHANNEL WOULD THEY'D HAVE TO SWITCH CHANNELS TO CALL AN EMERGENCY?



The fitters would be on channel one in any case and that's the channel they were able to call.  



THAT'S THE CHANNEL THAT THEY WOULD CALL?



Yeah.



OK.  BUT SO IF THERE WAS SOMEONE IN A HAUL TRUCK OR A WATER TRUCK THEY'D BE ON A DIFFERENT CHANNEL SO THEY'D HAVE TO CHANGE THAT CHANNEL TO CALL AN EMERGENCY.  IS THAT CORRECT?



Yeah.



OK.  WHEN PEOPLE GO OUT ON THE MINE SITE ALSO PEOPLE FROM THE OFFICE OR THE ENGINEERS OR THERE'S THE MINE MANAGER OR VISITORS COME OUT AND GO OUT ONTO THE MINE IS THERE ANY SPECIAL PROCEDURE THAT'S IN PLACE BEFORE THEY GO OUT.  DO THEY CALL ANYONE TO NOTIFY ANYBODY THAT THEY'RE GOING THERE?



There is a visitors procedure.  If it's internal staff like engineers etcetera.  If they're familiar with the area they generally don't won't call anyone.  ? the open cut examiner is quite often called as is the stripping foreman with regards to best ways to get to areas.  Location of machinery.



SO IF THEY ARE FAMILIAR WITH THE AREA THEY DON'T HAVE TO THEY DON'T WORRY ABOUT CALLING ANYONE THEY JUST GO OUT?



That's right.  Unless they come across a sign that's requires them to for example the truck shovel area.



SO THE PEOPLE IN THE WORKSHOPS WHO FREQUENTLY GO OUT THERE THEY WOULDN'T HAVE TO WORRY ABOUT CALLING ANYONE TO LET THEM KNOW WHERE THEY'RE GOING OR WHAT THEY'RE DOING?



They do.  They do quite often.  I reported a mechanical problem with a dozer for example.  I reported it to the maintenance foreman.  What's wrong with it.  Where is it and quite often by the time the fitter gets to go out there he's forgotten or and he'll call you up and request its location.  That happens quite frequently.



JUST OFF THAT SUBJECT.  YOU SUPERVISE DIFFERENT SECTIONS OF THE MINE.  AND WHEN YOU'RE SUPERVISING THOSE DIFFERENT SECTIONS THERE ARE TIMES WHEN YOU HAVE TO HAVE OK TOOLBOX TALKS OR WHATEVER YOU CALL THEM AT BLACKWATER.  DO YOU FIND THAT YOU GET A DIFFERENT RESPONSE TO THE MESSAGES THAT YOU'RE DELIVERING FROM DIFFERENT SECTIONS OF THE MINE?



Yeah there are times when you could get a different response depending on the implication or the application of what's contained within that brief to the actual people that you're delivering it to.



OK AND ARE THOSE MESSAGES THAT YOU'RE PUTTING THROUGH ARE THEY REGULARLY ACCEPTED BY THE PEOPLE?



Yes.



OK NOW AT ALL IN YOUR LENGTH OF TIME THAT YOU'VE BEEN SUPERVISING HAVE YOU EVER HAD AN OCCASION WHERE THAT YOU'VE HAD A SOME SORT OF VITAL INFORMATION THAT YOU HAVE TO PASS THROUGH WHERE YOU HAVE STOPPED ALL PRODUCTION IN YOUR AREA.  PULLED ALL YOUR PEOPLE TOGETHER TO DELIVER THAT MESSAGE?



I have stopped all production.  I can't quite recall.  It wasn't me delivering messages but on a couple of occasions to attend certain information sessions.  And that will be generally towards the end of shift.  Or right at the start of shift.



BUT YOU'VE NEVER HAD THE OCCASION WHERE SOMETIMES YOU'RE IN THE SHIFT THAT YOU'VE JUST STOPPED PRODUCTION TO GO AND DELIVER THOSE SAFETY MESSAGES?



No.



OK ON THE DAY IN QUESTION DID ANY PERSON REPORT TO YOU ANY PROBLEMS ASSOCIATED WITH THAT STOCKPILE.  ENTRANCE TO THE STOCKPILE HAUL ROADS OR SIGNS OR ANYTHING AT ALL OF A SAFETY NATURE IN THAT AREA.  THAT'S FROM ANYBODY?



I did I had Bob Williams on the grader levelling or grading the face and he advised me that the grader wasn't going to be able to keep up with the amount of levelling work that was required and I organised for a rubber tyred dozer and operator to assist in that fashion around about smoker time.



WHEN THESE TRUCKS ARE COMING DOWN THE ROAD AND THERE'S ONE TRUCK EVERY 10 MINUTES IS POPPING INTO THAT STOCKPILE THOSE TRUCKS WOULD HAVE TO STEADY RIGHT DOWN TO BE ABLE TO NEGOTIATE THAT RIGHT HAND TURN.  IS IT A GENERAL PRACTICE THAT YOU WET THOSE CORNERS WHEN A HAUL TRUCK HAS GOT TO NEGOTIATE THOSE SORT OF TURNS?



It'll be a controlled wetting.  Short sharp bursts.



THANKS VERY MUCH.

WARDEN:
JUST A COUPLE OF QUESTIONS MR CATON.  JUST FOLLOWING ON SOMETHING THAT MR BEST RAISED WITH YOU AND ALSO THE TWO REVIEWERS HERE.  JUST IN RELATION THE CIRCULATION OF DOCUMENTATION ON TRAINING PROCEDURES AND PLANS AND SYSTEMS THAT ARE PUT IN PLACE.  I'VE BEEN INVOLVED IN A NUMBER OF INQUIRIES THIS YEAR AND IT GETS QUITE FRUSTRATING FOR REVIEWERS THAT REGULARLY SIT ON THESE PANELS AS WELL AS MYSELF I MEAN THIS WAS A FAIRLY STRAIGHT FORWARD ACCIDENT.  I THINK MOST PEOPLE WOULD AGREE WITH ME.  WE WON'T COMPLICATE THE ISSUES HOWEVER THE ACCIDENTS KEEP OCCURRING AND ONE OF THE THINGS THAT SEEMS TO ME TO BE TIED UP THAT'S A REGULAR THING IS THAT SOME OF THE COMPANIES HAVE SOME SPEND A LOT OF MONEY ON TRAINING AND PROCEDURES AND THAT BUT REALLY WHEN IT'S ALL BOILED DOWN IT COMES DOWN TO THE PEOPLE THEMSELVES AND IT SEEMS TO ME WITHOUT ANY CRITICISM OF MR SULLIVAN  OR MR GADSBY OR ANYONE IT SEEMS TO BE A THING THAT THERE'S A VERY LAID BACK ATTITUDE IN RELATION TO READING OF DOCUMENTATION AND FOLLOWING PROCEDURES BECAUSE WE'VE HEARD IN THE LAST COUPLE OF DAYS YESTERDAY THAT PEOPLE KEPT SNEAKING THROUGH ON THAT ACCESS ROAD AFTER THE ACCIDENT.  I MEAN HOW DO WE..YOU TELL ME OR TELL THIS INQUIRY HOW DO WE CHANGE PEOPLES ATTITUDES.  BECAUSE I'M REALLY CONCERNED I MEAN THIS WAS A STRAIGHT FORWARD ACCIDENT BUT WE'VE HAD A LOT OF INQUIRIES THIS YEAR AND I'M REALLY CONCERNED THAT WE'RE GOING TO HAVE ANOTHER MAJOR FATALITY JUST ROUND THE CORNER.  BECAUSE IT SEEMS TO ME THERE'S THE ATTITUDE THERE IT WON'T HAPPEN TO ME.  BUT IT DOES.  I JUST WANT TO KNOW SO THAT WHAT YOUR OPINION IS I KNOW IT'S A PRETTY HARD QUESTION I KNOW BUT IT COMES OUT REGULARLY IN THESE INQUIRIES THAT PEOPLE DON'T READ THAT DOCUMENTATION OR THAT THEY'VE BEEN AWAY ON LEAVE.  I HAD AN INQUIRY A FEW MONTHS AGO WHERE THE PERSON JUST DIDN'T SEE THE DOCUMENTATION.  HOW CAN WE IMPROVE THE SYSTEM OR HOW CAN THE COMPANIES IMPROVE THE SYSTEM?



Yeah I think it's got to be a behavioural change.



YOU SEE MY POINT?



Yeah.



I MEAN IT'S NOT JUST THIS INQUIRY.  IT SEEMS TO BE HAPPENING A LOT THAT THERE'S THIS ATTITUDE THAT EXISTS.  BECAUSE I MEAN THE WAY THINGS ARE GOING IS YOU KNOW IF THE PAST IS ANY INDICATION THERE'LL BE ANOTHER EIGHT OR NINE INQUIRIES NEXT YEAR AND THE FOLLOWING YEAR AND WE'RE NOT IMPROVING THE SYSTEM.  THE COMPANIES SEEM TO BE SPENDING A LOT OF MONEY AND THEY'VE PUT IN SOME GREAT PLANS AND THAT BUT ARE WE TAKING TOO MUCH..ARE WE TRYING TO PUT TOO MUCH RESPONSIBILITY ON THE SUPERVISORS AND NOT THE ACTUAL PEOPLE THEMSELVES..THE EMPLOYEES..THE WORKERS.  ARE WE CREATING PAPER TRAILS.



I think that's possibly right.  As I said it's a behavioural thing from here down through everyone. We've spent a lot of money in engineering our accidents until we..



I MEAN YOU'VE GOT TO AGREE IF YOU WERE THE COMPANY YOU'D BE GETTING PRETTY FRUSTRATED OR A PARTICULAR COMPANY WHERE THEY SPEND SO MUCH MONEY AND PEOPLE DON'T SEEM TO BE LISTENING.  I MEAN HOW DO WE ENFORCE WHERE THERE'S..NO SUGGESTIONS.



I think the impact of this accident has improved the behavioural safety awareness of everyone around the..



IT MIGHT HAVE HAPPENED AT YOUR MINE BUT IT'S STILL HAPPENING AT OTHER MINES.  YOU KNOW DOES IT TAKE AN ACCIDENT TO DO THAT?  WE'RE TRYING TO GET A MESSAGE TO EVERYBODY. NOT JUST TO YOUR MINE.  DO YOU SEE MY POINT?



Yep.



NOTHING FURTHER.

MR HAMMETT:



YOU WERE APPOINTED MINE OFFICIAL AT BLACKWATER MINE?



Yes that's right.



SO YOU'VE GOT A LETTER OF APPOINTMENT THAT DETAILS YOUR JOB RESPONSIBILITIES?



Yes.



HAVE YOU ANY IDEA WHAT SOME OF THOSE RESPONSIBILITIES ARE?  YOU'VE ACTUALLY RECEIVED A LETTER OF APPOINTMENT FROM THE MANAGER JUST DETAILING RESPONSIBILITIES?



Yeah.  There's no detailed responsibilities.  I've got my job description responsibilities.



UNDER THE ACT ARE YOU AWARE THERE'S DUTIES TO RECORD SAY IN WRITING ANY DANGERS THAT MAY EXIST BY THE END OF THAT SHIFT SHOULD THEY OCCUR DURING THAT SHIFT?



Yeah.



HAVE YOU HAD THE OCCASION TO FILL OUT ANY OF THOSE REPORTS?



No.



I JUST NOTICED THAT YOU HAD MENTIONED SOME OCCURRENCES AND BREACHES OF PROCEDURES.  SO BASICALLY NONE OF THOSE THINGS HAVE BEEN FOLLOWED THROUGH.  YOU THINK THERE'S BEEN A BIT OF A SHORTFALL IN SOME OF THOSE THINGS THEN ON YOUR PART?



Yes.



JUST ANOTHER QUERY WHOSE RESPONSIBILITY IS IT IN YOUR OPINION TO MAKE INSPECTIONS OF STOCKPILES?



With regards to coal stockpiles it would be the foreman.



AND DID YOU ACTUALLY CONDUCT INSPECTIONS OF THE STOCKPILE ANY TIME THROUGH THE SHIFT?



I viewed it.



YOU VIEWED IT?



I didn't actually drive over the stockpile.



AND IN YOUR OPINION IT WAS QUITE A EVERYTHING WAS OK THERE OR..



It needed work and that's why we changed the plans to pull rubber tyred dozer from coal cleaning that it was doing at ramp 10 and left it on that stockpile for the rest of the shift.



JUST ONE OTHER QUESTION YOU HAD IN YOUR STATEMENT ON TWO WAYS.  WAS THE ACTUAL WATER CART ON A DIFFERENT FREQUENCY FROM THE STRIPPING AND GENERAL FREQUENCY?



On this occasion no because it was..the actual crew employed to do the mining this day was a stripping crew so they were redeployed.  Whilst the shovel was done and they will..I'll actually say stick to channel one.  So it would have been no 14 on that day.



SO I THINK JUST IN YOUR STATEMENT YOU SAID THERE GENERALLY WATER CARTS OPERATE ON A MINING FREQUENCY WHICH IS DIFFERENT TO THE STRIPPING IN GENERAL?



Yeah that's correct.  That would apply 95% of the time.  On this particular day the people hauling were generally employed in the stripping area and I say I'll be on channel 1 if you need me so they'll be on channel 1.



WHAT CHANNEL NORMALLY WOULD THE WATER CARTS BE OPERATING ON?



Channel 14.  If it's employed in a mining operation.



OK.  SO IT COULD HAVE SEVERAL CHANNELS WORKING ANY ONE TIME.  WE HAD 14..WE'VE GOT 11..WE'VE GOT 4 AND WE'VE GOT 1.



They're all..there's two channels.  1 and 4.



I JUST FIND IT VERY CONFUSING JUST THE NUMBER OF CHANNELS THAT ARE IN USE.  THAT'S ALL I'VE GOT.

WARDEN:
ANY FURTHER QUESTIONS.  YES MR BEST.

MR BEST:
MR CATON YOU SAID IN A QUESTION OR AN ANSWER TO A QUESTION THAT MR BRADY PUT TO YOU ABOUT THE NORMAL USE OF THAT STOCKPILE OR YOU REGARDED IT AS QUITE A NORMAL OPERATION.  THERE'S A PLAN THERE TO THE RIGHT OF YOU.  ARE YOU FAMILIAR WITH THAT PLAN.  CAN YOU IDENTIFY THE MIXED JUNCTION AREA?  I NEED TO ASK YOU THE QUESTION WAS IT NORMAL PRACTICE FOR LOADED HAUL TRUCKS..LOAD HAULERS..TO TRAVEL DOWN PAST THE LIGHT VEHICLE ACCESS ROAD THERE AT ONTO THE SOUTHERN HAUL ROAD AT MIXED JUNCTION.  WOULD THEY BE EXPECTED THE LOADED HAULERS WOULD COME ROARING DOWN THROUGH THAT AREA NORMAL?



Through this way?



YEAH.



You'd be looking for them I mean it has happened in the past.



I ASKED YOU WAS IT NORMAL?  IS IT OR ISN'T IT NORMAL?  FOR THE HAULERS..LOADED HAULERS TO COME THROUGH THAT AREA DOWN ON THAT SOUTHERN HAUL ROAD PAST MIXED JUNCTION WHERE THAT LIGHT VEHICLE ACCESS ROAD ENTERS THE HAUL ROAD?



Yeah it is infrequent but it is normal.



IT'S INFREQUENT BUT IT'S NORMAL.  I'M JUST ABOUT IN..I'M A LITTLE BIT CONFUSED THERE BECAUSE I'M A LIGHT VEHICLE OPERATOR COMING TO MIXED JUNCTION AND THEREFORE I..MY MIND SAYS THAT I WOULD BE LOOKING AT OTHER HAZARDS.  WOULD IT NOT?



Yeah.  I guess..it's not normal..it's not frequent but they would be loaded coming this way.  It would be frequent but there would be haul trucks obviously coming this way.



YEP.  LOADED HAUL TRUCKS HAVE..COMING FROM RAMP 13.. WOULD YOU SAY THAT THEY HAVE ANY DIFFERENT APPROACH TO AN EMPTY HAUL DUMP.  THAT'S DUMPED AT THAT ROM.. IN THAT ROM CIRCLE.  CAUSE YOU OUTLINED TO ME WHERE THE SOUTHERN HAUL TRUCKS DUMP THEIR COAL ON THAT PLAN.  YOU SHOW ME HOW ..OR SHOW THE WARDENS COURT HOW THE..



The southern haul trucks?



YEAH.



Come up here.  Circle round on the rom and back to the southern pit.



YEAH THAT'S..CIRCLE ROUND ON THE ROM IS THAT THAT RED ARROW WITHIN THE SHADED AREA JUST UP FROM MIXED JUNCTION?



This area?



YEAH.



Yes.



OK NOW THEREFORE..HAVE YOU EVER BEEN IN A HAUL TRUCK WHEN THEY'VE DUMPED THERE?



No.



HAVE YOU NOTICED HOW THE HAUL TRUCK GOES ROUND TO DO THE DUMP AND THEN HOW IT GOES IN REGARDS TO ITS MOBILITY..IT'S SPEED AS IT COMES DOWN APPROACHING MIXED JUNCTION?



We're suggesting it's not travelling as fast as the truck coming this way.



I AM SORT OF ASKING FOR THAT SORT OF INTERPRETATION.



Yes.



THERE COULD BE A CHANCE THAT THE LOADED HAUL TRUCK KNOWS THAT IT'S GOING TO THE SOUTHERN HAUL ROAD.  TO THE DOWN THE SOUTHERN HAUL ROAD TO THE TWO WEST STOCKPILE WOULD THAT BE RIGHT?



Yep.



THEREFORE THERE WOULD BE AN UNDERSTANDING OF OR THE OPERATOR WOULD BE OPERATING THE TRUCK TO THE CONTROL CAPACITY OF THE SPEED ASSOCIATED WITH GOING THROUGH THAT AREA.  BECAUSE WAS IT NOT IT RIGHT THAT THE HAUL TRUCKS DID NOT HAVE TO STOP TO ALLOW LIGHT VEHICLES ACCESS ONTO THAT AREA.  ONTO THAT HAUL ROAD.  



Yep.



DIDN'T THE LIGHT VEHICLES HAVE TO STOP TO GIVE ACCESS TO HAULERS?



At this point here?



YEAH.



Yes.



OK SO THERE IS A CHANGE..THERE IS A CHANGE IN THE WAY THE DUMPING DOWN THERE AT THE 2 WEST STOCKPILE THERE IS A CHANGE THAT COULD EFFECT THE SAFETY OF OTHERS.  WOULD YOU AGREE?



Yes.



SO IT REALLY WASN'T THOUGHT OUT IN REGARD TO WHETHER IT BE NORMAL OR WHETHER IT BE INFREQUENT AS TO HOW NORMAL THE HAZARD MIGHT BE OR HOW INFREQUENT THE HAZARD MIGHT BE.



No.



THE OTHER THING YOU MENTIONED IN YOUR EVIDENCE EARLIER ON THAT YOU HAVE A HANDOVER BRIEFING SESSION WHICH TAKES HALF AN HOUR.  CAN I ASK YOU WHAT IS THE MAIN OBJECTIVES ASSOCIATED WITH THAT BRIEFING?  WHAT IS THE MAIN OBJECTIVE.  WHY THE HECK WOULD YOU WANT TO WASTE YOUR TIME FOR HALF AN HOUR TO RECEIVE INFORMATION FROM THE OFFCOMING OFF THE OFFCOMING FOREMAN?



I want to know where everything is.  I want to know what everything is doing.  If there's any changes from yesterday or the last time I was on shift.  If there are any hazards been introduced that I should be aware of.



SO THE FOCUS IS MORE THAN JUST BEING AWARE OF PRODUCTION OUTPUTS..THE FOCUS IS ON SAFETY AS WELL?



Safety.  Changed conditions.



CHANGED CONDITIONS.  THE RELEVANT INFORMATION THAT COMES INTO THERE.  THAT TAKES HALF AN HOUR TO GATHER THAT AND THEN YOU PROCESS THAT INFORMATION IN THROUGH THE SETTING UP OF YOUR WORK SCHEDULE.  WOULD THAT BE HOW YOU DO IT?



I'll assign the tasks according to that information.



OK.  NOW YOU ALSO SAID IN ANSWER TO BRADY THAT YOU WERE UNAWARE OF ANY DISCIPLINE THAT'S BEEN PUT IN PLACE.  THAT MIGHT BE CORRECT BUT I JUST WANT TO ASK YOU HAVE YOU HEARD OF A PERSON BEING DISCIPLINE OVER A SPEEDING BREACH DRIVING A MAN HAULER AT THAT MINE?



Yes I have actually.



YOU HAVE?



Yes.



SO THAT INFORMATION WAS COMMUNICATED ROUND THROUGH?



Yeah.



AND THAT DISCIPLINE WAS QUITE SEVERE AS I UNDERSTAND IT.  SOME WEEK OR TWO WEEKS SUSPENSION OR SOMETHING LIKE THAT?  ON SELF ADMISSION.  THAT PERSON ACTUALLY ADMITTED THAT HE WAS SPEEDING WHEN THE INVESTIGATION WAS CARRIED OUT IS THAT NOT CORRECT?



Yeah to my knowledge yes there was a severe penalty.



YOU KNOW YOU'VE ALSO SAID THAT YOU DO AN INSPECTION OF THAT STOCKPILE AREA.  YOU DRIVE OVER IT.  YOU DRIVE OVER THAT STOCKPILE AREA OR DO YOU DO AN INSPECTION VIA A DRIVE OVER THE STOCKPILE AREAS.  IS THAT HOW YOU DO THEM?



I would drive over the..over or around the stockpile area just enough to give me a visual idea and see pretty well straight away whether it's going to need work.



WOULDN'T YOU EXPECT ALSO IF YOU'VE DEPLOYED SOME PEOPLE TO THAT STOCKPILE THAT THEY WOULD TRY AND KEEP YOU INFORMED OF THE NEED OF WHAT MIGHT BE REQUIRED IF THERE WAS EXTRA EQUIPMENT OR IF THERE WAS A MAJOR PROBLEM THAT COULD CAUSE DISRUPTION OR CAUSE SAFETY TO THE OPERATION?



Yes.



SO DO YOU ENCOURAGE THAT OR DO YOU EXPECT THAT?  I MEAN WE'RE TALKING ABOUT HERE GETTING RESPONSIBILITY IN THE RIGHT AREA?



I encourage and expect it and in my position as a relief type roll I rely on it.



I'VE GOT TO ASK YOU ABOUT THE ENTRANCE TO THAT STOCKPILE.  CAN YOU DESCRIBE WHO DESIGNATED THAT ENTRANCE AS THE ENTRANCE AND THE EXIT AND WHY?  THERE'S A PLAN THERE. THE ENTRANCE IS IN THE DARK RED.



Here.



NOW YOU'RE AWARE THAT THAT WAS THE ENTRANCE?



That's right.  So they were coming round..



THAT'S RIGHT SO DID YOU DESIGNATE THAT AS THE ENTRANCE OR DID SOMEBODY ELSE DESIGNATE THAT AS THE ENTRANCE OR WAS IT RECOGNISED AS THE ENTRANCE TO THAT STOCKPILE?



It was recognised as the entrance to the stockpile.  The time I assigned work to the truck drivers there was you know it was Merv Gibson and Ray Pendle.  Two very experienced drivers and there was no comment of where is that stockpile or which way do we negotiate it from.



OK SO THEY UNDERSTOOD IT.  SO THEREFORE AT THE ENTRANCE WOULD YOU..DID YOU..YOU DIDN'T VISIT THAT ENTRANCE..THAT STOCKPILE..



No I just drove past on the way..



IT WOULD BE UNFAIR OF ME TO ASK YOU WOULD YOU TELL ME ABOUT THE CONDITION OR HOW DID YOU RATE THE CONDITION OF THAT ENTRANCE.  IT WOULD BE UNFAIR OF ME TO ASK YOU THAT BECAUSE YOU DIDN'T ACTUALLY VISIT IT?



I couldn't comment.  There was no communication through the shift that there was any problem with it.  And ? are dedicated to the run.  That would generally touch up any problems of that nature within the course of the shift.



WERE YOU AWARE THAT THE GRADER WAS ACTUALLY GOING TO GO DOWN THERE AND TRY TO RECTIFY THE PROBLEM THAT SOME OF THE TRUCKIES WERE HAVING WITH THAT ENTRANCE INCLUDING THE WATER TRUCK..



Yes.



YOU WERE.  SO THEREFORE SOMEBODY HAD TOLD YOU THAT THE ENTRANCE WAS NOT IN A GOOD..IN AS GOOD A CONDITION AS THEY'D LIKE IT?



I'm not referring to the entrance but the stockpile itself.  I was aware who was on the stockpile until I could get a rubber tyred dozer there.



SO WHEN WE SAY WE PLACE RESPONSIBILITY ON THE WORKFORCE THERE IS A FAIR BIT OF RESPONSIBILITY TAKEN BY THE WORKFORCE IN REGARDS TO TALKING TO ONE ANOTHER.  LIKE WOULD IT BE TRUE THAT THE TRUCK DRIVERS HAVE THE RIGHT TO TALK TO THE GRADER DRIVER ABOUT BEING ABLE TO COME AND TAKE THE ROUGHNESS OUT OF A OUT OF THE ENTRANCE TO A STOCKPILE OR THE APPROACH TO THE LOADING AREA?



Yes and they do.



AND ALSO COMMUNICATION WITH THE WATER TRUCK TO LAY SOME WATER OR NOT LAY WATER?



Yes you'd expect that.



YOU EXPECT THAT AND THERE WOULDN'T BE ANY INTERFERENCE FROM ANYONE THROUGH THAT SYSTEM OPERATING?



No certainly not.  Different crews are different how they approach it but I'm quite happy for them.. especially with the more senior drivers.  I mentioned Merve and Raymond before.  The truck shovel example.  I mean if it rains I'm not going to tell them to get and start driving until I trust their judgement on that.



THANKS MR CATON.

WARDEN:
THANKYOU.  NO FURTHER QUESTIONS.

MS GIBNEY:




YES YOUR WORSHIP.  I JUST REALLY WANT TO CLARIFY SOMETHING.  I'M HAPPY TO PUT THIS DOCUMENT IN IF ANYBODY WANTS ME TO.  MR CATON CAN YOU HAVE A LOOK AT THIS.  I JUST WANT TO..IS THAT YOUR LETTER OF APPOINTMENT AS A MINE OFFICIAL?  YOU WERE ASKED WHETHER YOU HAD A LETTER OF APPOINTMENT.  DO YOU REMEMBER SEEING THAT DOCUMENT?



Yep.  Yes.



YES YOU DO HAVE A LETTER OF APPOINTMENT OF A MINE OFFICIAL.  DOES ANYONE WANT THAT IN?  MAYBE WE SHOULD JUST PUT IT IN BECAUSE IT WAS A SPECIFIC QUESTION.  CAN WE MAKE THAT THE NEXT EXHIBIT YOUR WORSHIP.

WARDEN:
THOSE PREVIOUS DOCUMENTS THAT WERE ADMITTED.  THE ORIGINAL STATEMENT PROFESSOR CHRISTIE SHOULD BE RENUMBERED EXHIBIT 12.  THE MEDICAL CERTIFICATE OF PAUL VAN DER KLOOSTER IS EXHIBIT 13 AND THIS WILL BE LETTER OF APPOINTMENT IS EXHIBIT NUMBER 14.  THANKYOU.  YES.

MS GIBNEY:



I'M SORRY YOUR WORSHIP I WASN'T ANTICIPATING TENDERING THAT SO I DON'T HAVE MULTIPLE COPIES AVAILABLE BUT IT JUST DID ARISE OUT OF SOME QUESTION.  AND THAT REFERS TO THE NEED..THAT LETTER REFERS DOES IT NOT TO YOUR DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES BEING TO CARRY OUT SUPERVISORY DUTIES IN ACCORDANCE WITH PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTABILITIES OR AS DIRECTED BY YOUR SUPERVISOR AND TO ENFORCE THE OBSERVANCE OF THE ACT AND THE RULES AND ADVISES YOU THAT HERE OF THE GENERAL RULES AND SAFETY PROCEDURES AND YOU'LL BE NOMINATED TO ATTEND THE NEXT MINE OFFICIAL COURSE HELD BY MR BRUMPTON.  NOW CAN WE TRY AND CLEAR UP THE CHANNELS.  I HOPE I'VE GOT THIS RIGHT.  YOUR WORSHIP THIS DOES SEEM TO HAVE BEEN A MATTER OF SOME CONFUSION AND IF IT WOULD ASSIST THE PANEL I WILL ENDEAVOUR TO GO THROUGH IT.

WARDEN:
YES PLEASE.

MS GIBNEY:




AND UNDOUBTEDLY LEARN SOMETHING MYSELF IN THIS PROCESS.  HOW MANY CHANNELS WERE THERE AT THE 4TH OF MAY?



Two.



IF I WAS IN THE SOUTH OF THE MINE MIGHT I USE A CHANNEL WITH A DIFFERENT NUMBER THAN IF I WAS IN THE NORTH?



That's correct.



NOW CAN YOU EXPLAIN THIS..I MEAN WOULD IT HELP IF I GAVE YOU A PIECE OF PAPER TO DRAW IT ON?  IS IT THE CASE THAT THERE ARE TWO CHANNELS BUT DIFFERENT NUMBERS DEPENDING UPON PHYSICALLY WHERE YOU ARE IN THE MINE?



That's right.  You can..there's some areas where you can get better frequencies or better reception by..



BY GOING TO A PARTICULAR PLACE.  SO IF I WAS IN THE SOUTHERN AREA I MIGHT FLICK TO CHANNEL 12 TO BE ON CHANNEL 1.



That's correct.



WHEREAS IF I WAS IN THE NORTH I MIGHT FLICK TO CHANNEL 13 TO BE ON CHANNEL 1?



That's correct.



AND SO THE CENTRAL.  AND THAT'S THE CHANNEL 1 BEST PICKUP..



Best pick up..oh sorry.



NO GO ON YOU EXPLAIN IT.



Although with channel 1 itself will work if I don't actually swap.  I stick to channels quite avocably.



OK.  BUT PEOPLE FLICK AROUND DEPENDING UPON THE PICK UP OF THE FREQUENCY TO DIFFERENT NUMBERS ON THE DIAL?



That's right.



AND THE SAME APPLIES FOR THE OTHER CHANNEL WHICH IS THE MINING OPS CHANNEL OR WAS THE MINING OPS CHANNEL OF 4.



Yep.



SO HENCE THERE MAY BE REFERENCES TO VARIOUS CHANNELS BUT WE'RE ACTUALLY TALKING ABOUT WHICH DIAL BEST GETS YOU ONTO A PARTICULAR ONE OR TWO CHANNELS AT ANY GIVEN POINT IN THE MINE?



That's correct.



NOW I HAVEN'T PUT ANY WORDS..I HAVE PUT A LOT OF WORDS INTO YOUR MOUTH THERE BUT ARE THEY ACCURATE?



That's correct.



IS THAT OF ASSISTANCE TO THE PANEL?  JUST..TWO MORE THINGS.  I JUST WANT TO CLEAR UP MR CATON DID YOU HAVE ANYTHING TO DO WITH THE DECISION TO MINE FROM RAMP 12 TO THE 2 WEST STOCKPILE?



No.  My instructions would come from a pre-weekend briefing meeting with the senior mining foreman.



RIGHT AND DID YOU HAVE ANYTHING TO DO WITH ESTABLISHING THE OPERATION AT THE 2 WEST STOCKPILE?



No.



AND I THINK YOU SAID YOU WERE TOLD ON THE FRIDAY BEFOREHAND BY THE SENIOR MINING SUPERVISOR.



That's correct.



SO WHEN YOU CAME ON SHIFT AT 2.30 ON THE SUNDAY MORNING DID YOU KNOW WHETHER OR NOT THEY HAVE BEEN WORKING THAT ROUTE OF MINING FROM 13 DOWN TO 2 WEST?



I was aware they had been working it in the previous week.  They weren't working it when I came on shift.



NO THEY WEREN'T WORKING THE SHIFT IMMEDIATELY BEFOREHAND?



That's right.



BUT AT THE POINT THAT YOU CAME ON IT WAS AN ESTABLISHED OPERATION?



That's correct.



OK.  NO FURTHER QUESTIONS YOUR WORSHIP.

MR BRADY:
JUST TO CLARIFY THAT AND NOT MAKE LIGHT OF THE RADIO CHANNELS.  WE DID HAVE 1..4..11 AND 14.  WE'VE NOW GOT 1..4..11..12..13..AND 14 BUT WHAT I UNDERSTAND IS CHANNEL 1 IS THE MAIN CHANNEL AND THAT'S ON SCAN SO ANYBODY LISTENING TO THAT COULD PICK UP ANYBODY ELSE?



No that's not on scan.  There is an option you can scan between the two channels.  In the stripping are the stripping foreman generally sticks to the channel 1.  He can speak to the drag lines truck shovel and drills.



SO 1 COULD PICK UP WHICH CHANNELS?  PEOPLE WITH WHAT ON WHAT DIAL?



11..12..



11..12...



Might even be 13.



13.  1 COULD PICK UP THEM?



Yep.



OK NOW WHO USES CHANNEL 4?



Truckies generally coal mining.



WHO ELSE?



The mining foreman..and the OCE would be scanning both channels.



I NOTICE YOU DIDN'T INCLUDE YOURSELF IN THAT. YOU SAID YOU COULD ONLY GET..ON CHANNEL 1 YOU'D GET 11..12..AND 13.  SO YOU'RE IN CHARGE OF THE SHIFT BUT YOU CAN'T..



I can scan.



SO YOU CAN HAVE YOURS ON SCAN?



I can yeah.



NOW THE RADIO IN THE WORKSHOP OR THE RADIO IN THE STORE WHAT CHANNEL'S THAT ON?



It's always on channel 1.



IT'S ALWAYS ON CHANNEL 1.  WOULD IT BE ON SCAN?



I'm not aware.  I believe it's fixed to channel 1.



I'M JUST WONDERING IF SOMEBODY ON CHANNEL 4 HAS AN EMERGENCY?



You switch to channel 1.



AS LONG AS HE REMEMBERS TO SHIFT TO CHANNEL 1 IN AN EMERGENCY HE'S GOING TO GET HELP?  IS THAT VERY LIKELY THAT WOULD HAPPEN ANYWAY THE PROBLEMS SOLVED ISN'T IT?



I think even if he didn't there are other people listening to that..the OCE etcetera.



THE PROBLEM IS SOLVED NOW ANYWAY ISN'T IT?



With regards to the..



RADIO COMMUNICATION?



Oh yeah we're all on one channel.



NOW THAT BIT ABOUT YOUR APPOINTMENT AS A MINE OFFICIAL.  YOU KNOW I WAS ONLY INTERESTED IN WHETHER IN FACT YOU WERE APPOINTED AS A MINE OFFICIAL.  HAVE YOU DONE ANY RESEARCH OR READ ANYTHING ABOUT THE WAY OF THE FUTURE.  WHAT'S GOING TO HAPPEN IN THE FUTURE WITH CHANGES TO LEGISLATION AND WHAT NOT AND..  HAVE YOU GOT ANY IDEA OF WHAT ADDED RESPONSIBILITIES A MINE OFFICIAL IS GOING TO HAVE?



No.



I SUGGEST IT WOULD PAY YOU TO LOOK TO THE FUTURE AND SEE JUST WHAT RESPONSIBILITIES ARE COMING YOUR WAY AND WHAT OBLIGATIONS AND IN FACT WHAT PENALTIES ARE COMING YOUR WAY.  I'VE GOT NOTHING FURTHER THANKS.

WARDEN:
NO FURTHER QUESTIONS?  YES MR LEES.

MR LEES:
I'VE JUST BEEN INFORMED THAT THERE'S ANOTHER TWO CHANNELS OUT THERE.  A CHANNEL 10 FOR THE WASH PLANT AND A CHANNEL 8 FOR THE SURVEYORS.  IS THAT CORRECT?



The channel 10 is correct for the wash plant.  It's only a very localised frequency.  You can't pick it up too far outside the industrial area.



SO THERE IS ANOTHER ONE CALLED CHANNEL 10?



That's correct.



AND WHAT ABOUT CHANNEL 8 FOR THE SURVEYORS?



I know they have.  I'm not sure whether it's channel 8 but they do have a separate frequency.



SO THERE'S TWO MORE FREQUENCIES OUT THERE.  HAVE THEY BEEN GOT RID OF?



Not to my knowledge.



SO WE'VE GOT THREE FREQUENCIES OUT THERE STILL?



We've got three.



SO THERE'S NOT ONE FREQUENCY STILL OUT THERE THERE'S THREE?



That's correct.



THAT'S IT.

WARDEN:
THANKYOU.  AS LONG AS THERE'S NO FURTHER QUESTIONS.

MS MALONEY:



MAY THIS WITNESS BE EXCUSED.

WARDEN:
YES YOU'RE EXCUSED.  YOU'RE EXCUSED THANKYOU.  WE MIGHT JUST TAKE A SHORT ADJOURNMENT.  BUT BEFORE WE DO JUST WE'VE ONLY GOT TWO MORE WITNESSES TO GO I TAKE IT?

MS MALONEY:



THAT'S CORRECT YOUR WORSHIP.

WARDEN:
RIGHT.  AT THE END OF THOSE TWO WITNESSES I MIGHT JUST INDICATE TO ALL THE PARTIES NOW FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE PARTIES AT THE BAR TABLE THAT IT IS MY NORMAL PRACTICE THAT THE REVIEWERS AND MYSELF WILL WELCOME ANY SUBMISSIONS AS TO RECOMMENDATIONS.  IF YOU SO DESIRE AND IF THERE'S ANY SUBMISSIONS ON LAW BUT THE MAIN POINT IS ANY SUBMISSIONS ON RECOMMENDATIONS WE WOULD WELCOME THAT BUT IT'S ENTIRELY A MATTER FOR YOURSELVES.  OBVIOUSLY WE'VE HAD THE OPPORTUNITY OF HEARING ALL THE EVIDENCE SO JUST BARE THAT IN MIND FOR LATER ON.  JUST ADJOURN THANKS.

COURT ADJOURNED.

COURT RESUMED.

WARDEN:
YES THANKYOU.

MS MALONEY:



YOUR WORSHIP THE NEXT WITNESS WE CALL MR JAMES WIRTH.

WITNESS DULY SWORN.

MS MALONEY:



MR WIRTH COULD YOU PLEASE STATE YOUR FULL NAME AND ADDRESS FOR THE COURT PLEASE.

Mr Wirth:
James Ronald Wirth.  8 Talgon Street Blackwater.



AND WHAT'S YOUR OCCUPATION?



Level 4 mine worker.



OK AND ARE YOU ALSO AN OPENCUT EXAMINER?



True.



OK NOW AND YOU'RE AWARE OF THE ACCIDENT THAT OCCURRED ON THE 4TH OF MAY OF THIS YEAR AT THIS PARTICULAR MINE BLACKWATER MINE?



Yeah.



AND DO YOU RECALL MAKING A STATEMENT TO AN INSPECTOR MIKE WALKER OF DEPARTMENT OF MINES AND ENERGY IN RELATION TO THAT MATTER?



Yes.



CAN YOU JUST HAVE A LOOK AT THE DOCUMENT OPEN IN FRONT OF YOU.  CAN YOU JUST HAVE A LOOK AT IT.  IT'S SEVEN PAGES WHERE'S IT'S OPENED CAN YOU JUST HAVE A LOOK AND IDENTIFY THAT WHETHER THAT'S YOUR STATEMENT?



Yeah.



OK THAT'S THE STATEMENT THAT YOU GAVE.  NOW HAVE YOU HAD A CHANCE TO HAVE ANOTHER LOOK AT THAT STATEMENT BEFORE COMING ALONG TO THE INQUIRY?



Yes I have.



NOW ARE THERE ANY CHANGES OR ALTERATIONS YOU WOULD WISH TO MAKE TO THAT PARTICULAR STATEMENT?



No.



AND TO THE BEST OF YOUR BELIEF THE CONTENTS OF THAT STATEMENT ARE TRUE AND CORRECT?



That's right.



YOUR WORSHIP THAT'S ALREADY PART OF EXHIBIT 7 THE ORIGINAL STATEMENT.  NOW MR WIRTH I JUST REALLY WANT TO FOCUS ON THE POSITION AS AN OPEN CUT EXAMINER NOW HOW LONG HAVE YOU ACTUALLY BEEN AN OPEN CUT EXAMINER?



Since 1983 I think.



AND YOU'VE AT THIS PARTICULAR MINE SINCE MAY OF 1975?



That's right.



SO YOU'VE BEEN AT THE MINE FOR QUITE A NUMBER OF YEARS?



That's right.



AND SO YOU'VE BEEN AN OPEN CUT EXAMINER SINCE 1983.  CAN YOU JUST OUTLINE FOR US IN THE POSITION OF AN OPEN CUT EXAMINER WHAT DO YOUR DUTIES ENTAIL.  WHAT ARE THE SPECIFIC DUTIES FOR AN OPEN CUT EXAMINER?



To carry out inspections of the working areas the high walls and there's also included roadways.



OK.  DO YOU HAVE PARTICULAR RESPONSIBILITIES OR DUTIES IMPOSED ON YOU AS AN OPEN CUT EXAMINER?  SPECIFIC THING THAT YOU MUST DO EITHER EVERY SHIFT OR IN THAT POSITION?



Possibly to make a report at the end of the shift.



OK AND WHAT'S INCLUDED IN THAT.  WHAT'S THE NATURE OF THE REPORT?



That's the condition of the high walls and roadways and ramps.



DOES IT COVER IN THAT POSITION DO YOU HAVE PARTICULAR RESPONSIBILITIES OVER ANY STAFF.  ARE YOU RESPONSIBLE OR SUPERVISE PARTICULAR STAFF?



Not supervise no.



OK DO YOU HAVE RESPONSIBILITY FOR PARTICULAR STAFF?



Only in the sense I guess of safety.



WELL IN RESPECT OF SAFETY WHAT SORT OF ISSUES WOULD AN OPEN CUT EXAMINER DEAL WITH OF A STAFF IN RELATION OF..WHAT SORT OF ISSUES?



Well if we had problems I guess like high wall failures or dangerous working areas.



IN WHAT SENSE THOUGH.  DO THEY REPORT THOSE TO YOU OR DO YOU DEAL WITH THEM PROVIDE THAT INFORMATION TO THEM HOW TO HANDLE THOSE ISSUES?



No we usually do it in conjunction yeah.



IS THERE ANY PARTICULAR PROCEDURE OR SYSTEM FOR YOU AS AN OPEN CUT EXAMINER IN MAKING A REPORT TO MANAGEMENT CONCERNING EITHER HAZARDS OR PROBLEMS THAT HAVE ARISEN DURING ANY PARTICULAR SHIFT?



Can I just have that again please.



ARE THERE ANY PROCEDURES IN PLACE THAT YOU AS AN OPEN CUT EXAMINER..IF YOU BECOME AWARE OF EITHER A HAZARD OR SOME SORT OF PROBLEM DURING A PARTICULAR SHIFT IS THERE A PROCEDURE BE IT A FORM NOTIFICATION WHATEVER THAT YOU HAVE TO PROVIDE TO EITHER YOUR SUPERVISOR OR TO MANAGEMENT?



A general rule is we report to the foreman on shift and if there's anything probably out of the ordinary report to the registered manager.



OK.  NOW IN RELATION YOU'RE AWARE OF THE MINE TRAFFIC RULES?



Yes.



ARE THERE ANY RESPONSIBILITIES ON AN OCE TO ENSURE THAT OTHER WORKERS ARE AWARE OF AND ARE COMPLYING WITH THE RULES?



Yeah well if we find people that aren't we usually bring it to their attention yeah.



AND IF INFORMATION IS BEING PROVIDED TO STAFF ON EITHER NEW PROCEDURES AND I'LL REFER PARTICULARLY TO SOME SAFETY BRIEFS.  HOW ARE THEY DISTRIBUTED.  ARE THEY DISTRIBUTED TO THE OCE'S?



Not individually.



WELL HOW WOULD THEY BE DISTRIBUTED?



Usually on notice boards or left at starting points.



AND FROM YOUR STATEMENT I SEE THAT YOU ARE A BE SAFE REPRESENTATIVE?



Yes.



AND HAVE BEEN WELL THAT WAS AROUND MAY SINCE THE LAST 12 MONTHS.  ARE YOU STILL A BE SAFE REPRESENTATIVE?



No there's another bloke taken over.



IT'S ROTATED I GATHER?



Yep.



AND AT THE TIME OF THE INCIDENT YOU WERE?



Yes.



AND AS SUCH YOU WERE ON THE MAILING LIST TO RECEIVE THINGS SUCH AS THE SAFETY BRIEFS?



Yeah that particular time yes.



IN RELATION TO PROCEDURES YOU WERE ASKED ABOUT THE PROCEDURE FOR OVERTAKING A WATER TRUCK AND IN RELATION TO THAT YOU WERE THEN REFERRED TO ASKED WHETHER YOU WERE AWARE OF A SAFETY BRIEF TITLED LIGHT VEHICLE SAFETY ON THE MINE SITE DESCRIBING THE PROCEDURE FOR PASSING HEAVY VEHICLE.  YOU SAID YOU REMEMBER SOMETHING ABOUT IT BUT I DON'T REMEMBER SEEING IT.  DID YOU EVER SEE THAT PARTICULAR SAFETY BRIEF?



I can't recollect no.



IN BEING AN OCE HOW IS THERE ANY REGULAR CONTACT OR COMMUNICATION BETWEEN YOURSELF AND OTHER SUPERVISORS OR THE MINE MANAGER?



With the supervisors yeah.



WHO WOULD BE YOUR PARTICULAR SUPERVISOR?



Trevor Douglas.



OK AND WHAT WOULD HIS POSITION BE?



7 day roster shift foreman yeah.



AND DO YOU HAVE REGULAR DISCUSSION WITH HIM AS TO WHAT'S HAPPENING?



Yes.



HOW REGULAR WOULD THEY BE?



Daily.



NOW YOU'D BE AWARE OF THE PROCEDURES FOR OVERTAKING HEAVY VEHICLES?



Yes.



OK WHAT IS YOUR UNDERSTANDING OF IT.  AS AT THE ACCIDENT.  AT THE TIME OF THE ACCIDENT WHAT WAS YOUR UNDERSTANDING OF THAT PROCEDURE?



At the accident time that would have been probably normal procedure was to wait for them to turn their right hand spray off which indicated that they knew you were there then you overtook.



THAT PROCEDURE HAS CHANGED SINCE THE ACCIDENT HASN'T IT?



That's right.



AND NOW REQUIRES DEFINITE COMMUNICATION OR POSITIVE COMMUNICATION WITH THE OPERATOR?



That's right.



NOW AS AN OCE DID YOU EVER HAVE TO HAVE AN ISSUE OR DID YOU EVER COME ACROSS HAVING TO REMIND SOMEBODY OR GIVE A REFRESHER TO SOMEBODY AS TO THE APPROPRIATE PROCEDURES?



Not that I can recollect.



WHAT ABOUT ISSUES OF PLACEMENT OF WARNING SIGNS AT PARTICULAR SLOTS ALONG THE ROAD TO INDICATE WELL IN THIS CASE TRUCKS TURNING.  WHAT WAS THE REQUIREMENT FOR THOSE SIGNS TO BE IN PLACE DO YOU KNOW?



Well I guess the requirement was they had to be in place yeah.



OK DO YOU KNOW WHOSE RESPONSIBILITY IT WAS TO HAVE THOSE PUT IN PLACE?



Yeah I guess it was our responsibility to make sure they were there yeah.



I HAVE NO FURTHER QUESTIONS YOUR WORSHIP.

WARDEN:
THANKYOU.  YES MR BEST.

MR BEST:
YES YOUR WORSHIP.  MR WIRTH YOU JUST SAID YOU GUESSED IT WAS YOUR RESPONSIBILITY.  IS IT YOUR RESPONSIBILITY TO HAVE A RESPONSIBILITY TO MAKE SURE THEY ARE THERE?  



Yeah.



IS IT YOUR RESPONSIBILITY TO KNOW ABOUT THE CHANGING MINING OPERATIONS?  CHANGES TO THE MINING OPERATIONS?  TO BE NOTIFIED THAT THEY HAVE BEEN CHANGED?



Yeah.



SO YOU GET THAT NOTIFICATION..



Pre shift yeah.



AT THE START OF THE SHIFT?



Yeah.



DOES THAT NOTIFICATION MEAN ANYTHING TO YOU IN REGARDS TO WHAT YOUR RESPONSIBILITIES ARE FOR THAT SHIFT?



yeah.



IN WHAT WAY?



To make sure that the area that they're working in is safe.



IS THERE ANYTHING ELSE YOU'VE GOT TO DO NOW SINCE THE ACCIDENT DIFFERENT TO WHAT YOU WERE DOING PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT WITH REGARDS TO INFORMATION?



We have a board that we place the working areas the signs on.  I have mining is being done.



IS THAT BOARD KEPT CURRENT?



Yeah I do it yes.



ON THREE SHIFTS?



I'm not sure.



HOW DO YOU KNOW THAT THE BOARD'S CURRENT THEN.  WHEN YOU COME YOU WORK ROSTER?



That's right.



SO YOU HAVE DAYS OFF?



Yes.



AND SO WHEN YOU COME BACK TO WORK WHAT DO YOU..HOW DO YOU GET BRIEFED UP.  HOW DO YOU GET INTRODUCED BACK INTO THE MINING ENVIRONMENT?



Shift foreman advises where they're working.  And that's for mining and in our area where the drag lines are and the truck shovel.



YOU SAY OUR AREA?  SO THERE'S A DIFFERENT AREA..



Well seven day roster is different than the five day roster.



THE SEVEN DAY ROSTER WITH REGARDS TO YOUR RESPONSIBILITIES AND DUTIES AS AN OPEN CUT EXAMINE OR IS TO DO WITH OPERATING OF EQUIPMENT?



No it doesn't make any difference.  When we're examining the whole are becomes our responsibility but the mining foreman informs us of where they're mining.  Other than the seven day roster foreman informs me of where the truck shovel and drilling and drag lines are.



SO WHEN YOU GET THAT INFORMATION YOU THEN HAVE A RESPONSIBILITY TO PUT THAT INFORMATION UP ON THE BOARD?



It hasn't been told of us as such but I do it yes.



IS THERE A WAY THAT THAT INFORMATION IS NOT KEPT CURRENT?  OR IS THERE EVIDENCE THAT THE INFORMATION IS NOT KEPT CURRENT?



Yes I've seen it not correct yeah.



YOU'VE SEEN THAT IT HASN'T BEEN KEPT CURRENT?



Yeah.



IS THERE ANY SUGGESTIONS OF HOW THAT COULD BE PREVENTED FROM OCCURRING?



I guess it could be checked by the foreman also. 



CHECKED BY THE FOREMAN ALSO.



Mmm.



IF YOU'RE GIVEN THE RESPONSIBILITY AS AN OPEN CUT EXAMINER WOULD IT BE TOO DIFFICULT TO MAKE SURE THAT THAT INFORMATION WAS KEPT CURRENT?



No.



SO THEREFORE WE COULD LEAVE IT WITH THE OPEN CUT EXAMINERS AS ONE OF THEIR RESPONSIBILITIES AND THAT WOULD NOT BE TOO DIFFICULT?



No it wouldn't be too difficult.



I MUST ASK YOU A QUESTION THEN.  DO YOU THINK IT'S BENEFICIAL TO THE WHOLE OF THE WORKFORCE FOR THAT BOARD INFORMATION TO BE POSTED AS CURRENT INFORMATION?



Yes I think it would be beneficial.



DO YOU THINK IT WOULD IMPROVE SAFETY?  AWARENESS OR JUST SAFETY?



Yeah.



IT COULD?



Yeah.



WHEN YOU SAID YOU DO YOUR INSPECTIONS..ON THE DAY OF THE ACCIDENT YOU WERE OPEN CUT EXAMINER DOING AN INSPECTION?



That's right.



DID YOU KNOW ABOUT THE COAL DUMPING OPERATIONS IN 2 WEST STOCKPILE?



That's right.



DID YOU INSPECT THAT AREA?



I didn't go onto the stockpile I drove past it.  It's only 100 yards off the road yeah.  Or so.



IN YOUR OPINION HOW WAS THE ENTRANCE TO THAT STOCKPILE?



It was quite alright.  Taken steady yeah.



IT WAS QUITE ALRIGHT IF YOU TOOK IT STEADY?



Well the drain on the side of the road was about the only thing that..



THERE WAS A DRAIN ON THE SIDE OF THE ROAD?



Mm.



LEADING INTO THE ENTRANCE?



That's right.



WHICH AREA WERE YOU TALKING ABOUT.  WHAT IS THE ENTRANCE?



On the southern side of the..



CAN YOU INDICATE ON THAT PLAN THERE.  CAN YOU INDICATE ON THE PLAN?  THAT ONE THERE.  SO YOU NEEDED TO..THERE WAS A DRAIN THERE?  AND YOU COULD NOTICE IT..YOU COULD NOTICE FROM YOUR DRIVE THROUGH INSPECTION THAT THAT ENTRANCE WAS OK?  WAS THERE A DIFFERENCE ABOUT THE APPROACH..THE SHAPE OF THE ENTRANCE?  WAS IT A STRAIGHT T..



No.  It sort of curved in..



WAS IT CURVED?



Yes.



WHICH WOULD HAVE MEANT TO THE OPERATION OF A TRUCK HAULER OR WATER TRUCK WOULD THAT MEAN THAT THEY HAD TO MANOEUVRE INTO THAT AREA A BIT DIFFERENTLY GOING ACROSS THE HAUL ROAD?



Yeah.



AND WOULD IT MEANT THAT THE OPERATOR WOULD..YOU SAID WITH CAUTION SO WITH CAUTION YOU MEAN CAUTION TO GO THROUGH THE DRAIN.  IS THAT WHAT YOU'RE SAYING?



The drain wasn't too bad but the caution I meant was to take it steady because of the curve in the road.



BECAUSE OF THE CURVE IN THE ROAD.



It turned back into the stockpile.



WOULD YOU CONSIDER THE AREA TO BE ROUGH?



No.



YOU WOULDN'T HAVE CONSIDERED THE AREA TO BE ROUGH?  



The stockpile maybe but not the area around.



WERE ANY EQUIPMENT WORKING ON THE STOCKPILE WHEN YOU WERE THERE?  WHEN YOU WENT PAST?



Yeah I think there was a dozer there.  A rubber tyred dozer.



SO YOU WERE MADE AWARE..HOW WERE YOU MADE AWARE THAT THE OPERATION WAS GOING TO BE..OR THEY WERE GOING TO START DUMPING COAL INTO THAT STOCK PILE?



I was informed at the start of the shift by Craig Caton.



SO BY THE FOREMAN?



Yes.



SO THEN YOU WERE THEN LOOKING AFTER THE WHOLE OF THE MINE AS AN OPENCUT EXAMINER OR WERE YOU STILL THEN JUST LOOKING AFTER..



No the whole of the mine.



THE WHOLE OF THE MINE?  SO IT WASN'T A SPECIALIST AREA THAT YOU WERE LOOKING AFTER?



No.



WAS THERE ANY OTHER PEOPLE WORKING ON THE MINE.  ANY OTHER PERSONS WORKING ON THE MINE ON THE DAY OF THE ACCIDENT THAT YOU HAD TO INSPECT OR CARRY OUT INSPECTIONS FOR?



They were doing maintenance on the shovel. 



WHICH WAS WHEREABOUTS?



It was in the cut.  I just can't remember off hand which ramp it was in.



YOU CAN REFER TO ANY PART OF YOUR STATEMENT ANY TIME BUT WAS IT SOUTH OF THE STOCKPILE?



South yeah.



WHAT WAS THE WORK BEING DONE ON THE SHOVEL?



Just a normal maintenance day.



NORMAL MAINTENANCE DAY.  SO IT INVOLVED MAINTENANCE PERSONNEL?



That's correct.



THEY ARE DIFFERENT TO THE MINING PEOPLE?



That's right.



YOU INTERACT WITH THE MAINTENANCE PERSONNEL?



No.



AND YET THEY'RE IN THE PIT.  DO YOU INTERACT WITH THEM IN THE PIT?



No.



IS THERE A RULE TO SAY THAT YOU SHOULDN'T COMMUNICATE WITH THE MAINTENANCE PERSONNEL?



No there's no rule.



AS THE OPENCUT EXAMINER YOU SAID IN PREVIOUS THAT YOU INSPECT ALL AREAS OF WORK. YOU INSPECT THE HIGH WALL LOW WALL PITS RAMPS.  DID YOU CONSIDER THAT THE MAINTENANCE AREA WAS PART AND PARCEL OF A NEED FOR PART OF YOUR STATUTORY INSPECTION?



Yes.



SO THE PART OF YOUR STATUTORY INSPECTION WOULD JUST BE HOW WOULD YOU DO THAT INSPECTION.  HOW DID YOU DO IT?



Well I drove through the pit.  The shovel I recollect was in the middle away from the high wall which in my opinion was a safe distance away.  I didn't notice anything out of the ordinary.  The vehicles were parked..



THE VEHICLES.  WHAT VEHICLES WERE PARKED THERE?



The maintenance personnel vehicles.



LIGHT VEHICLES?



Light vehicles yeah.



PASSENGER CARRYING VEHICLES?



That's right.



DID YOU TALK TO ANYONE WHEN YOU WERE THERE?



No I don't think so no.



DID YOU MEET ANYONE ON YOUR INSPECTION IN ANY OF THE CRIB ROOMS WHEN YOU'RE..DURING YOUR SHIFT BREAKS..DURING YOUR CRIB BREAKS OR SMOKO?



Not at the shovel area no.



SO DID YOU INTERACT WITH ANYONE?



No.



SO YOU'RE AWARE THAT MINING WAS TAKING PLACE IN AN AREA SO WHO SHOULD OF IN THE AREA OF THE 2 WEST STOCKPILE DO YOU BELIEVE THERE WAS A CHANGE.. IS THAT A CHANGE TO NORMAL ACTIVITIES?



It is a change but it's been done before yeah.



IT'S BEEN DONE BEFORE.  WELL WITH YOUR COMMUNICATION WHEN YOU DO AN INSPECTION HOW DO YOU COMMUNICATE YOUR INFORMATION WITH REGARDS TO THE FINDINGS OF YOUR INSPECTION?



Other than writing in our book pass it onto the oncoming examiner.



PUT IT IN YOUR BOOK.



And a copy is hung on the wall in the assembly area..the mining area.



SO YOU DON'T COMMUNICATE WITH ANYONE ABOUT YOUR FINDINGS YOU..



If there was anything out of the ordinary I'd communicate with the foreman yes.



COMMUNICATE WITH THE FOREMAN?



Yes.



YOU WERE ASKED ABOUT SAFETY BRIEFS AND YOU SAID YOU WEREN'T AWARE OF THE PARTICULAR ONE THAT WAS RAISED EARLIER IN EVIDENCE.  WHAT ABOUT THE SAFETY BRIEFS THAT ARE PUT AROUND THE MINE TO ALERT PEOPLE OF HAZARDS OR POTENTIAL OR INCIDENTS OR ACCIDENTS THAT HAVE OCCURRED AND THE RECOMMENDATIONS THAT ARE ON THE BOTTOM OF THEM?  ARE YOU AWARE OF ANY OF THOSE SAFETY BRIEFS BEING USED AS PART OF THE SAFETY COMMUNICATION SYSTEM?



Yes.



ARE YOU ON THE RECEIVING..ON THE MAILING LIST OF ANY OF THOSE?



Not now no.



THE OPEN CUT EXAMINERS?



Some important ones I think we do get but just the from outside.  Not saying that they're not important but most of them are just put on the notice board.



DO YOU ATTEND TOOLBOX MEETINGS AS AN OPEN CUT EXAMINER?



Yeah.



DO YOU PARTICIPATE IN THE TOOLBOX MEETINGS IN REGARDS TO PRESENTATION OF INFORMATION?



The opportunity is there yeah.



THE OPPORTUNITY IS THERE.  DO YOU PARTICIPATE?



Yes if it's..yeah.



IF IT'S RELEVANT?



Yeah.



YOU DO SAY THAT YOU'RE A SAFETY REP..BE SAFE REP FOR 12 MONTHS.  CORRECT?



That's right.



WAS YOUR RESPONSIBILITIES EVER EXPLAINED TO YOU WITH REGARDS TO WHAT YOU WERE AS A BE..WHAT YOU WERE SEEN AS AS A BE SAFE REP OR WHAT YOU TOOK ON AS A BE SAFE REP?



Yes.



WHAT ARE THE RESPONSIBILITIES..MAIN RESPONSIBILITIES AS YOU SEE THEM?



The main responsibilities I guess were I shouldn't say were but anyway to recognise or..I can't think of the right word but anyway to recognise any safety problems that could arise from certain areas.  And to be involved in any mishaps or near misses.



TO BE INVOLVED IN INVESTIGATING THEM?



That's right.



IS IT ALSO PART OF YOUR RESPONSIBILITY TO DISTRIBUTE COMMUNICATE OR PERFORM THE FUNCTIONS OF COMMUNICATING SAFETY INFORMATION INTO THE WORKFORCE?



Yes.



DID YOU DO THAT IN THE 12 MONTHS YOU WERE THERE?



I don't recollect having too many safety meetings to be involved in in that period.



COULDN'T REMEMBER SO YOUR INTERACTION IF THE WORKFORCE AS A BE SAFE SAFETY REP WAS WHAT MINIMAL?



Yeah I guess you could say that.



DID IT CHANGE YOU FROM THE WAY YOU PERFORMED YOUR JOB AS AN OPEN CUT EXAMINER.  DID YOU GET TRAINED TO BE A SAFETY REP?



Yes.



YOU DID?



Yes I took..I suppose I should clarify that.  The system of training for Be Safe reps is done before they start.  When I started in the Be Safe area our training didn't really come til the end when the system was put together until the end of my term.



SO YOU WERE ACTUALLY AT THE FOREFRONT OF TRYING TO GET THIS SYSTEM UNDERWAY?



That's correct.



DO YOU BELIEVE THAT THE SYSTEM HAS GOT GOOD IMPACT OR GOT GOOD BENEFITS?



yeah.



SO IF IT'S..IF EVERYTHING IS APPLIED WITH THIS SYSTEM YOU BELIEVE IT CAN BRING ABOUT A CHANGING ENVIRONMENT CHANGE IN ATTITUDE?



yeah.



HOW WOULD IT DO THAT?



Getting people involved.  More information I guess.



OK IF YOU HAVE MORE INFORMATION..YOU WERE GIVEN MORE INFORMATION.  HOW MUCH MORE INFORMATION TO GET YOU MORE INVOLVED DOES IT REALLY NEED?



Well it certainly made me more observant yes.



MAD YOU MORE OBSERVANT?  SO THEREFORE WHEN YOU DONE YOUR INSPECTION PAST 2 WEST STOCKPILE AREA YOU DIDN'T BELIEVE OR PERCEIVE TO RECOGNISE THAT THERE WAS CHANGING CONDITIONS TO LIGHT VEHICLE ACTIVITY INTERACTING WITH TURNING TRUCKS?



No I didn't.



YOU DIDN'T.  AND YET THERE ARE SIGNS UP.  IS THAT CORRECT?



That's right.



WHAT WERE ON THOSE SIGNS?



Trucks turning.



TRUCKS TURNING.  WERE THEY ON BOTH SIDES?



Yeah.



ON THE NORTH AND SOUTH.  THE NORTHERN END AND THE SOUTHERN END THERE WAS TRUCKS TURNING SIGNS?



Yep.



YOU'RE SURE ABOUT THAT?



Yep.



THE SOUTHERN END SIGN..WAS IT AN OLD SIGN OR A NEW SIGN?  CAN YOU REMEMBER?



No I can't recollect.



WAS THE THEN THE LOCATION OF THAT SIGN WAS PUT THERE BY AN OPEN CUT EXAMINER THAT'S CORRECT?  NOT YOU BUT ANOTHER OPEN CUT EXAMINER?



That's right.



DID YOU KNOW WHO THE OPEN CUT EXAMINER WAS THAT PUT THAT SIGN THERE?



Yes I believed it to be Lyle Booker yeah.



DID HE COMMUNICATE WITH YOU AS TO WHY THAT SIGN WAS THERE OR WHEN THAT SIGN WENT THERE?  WHEN THAT SIGN WENT THERE IS THE FIRST PART AND THEN WHY IT WAS PUT THERE?



No not him personally no.



SO WHEN YOU WENT PAST THOSE SIGNS DID YOU ACTUALLY STOP AND LOOK AT THE SIGN AND SEE IT'S LOCATION?



No.



SO THE SIGN'S A SIGN.



Yeah.



SO THEREFORE DOWN AT THE SOUTHERN..IF THE SIGN WAS DOWN AT THE SOUTHERN AREA DO YOU WOULD YOU HAVE BELIEVED THAT THAT SIGN WAS EASILY VISIBLE FOR ALL THE TIMES OF THE OPERATION THAT PEOPLE WOULD NEED TO GO PAST THERE AND READ THE SIGN?



No I wouldn't say easily no.



IT WASN'T EASILY VISIBLE?



No.



BUT DID YOU BELIEVE AS AN OPEN CUT EXAMINER ON THE DAY OF THAT INSPECTION THAT SIGN WAS ADEQUATE TO DELIVER THE MESSAGE?



Yeah.



SO THE MESSAGE WAS TRUCKS TURNING?



Yep.



THE MESSAGE WAS WE'RE TRYING TO WARN YOU AS LIGHT VEHICLE OPERATORS THAT THERE'S TRUCKS TURNING AS AN ACTIVITY DOWN THERE IS THAT CORRECT?



That's right.



BUT YOU'RE NOT SURE WHETHER THE TRUCKS TURNING SIGN WAS DELIVERING THAT MESSAGE?



I just felt that it could be better.



YOU FELT THAT IT COULD HAVE BEEN BETTER.  COULD THE COMMUNICATION..WAS THERE ANY RESTRICTIONS PUT ON YOU ON WHO YOU COULD COMMUNICATE WITH AS AN OPEN CUT EXAMINER?



No.



SO THE COMMUNICATION WITH THE PEOPLE WORKING IN THE PITS IS NOT YOUR RESPONSIBILITY OR IS YOUR RESPONSIBILITY?



It is yeah.



IT IS.  SO THAT AREA WOULD BE IMPROVED YOU BELIEVE?



Yeah.



YOU HAVE IMPROVED IN THAT AREA?



Well yeah.



SO DO YOU MEET WITH A MINING CREWS AND THE DRAG LINE OPERATORS.  YOU SAID IN YOUR STATEMENT YOU MEET WITH THE DRAG LINE OPERATORS IF THERE WAS SOME DIFFICULTY WITH THE MINING CREW.  YOU'RE TALKING ABOUT WHAT.. IN REGARDS TO MINING CREWS WHO ARE YOU TALKING ABOUT.  THE ACTUAL..



Coal hauling.



COAL HAULING.  IS THERE A DIFFICULTY MEETING WITH THEM BECAUSE OF A LOCATION WHERE BETWEEN WHERE YOU ARE AND THEY ARE?



No.  The communication usually only takes about takes on when the crib times and smoko times.  I go to the crib rooms.



TWO WAY COMMUNICATION?



It's always there.



DO YOU ARE YOU TUNED INTO THE..WHICH PART OF THE COMMUNICATION SYSTEM ARE YOU TUNED INTO.  JUST THE COAL HAULING OR THE SCANNING CHANNEL WHERE YOU PICK UP EVERYTHING?



Scanning.



SCANNING.  SO YOU'RE AWARE OF ALL THE ACTIVITIES ON THE TWO WAY?



I wouldn't say all because it cuts out..



BUT IF YOU'RE CALLED UP YOU'RE TUNED INTO IT?



Yes.



SO WE'RE REALLY SAYING THAT YOU WENT PAST THE SIGNS BUT YOU DIDN'T FOCUS ON WHETHER OR NOT THE SIGNS WERE REALLY MEANINGFUL IN LOOKING AT ANY POTENTIAL HAZARD BECAUSE YOU DIDN'T RECOGNISE ANY POTENTIAL HAZARD TO ANY LIGHT VEHICLES IN THAT AREA?



That's right.



IS THAT CORRECT OR NOT CORRECT?



That's correct.



SO THEREFORE YOU DID HAVE SOME PEOPLE.  HOW ABOUT THE DRAG LINE CREWS.  WERE THEY WORKING THAT DAY?



That's right.



HOW ABOUT THEM. DID THE OPERATORS KNOW THAT THERE WAS HAULING GOING..TAKING IN TO 2 WEST.  BEING DONE IN 2 WEST?



I'm not sure.



SO YOU SPOKE TO THE DRAG LINE CREWS THAT DAY?



Not at the beginning of shift no.



NOT AT THE BEGINNING OF THE SHIFT.  DURING THE SHIFT?



No not that day no.



DID THE DRAG LINE CREWS PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT WERE THEY MADE AWARE OF ALL THE MINING ACTIVITIES OR NOT.  WERE THEY SEPARATE FROM THE MINING CREW?



Separated yeah.



THEY'RE SEPARATED?



Yeah.



YOUR TRUCK AND SHOVEL FLEET ARE SEPARATED?



Yeah. Oh yeah start at the same area.



BUT DIFFERENT INFORMATION.



They don't talk about no.



IT MAKES YOUR JOB A LITTLE BIT HARD AS AN OPEN CUT EXAMINER DOESN'T IT YOU KNOW TO GRAB THIS INFORMATION AND THEN SAY WHAT DO IT DO WITH THIS INFORMATION BECAUSE YOU KNOW IT COULD AFFECT SO MANY PEOPLE AND THEREFORE I NEED TO TRY AND GET IT OUT.  WE DIDN'T HAVE THAT FOCUS OR WE DID HAVE THE FOCUS.  WHICH WAY DO WE GO THERE AS AN OPEN CUT EXAMINER?



I think the information probably should be available before to everyone before they leave.



RIGHT NOW IF YOU IDENTIFY A HAZARD BECAUSE I'VE GOT TO ASK YOU NOW IT'S OBVIOUS BECAUSE YOU'RE A PIONEER IN THE BE SAFE AREA YOU MIGHT NOT HAVE BEEN ALL UP TO SPEED WITH ALL OF THE TRAINING THAT THEY'RE GETTING NOW..BE SAFE REPS.  HAZARD AWARENESS AND RISK ASSESSMENT.  HAVE YOU HAD ANY TRAINING IN THAT AREA?



Yes.



YOU HAVE.  HOW LONG AGO.  WAS IT PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT?



It would have been prior to the accident yeah.



PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT?



Yeah.



WAS THERE ASSESSMENT DONE AT THE END OF THAT TRAINING ON YOUR UNDERSTANDING OF WHAT YOU HAD TO DO?



Yeah.



DID YOU HAVE TO ACTUALLY GO AND DO A HANDS ON EXERCISE?



Yes.



YOU DID.  SO YOU UNDERSTAND THE PROCESS THAT'S FOLLOWED THEN?



That's right.



HOW MANY YEARS HAVE YOU HAD AT THAT MINE?  WORKING AT THE MINE?



23.



23 YEARS.  HOW MANY YEARS OPEN CUT EXAMINER I MISSED THAT AT THE START?



Start in 83 but not permanently only that's relief.



AND YOU'VE BEEN INVOLVED IN OPEN CUT ACTIVITIES SINCE 83.  SO THAT'S A GOOD SPAN OF YEARS AND A GOOD WEALTH OF EXPERIENCE I'D SUGGEST.  HAS THE HAZARD AWARENESS RISK ASSESSMENT COURSE THAT YOU ATTENDED OR THE TRAINING THAT YOU RECEIVED AND THE ASSESSMENT THAT YOU RECEIVED ON THE END OF THAT HAS THAT THEN REFOCUSSED YOU IN REGARDS TO HOW YOU'D DO YOUR INSPECTION AND WHAT THE KEY RESPONSIBILITIES ARE FOR YOU TO..WHEN YOU'RE DOING A PRIORITY RATING UNDER THE RISK ASSESSMENT DOES THAT MAKE YOU OPERATE A LOT BETTER.  A LOT DIFFERENTLY?



Yes.



IT DOES.  DO YOU SEE THAT THAT THE RELIANCE ON SIGNS WAS THAT VERY MUCH A HEAVY RELIANCE FROM YOUR POINT OF VIEW?



Not previously no.



BUT THERE IS A GOOD BENEFIT WITH THE SIGNS BECAUSE IF THEY'RE THERE AND THE COMMUNICATION IS ALL IN PLACE AND THERE'S OTHER ISSUES ATTENDED TO THEN THEY ARE A GOOD BARRIER AREN'T THEY?



Yeah.



AND THE BE SAFE SYSTEM ALLOWS OR THE RISK ASSESSMENT SYSTEM ALLOWS FOR THAT DOESN'T IT?



Yeah.



WHAT ELSE DOES IT ALLOW FOR IN REGARDS TO A CATEGORY ONE TYPE ASSESSMENT?



I'm not sure.



WELL MAYBE AS I SAID THAT THE FIRST RESPONSIBILITY WOULD BE COULD BE AND SHOULD BE ON YOU TO TAKE ACTION TO RECTIFY THE HAZARD IF IT'S POSSIBLE TO DO SO BUT WITH THAT THERE WOULD NEED TO BE SOME COMMUNICATION WITH OTHER PERSONS.  SO THERE'S A NEED THEN TO COMMUNICATE THAT PROBABLY EVEN RIGHT THROUGH TO HOW FAR YOU BELIEVE YOU NEED TO COMMUNICATE THAT.  HOW FAR.  JUST TO THE SHIFT FOREMAN?



No that's in our report.



YOU PUT IT IN YOUR REPORT?



That's right.  And to the registered manager.



TO THE REGISTERED MANAGER.  IF YOU AND THE FOREMAN DIDN'T SEE EYE TO EYE MR WIRTH WOULD YOU WHAT POSITION WOULD YOU TAKE AS AN OPEN CUT EXAMINER?  SEE YOU WANT TO BUILD A BARRIER.  YOU WANT TO PUT A BARRIER UP HERE AND YOU WANT TO PREVENT PEOPLE FROM GOING INTO THIS AREA BECAUSE YOU BELIEVE THERE'S A RISK TO THOSE PEOPLE FROM THIS CRACKING HIGH WALL.  BUT THE FOREMAN SAYS HE DOESN'T RATE THAT RISK AS HIGH.  SO YOU AND HIM ARE AT A DIFFERENCE OF OPINION.  HOW WOULD YOU GO ABOUT..WHAT'S THE PROCESS IN PLACE AT THE MINE OR WHAT IS THE PROCESS FOR YOU IN REGARDS TO HOW YOU WOULD CARRY CONDUCT YOUR RESPONSIBILITIES?



I'd approach the senior foreman.  And then the registered manager.



OK SO YOU'D GO AND TALK TO THE SENIOR FOREMAN.  AT THE SAME TIME WHAT WOULD YOU BE DOING. WOULD YOU BE STILL TRYING TO ENCOURAGE NON-ACTIVITY IN THAT AREA UNTIL IT WAS SORTED OUT?



Yeah.



SO YOU'D LET THE FOREMAN KNOW THAT YOU WANTED TO GO.  YOU DIDN'T WANT ANY ACTIVITY TO TAKE PLACE.  YOU WANTED TO GET IT SORTED OUT AND A RULING WOULD COME FROM A HIGHER PARTY?



Yes.



WOULD THAT RULING BE MADE ON SAY A GUT FEELING OR DO YOU THINK THERE'D BE A WAY THAT YOU COULD ACTUALLY CONVINCE PEOPLE ASSOCIATED WITH ASSISTING THEM TO MAKE A GOOD DECISION. BECAUSE REMEMBER YOU WANT TO STOP PEOPLE FROM GOING IN THERE.  ALL I'M SAYING IS IS IT BECAUSE OF A GUT FEELING OR IS IT SOMETHING ELSE WITH IT?



No it's more of a safety..



SAFETY MEASURED ON WHAT?



Probably by the..with the people working in the area to.



WITH THE PEOPLE WORKING IN THE AREA.  BUT IT WOULD BE AGAINST THEIR RISKS WOULDN'T IT.  IS THAT WHAT WE'RE SAYING. SAFETY MEASURED AGAINST THE RISK THAT THOSE PEOPLE COULD BE EXPOSED TO.



That's right.



SO THEREFORE WE COULD..THE TOTAL BARRIER MIGHT NOT BE ACCEPTABLE BUT THERE COULD BE OTHER WAYS OF MANAGING THAT RISK.  BUT THEN THERE COULD BE A TOTAL LOCKING OUT OF THAT AREA TO MANAGE THE HAZARD SOME OTHER WAY.  IS THAT CORRECT?



That's correct.



SO YOU NEED TO WEIGH THAT UP WOULDN'T YOU?



That's right.



DO YOU BELIEVE THAT THE RISK ASSESSMENT HAZARD AWARENESS COURSE THAT YOU'VE BEEN ON HAS THAT GIVEN YOU ENOUGH KNOWLEDGE AND ENOUGH TOOLS TO OR MADE YOU MORE AWARE.  I MEAN IT'S COMMON SENSE IN A WAY BUT HAS IT MADE YOU MORE AWARE OF YOU BEING ABLE TO WEIGHT THAT ASSESSMENT?



Certainly made me more aware.



OK NOW THE FOREMAN HAS GOT THE SAME TOOLS SO THEREFORE THERE COULD BE A GOOD DEBATE TAKE PLACE THERE COULDN'T THERE?



That's right.



THAT'S PROBABLY WHERE YOU NEED THAT EXTRA SET OF EYES TO HAVE A LOOK AT IT FROM BOTH SIDES OF THE ARGUMENT IS THAT WHAT YOU'RE SAYING?



That's right.



AND IN THIS PARTICULAR CASE THE..OR ON THIS DAY OF THE ACCIDENT THE AREA IN QUESTION WHERE THE ACCIDENT OCCURRED ARE YOU AWARE OF ANY SUCH RISK ASSESSMENT OR HAZARD AWARENESS ACTION BEING TAKEN THAT DID YOU DO IT.  DID FOREMAN DO IT?



No not to my knowledge.



NOT TO YOUR KNOWLEDGE.  SO YOU SAY THAT THE OVERTAKING PROCEDURES HAS CHANGED PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT TO NOW?



That's right.



PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT IT WAS IN YOUR WORDS A GOOD PROCEDURE OR IS THIS ONE BETTER?



Oh this one's better.



OK HOW IS IT BETTER?



At least you know nobody is going to turn in front of you.



AT LEAST YOU KNOW NO-ONES GOING TO TURN IN FRONT OF YOU WHY IS THAT?



Because you've communicated with them.  



YOU'VE COMMUNICATED WITH THEM.  SO YOU KNOW WHAT THE OPERATOR IS DOING?



That's correct.



THAT WASN'T AVAILABLE BEFORE?



It was available but it wasn't used.



WAS AVAILABLE WASN'T USED.  WHAT ABOUT THE WATER SPRAYS.  IS THERE MUCH DIFFERENCE IN WHAT THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE TRUCK DRIVER IS IN THE WATER TRUCK PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT HOW DID IT OCCUR?



A lot of water cart drivers I guess were pretty reluctant to turn their sprays off. 



OK THEY WERE RELUCTANT TO TURN THEIR SPRAYS OFF.  SO THERE WAS A PROCEDURE THAT REALLY WHAT..WAS THERE A FORMAL PROCEDURE THAT THE WATER TRUCK DRIVER HAD TO TURN THE SPRAY OFF?



No.



THERE WASN'T.  BUT WAS IT ACCEPTED STANDARD.  WAS IT A SAFE STANDARD.  WAS IT RECOGNISED SAFE PRACTICE IF I CAN PUT IT IN THOSE TERMS?



Yeah it was a recognised practice.



TO HAVE THE WATER SPRAY..THAT'S THE RIGHT HAND SIDE SPRAY IS IT?



That's right.



OR EITHER SPRAY?



The right hand side.



THE RIGHT HAND SPRAY TURNED OFF FOR THE OVERTAKING TO..



That's right.



SO IF YOU DIDN'T GET THE RIGHT HAND SPRAY OFF THEN WHAT WOULD HAPPEN.  WOULD YOU SIT BEHIND THE WATER TRUCK UNTIL IT FINISHED IT'S CIRCUIT TO THE FAR END OF THE PIT?



No the old system was they still pass provided you could get past without driving through the spray.



OK PROVIDED YOU GOT PAST WITHOUT DRIVING THROUGH THE SPRAY.  SO YOU ACTUALLY THEN WANTED TO GO AROUND THE SPRAY?



That's right.



DID YOU OBSERVE ANY OF THAT OCCURRING.  DID YOU DO IT YOURSELF?



I've probably done it myself yeah.



DID YOU OBSERVE..WAS THAT QUITE A COMMON PRACTICE?



I'd say so yeah.



DRIVING THROUGH THE SPRAY ALSO A PRACTICE?



I'd say there's probably people done that yeah.



WAS IT ONLY DOWN THE RIGHT HAND SIDE OR WAS THERE A PRACTICE OF YOU'VE BEEN AT THIS MINE A LONG TIME.  WAS THERE A PRACTICE DOWN THE LEFT HAND SIDE?



I haven't done it myself but I've heard of people driving down the the operator turning a left hand spray and then passing down the left hand side yeah.



WERE YOU AWARE OF ANY INCIDENTS ANY NEAR MISSES OCCURRED IN REGARDS TO OVERTAKING OF HAULERS OR WATER TRUCKS IN REGARDS YOU KNOW FOR THEM ALL OF A SUDDEN CHANGING DIRECTION.  WANTING TO TURN?



No.



YOU WEREN'T.  AFTER 23 YEARS AT THE MINE YOU HAVEN'T BEEN MADE AWARE OF ANY?



I know we've had some near misses but I'm not sure.



AND DID YOU KNOW WHAT HAPPENED WHEN THERE WAS A NEAR MISS? WAS THERE A REPORT.  WAS IT DISCUSSED AMONGST EVERYBODY?  WAS IT A JOKE?  WAS IT EVERYBODY SAID HOW LUCKY THEY WERE OR WHAT WAS THE SITUATION?



I can't remember what was said but I guess it certainly wouldn't have been a joke.



SO IT WAS NOT TREATED AS A JOKE?



No.



WAS THE INCIDENT..COULD YOU REMEMBER IF THE INCIDENTS THAT YOU MIGHT BE ABLE TO RECALL WERE THEY BETWEEN MAINTENANCE PEOPLE OR MINING PEOPLE OR A COMBINATION OF MINING AND MINING AND MAINTENANCE AND MINING?



It would be a combination.



COMBINATION.  AS AN OPEN CUT EXAMINER DID YOU EVER GET A REPORT OF A NEAR MISS WHILE YOU WERE ON SHIFT ABOUT ANY OF THIS?



Not that I can recollect.



NOT THAT YOU CAN RECALL.  DID YOU EVER HAVE THE OCCASION TO INSPECT OR INVESTIGATE MACHINERY BEING HIT BY OTHER MACHINERY?  OR EQUIPMENT BEING RUN OVER BY OTHER EQUIPMENT?



Yeah.



WELL IN THAT PROCESS WERE YOU THERE AS PART OF AN INVESTIGATION.  DID YOU HAVE SOME RESPONSIBILITIES IN THAT AREA?



I thought my responsibilities were to make the area safe and the relevant people done the inspection.  I just I put it in a report in the book.



DID YOU REPORT ANYTHING TO THE MINE MANAGER?



Yeah well usually if it was something like that it would have been reported yeah.



SO YOU VERBALLY GAVE A REPORT OR PERSONALLY WENT TO THE MINE MANAGER AND GAVE YOUR REPORT IN REGARDS TO THE WAY YOU SEE THE ACCIDENT OR WHAT YOU SEEN OF THE ACCIDENT AND WHAT YOU KNEW OF THE ACCIDENT?



Not in all instances no.  I would have asked..I can remember an instance where I asked the foreman had the registered manager been informed and he said yeah.



OK SO YOU ALWAYS WERE AWARE THAT THE MINE MANAGER HAD TO BE NOTIFIED?



That's right.



WHEN THERE WAS NO-ONE INJURED IN ANY OF THESE INCIDENTS DID THAT LESSEN THE IMPACT OF THE INVESTIGATION OR THE WAY THAT YOU OPERATED.  THE WAY THAT YOU HANDLED YOUR RESPONSIBILITIES?



Yeah I'd say so yeah.



TRAFFIC RULES.  YOU'VE BEEN MADE AWARE OF THE TRAFFIC RULES?



Yeah.



HAVE YOU BEEN MADE AWARE OF ANY CHANGES TO THE TRAFFIC RULES SINCE THE ACCIDENT?



Yeah.



WHAT AREAS HAVE THEY BEEN POINTED OUT.  WHAT CHANGES HAVE BEEN MADE.  CAN YOU REMEMBER?



The overtaking of haul trucks.  Must communicate first and get the all clear. Water cart driver must turn off his spray.



YEP.  ANY OTHER RULE?



Placing of signs.  We've got larger signs for people working on the haul roads.



FOR PEOPLE WORKING ON THE HAUL ROADS.  THE PLACEMENT OF SIGNS.  WAS THERE ANYTHING ABOUT DUTY TO GIVE WAY.  HAS THAT BEEN CHANGED?



Yeah by..in what..



THE DUTY TO GIVE WAY IN REGARDS TO WHO GIVES WAY TO WHO.  HOW DID YOU KNOW..HOW DO YOU KNOW WHO GIVES WAY TO WHO DOWN AT THE MINE NOW?



I've had give way signs on the ramps for a fair period of time.  Give way signs..all signs apply to everyone the same.



THE DUTY TO GIVE WAY HAS AN IMPACT ON HEAVY AND LIGHT VEHICLES..GIVING WAY TO EACH OTHER.  WOULD YOU SEE IT THAT WAY?



Yeah.



YOU SAID THAT YOU SEEN..THERE WAS NO PROCEDURE ABOUT DRIVING THROUGH WATER SPRAYS BUT THERE IS A PROCEDURE NOW.  HAS THE PROCEDURE BEEN BREACHED TO YOUR KNOWLEDGE?



Not to my knowledge no.  I haven't actually seen it happen.



HAVEN'T SEEN IT HAPPEN.  WELL YOU KNOW THERE'S AN AREA THAT WE ALL CALL MIXED JUNCTION.  YOU'RE AWARE OF THAT?



Yep.



THAT'S FROM THAT PLANT.  THAT AREA NOW IS CLOSED OFF CORRECT?



To light vehicles yeah.



LIGHT VEHICLES.  IS THERE STILL ACCESS FOR LIGHT VEHICLES ONTO THAT..THROUGH THAT AREA?  IN OTHER WORDS DO THE OPEN CUT EXAMINERS TRAVEL THROUGH THERE?



Yes.



IS THERE FORWARD TRAVEL THROUGH THERE?



Yeah.  They call the truckies first though.



SO THE OPEN CUT EXAMINER HAS A PROCEDURE TO FOLLOW?



yeah.



AND DOES IF THERE'S MACHINERY BROKEN DOWN THERE MAINTENANCE PERSONS CAN GO INTO THAT AREA.  IS THE OPEN CUT EXAMINER MADE AWARE OF PERSONS ENTERING THOSE AREAS OR IS IT ANOTHER WAY.  IS THERE SOME OTHER FORM OF COMMUNICATION?  IN OTHER WORDS DO YOU HAVE TO GO AND ERECT SIGNS OR..



Yeah.



SO IF THERE'S A MACHINE BROKEN DOWN THERE AND THERE'S MAINTENANCE PERSONS NEEDED TO GO INTO THAT MACHINE THERE'S A PROCEDURE FOR THAT?



Not a procedure as such that there's light vehicles entering no.



BUT IT'S NOT A NORMAL LIGHT VEHICLE ACCESS ROUTE NOW IS IT?



No.



IF YOU SEEN SOMEBODY TRAVELLING THROUGH THERE WHAT DO YOU BELIEVE YOUR RESPONSIBILITIES ARE?  AS AN OPEN CUT EXAMINER?



Certainly talk to him yes.



CERTAINLY TALK TO HIM?  DO YOU THINK WE SHOULD GO A BIT FURTHER THAN JUST TALKING TO HIM?  HIM OR HER.  WE BETTER GET IT STRAIGHT.  NOT ALL MEN ARE CRIMINALS.



yeah.



SO THERE IS A NEED TO TAKE IT FURTHER.  YOU WOULDN'T OBJECT TO THE NEED FOR YOU TO NEED TO YOU KNOW.. TAKE THE PERSON TO INTO A CONSULTATION OR A SYSTEM OF WHERE REPORTS NEEDED TO BE FILLED OUT ASSOCIATED WITH THAT PERSONS ACTIVITIES?



No.



THAT'S ALL.

MR MELLICK:



I HAVE NO QUESTIONS.

WARDEN:
JUST BEFORE WE GO ANY FURTHER I'LL JUST REMIND EVERYBODY HERE THAT WE ARE ON OUR SECOND LAST WITNESS BUT I THINK WE'RE STARTING TO GO ROUND IN CIRCLES A BIT.  I THINK WE'RE PRETTY WELL SATISFIED AS TO WHAT THE NATURE AND CAUSE OF THE ACCIDENT IS.  MAYBE FOCUS ON RECOMMENDATIONS.  SAYING THAT I DON'T WANT TO STOP ANYBODY FROM ASKING QUESTIONS BUT THE WAY WE'RE GOING WE'RE GOING TO BE HERE TIL MIDNIGHT TONIGHT.    IF EVERYBODY COULD BE MINDFUL OF THAT.  THANKS MR LEES.

MR LEES:
I'VE JUST GOT A COUPLE YOUR WORSHIP.  MR WIRTH YOU SAY IN YOUR STATEMENT THAT IT'S NOT THE OCE'S RESPONSIBILITY TO ADVISE MAINTENANCE PEOPLE OF HAZARDS.  CAN YOU JUST EXPLAIN TO ME WHOSE RESPONSIBILITY IT IS AT THE MINE SITE?  YOU KNOW WHEN THERE'S AN INTERACTION OF MAINTENANCE PEOPLE TO PRODUCTION PEOPLE WITH THE PRODUCTION PEOPLE WHOSE RESPONSIBILITY IS IT TO INFORM THE MAINTENANCE PEOPLE OF THE HAZARD IF THERE IS A HAZARD?



I was of the opinion it was the foreman who interacted with each other if there was a hazard happen during the shift or pre shift.



OK.  SO YOU'D REPORT IT TO YOUR RESPECTIVE FOREMAN?



That's right.



AND HE'D REPORT IT TO THE MAINTENANCE FOREMAN?



That's right.



THANKYOU.

WARDEN:
YES MISS GIBNEY.

MS GIBNEY:



MR WIRTH WERE YOU A BE SAFE REP AT FEBRUARY OF 1997?



yeah.



YOU WERE I THINK THAT I'VE GOT THIS CORRECT THAT IN ANSWER TO A QUESTION FROM MR BEST YOU INDICATED YOU DIDN'T UNDERSTAND THAT THERE WAS ANY PROCEDURE FOR REPORTING NEAR MISSES BEFORE THIS ACCIDENT.  IS THAT CORRECT?  WELL LET ME ASK YOU THE QUESTION AGAIN.  BEFORE THE 4TH OF MAY WERE YOU AWARE OF A REQUIREMENT TO REPORT NEAR MISSES?



Yes.  Actually people have been asked to do that but I don't feel that it was being done.



OK PEOPLE WERE ASKED TO DO IT.  CAN YOU JUST HAVE A LOOK AT THIS AND JUST READ ME THE HEADING IN THE FIRST LINE PLEASE.  THIS IS A SAFETY BRIEF WHICH WAS ISSUED TO BE REMOVED ON THE 28TH OF FEBRUARY 1997.  IT'S HEADED REPORTING OF ACCIDENTS EQUIPMENT DAMAGES AND NEAR MISSES.  HAVE A LOOK AT THAT DOCUMENT.  HAVE YOU EVER SEEN THAT BEFORE?



I don't remember seeing it.



YOU DON'T REMEMBER SEEING IT.  IT WAS A SAFETY BRIEF ISSUED EARLY THIS YEAR.  WHAT DOES THE FIRST LINE OF IT SAY.  NOT THE HEADING.



Near misses must be reported.



NEAR MISSES MUST BE REPORTED.  WITH MUST IN BOLD TYPE. 



That's right.



SO THERE WAS..AND BE SAFE REPS RECEIVED..AT THE TIME YOU WERE A BE SAFE REP EARLY THIS YEAR WERE YOU RECEIVING SAFETY BRIEFS?



Yeah.



YOU WERE.



I don't remember seeing this one though.



SO THERE WAS A REQUIREMENT TO DO IT.  SO WHY DIDN'T PEOPLE REPORT THEM. BECAUSE YOU SAID YOU DIDN'T THINK PEOPLE DID.



Because of repercussions.



WHAT SORT OF REPERCUSSIONS?



Probably foreman giving them a change of jobs.  Jobs they didn't like.



SORRY FOREMAN MIGHT GIVE THEM A CHANGE OF JOB.



Yeah a job that they didn't like.



OK. ANY OTHER SORT OF REPERCUSSIONS?



Probably just to avoid the embarrassment I suppose and the paper work involved.



AVOID THE EMBARRASSMENT.  AVOID THE PAPERWORK.  AVOID THE FOREMAN LOOKING AT HOW YOU WERE DOING THE JOB AND THINKING WELL I BETTER MOVE THIS GUY TO ANOTHER JOB.



That's right.



RIGHT WELL IF..IF MANAGEMENT IS TELLING PEOPLE THAT THEY MUST REPORT NEAR MISSES HOW CAN THEY OVERCOME THAT IMPEDIMENT TO PEOPLE REPORTING THEM?



I'm not sure whether you could make the individual do it.  I think people around them made sure that they did do it.  



IT'S LIKE PEAR GROUP PRESSURE.  LISTEN MATE YOU DID THAT WRONG WE SHOULD REPORT IT?



I'm not sure about that. Well probably is I guess.



WELL ANY OTHER SUGGESTIONS.  I'M JUST ASKING FOR SUGGESTIONS.



Probably just education more than anything and the people involved not to fear too much repercussion from it even though there may be but I'm not sure.



OK.  YOU CAN HAND THAT BACK TO ME NOW.  YOU WERE ONE OF THE EARLY BE SAFE REPS.  DO YOU REMEMBER ATTENDING A TRAINING COURSE THOUGH OF BE SAFE REPS COURSE?  



Yes.



AND YOU CERTAINLY DID THAT BEFORE THE TIME THAT YOUR ROLE AS A BE SAFE REP WAS CONCLUDED?



Yep.



AND WERE YOUR RESPONSIBILITIES AS A BE SAFE REP EXPLAINED TO YOU AT THAT COURSE?



Yep.



AND YOU THINK YOU UNDERSTOOD THOSE?



Hopefully yes.



NOW I CAN YOU TURN TO PAGE THREE..BOTTOM OF PAGE THREE TOP OF PAGE FOUR OF YOUR STATEMENT PLEASE.  NOW AT THE BOTTOM OF PAGE THREE OF YOUR STATEMENT YOU WERE ASKED BY THE INVESTIGATING PERSON ARE YOU FAMILIAR WITH THE PROCEDURE FOR OVERTAKING A WATER TRUCK.  AND AT THE TOP OF THE NEXT PAGE YOU SAID YES AND YOU DESCRIBED IT.  NOW ARE YOU NOW IN ANY DOUBT THAT THAT WAS AN ACCURATE STATEMENT THAT YOU MADE THERE?



It was probably what I had in mind but I'm not sure everybody else did.



NO BUT THAT'S WHAT YOU UNDERSTOOD THE PROCEDURE FOR OVERTAKING A WATER TRUCK TO BE?



Yep.



YOU DON'T RECALL SEEING A DOCUMENT SETTING IT OUT?



No I don't.



BUT THAT'S WHAT YOU UNDERSTOOD IT TO BE?



Yep.



OK.  I HAVE NO FURTHER QUESTIONS YOUR WORSHIP.

WARDEN:
THANKYOU.

MR BRADY:
YEAH JUST A COUPLE OF BRIEF ONES MR WIRTH.  I'D LIKE TO COMMEND YOU ON YOUR HONESTY.  I'M NOT ABSOLUTELY SURE YOU APPRECIATE WHAT YOU'VE SAID.  ARE YOU FAMILIAR WITH THE DUTIES OF AN OPEN CUT EXAMINER AS DEFINED IN THE REGULATIONS?  YOU THINK SO.  OR YOU HAVEN'T READ IT FOR A LONG TIME?



I haven't read it for a long time.



WELL HAS THERE BEEN AN AMENDMENT IN THERE THAT SAYS YOU KNOW YOU'RE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE SAFETY OF ALL PERSONS ON THE MINE SITE EXCEPT MAINTENANCE PEOPLE OR EXCEPT SOMEBODY WITH FOUR HEADS OR EXCEPT SOMEBODY ELSE.  IT SAYS ALL PEOPLE DOESN'T IT.  I MEAN YOU ANSWER THE QUESTION TO MR BEST AND YOU SAID THAT YOU DON'T COMMUNICATE OR INTERACT WITH MAINTENANCE PEOPLE REGARDLESS OF WHERE THEY'RE WORKING.  NOW YOU KNOW BELIEVE ME AS I SAID I COMMEND YOU FOR YOUR HONESTY.  YOU KNOW IN THIS PARTICULAR CASE YOU KNOW THOSE SIGNS THAT PEOPLE ON THIS MINE SITE YOU KNOW YOU SAY IN YOUR STATEMENT THAT THEY'RE 200 METRES AWAY FROM THE INTERSECTION.  WELL I SCALED IT OFF.  IT'S 520 METRES AWAY FROM THE INTERSECTION.  NOT 200.  I MEAN A SIGN 500 METRES AWAY PLUS IS NOT ADEQUATE SIGNAGE. I MEAN WE DON'T NEED A RISK ASSESSMENT.  WE DON'T NEED ANYTHING TO ESTABLISH WHETHER THAT'S TRUE AND CORRECT.  IT'S NOT ADEQUATE SIGNAGE.  YOU KNOW TO HAVE ALL TRUCKS RUNNING UP AND DOWN A ROADWAY WHICH COULD TURN INTO AN INTERSECTION WITHOUT WARNING BASICALLY IS REALLY NOT GOOD PRACTICE.  YOU KNOW AND IF IT'S NOT GOOD PRACTICE WE HAVE AN OBLIGATION AS AN OPEN CUT EXAMINER I WOULD HAVE THOUGHT TO ADVISE THE PEOPLE IN THE PLACE BE CAREFUL HERE.  IT DOESN'T TAKE MUCH.  YOU KNOW HAVE YOU GOT ANY REASON AT ALL WHY AN OPEN CUT EXAMINER WOULDN'T ADVISE PEOPLE AS TO THE CONDITION OF THEIR WORKPLACE?



I've got no reason no.  Other than past practice.



OTHER THAN PAST PRACTICE.  WELL HAS PAST PRACTICE BEEN ADEQUATE IN THIS CASE?



No.



WHY HAVE AN OPEN CUT EXAMINER ON A MINE SITE.  HOW DOES IT CONTRIBUTE TO THE SAFETY OF THE MINE?



I feel that it does but it's probably broken down in this instance.



I MEAN CAN WE JUST REPLACE THE OPEN CUT EXAMINER WITH A BIG BILLBOARD NOW?



No.



I MEAN IF THE OPEN CUT EXAMINER HASN'T COMMUNICATED WITH THE PEOPLE ON THE WORKSITE.  HOW DO WE.. WHY DO WE THINK THAT WE'VE GOT TO GET THEM TO READ THE BILLBOARD?



At the particular time I thought the signage was sufficient.



BUT IT PROVED NOT TO BE DIDN'T IT?



That's true.



YOU KNOW IT'S PRIOR TO THIS ACCIDENT THERE WAS A WHOLE RANGE OF PROCEDURES IN PLACE WASN'T THERE?  FOR PASSING VEHICLES.



Yeah.



NOW WE'VE CHANGED THE WORDS OF THOSE PROCEDURES AND WE'VE MADE NEW PROCEDURES.  CORRECT?



Yes.



NOW IF PEOPLE ON THE MINE SITE DIDN'T OBSERVE THE PROCEDURES BEFORE TELL ME WHY THEY'RE GOING TO OBSERVE THEM IN THE FUTURE?



Probably from other people putting more pressure on them.



BUT AS YOU AS OPEN CUT EXAMINER HAVE YOU GOT TO COMMUNICATE WITH PEOPLE MORE?



Yeah.



I'VE GOT NOTHING FURTHER THANKS.

MR BIRD:
MR WIRTH YOU'VE BEEN IN THE MINING INDUSTRY NOW FOR 23 YEARS.



Yes.



AND MOST OF THAT TIME YOU'VE SPENT AT BLACKWATER?  SO YOU WOULD AS MR BEST SAID YOU SHOULD HAVE GAINED A WEALTH OF EXPERIENCE IN THAT TIME RIGHT THROUGHOUT THE MINING OPERATIONS.  CAN YOU SEE ANYTHING THAT HAS CHANGED OR CAN YOU SEE THAT THE SAFETY OF THAT PLACE AND THE SAFETY OF THE EMPLOYEES HAS ANYTHING HAS THAT CHANGED OVER THOSE 23 YEARS.  IS IT GETTING BETTER.  IS IT GETTING WORSE OR WHAT'S HAPPENING.  IN YOUR OPINION?



No it's certainly getting better.



THANKYOU.

MR MULLER:



JUST..AT THE BEGINNING OF YOUR SHIFT YOU WERE GIVEN THE INFORMATION THAT THEY WERE CARTING COAL FROM RAMP 13 TO THE RAMP 2 STOCKPILE.  THAT WAS GIVEN TO YOU BY YOUR SUPERVISOR?



That's right.



AND YOU DONE AN INSPECTION OF THE WORKINGS OF THE MINE THAT DAY OR DONE YOUR NORMAL INSPECTION?



Yes.



DID YOU ENTER INTO YOUR RECORDS THAT THOSE ACTIVITIES WERE CARRIED OUT?



I'd say so.  I can't remember but I'd say so yeah.  Actually I didn't do a report that particular day.  



ISN'T THERE SUPPOSED TO BE A REPORT PUT IN?



I wasn't feeling real good and I reported it verbally to the oncoming examiner.  I also reported it verbally to Mr Smith later on.



THANKYOU.

WARDEN:
NO FURTHER QUESTIONS I TAKE IT.

MS MALONEY:



IF THERE ARE NO FURTHER QUESTIONS MAY THE WITNESS BE EXCUSED.

WARDEN:
YES YOU'RE EXCUSED THANKYOU. YOU'RE FREE TO GO.

MS MALONEY:



THE NEXT WITNESS IS MR DARRYL WOCKNER.

WARDEN:
THANKYOU. WE'LL JUST KEEP GOING WITH THIS WITNESS.  WE'LL SEE HOW LONG WE GO.  IT MIGHT BE NECESSARY TO HAVE A BREAK IN HIS EVIDENCE DEPENDING ON HOW LONG IT TAKES.

WITNESS DULY SWORN.

MS MALONEY:



MR WOCKNER CAN YOU PLEASE STATE YOUR FULL NAME AND ADDRESS FOR THE COURT.



Say that again.



CAN YOU STATE YOUR FULL NAME AND ADDRESS FOR THE COURT?



Darryl Ross Wockner.  79 ? Way Blackwater.



OK AND WHAT'S YOUR OCCUPATION?



Supervisor.  Senior Supervisor at present.



AND WHERE IS THAT AT?



BHP Blackwater Mine.



OK HOW LONG HAVE YOU BEEN A SENIOR SUPERVISOR?



Since the 28th of April.  This year.



AND HOW LONG HAVE YOU BEEN IN THE PARTICULAR INDUSTRY?



In the mining industry..22 and a half years.



NOW YOU'RE AWARE OF THE ACCIDENT THAT OCCURRED ON THE 4TH OF MAY THIS YEAR?



Certainly am.



AND YOU PREPARED A STATEMENT..PROVIDED A STATEMENT TO INSPECTOR WALKER FROM THE DEPARTMENT OF MINES AND ENERGY?



Yeah that's correct.



I THAT'S IN FRONT OF YOU.  CAN YOU JUST HAVE A LOOK THROUGH THAT AND TELL US WHETHER THAT'S THE STATEMENT THAT YOU PROVIDED AS SIGNED ON THE LAST PAGE?



Yeah it is a copy of the statement yes.



NOW HAVE YOU HAD A CHANCE TO HAVE ANOTHER READ OF THAT PRIOR TO COMING ALONG TO THIS INQUIRY?



Yes I have.



ARE THERE ANY CHANGES OR ALTERATIONS YOU WISH TO MAKE TO THAT STATEMENT?



Yeah there's a couple of areas that I'd like address.



YOU WANT TO GIVE SOME FURTHER EVIDENCE ON IT?



No just to clarify a couple of things.



OK WHERE ARE YOU TALKING ABOUT?



On the second page where I was asked were you aware of the safety brief ? safety of the mine site which details the procedure of overtaking water trucks.  Copy shown.  No I have never seen it.  It completely contradicts my understanding of the procedure.  The contradiction was meant to be where previously I had passed water carts on the left hand side when I was in the operation not to how I was passing them at the time.



OK SO THAT REFERS TO A PREVIOUS PROCEDURE NOT THE ONE AT THE TIME?  ANYTHING ELSE?



Yes and down the bottom I made a statement the stockpile was in 1992 93 as the use for both coal and rejects since.  Checking our records out it was basically run in 1989 that that stockpile was developed with the closure of a couple of other stockpiles.  I just took those dates out of my head but once I checked the records they were different.



OK.  NOW ARE THE THOSE CHANGES ARE THE CONTENTS OF THAT STATEMENT TRUE AND CORRECT TO THE BEST OF YOUR KNOWLEDGE?



Yeah.



THAT STATEMENT FORMS PART OF EXHIBIT 7 YOUR WORSHIP.  NOW CAN I JUST WANT A COUPLE OF GENERAL ISSUES WITH YOU IN YOUR STATEMENT YOU SAY YOU WERE ACTUALLY ON LEAVE AT THE TIME OF THIS PARTICULAR ACCIDENT?



Yeah I started leave on the 2nd of June to the 12th of June.  I beg your pardon. 2nd of May to the 12th of May.



OK.  NOW PRIOR TO COMMENCING THAT LEAVE IT WAS YOURSELF WHO HAD MADE THE DETERMINATION THAT PARTICULAR MINING WAS TO OCCUR AT RAMP 13 AND THAT THAT WAS TO BE HAULED UP TO THE RAMP 2 WEST STOCKPILE?



No that decision was made at a production meeting usually held a couple of weeks prior to that.



A COUPLE OF WEEKS PRIOR.



We do the current week and the following week on what we're mining and that's usually put up at the meeting to eliminate ? quality of the coal and to make room for drilling in the ?



OK.  NOW DURING YOUR ABSENCE WAS ANYONE ACTING IN YOUR POSITION WHILST YOU WERE AWAY?



I usually bring one of the other mining foreman in to cover my position.  I just can't remember whether I brought Gary ? in then or not.



SO IT'S POSSIBLE.



Yeah most times if there's not a if there's a spare supervisor around we usually call in one of the others to cover for that week.



NOW AS A SENIOR MINING SUPERVISOR WHAT DO YOUR DUTIES ENTAIL?



Quite a few areas.  The main thing is that senior is for coal mining and blasting at Blackwater mine.  It's probably the main one.



IN RELATION TO THAT POSITION AS A SUPERVISOR THERE'S BEEN..THERE'S BEEN INDICATED IN EVIDENCE THE DISTINCTION BETWEEN CATEGORIES OF WORKERS BEING EITHER PERFORMING MINING DUTIES OR THE MAINTENANCE AND GENERAL WORKERS.  IS THAT AN ACCEPTABLE WAY OF..



Yeah the maintenance department is separate to the mining production department yeah.



WHAT STAFF OR WHAT WORKERS ARE UNDER YOUR SUPERVISION?



Blast crew..um..mining crews which is at that time was 15 people on each shift.  Blast crew which represented about 9 people.  4..beg your pardon 5 day shift permanent..and 5 or 6 supervisors.



DOES YOUR SUPERVISION INCLUDE THOSE WORKERS WHO ARE PERFORMING THE COAL HAULING FROM THE ACTUAL MINING SITE TO THE STOCK PILE?



Yeah that's correct.



AND ALSO THE OPERATORS OF THE WATER TRUCK?



Yes.  A lot of times on maintenance days on weekends lay the shuttles down the stripping department will do that operation.



OK.  IS IT ACCURATE TO SAY THOUGH THAT YOU DON'T HAVE ANY DIRECT SUPERVISION IN RELATION TO THE MAINTENANCE WORKERS?



Yeah that's probably right.



BUT YOU OBVIOUSLY HAVE CONTACT WITH THEM WHEN WORK IS REQUIRED?



Yeah that's right.  We're their customer we work with them ?



WHO WOULD BE IN CHARGE OF THE MAINTENANCE DEPARTMENT?



What are you after the superintendent or are you after the senior..



WELL WHO WOULD HAVE RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE MAINTENANCE WORKERS?



I usually contact the senior bloke..senior maintenance bloke ?



APART FROM CONTACTING THEM TO NEED WORK TO BE DONE IS THERE ANY PARTICULAR COMMUNICATION THAT OCCURS BETWEEN YOUR AREA OF CONCERN AND THE MAINTENANCE WORKERS?



Yeah we usually..well at this present time anyway the senior bloke which is David ? he rings me up every morning and see what's happening at the mine.  So do the surveyors.  That's currently what's happening.  



NOW IN YOUR POSITION AS SENIOR SUPERVISOR DO YOU HAVE INVOLVEMENT IN THE PROVISION AND COMMUNICATING OF EITHER NEW PROCEDURES..NEW SAFETY ISSUES TO YOUR WORKERS?



Yeah I get a copy of all the new safety briefs which is for my file.  I get a copy for the notice boards.  And each of the supervisors and Be Safe reps now get a copy.



WHAT DO YOU DO WITH THEM ONCE YOU'VE RECEIVED THEM?



My copy.  I file my copy which is in a set folder with all safety briefs.  I put the safety brief that goes on the notice board out in the assembly area notice board and the supervisors get their copy.  I also sometimes photostat extra copies for the diary.



HOW DOES THIS GET COMMUNICATED TO THE REST OF THE WORKERS?



Depending on the safety brief if it's high involvement or a break or a really thing that could be lead to an immediate accident or something like that we have a toolbox talk to discuss the issue with the workforce.  Otherwise it usually is brought up at different toolbox meetings or talks.  We also have now a talk every first shift back on the night shift of a Sunday night where the supervisors talks to the blokes any changes that happened over the weekend if any safety briefs have come out.



DO YOU PROVIDE ANY OF THESE ACTUAL TALKS.  DO YOU GIVE THE TALKS?



Prior to the 28th yes I did on an instance just recently where a bloke lost time injury on a bloke catching his finger in a pulley because I was well aware of what happened and had known what had happened I did the toolbox talks on them.



PRIOR TO THIS PARTICULAR ACCIDENT IN MAY DID YOU GIVE THOSE TALKS AT THAT STAGE?



Yeah I ran a stripping shift for four years.  A blasting crew for 18 odd months.  A mining crew for 4 years and yes I used to give toolbox talks to those crews.



NOW YOU'RE AWARE OF THE MINE TRAFFIC RULES?



Yeah.



NOW IS THAT SOMETHING THAT'S WITHIN YOUR RESPONSIBILITIES TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH THOSE RULES OF THE WORKERS UNDER YOUR CONTROL?



If something comes up that people aren't adhering to the rules it's up to me to correct that.



WHAT SORT OF ACTION WAS TAKEN FOR NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE RULES?



Usually the person that's not complying is spoken to and warned that it could go further next time.



ARE THERE FORMAL FURTHER ACTION?



Yes there is now.



AND WHAT DOES THAT ENTAIL?



First warning is just basically a verbal.  Second warning is documented.  Third time I think is stood down and so forth.



AND WHO ENFORCES THAT PROCEDURE?



That is the supervisors and myself as backup.



SO IF YOUR SUPERVISORS DO THEIR FIRST SECOND AND OR THIRD WARNINGS ARE YOU NOTIFIED OF THOSE WARNINGS?



That's correct.  We have a special book for disciplinary procedures.



HOW FREQUENTLY HAVE THERE BEEN NOT EXAMPLES OF NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE RULES?



Probably recently we've had probably since the fatality we've stepped up now doing audits and different things on you know wearing seatbelts.  Park brake on heavy machinery.  Just do audits on that sort of thing you know.



HAS THERE BEEN ANY FORM OF NOTICEABLE REDUCTION IN THE NUMBER OF INCIDENTS OR EXAMPLE OF NON-COMPLIANCE SINCE THIS ACCIDENT?



Yeah I believe so.



AND WHAT WAS THE FREQUENCY OF NON-COMPLIANCE PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT?



I wouldn't like to say what frequency it was but just like a seatbelt issue is I'd say 50% of people never used to wear a seatbelt.  We're probably running at about 95 now.



NOW WHAT ABOUT THE PROCEDURE FOR OVERTAKING WATER TRUCKS?  WHAT SORT OF FREQUENCY WAS THERE ANY FREQUENCY OF NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE PROCEDURE FOR OVERTAKING WATER TRUCKS PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT?



Say that again.



HOW FREQUENTLY WAS THERE EXAMPLES OF NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE PROCEDURE FOR OVERTAKING A WATER TRUCK PRIOR TO THIS ACCIDENT?



I'd say that there was probably a lot of people passing water carts with not the right procedure.



WERE YOU AWARE OF THOSE OCCASIONS?



No I just know that people could actually drive through the spray knowing what the spray would do to your vision.



OK AND WHAT DOES THE SPRAY DO TO YOUR VISION?



Well you wouldn't be able to see would you.



NOW YOU'VE DRIVEN..YOU DRIVE A FAIR AMOUNT ACROSS THE MINE SITE IN YOUR POSITION?



Yeah I do on occasions yeah.



WHAT WAS YOUR UNDERSTANDING AT THE TIME OF THE ACCIDENT OF THE PROCEDURE FOR PASSING OR OVERTAKING A WATER TRUCK?



As long as you had good vision of the road ahead you overtook the water truck outside the sprays.



WAS IT EVER ON YOUR UNDERSTANDING PART OF THAT PROCEDURE TO HAVE SOME SORT OF COMMUNICATION WITH THE DRIVER AND WAIT FOR HIM TO TURN OFF THE RIGHT HAND SPRAY?



If the driver seen you coming they knew you were looking for a thing and usually drop their right hand spray.



WOULD YOU ON ALL OCCASIONS WAIT UNTIL YOU'D DETERMINED THAT HE HAD SEEN YOU?



If you had..if you got back far enough you could see the road ahead there wasn't a problem going around him.



SO YOU WOULDN'T WAIT FOR ANY INDICATION FROM HIM THAT HE HAD ACTUALLY SEEN YOU?



If the road was open and clear there wasn't a problem going around him as long as you went around the spray.



OK.  NOW THAT PROCEDURE HAS CHANGED SINCE THIS ACCIDENT?



That's correct.



WHAT'S THE CURRENT PROCEDURE?



Nobody passes any heavy machinery without calling up and getting the clearance to pass.



THAT'S RADIO CONTACT?



That's correct.



YOUR STATEMENT ACTUALLY GOES BACK AND REFERS TO A PRIOR OR EVEN A BEFORE THAT THE PROCEDURE THAT'S IN PLACE AT THE TIME OF THE INCIDENT OF ACTUALLY PASSING THE TRUCKS ON THE LEFT?



That's what I just referred to a minute ago.



WHEN WAS THAT IN PLACE?



When I first started in mining it was a mining supervisor going back in 87.  We had basically permanent people on the machines.  In those days there was no work model the bloke was a truck driver he was a truck driver and we had permanent water cart drivers.  So the water cart driver I had for four years was basically the same person.



YOU MAKE THE COMMENT IN YOUR STATEMENT ON PAGE 2 I FEEL THIS PROCEDURE OF PASSING ON THE LEFT HAND SIDE IS A BETTER PROCEDURE.  WHY DO YOU MAKE THAT COMMENT?



Well most of the time the water cart drove on the middle of the road so you got the both sides of the road wet.  He could see well in advance what's in front.  Usually he'd drop the left hand spray which gave you miles of room to go through and you passed him on the inside.



IS THAT STILL YOUR VIEW THAT PASSING ON THE LEFT CAN BE A BETTER PROCEDURE OR NOT?



No the best procedure is what we've got now.



NOW WHAT IS YOUR UNDERSTANDING AT THE TIME OF THIS INCIDENT FOR THE PLACEMENT OF SIGNS TO NOTIFY OF POSSIBLE HAZARDS.  IN THIS CASE THE TRUCK TURNING SIGN.  WHAT WAS THE REQUIREMENT AT THAT TIME?



In what way do you mean.



WHAT WAS REQUIRED FOR SIGNAGE TO NOTIFY WORKERS OF A HAZARD?



We the supervisor that was in charge for the day spoke to the examiner who was on that day. Told him where the mining or what operation was on.  Whether it was haul road grading or hauling coal.  Where they were going and could he put the appropriate signs up.



NOW IS THERE A PARTICULAR REQUIREMENT OR IS IT A DECISION HE MAKES AS TO WHAT SIGNAGE IS ADEQUATE?



If it's haul road grading it will say..basically if it's truck turning it's trucks turning.



WERE YOU AWARE OF WHETHER THESE SIGNS HAD BEEN PLACED PRIOR TO YOU GOING ON LEAVE?



Yes.  We mined there on the..the Thursday and the Friday.  I think we did four shifts prior to me going on leave.  We also did four shifts the previous week in the same stockpile.



SO IN THAT TIME PARTICULARLY THE SHIFT JUST PRIOR TO YOU GOING ON LEAVE HAVE YOU YOURSELF OBSERVED THOSE SIGNS IN PLACE?



Yeah I think I seen them there on the left hand side of the road just after the old ramp 1 water point corner and up back towards the dolls house on the southern end.



WERE THE SIGNS THE SAME DO YOU RECALL?



Yes I think they were.  Witches hat was with the signs but I just not sure what was on the sign.



WHAT'S THE PURPOSE OF HAVING THE WITCHES HATS WITH THE SIGNS?



It's just something that you pick up.  You see it makes things more observant to see you know.



SO IS THE WITCHES HAT MORE NOTICEABLE THAN THE SIGN ITSELF?



I wouldn't say so.  It brings your attention to the sign.



BUT THE SIGN ITSELF WOULDN'T DO THAT?



A lot of people probably don't look at signs as much as they look at something that's different.  Unless the sign is probably pretty big.



NOW WHEN A DETERMINATION IS MADE TO MINE AND THEN HAUL AND DUMP COAL FROM A PARTICULAR AREA AS HAS IN AN AREA LIKE IN THIS CASE WITH THE RAMP 2 WEST STOCKPILE WHICH HADN'T BEEN USED ISN'T USED REGULARLY FOR THIS PURPOSE IS IT.  IT'S NOT PERMANENTLY USED FOR DEPOSITING COAL?



Well it's been permanently used for the last 8 years off and on.



YEAH OFF AND ON. IT'S NOT AN EVERYDAY OCCURRENCE.



No depending on whether they're putting rejects there or whether we've got to put a quality of coal there.  But that has to come out of the pit for basically parting drilling and so forth.



NOW YOU WERE ASKED WHEN THE STATEMENT WAS TAKEN ABOUT IS THE WORKFORCE AS A WHOLE INFORMED OF THE CHANGE AND YOU ANSWERED THAT USUALLY THE FOREMAN IS TOLD WHAT THE JOB AND TO INFORM THE RELEVANT PEOPLE THAT IS WORKSHOP FIELD MAINTENANCE THE OCE AND THE MINING PIT.  BUT THEN YOU GO ON TO SAY PERSONALLY I GO TO THE MECHANICAL AND ELECTRICAL MAINTENANCE DEPARTMENTS AND TELL THEM WHAT IS HAPPENING.  WHY DO YOU DO THAT?



When I was in mining or stripping or whatever I had going on because those people worked with me I used to just go and let them know what was going on.



SO YOUR FOREMAN WOULDN'T HAVE BEEN DOING THAT?



I was talking about when I was a foreman.  



OK.



I don't know what each of the other supervisors did.  I know how I did mine.



ARE YOU INVOLVED IN THIS PROCESS AT THE MOMENT?



Yeah I talk to the senior bloke out at the workshop and that yeah.



HAS THERE BEEN ANY CHANGE TO THAT PROCESS OF INFORMING THEM SINCE THIS ACCIDENT?



We've changed quite a few processes.  One is our production meetings.  Previously our production meetings only concerned one day we talked to the maintenance people.  The next day we'd talk to the coal quality and the engineering people.  Now the production meetings are basically everybody which includes environment..safety rep everybody.  Everybody on the site goes to that meeting every Wednesday.



OK NOW YOU ALSO WERE ASKED AT THE END OF THAT STATEMENT ANY OBSERVATIONS YOU MIGHT HAVE..YOU HAD MADE WHICH MIGHT IMPROVE THE MANAGEMENT OF SIMILAR SITUATIONS AND YOU'VE GIVEN THE RESPONSE IN THERE.  IS THERE ANYTHING YOU WISH TO ADD TO THOSE CHANGES?  THOSE SUGGESTED CHANGES?  THE LAST ANSWER.



Most of those things we've done something about.  Minimise light vehicles on the haul road.  After the fatality everybody was ? induction again and light vehicles were all sent on the back roads and ? examine traffic ? more carefully..yes.  Which we do.  Signage needs to be improved.  We ordered signs. Got newer signs.  We need to ensure the traffic rules are adhered to.  Which we do.  ??? well that's what we put over near the miners crib up on where everybody has got to pass to go to work.



OK.  I'VE NO FURTHER QUESTIONS YOUR WORSHIP.

WARDEN:
THANKYOU. YES MR BEST.

MR BEST:
THANKYOU YOUR WORSHIP.  MR WOCKNER JUST ON THAT LAST ANSWER THE MINING BILLBOARD OR THE MINING INFORMATION BOARD OR THE BOARD THAT YOU'VE SET UP THERE.  IT'S AN INFORMATION BOARD?



Yeah that's correct.



AND WHOSE RESPONSIBILITY IS IT TO KEEP THAT UP TO DATE?



Examiners update it.



IS THERE ANY OCCASION SINCE IT'S BEEN IN..THAT YOU'RE AWARE OF SINCE IT'S BEEN PUT UP THAT IT'S LAPSED IN HAVING THE INFORMATION KEPT CURRENT?



Yes.



IS THERE ANY WAY WE CAN IMPROVE IN THAT?



Improve in keeping the board updated you mean?



YEAH.



I think probably just more..probably constant reminders I suppose unless we took the job away from the examiners and allocated it to somebody else to do.



SO THERE COULD BE A NEED TO REVIEW THE WHY..THE WHY THE BOARD ISN'T UPDATED THERE COULD BE A NEED TO REVIEW THAT?



We set up a board like that probably half a dozen years ago and the same thing happened there.  The board is updated for a while and then all of a sudden there was a lack of interest in keeping the board updated.



SO THEREFORE IN YOUR OPINION ARE WE PLAYING LIP SERVICE TO THIS OR IS IT A REAL COMMITMENT TO WANTING TO DELIVER A MESSAGE BECAUSE YOU'VE MADE A PRETTY STRONG STATEMENT HERE IN YOUR ANSWER AND YOU'VE THEN FOLLOWED IT THROUGH WITH GOOD ACTION AND NOW I NEED TO ASK WHAT'S LETTING US DOWN.  IS IT COMMITMENT TO THE WHOLE PROCESS OR IS IT JUST WANTING TO BE SEEN TO BE DOING SOMETHING?



Everybody on site has just gone through a one on one commitment to safety and one would expect that that's just finished now people are more involved in looking after themselves and their neighbours or their workmates in doing this and I'll be seeing that that board is up to date.



THANKYOU MR WOCKNER.  HAVE EVER..WELL CAN I ASK YOU BEFORE THAT THEN..YOU'VE HAD TIME..I KNOW YOU WENT AWAY ON HOLIDAYS AND YOU WERE AWAY ON HOLIDAYS WHEN THE ACCIDENT OCCURRED BUT HAVE YOU SORT OF IN YOUR POSITION AND THE RESPONSIBILITIES THAT GO WITH YOUR POSITION HAD TIME TO REFLECT ON WHY THIS ACCIDENT HAS OCCURRED?



I don't know why the accident occurred.  Yes there was light vehicles on the haul road which now are on the back road.  That's probably a part of it.  I thought you people would be able to tell me at the end of this inquest what actually did happen.



SO YOU THINK THAT THERE ARE..THERE COULD BE A NUMBER OF FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH THIS ACCIDENT THAT..YOU PUT A LOT OF IMPROVEMENTS INTO PLACE AND THOSE IMPROVEMENTS..WHAT I'M TRYING TO GET A FEEL FOR ARE THOSE IMPROVEMENTS IN RELATION TO PREVENTION OF A SIMILAR ACCIDENT OR IS IT IN RELATION TO TRYING TO ACTUALLY MANAGE SAFETY IN A CO-ORDINATED EFFORT A LOT BETTER THAN WHAT IT WAS.  I'M SEARCHING.  I'M ASKING IF YOU CAN HELP IT WOULD BE BENEFICIAL.  NOT ONLY TO ME BUT TO THE INQUIRY.



I think the whole mine has changed it's outlook and doing things differently what we did prior to the fatality.



SO THE ACCIDENT YOU COULD COME UP WITH SOME GOOD POSITIVE THINGS OUT OF THIS ACCIDENT THAT MIGHT STILL HAVE A GOOD IMPACT. IS THAT WHAT YOU'RE SAYING?



Well the passing of heavy machinery for a start is a fool proof system as long as everybody abides by the system.



SO THEREFORE FOR SOME..YOU'VE HAD 22 AND A HALF YEARS MINING EXPERIENCE HAS THAT ALL BEEN AT BLACKWATER?



Yep.



AND OF COURSE YOU'VE CERTAINLY SHOWED THAT YOU YOU'VE BEEN IN THE SUPERVISORY AREA FOR QUITE SOME TIME SINCE 1987 SO YOU'VE TAKEN ON ADDED RESPONSIBILITY.  HAVE YOU EVER ATTENDED A MINES OFFICIAL COURSE?



Yep.



DO YOU UNDERSTAND WHAT YOUR RESPONSIBILITIES ARE UNDER THE COAL MINING ACT AND OPEN CUT RULES?



Yep.



YOU DO.  PRIMARY RESPONSIBILITY IS IN YOUR OPINION..WHAT WOULD IT BE?



The safety of the people working at the mine.



YOU'RE WELL AWARE OF THE BE SAFE SAFETY SYSTEM?



Yep.



BECAUSE I HEARD YOU SAY THAT YOU USE SAFETY REPS NOW IN YOUR TALKS ON WEDNESDAY.  ARE THEY THE SAME SAFETY REPS?



They are the people involved..the ? yeah.



WHAT DO YOU THINK OF THAT BE SAFE SAFETY SYSTEM?



It's fine.



SO IT'S DIRECTION IS GOOD?



Yep.



IMPLEMENTATION?



It's involving the people that are working there.  That's the main thing.  The people working there are the representatives that we need for the safety.



SO THEIR INVOLVEMENT IS IMPORTANT IN REGARDS TO WHAT BEING ABLE TO ADDRESS SAFETY ISSUES DO THEY..BECAUSE THEY'RE INVOLVED IS THERE ANOTHER PROCESS THAT CAN STOP THEM FROM REALLY APPLYING THEMSELVES TO DOING THE JOB AS A SAFETY REP?



No I think all the people that take the job are responsible and keen to fix any problems we've had.



SO THERE'S TIME ALLOCATED.  TRAINING TIME ALLOCATED FOR THEM TO ONE TO GO THROUGH THE COURSE A BE SAFE REPS COURSE?



Yeah that's correct.



AND THEN THERE'S TIME ALLOCATED FOR THEM DURING THEIR COURSE OF THEIR SHIFT TO ATTEND TO THE RESPONSIBILITIES AS LAID DOWN?



Yeah they have meetings and so forth.



AND OF COURSE PART OF IT IS THAT THEY MIGHT HAVE TO BE INVOLVED IN IDENTIFYING HAZARDS AND RISKS.  WOULD THAT BE CORRECT?



Yeah that's right.



NOW THE PROCESS THEN OR WORKING THROUGH WITH A FOREMAN AND SETTING UP THE PRIORITIES IS THERE A CHALLENGE ON ANYBODY THAT YOU KNOW OF IN REGARDS TO HOW THEY SEE THOSE PRIORITIES?  OR IS THAT ACCEPTED THAT WHAT THEY'VE..WHAT PRIORITIES THEY'VE SET IS ACCEPTED AS A STANDARD FOR A NEW CHANGE OR FOR IMPLEMENTING CHANGE?



It is not just the one or two people that go out.  There's various people like I did a risk assessment on a climbing over a coal hauler and updating the diesel tank and I had a Be Safe rep.  I had a Be Safe co-ordinator.  I had myself and I had an operator go and have a look at the job.



YEAH THAT WAS DONE IN A PRO-ACTIVE ENVIRONMENT WASN'T IT.  YOU WERE LOOKING AT THE POTENTIAL HAZARDS AND THEN OF COURSE THE RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THAT?



That's right.



AND THEREFORE YOU WERE LOOKING ALSO AT THE BEST WAY TO MANAGE THOSE RISKS OR REDUCE THOSE RISKS OR COMPLETELY REMOVE THE HAZARD WOULD THAT BE CORRECT?



Yep.



AND THAT'S WHAT YOU FEEL IS THE IMPORTANT SIDE OF THE BE SAFE SYSTEM?



Yeah that's correct.



I SUPPORT YOU THAT IF IT CAN GO ALL THE WAY AND IS IMPLEMENTED UNDER THAT MESSAGE I BELIEVE THAT IT CAN DELIVER AND THEREFORE I ASK YOU ABOUT THE COMMITMENT TO IT.  HOW DOES EVERYONE ELSE FEEL ABOUT IT THAT YOU'RE DEALING WITH.  HOW DO YOU THINK THE COMMITMENT IS TO IT?



Yeah I think everyone is pretty well committed.  There were some blokes allocated last week which involved the miners ops checking the width of haul roads risk assessment on three different areas that weren't quite meeting our guidelines so I think that what they bought back was superb.



YOU KNOW YOU MADE A MENTION OF THE TOOLBOX MEETINGS.  YOU MADE A MENTION OF THEM IN REGARDS TO THAT THAT'S A FORM OF COMMUNICATION FOR OUTCOMES OF THE SAFETY BRIEFS.  WHO SETS THE AGENDA FOR THE TOOLBOX MEETINGS?



We have a set agenda between from our safety department on the topics for most of the month you know like December is drink driving.  November was ? and hazard substances and so forth.  There is a set program.  We also have additional one where there's safety briefs or as we do in the mining now every Sunday night before the blokes start to work they're filled in on any changes what's happened over the weekend since they've been away.  Maybe any safety briefs that have come out and so forth. Where we're mining from.



SO IF WE DO THE TOOLBOX MEETINGS DO WE DO THE TOOLBOX MEETINGS WITH EXPECTING AN OUTCOME.  FIRST OF ALL DO WE DO THE TOOLBOX MEETINGS WITH AN ACCEPTABLE RECOGNITION OF COMPULSORY ATTENDANCE?



In the mining department whoever is not on annual leave attends a toolbox meeting once a month on those the subjects that are allocated or if there is in otherwords that instance we had with the bloke catching his finger.  Everybody stopped and went and was shown what happened and briefed on it you know.



THEN THE OTHER THING WITH THAT IS ASSESSMENTS AT THE END OF IT IS THERE ANY FORM OF ASSESSMENTS IF YOU HAD SUCH IMPORTANT SAFETY ISSUES TO THAT YOU WANT TO DELIVER A STRONG MESSAGE TO CHANGE ATTITUDE WOULD THERE BE A SYSTEM OF ASSESSMENT OR IS THERE A SYSTEM OF ASSESSMENT?



I think the system of assessment is the attitude of people.



SO THE SYSTEM OF THE ASSESSMENT IS..



No the attitude of the people gives you an idea on how they take things you know.



SO THE PEOPLE DELIVERING THE MESSAGES AT THE FRONT OF THE MEETING OR THE TOOLBOX VENUE OR THE TOOLBOX GATHERING OR THE GATHERING OF THE PERSONS RECEIVING THE MESSAGE THAT PERSON IS ABLE TO READ HOW WELL THE PEOPLE AT THE BACK ARE IN TUNE WHAT THEY'RE SAYING AS WELL AS THE PEOPLE IN THE FRONT.  THE PERSON STANDING OVER NEAR THE SIDE DOOR.



If you're doing resuscitation the man doing the resuscitation is usually a professional person and he knows if people are doing it right or not.  If you're doing fire fighting we have a person in with fire fighting experience that does the fire fighting.  If it's with mines rescue or if it's with chemical substances we have a person that's up to doing that and so on.



YES BUT WHAT ABOUT THE OUTCOME AT THE END OF THAT.  THERE IS A FORMAL ASSESSMENT AGAINST THE PERSON ATTENDING OR DO WE JUST HAVE A SHEET SAYING MAT BEST ATTENDED.  DO WE HAVE A OR AT THE END OF IT DOES IS IT MAT BEST ATTENDED AND WAS ASSESSED AS UNDERSTANDING OR WAS ASSESSED AS..



No as attended.



AS ATTENDED.



Signed as attending yeah.



OK.  THE..NO DOUBT YOU'VE MADE MENTION ABOUT THE RISK ASSESSMENT AND YOU MADE MENTION ABOUT THE HAZARD IDENTIFICATION.  YOU MADE MENTION ALSO IN YOUR STATEMENT ON PAGE 3 THAT YOU AND MR GERNY CLAMP INSPECTED THE STOCKPILE AREA AND IDENTIFIED PREPARATION WORK WHICH WAS NECESSARY.  ALL I'D ASK YOU IS WHAT FORMULA DID YOU USE TO ASSESS THE CONDITIONS.  DID YOU USE A FORMULA OR WAS IT JUST ON A GUT FEELING OR WAS IT LOOKING AT THEY SYSTEM.. OR HOW BIG THE STOCKPILE WAS WITH REGARDS TO HOW MUCH COAL YOU COULD FIT IN IT?



No the day we went up there they'd dumped there the previous week.  We went up to see what the road was like into it.  What the condition of the stockpile and that the exit out to see what the roadway was.  That stockpile had been used quite a few times.  Any new area I go to I usually look if there's a new pit to go into we go down for a run and have a look to see what shape it's in and what's got to be done.



OK.  WAS THERE ANY CONSIDERATION GIVEN TO..WELL FIRST OF ALL DO YOU CLASS THIS AS A NORMAL PART OF THE MINING OPERATIONS OR IS IT A CHANGE TO THE NORMAL OPERATIONS?  CHANGE TO THE MINING OPERATIONS?



It is a change in that we advise the examiner what's going on where we're hauling from and signs are put up to suit.  That stockpile's been probably used a lot more than some of our pits over the last 8 years in that we were dumping coal there we were dumping rejects there.  A lot of the truck drivers took it as an easier and closer reject dump and there was no coal there.



SO WHAT YOU'RE SAYING IS I'M UNDERSTANDING HERE THAT YOU BELIEVE THAT THERE SHOULD BE THERE SHOULD HAVE BEEN NO PROBLEMS WITH THE PEOPLE KNOWING THAT THAT WAS AN ACTIVE AREA OF WORK FOR DUMPING OF COAL?



No I said that the signs were put in to say we were dumping coal there.



YES BUT OVER THE YEARS YOU SAID IT'S MORE FREQUENTLY USED THAN SOME OF YOUR RAMPS.  SO I PERCEIVE THAT YOU'RE GIVING US A MESSAGE THAT OVER THE YEARS THERE SHOULD HAVE BEEN EVERYONE KNOWING THAT THAT WAS AN ACTIVE STOCKPILE.



It's in pretty well sight of everyone from the industrial area and on the haul roads a straight stretch of road.  The stockpiles built on a raised elevation.  It's pretty hard not to see people working there.



CAN I SAY THAT THERE WERE PEOPLE THAT DIDN'T KNOW THAT THE STOCKPILE WAS ACTIVE?  WOULD YOU BELIEVE THAT?



When.  On the day.



PRIOR TO THIS ACCIDENT.



Yeah.  Looking at the trucks that were hauling to the stockpile over the various times hauling from say ramp 13 ramp 12 there's a truck going on that stockpile every 10 minutes so I you would have to be very unfortunate not to know that there was coal hauling going on at that place.



BUT SO IT'S UNFORTUNATE BUT THE THING THAT IS THERE TO MAKE SURE THAT PEOPLE DID KNOW WERE THE SIGNS THAT'S WHAT YOU'RE SAYING?



signs and communication between the examiner and various areas.



CAN I SUGGEST TO YOU THAT THERE WAS TWO DIFFERENT SIGNS USED FOR GIVING INFORMATION TO THAT AREA?  ARE YOU AWARE OF THAT?



No.



SO THEREFORE I SUGGEST TO YOU THAT PEOPLE CAN TAKE THE SAME NOTICE OF SIGNS THAT WHAT YOU'VE TAKEN.  YOU'RE NOT SURE OF WHAT REALLY THE SIGN MESSAGE MEANS.  SO PEOPLE COULD REALLY MISS THAT SIGN THOSE SIGNS AND THE IMPORTANCE THAT'S PLACED ON THOSE SIGNS.



I usually know what a sign says and I still think it was trucks turning.



YEAH IT WAS TRUCKS TURNING AT ONE END AND THEN IT WAS THE OTHER END THERE WAS TRUCKS CROSSING YEAH.  TRUCKS CROSSING. THAT WAS AT THE NORTHERN END.  THE SOUTHERN END WAS TRUCKS TURNING.  SO THEREFORE ALL I WANT TO SAY..WHAT I WANT TO ASK YOU FURTHERMORE ON THAT IS THE TRAINING THAT YOU GOT IN THE HAZARD AWARENESS AND RISK ASSESSMENT DIDN'T REALLY COME INTO PLAY IN REGARDS TO THE INTERACTION OF OTHER PEOPLE GOING THROUGH THAT AREA?  YOU DIDN'T USE ANY OTHER NECESSARY..YOU DIDN'T THINK IT WAS NECESSARY TO USE ANY OTHER TOOL ANYWAY?



No not from the times we'd used the stockpile previously.



OK.

WARDEN:
NOW MIGHT BE AN APPROPRIATE TIME TO ADJOURN.  WE MIGHT ADJOURN OVER TO 2.15 IF THAT'S SUITABLE TO EVERYBODY.

COURT ADJOURNED.

COURT RESUMED.

WARDEN:
OK.  MR BEST YOU'VE GOT ANOTHER COUPLE OF QUESTIONS TO ASK. JUST BEFORE WE RESTART I PROBABLY SHOULD JUST LET ALL THE PARTIES KNOW JUST IN CASE THERE'S ANY UNCERTAINTY AS TO WHEN WE'RE GOING TO HAND DOWN OUR FINDINGS.  AS SOON AS THE EVIDENCE IS HEARD FROM THIS LAST WITNESS IF THERE'S ANY SUBMISSIONS WE'LL ADJOURN AND WE INTEND HANDING DOWN OUR FINDINGS THIS EVENING.    SO THAT'LL PROBABLY BE AROUND ABOUT 7 OR 8 TONIGHT ALL GOING WELL.  IF ANY PARTIES WISH TO BE EXCUSED FROM BEING IN ATTENDANCE WHEN WE DELIVER OUR FINDINGS THAT'S NOT A PROBLEM.  COPIES OF THOSE FINDINGS AS WELL AS THE RECOMMENDATIONS CAN BE SENT OUT OR DISTRIBUTED IF THAT'S WHAT YOU DESIRE.  OK.

MR MELLICK:



YOUR WORSHIP IF IT COULD BE DEALT WITH NOW.  IF MR BYRNE AND I COULD BE EXCUSED FROM BEING PRESENT.  MR LEES WILL BE HERE AND WILL TAKE THE COPY FOR THE NEXT OF KIN AT THAT TIME.  I PERHAPS WAS REMISE IN NOT INDICATING YESTERDAY THAT MRS GADSBY THE NEXT OF KIN IS AT THIS INQUIRY AND HAS BEEN PRESENT THROUGHOUT THE HEARING.

WARDEN:
OK. YES MR BEST.

MR BEST:
THANKYOU YOUR HONOUR.  MR WOCKNER WE SPOKE EARLIER ABOUT THE NEED TO COMMUNICATE ALL THE CHANGES TO ANY OF THE MINING CONDITIONS THAT COULD EFFECT PERSONS ENTERING INTO THOSE AREAS.  JUST..MINING CONDITIONS OR LOCATIONS THAT CHANGE DURING THE SHIFT.  IS THERE A PROCESS IN PLACE TO COMMUNICATE TO THE RELEVANT PERSONS?



Usually the faces that are set unless it's wet weather are pretty well standard from day to day.  We might change mid week and go somewhere  different but very rarely it's in between shifts which is wet weather mainly you know.  There's no set plan to just change mid shift.



RIGHT SO THERE IS THOSE PLANNING MEETINGS ARE LOOKED AT FOR A CONTINUITY OF PRODUCTION OUT OF THOSE AREAS.



We have a 12 weekly plan and then this is broken down to a week a fortnight so that you know exactly where you're going.



OK.  AND JUST ONE OTHER..SINCE THE ACCIDENT MIXED JUNCTION AREA..THE LIGHT VEHICLE ACCESS.  WE'RE LEAD TO BELIEVE THAT THAT'S BEING CUT OFF.  STOPPED FROM..



Yeah there's been no traffic through there since the day of the accident.



IS THERE A PROCEDURE FOR..WRITTEN PROCEDURE FOR SPECIAL ENTRY IN THROUGH THAT AREA?  THROUGH THE ROM AREA ? ONTO THE HAUL ROAD..SOUTHERN HAUL ROAD?



We only have if the supervisor has to go and check a stockpile bypass rom stockpile or say the reject bin it's a noted occasion to the coal haulers that he's going to that area.  Now we've only got the one channel it's pretty well broadcast over the place you know.



SO THEREFORE NO-ONE SHOULD BE IN THERE UNLESS EVERYONE IS..OR THE HAULING CREW AND THE MINING CREWS ARE AWARE THAT THERE IS A LIGHT VEHICLE IN THAT AREA?



Yeah.



OK.  THANKYOU.

WARDEN:
YES MR MELLICK.

MR MELLICK:



YES THANKYOU YOUR WORSHIP.  MR WOCKNER I WANT TO ASK YOU SOME QUESTIONS ARISING OUT OF SOME ANSWERS YOU GAVE AT PAGE THREE OF YOUR STATEMENT.  DO YOU HAVE THAT THERE?



Yep.



YOU WERE ASKED IN THE FIRST QUESTION ON THAT PAGE ABOUT WHETHER ANY REVIEW WAS MADE AND YOU REFERRED TO ATTENDING WITH THE FOREMAN YOU THOUGHT IT WAS GERNY CLAMP..HAVE YOU MADE ENQUIRIES TO CHECK WHETHER IT WAS MR CLAMP?



No it was Gerny.  I'm pretty sure that I asked him it was him that drove round with me to have a look at the stockpiles.



AND WAS THERE ANY SORT OF CHECKLIST THAT WAS APPLIED DURING THIS INSPECTION?



No we'd dumped there the previous week and we were just inspecting to have a look whether the area was done and I just as he was the supervisor on I just said to him we need to put a bit more dirt in the table drain.  The table drain was a bit deep.



WHEN YOU INSPECTED EITHER ON THIS OCCASION OR THE PREVIOUS WEEK WAS IT JUST A MATTER AT THAT TIME THAT YOU SIMPLY APPLIED YOUR EXPERIENCE AND MADE A VISUAL CHECK AND FORMED A VIEW ABOUT WHAT THINGS MIGHT NEED TO BE DONE?



When I was dumping on stockpiles it was just a matter on looking at it to see what condition the stockpile was. 



WELL THEN IS THE ANSWER TO MY QUESTION YES THAT YOU UNDERTAKE A VISUAL CHECK AND BASED ON YOUR EXPERIENCE YOU MIGHT DECIDE TO DO CERTAIN THINGS?



Yep.



OBVIOUSLY THE ABSENCE OF ANY REFERENCE TO TRAFFIC ISSUES IN YOUR FIRST ANSWER PROMPTED THE SECOND QUESTION WHICH WAS WERE THE TRAFFIC ISSUES ASSESSED IN THE AREA.  AND YOU GAVE THE ANSWER WHICH ISN'T REALLY RESPONSIVE IF I CAN SAY SO WITH RESPECT IT IS A LONG STRAIGHT STRETCH OF ROAD WHICH WAS CONSIDERED TO BE SUITABLE FOR A RIGHT TURN INTERSECTION.  WHAT ASSESSMENT WAS ACTUALLY MADE OF TRAFFIC ISSUES IF ANY?



We've been going in that same spot for the last 8 years.



WELL DOES THAT MEAN THEN THAT NO TRAFFIC ISSUES WERE ASSESSED WHEN IT WAS DECIDED TO DUMP THEN AT THAT AREA IN EARLY MAY OF THIS YEAR?



The traffic issues were address through the signs that were place up to say that the vehicles will be dumping in there.



THAT WAS THE EXTENT OF THE ASSESSMENT?



That's correct.



WHAT CONSIDERATION WAS GIVEN TO THE NUMBER OF SIGNS THAT THE WORDING OF THE SIGNS AND THE PLACEMENT OF THE SIGNS?



I think that was answered before with respect to examiners were told there would be dumping in there and they placed the signs in their positions.



AND..ALRIGHT I'LL LEAVE IT AT THAT.  FURTHER DOWN I THINK IT'S THE SECOND LAST QUESTION.  DID YOU INFORM THEM OF THE THIS MINING OPERATION.  YOU ANSWERED.. I INFORMED THOSE DEPARTMENTS WHEN WE FIRST STARTED HAULING A FEW DAYS PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT.   I CAN'T REMEMBER WHICH FOREMAN I SAW.  HAVE YOU GIVEN ANY FURTHER THOUGHT TO THAT?



Yeah I've given it some thought.  I basically if I'm in charge of the operation I just wonder into the supervisors office in the workshop there's usually maybe four or five there at the start of shift and advise them.  I just can't recall who or whether I told the whole lot.  I'm usually pretty boisterous in my action and people get the message pretty quick.



SO SITTING HERE NOW YOU CAN'T TELL US THE NAME OF ANY PERSON THAT YOU PASSED THIS ONTO.



No.



OR OF ANY SECTION THAT THE PERSON MIGHT HAVE..



That would be in the maintenance department office.



YOU MADE NO RECORD OF ANY COMMUNICATIONS THAT YOU UNDERTOOK?



No.



AND WAS THERE ANY FORMAL SYSTEM OF COMMUNICATIONS THAT YOU WERE IMPLEMENTING AT THIS STAGE OR THIS WAS SOME PRACTICE THAT YOU HAD?



It was just a practice that I had.



SO THE MINE ITSELF HAD NO FORMAL SYSTEM OF COMMUNICATION IN PLACE IN ORDER TO PASS THIS ON.  FOR EXAMPLE TO PASS THIS ON TO NON PRODUCTION PEOPLE.  THAT IS MAINTENANCE PEOPLE.



If it was the surveyors they'd call us up and ask us where we're working.  If they wanted to go and shoot some levels of coal.  It was depending on the area.  If it was electricians they'd call us up and ask us where we were working if they wanted to go down and find a shovel a two way that wasn't working on the machine or something like that.



SO THE ANSWER IS THAT THE MINE HAD NO FORMAL SYSTEM IN PLACE FOR PASSING ON..FOR COMMUNICATING THESE THINGS?



That's correct.



WELL YOU SEE YOU SAID IN ONE OF YOUR ANSWERS TO MR BEST THAT THE TWO IMPORTANT THINGS RELIED UPON WAS SIGNS AND COMMUNICATIONS.  SO WHAT WE HAVE IS TWO SIGNS YOU'VE DESCRIBED EARLIER AND YOUR RECOLLECTION THAT YOU WOULD HAVE PASSED IT ON BUT NO RECOLLECTION AS TO WHO YOU PASSED IT ON TO.



That is correct.



AND NO ACTUAL SYSTEM OF COMMUNICATION IN PLACE?



My system is to tell the people that were there.



AND THAT WASN'T PART OF ANY MINE SYSTEM AT ALL.  THAT'S SOMETHING YOU DID?



That's correct.



AND BUT YOU'RE NOT ABLE TO NOMINATE ONE PERSON.



No.



THANKYOU YOUR WORSHIP.

WARDEN:
THANKYOU.  MISS GIBNEY.

MS GIBNEY:



YOUR WORSHIP I'VE GOT NO QUESTIONS.

WARDEN:
THANKYOU.

MR BRADY:
YEAH MR WOCKNER.  CAN YOU GIVE ME YOUR IMPRESSION OF THE YOU KNOW THAT REJECT DUMP AREA..OR NOT THE REJECT DUMP AREA YOU KNOW THE REJECT STOCK PILE DUMP AREA WHERE THE ACCIDENT OCCURRED.  TRUCKS TURNING INTO THAT AREA.  TRUCKS OR WATER CARTS DOES THAT CREATE ANY FORM OF ADDITIONAL HAZARDS IN YOUR OPINION?



Probably why the area was picked quite a few years ago was because of its central location on that long stretch of road where you had views of anything coming towards you or behind you.  And we actually went in on the southern side and dumped on the down hill grade and as you know kelly dumpers need a ? came out at the lower exist obviously the old water point there.  But to my recollection that's why that area was from the previous two stockpiles at ramp 12 for it's long straight road of view and seeing you know.



YEAH BUT DOES THAT CREATE ANY ADDITIONAL HAZARDS THAT NEEDED SPECIAL CONTROLS?



It's treated the same as turning into a ramp.



THIS IS MY DILEMMA RIGHT.  IF IN YOUR MIND AND YOU'RE ABSOLUTELY CONVINCED THAT THAT DOESN'T CREATE ANOTHER HAZARD THEN WHY DO WE NEED ANY CONTROLS.  WHY DO WE NEED ANY SIGNS TO SAY THAT THERE'S TRUCKS TURNING IF THAT DOESN'T CREATE A HAZARD WELL THEN WE DON'T NEED ANY SIGNS.  SO IF THERE'S NO HAZARD CREATED AND WE DON'T NEED ANY SIGNS IT DOESN'T REALLY MATTER WHERE THOSE SIGNS ARE IN RELATION TO WHERE THOSE TRUCKS TURN IN.



Ramps and mining pits have a designated ramp sign and signage on it.  Stockpiles haven't got a sign.  If the stockpile had a set sign there opposite it at the entrance saying closed restricted or open you wouldn't have signs.



OK NOW WELL IF WE'VE GOT A PLACE WHERE A TRUCK CAN TURN INTO THE STOCKPILE AREA THAT'S UNSIGNED DOES THAT CREATE A HAZARD?



Could you say that again.



IF WE GET TO THE STAGE WHERE IF A TRUCKS GOT TO TURN INTO A RAMP THERE'S NORMALLY A SIGN THERE SAYING RAMP SUCH AND SUCH.  RAMP OPEN OR WHATEVER.  BUT THE ACT OF THE TRUCK TURNING THAT DOESN'T REALLY CREATE THE HAZARD IS WHAT YOU'RE SAYING.  SO IF THERE'S NO HAZARD REALLY CREATED WHY DO WE NEED ANY SIGNS AT THE STOCKPILE AREA?



Signs have been put on trucks turning into different areas since the day I've been there.  I presume that 22 years we've been putting up signs of truck turning.  Or if we've grading the back road we put up grader ahead or something.



SEE THAT'S WHERE I HAVE A PROBLEM BECAUSE THOSE SIGNS ARE 520 METRES AWAY FROM WHERE THE TRUCKS TURN IN.  SO A SIGNS 520 METRES AWAY FROM WHERE THE TRUCKS ACTUALLY TURN ARE THEY EFFECTIVE SIGNS IN RELATION TO THAT TRUCK TURNING IN THERE?



Probably the signs aren't of the size and statue to be more readily seen.



YOU KNOW I JUST LOOKED AT THAT PLAN THERE FOR ARGUMENT SAKE.  WHERE THE SIGN IS LOCATED IF WE GO ANOTHER 150 METRES PAST THE SIGN THERE'S A MAJOR ROAD JUNCTION TO THE LEFT.  150 METRES AWAY FROM THE SIGN.  THERE'S A ROAD JUNCTION TO THE LEFT AND THERE'S THE EXIT TO THE RIGHT THIS IS HEADING SOUTH DOWN THE HAUL ROAD.  THERE'S THE EXIT FROM THE STOCKPILE AREA.  THAT'S 150 METRES AWAY FROM THE SIGN.  IF WE THEN GO ANOTHER SORT OF 370 METRES WE GET A RIGHT HAND TURN INTO THE LAY DOWN AREA.  NOW IF I WAS DRIVING DOWN THE HIGHWAY AND I SAW A SIGN TRUCKS TURNING AND THEN 150 METRES FURTHER ON WAS A MAJOR T JUNCTION INTERSECTION WOULDN'T IT BE FAIR TO ASSUME THAT THAT SIGN RELATES TO THAT INTERSECTION?  I MEAN IF YOU'VE PAST THAT INTERSECTION YOU HAVEN'T GOT ANY TRUCKS WOULD YOU THINK THAT THAT SIGN STILL APPLIED 370 ODD METRES DOWN THE ROAD?



I've always just accepted the trucks turning.  I knew the trucks were turning into an area for coal you know.



AND THAT'S THE KEY WORD ISN'T IT.  I MEAN IF YOU KNEW EVERYBODY ON THE SITE KNEW THAT TRUCKS OR HAUL TRACKS OR BLOODY..OR WATER TRUCKS WERE TURNING INTO THAT SITE THEN THERE WOULDN'T HAVE BEEN AN ACCIDENT.  WOULD YOU AGREE?



Yeah you're probably right.



THE KEY COMES DOWN TO HOW DO WE GET EVERYBODY TO UNDERSTAND THIS IS IN USE THIS INTERSECTION.  I MEAN I DON'T THINK ANYBODY HAS GOT ANY PROBLEM WITH THE FACT THAT YOU USE THAT AREA AS A TURNING..BUT HOW DO WE MAKE SURE EVERYBODY KNOWS?



Well it's got to be communication hasn't it.



IT'S GOT TO BE COMMUNICATION.  NOW WE'VE ALREADY HEARD ON YOUR MINE SITE WELL WE HAVE OPEN CUT EXAMINERS AND I CAN ALMOST QUOTE THAT WILL NOT INTERACT OR COMMUNICATE WITH MAINTENANCE PEOPLE.  HOW DO YOU ADDRESS THAT?  



I find it a bit strange in that..myself I was open cut examiner and I've still got my ticket.  The areas I went into I always spoke to the people who were involved in those areas.



EXACTLY.  SO IF MY POINT IS THAT THIS IS THE NORMAL PART OF THE OPERATION.  THIS IS REGULARLY GOING ON.  SOME DAYS IT WILL HAPPEN SOME DAYS IT WON'T.  YOU'RE SAYING THAT THE OPEN CUT EXAMINER..YOU MADE THE DECISION THAT THIS IS..WE'RE GOING TO USE THIS DUMP AREA.  IF YOU INFORM THE OPEN CUT EXAMINER OF THAT.. YOU EXPECT THE OPEN CUT EXAMINER TO COMMUNICATE THAT TO THE WORKFORCE?



No the job what's going on in the day is communicated between the supervisor and the workforce plus the open cut examiner who starts at the same area.  He..the blokes are given their job we're they're going and what they're doing and the examiner is also told what operations are on that day.  Like if I was a supervisor on just to say that instance I would have said to the examiner we're dumping on the ramp 2 west stockpile today can you make sure the signs and everything is in place.  Or if we were grading down the haul road behind.. between ramp 8 and 10 I'd say could you set up the signs we're doing haul road maintenance today.



BUT IN THIS PARTICULAR CASE I'M TALKING ABOUT THE SIGNS ARE NOT EFFECTIVE FOR THIS PARTICULAR POINT.  THE FALL BACK HAS TO COME DOWN TO COMMUNICATION.  SO HOW DO WE ENSURE THAT THE COMMUNICATION BETWEEN THE PEOPLE THAT KNOW MACHINES ARE GOING TO TURN IN THERE AND THE REST OF THE WORKFORCE ARE LIKELY TO TRAVEL THAT ROAD AND NOT KNOW THAT? 



All new operations and things we've done since the accident we've put out briefs.  We put out a brief to supervise the be safe reps and so forth saying we'll be hauling and doing ? one of the ways we're doing it now.  We're putting out a brief saying we'll be hauling coal for this area and so forth.  If it is away from a designated area.  Like we're dropping coal onto a stockpile behind ramp 8.  We call it the cook quarry because we're getting the coal washed over ?.  We did a risk assessment of the whole place and a brief was put out saying to the people the light vehicle roads in that area will be closed we'll be carting and dumping coal on that stockpile.  Indicating where it is on a diagram from such and such a time.



AND THAT SEEMS TO BE AN EFFECTIVE SYSTEM BUT I GET BACK TO THIS PARTICULAR CASE AT THE TIME OF THE ACCIDENT.  PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT.  SEE IT DOESN'T APPEAR TO BE ANY SET PROCEDURES IN PLACE FOR PASSING A WATER TRUCK PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT?



No no there was..the procedure was to have clear vision go round the sprays.  Basically.



WELL YOU KNOW IF WE LOOK AT WHAT MR GADSBY DID ON THAT PARTICULAR DAY WE CAN'T SAY OK YOU BREACHED A PROCEDURE BECAUSE THERE ISN'T ONE.  HE'S NO DOUBT PULLED OUT AND HAD CLEAR VISIONS.  WOULD YOU AGREE?



Yeah well it was in the centre of that long stretch of road.



IN THE CENTRE OF A LONG STRETCH OF ROAD.  SO HE HASN'T BREACHED ANY PROCEDURE.  HE HASN'T DONE ANYTHING CONTRARY TO THE RULES.  SO YOU KNOW YOU'VE ALREADY BEEN ASKED THIS BUT I'D LIKE TO REALLY GET YOUR CONTRIBUTION OTHER THAN THROWING THE ONUS BACK ON US.  IF YOU COULD TRY AND HELP US WHAT DO YOU BELIEVE WAS THE MAJOR CONTRIBUTING FACTORS TO THIS ACCIDENT?  BECAUSE IT SOUNDS SIMPLE BUT I DON'T THINK IT IS.



The way I see it is that Dale wasn't aware that the truck was turning into the stockpile.  He did have his indicator on.  The habit is of trucks turning because they're long trucks they usually go to the left hand side of the road to cover the arc of the truck turning in.  So if in my view possibly..my own personal view he probably didn't see the indicator indicating the truck was turning in.



AND HE DIDN'T KNOW THAT HE WAS GOING TO TURN?



I don't know that.



WELL DID HE TRY AND BEAT IT?



I don't know.



OK THANKS FOR YOUR HELP.  I'VE GOT NO FURTHER QUESTIONS.

WARDEN:
I'VE JUST GOT A FEW QUESTIONS FOR YOU MR WOCKNER.  JUST ON PAGE 2 OF YOUR STATEMENT AROUND ABOUT THE MIDDLE OF THE PAGE IT TALKS ABOUT THE SAFETY BRIEFS.  YOU MAY NOT BE IN A POSITION TO COMMENT BUT DO THE BEST YOU CAN ANYWAY.  IN YOUR OPINION DO YOU BELIEVE THE METHOD IN WHICH SAFETY BRIEFS ARE DISTRIBUTED BY MANAGEMENT ARE WORKING ADEQUATELY NOW?



Definitely working a better system than was in place previously..where a copy came down to the senior supervisor.  He put one on the notice board and distributed his copy to the supervisors.  Now in my statement I said I didn't see it.  I was working ? seven day roster then.  If he would have put it actually into the diary it would only take another supervisor to remove that and I would never have seen it.  Or if somebody had pulled it off the board for to look at it you know.  Where it is now that each supervisor be safe reps get it and it's a much more bigger ? that you know.  The whole mine is getting it.



WELL JUST ON THAT POINT WHEN PEOPLE ARE AWAY LIKE THAT IF YOU'RE ON LEAVE OR WHATEVER OR IF YOU'VE GOT A COUPLE OF DAYS OFF HOW DOES HOW DOES THE SYSTEM WORK?



The system now is there's a copy there for me now when I come back.  It will be in my pigeon hole or any supervisor that's away it will be in their pigeon hole to pick up.  I keep a copy of all safety briefs since I've been in the job that come out so that each of my supervisors can run through those at any time and make sure they're aware of the briefs that have been out.



AND HOW DOES MANAGEMENT ENSURE THAT THE WORKFORCE RECEIVE THE RELEVANT BRIEFS.  HOW DO THEY KNOW?



Through the supervisors in charge.



SO IT'S UP TO THE INDIVIDUAL SUPERVISORS.



The supervisors and the be safe rep.  Each shift has a be safe rep selected on his crew and he also gets a copy of all safety briefs so that the shift is covered two ways.  By one the supervisor and the be safe rep.  The be safe rep is elected by the people on that shift to be the be safe rep for x amount of time.  In this instance it's 12 months.  



OK.  NO FURTHER QUESTIONS.

MS MALONEY:



I'VE GOT NO FURTHER QUESTIONS.  MAY THIS WITNESS BE EXCUSED.  

WARDEN:
YES YOU'RE EXCUSED THANKYOU.  YOU'RE FREE TO GO.

MS MALONEY:



THAT WAS THE FINAL WITNESS IN RELATION TO THOSE EVENTS YOUR WORSHIP UNLESS THERE ARE ANY OTHER.

WARDEN:
ARE THERE ANY WRITTEN SUBMISSIONS?

MS MALONEY:



YES I HAVE SOME SUBMISSIONS TO HAND UP ON BEHALF OF THE INSPECTORATE YOUR WORSHIP.

WARDEN:
NO-ONE ELSE HAS GOT ANY..YES MR BEST.

MR BEST:
HAND IT IN?

WARDEN:
YES.

MR MELLICK:



LIKEWISE YOUR WORSHIP.  UNFORTUNATELY I DON'T THINK ANY OF US HAVE HAD ACCESS TO A PHOTOCOPIER TO HAVE MULTIPLE COPIES RUN OFF.  THANKYOU.

MS GIBNEY:




YOUR WORSHIP I'M SORRY IT DOESN'T ACTUALLY HAVE A HEADING.  WE DID GET OURS TYPED BUT MINUS THE HEADING.

WARDEN:
THAT'S OK.  I CAN READ ALL THE WRITING ANYWAY.  I'M SURE THE OTHER REVIEWERS WILL BE ABLE TO READ IT AS WELL.  IF THAT'S ALL THE SUBMISSIONS IF WE ADJOURN OVER TIL GOING ON PAST EXPERIENCE IF WE ADJOURN OVER TIL 6.30 TO DELIVER OUR FINDINGS.  IS THAT SUITABLE TO THE PARTIES THAT ARE GOING TO BE IN ATTENDANCE.  OK.  ADJOURN TO THEN.

COURT ADJOURNED.

COURT RESUMED.


FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

WARDEN:
YES THANKYOU.  THE REVIEWERS HAVING HEARD THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED TO THIS INQUIRY OVER THE LAST TWO DAYS I AM AUTHORISED BY THEM TO DELIVER THEIR FINDINGS AS TO THE NATURE AND CAUSE OF THIS ACCIDENT AND ALSO TO DELIVER THEIR RECOMMENDATIONS.  WE THE REVIEWERS SELECTED BY THE WARDEN FOR THE PURPOSE OF THIS INQUIRY FIND AS FOLLOWS.  WE FIND THE NAME OF THE DECEASED TO BE DALE GADSBY.  DATE OF DEATH AS BEING THE 4TH OF MAY 1997.  PLACE OF DEATH BLACKWATER.  NATURE OF ACCIDENT IS AS FOLLOWS.  SHORTLY AFTER 12.30PM ON SUNDAY THE 4TH OF MAY 1997 MR DALE GADSBY RECEIVED FATAL INJURIES WHEN THE LIGHT VEHICLE A TOYOTA CRUISER TRAY BACK UTILITY UNIT NUMBER TKP5746 WHICH HE WAS DRIVING COLLIDED WITH AND WAS SUBSEQUENTLY CRUSHED BY AN ARTICULATED EUCLID 90000 LITRE WATER TRUCK UNIT NUMBER TKD1300 AND TRAILER 7491300 BEING OPERATED BY MR THOMAS GRAHAM SULLIVAN.  THE PASSENGER IN THE TOYOTA MR EVAN GRAEME BILES SUSTAINED MINOR INJURIES.  IMMEDIATELY PRIOR TO THE ACCIDENT MR GADSBY ACCOMPANIED BY MR BILES AS THE SOLE PASSENGER IN THE LIGHT VEHICLE WAS TRAVELLING SOUTH ALONG THE HAUL ROAD FROM THE BHP BLACKWATER MINE INDUSTRIAL COMPLEX.  AT A POINT ABOUT 1 KILOMETRE SOUTH AND ADJACENT TO A BUILDING KNOWN AS THE LARGE PARTS WAREHOUSE THE LIGHT VEHICLE APPROACHED THE EUCLID WATER TRUCK WHICH WAS WATERING THE HAUL ROAD TO THE SOUTH.  THE EVIDENCE OF MR BILES AND MR SULLIVAN INDICATES THAT THE WATER TRUCK MOVED TO THE LEFT SIDE OF THE HAUL ROAD BEFORE TURNING RIGHT INTO THE STOCKPILE ENTRANCE PRIOR TO THE COLLISION OCCURRING.  MR GADSBY ATTEMPTED TO PASS THE WATER TRUCK BY MOVING TO THE RIGHT HAND SIDE OF THE HAUL ROAD.  WHEN THE TOYOTA VEHICLE WAS ADJACENT TO THE WATER TRUCK AND PAST THE WATER SPRAYS MR BILES OBSERVED THE WATER TRUCK WAS TURNING TO THE RIGHT.  FROM THE EVIDENCE SUBMITTED IT WOULD APPEAR THAT MR GADSBY ATTEMPTED TO TAKE EVASIVE ACTION BY MOVING FURTHER TO THE RIGHT AND APPLYING THE BRAKES IN A CONTROLLED MANNER.  THE TOYOTA SUBSEQUENTLY IMPACTED WITH THE RIGHT HAND SIDE OF THE WATER TRUCK PRIME MOVER AND THE TRUCKS TRAILER WENT OVER THE FRONT SECTION OF THE TOYOTA.  THE CAUSE OF DEATH IS AS FOLLOWS.  FROM THE MEDICAL CERTIFICATE TENDERED.  1A. CRUSHED BRAIN.  THE CAUSE OF ACCIDENT FROM THE EVIDENCE GIVEN TO THIS INQUIRY IT WOULD APPEAR THAT THE INTER DEPARTMENTAL COMMUNICATION BETWEEN THE COAL HAULAGE AND THE MAINTENANCE DEPARTMENTS ON THIS PARTICULAR DAY WAS INADEQUATE.  AS A RESULT OF THIS MR BILES WAS UNAWARE THAT THE RAMP 2 WEST STOCKPILE AREA WAS IN USE AND THEREFORE UNAWARE OF THIS MINING ACTIVITY.  BOTH THE LIGHT AND THE HEAVY VEHICLES WERE FITTED WITH THE TWO WAY RADIO COMMUNICATION ALL BE IT ON DIFFERENT CHANNELS HOWEVER MR SULLIVAN STATED THAT NO ATTEMPT WAS MADE BY THE OCCUPANTS OF THE TOYOTA TO ADVISE HIM OF THE INTENTION TO OVERTAKE.  IT WOULD SEEM FROM THE EVIDENCE THAT MR BILES AND POSSIBLY MR GADSBY DID NOT REALISE OR KNOW THAT THE WATER TRUCK WAS TURNING INTO THE STOCKPILE AREA UNTIL JUST PRIOR TO THE COLLISION.  CONTRIBUTING FACTORS MAY INCLUDE A FAILURE TO OBSERVE THE TURNING INDICATOR ON THE WATER TRUCK AND VISIBILITY OBSCURED BY THE SPRAY FROM THE WATER TRUCK.  MR SULLIVAN THE WATER TRUCK OPERATOR DID NOT REALISE OR KNOW THAT THE TOYOTA LANDCRUISER WAS ATTEMPTING TO PASS ON THE RIGHT HAND SIDE.  CONTRIBUTING FACTORS MAY INCLUDE POOR VISIBILITY FROM THE OPERATOR CABIN.  WATER SPRAY AND NO COMMUNICATION WITH THE TOYOTA.  FROM THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED..ALTHOUGH CANNABIS WAS DETECTED IN MR GADSBYS URINE WE ARE UNABLE TO FIND WHETHER OR NOT THIS CONTRIBUTED TO THE ACCIDENT.  ALTHOUGH SIGNS WERE ERECTED WE ARE NOT SATISFIED THAT THE LOCATION OF THE SIGNS CLEARLY DEFINE THE ENTRANCE AND EXIT OF THE RAMP 2 WEST STOCKPILE AREA.  RECOMMENDATIONS.  THE RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE REVIEWERS ARE AS FOLLOWS.  1A..AN EFFECTIVE COMMUNICATION SYSTEM THAT ASSURES THAT ALL PERSONS PERFORMING DUTIES WITHIN THE ACTIVE WORK AREAS OF THE MINE ARE ADVISED OF THE NATURE EXTENT AND LOCATION OF NORMAL MINING ACTIVITIES.  B..THIS COMMUNICATION SYSTEM SHALL CONTAIN ELEMENTS THAT ENSURE THAT ALL PERSONS ARE ADVISED OF AND HAVE SUFFICIENT KNOWLEDGE TO IDENTIFY ANY ABNORMAL ACTIVITY.  2..ALL PERSONS MUST COMPLY WITH THE SAFE WORK PROCEDURES SPECIAL RULES AND THE MANAGERS SCHEMES FOR THE BLACKWATER MINE AND 3..PRO-ACTIVE ACTION SHOULD BE TAKEN TO DEVELOP AND IMPLEMENT AN EFFECTIVE DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING PROGRAM.  MY REPORT IS AS FOLLOWS.  THE REVIEWERS AND MYSELF WISH TO ACKNOWLEDGE THE PRO-ACTIVE ACTION WHICH HAS BEEN TAKEN BY BHP SUBSEQUENT TO THE OCCURRENCE OF THIS FATALITY.  WE ALSO ACKNOWLEDGE THAT IT IS THE LEGAL RESPONSIBILITY OF MANAGERS SUPERVISORS FOREMEN OPEN CUT EXAMINERS AND MINE OFFICIALS TO ENSURE THAT ALL EMPLOYEES ARE PROVIDED WITH A SAFE PLACE OF WORK.  HOWEVER WE ALSO ACKNOWLEDGE THAT IF ACTS SCHEMES AND PROCEDURES ARE PUT INTO PLACE TO ENSURE THE SAFE PLACE OF WORK THEN ALL EMPLOYEES HAVE A PERSONAL RESPONSIBILITY TO BE FULLY COMMITTED UNDERSTAND AND COMPLY WITH SUCH PROCESSES AS A WHOLE.  WE COMMEND THE INSPECTORATE FOR THE STANDARD OF THEIR REPORT.  INDEED WE CONSIDER THE REPORT TO BE OF A HIGH STANDARD.  FURTHER WE FOUND THE RE-ENACTMENT VIDEO TAPE TO BE OF GREAT BENEFIT IN UNDERSTANDING THE INCIDENT.  I THANK MISS MALONEY FOR HER ASSISTANCE DURING THIS INQUIRY. I ALSO THANK THE REVIEWERS AND MY CLERK FOR THEIR TIME AND ASSISTANCE DURING THIS INQUIRY.  IN CONCLUSION I CONCUR WITH THE FINDINGS OF THE REVIEWERS AS TO THE NATURE AND CAUSE OF THE ACCIDENT AND THE INQUIRY IS NOW CLOSED.

COURT CLOSED.

